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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, or Annual Report, contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, that
involve substantial risks and uncertainties. All statements, other than statements of historical facts, contained in this Annual Report are
forward-looking statements.

In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by words such as “may,” “can,” “will,” “should,” “would,” “expect,”
“plan,” “anticipate,” “could,” “intend,” “target,” “project,” “seek,” “contemplate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,”
“possible” or “continue” or the negative of these terms or other similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements,
although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. Forward-looking statements contained in this Annual
Report include, but are not limited to, statements about:

• the beneficial characteristics, safety, efficacy, therapeutic effects and potential advantages of our T cell receptor-engineered
T cell, or TCR-T, therapy candidates;

• our expectations regarding our preclinical studies being predictive of clinical trial results;

• the timing of the initiation, progress and expected results of our preclinical studies, clinical trials and our research and
development programs;

• the timing of and our ability to submit applications for, and obtain and, if approved, maintain regulatory approvals for our
product candidates;

• our plans relating to developing and commercializing our TCR-T therapy candidates, if approved, including sales strategy;

• estimates of the size of the addressable market for our TCR-T therapy candidates;

• our manufacturing capabilities and the scalable nature of our manufacturing process;

• our estimates regarding expenses, future milestone payments and revenue, capital requirements and needs for additional
financing;

• our expectations regarding competition;

• our anticipated growth strategies;

• our ability to attract or retain key personnel;

• our ability to establa ish and maintain development partnerships and collaborations;

• our expectations regarding federal, state and foreign regulatory requirements;

• regulatory derr velopments in the United States and foreign countries;

• our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our proprietary platfff orm technology and our productff
candidates;

• the anticipated trends and challenges in our business and the market in which we operate;

• the sufficiency of our existing capital resources to fund our future operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements;

• the effff ects of health epidemics, including the evolff ving effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, in regions where we, our partners,
or other third parties on which we rely, on any of the foregoing or other aspects of our business or operations;

• the effects of rising inflation rates and the impact on operating costs, liquidity and access to credit on any of the foregoing
or other aspects of our business operations;

• the effects of global economic uncertainty and financial market volatility caused by political instability, changes in
international trade relationships and conflicts, such as the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine, on any of the
foregoing or other aspects of our business or operations; and

• our anticipated use of our existing cash resources and our ability to obtain additional financing in the future.

Any forward-looking statements in this Annual Report reflect our current views with respect to future events or to our future
fiff nancial performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that may cause our actual results,
performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by
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these forff ward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions
included in this Annual Report, particularly those described in the “Risk Factors” section in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report, that
could cause actual results or events to differ materially from the forward-looking statements that we make. Moreover, we operate in a
very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time and it is not possible for our management to
predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any faff ctor, or combination of factors,
may cause actual results to diffff er materff ially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. We may not actually
achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and you should not place undue reliance on
our forward-looking statements. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward- looking events aff nd circumstances
discussed in this Annual Report may not occur and actual results could differ materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied
in the forward-looking statements.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. The forward-looking statements contained
in this Annual Report are made as of the date of this Annual Report, and although we believe that the expectations reflected in the
forward-looking statements are reasonabla e, we cannot guarantee that the future results, advancements, discoveries, levels of activity,
performance or events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur. Moreover, except as
required by law, neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the forward-looking
statements. We undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements for any reason after the date of this Annual
Report to conform these statements to actual results or to changes in our expectations.

You should read this Annual Report and the documents that we have filed as an exhibit to this Annual Report with the
understanding that our actual future results, levels of activity, performance and events and circumstances may be materially diffeff rent
from what we expect.

In addition, this Annual Report contains estimates, projections and other information concerning our industry, our business and
the markets for our product candidates, including data regarding tff he estimated size of such markets and the incidence of certain medical
conditions. We obtained the industry, market and similar data set forth in this Annual Report from our internal estimates and research,
and from academic and industry research, publications, surveys and studies conducted by third-parties, including governmental agencies.
Industry publications and third-party research, surveys and studies generally indicate that their information has been obtained from
sources believed to be reliable. Our estimates of the potential market opportunities for our product candidates include a number of key
assumptions based on our industry knowledge, industry publications and third-party research, surveys and studies, which may be based
on a small sample size and fail to accurately reflect market opportunitiest . Information based on estimates, forecasts, projections, market
research or similar methodologies is inherently subject to uncertainties and actual events or circumstances may differ materially from
events and circumstances that are assumed in this information. Unless otherwise expressly stated, we obtained this industry, business,
market and other data from reports, research surveys, studies and similar data prepared by us and third parties, industry, medical and
general publications, government data and similar sources. This Annual Report contains summaries of certain provisions contained in
some of the documents described herein, but reference is made to the actual documents for complete information. All of the summaries
are qualified in their entirety by the actual documents.

Unless stated otherwise, refeff rences in this Annual Report to “us,” “we,” “our,” “our Company,” or “the Company” and similar
terms refer to TScan Therapeutics, Inc.

RISK FACTOR SUMMARY

Our business operations are subject to numerous risks that, if realized, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations, and futff urt e growth prospects. These risks are discussed more fully in Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These risks include, but are not limited to, the following:

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

• Our business depends upon the success of our proprietary plrr atform.

• Our limited operating history may make it difficult to evaluate the success of our business.

• We have incurred signififf cant losses since inception, and we expect to incur losses over the next several years and may not
be able to achieve or sustain revenues or profitability in the future.

• We have never generated, and may never generate, any revenue from sales of our cell therapy products.
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• Wewill need to obtain substantial additional funding to complete the development and any commercialization of our product
candidates, if approved.

• Raising additional capia tal may cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish
rights to our intellectual property or product candidates on unfavorable terms.

• Global economic uncertainty and financial market volatility caused by political instability, changes in international trade
relationships and conflff icts, such as the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine, could make it more difficult for us to
access financing and could adversely affect our business and operations.

• Recent volatility in capital markets and lower market prices for many securities may affect our ability to access new capital
through sales of shares of our common stock or issuance of indebtedness, which may harm our liquidity, limit our ability to
grow our business, pursue acquisitions or improve our operating infrastructure and restrict our ability to compete in our
markets.

Risks Related to the Development of Our Product Candidates

• Our approach to the discovery and development of product candidates based on our proprietary platform represents a novel
approach to cancer treatment, which creates significant challenges for us.

• If we are unable to advance our product candidates through clinical development, obtain regulatory approval and ultimately
commercialize our product candidates, or experience significant delays in doing so, our business will be materially harmed.

• Although many of our personnel have extensive experience in preclinical and clinical development and manufacturing at
other companies, we have no direct experience as a company in conducting clinical trials or managing a manufacturing
facility for our product candidates.

• Our preclinical studies and clinical trials may fail to adequately demonstrate the safety, potency and purity of any of our
product candidates, which would prevent or delay the development, regulatory approval and commercialization of our
product candidates.

• Our business could be adversely affected by the effeff cts of health epidemics, including the evolving effects of the COVID-
19 pandemic and responses thereto.

• We may rely on third parties to manufaff cture our clinical product supplies, and we may rely on third parties to produce and
process our product candidates, if licensed.

• Allogeneic HCT is a high-risk procedure that may result in complications or adverse events for patients in our clinical trials
including those unrelated to the use of our product candidates or for patients that use any of our product candidates, if
approved.

• Our product candidates may cause undesirable side effects or have otff her properties that could halt their clinical development,
prevent their regulatory approval, require expansion of the clinical trial size, limit their commercial potential, or result in
significant negative consequences.

• If we encounter difficulties enrolling patients in our clinical trials, our clinical development activities could be delayed or
otherwise adversely affected.

• The market opportunities for our product candidates may be relatively small and our estimates of the prevalence of ourff
target patient populations may be inaccurate.

• We face significant competition, and our operating results will suffer if we fail to compete effectively.ff

Risks Related to Manufacturing

• Manufacturing and administering our product candidates is complex and we may encounter difficulties in production of ourff
product candidates.

• Although we have expanded our existing manufacturing ft acility and infrastructure in lff ieu of relying solely on third parties
for the manufacture of our product candidates for certain clinical purposes and many of our personnel have experience in
clinical manufacturing at other companies, we have no direct experience as a company managing manufacturing for our
product candidates, which will be costly and time-consuming, and which may not be successful.

• We may have difficulty validating our manufacturing process as we manufacture our product candidates, including TCR-
T, from the patient population for our clinical trials.



4

Risks Related to Government Regulation

• The FDA regulatory approval process is lengthy and time-consuming, and we may experience significant delays in the
preclinical and clinical development and regulatory approval of our product candidates.

• We may be unable to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates under applicable regulatory requirements.

• Obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval of our product candidates in one jurisdiction does not mean that we will be
successful in obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval of our product candidates in other jurisdictions.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

• If we are unable ta o obtain and maintain patent protection for any of the product candidates we develop and for our
technology, or if the scope of the patent protection obtained is not sufficiently broad, our competitors could develop and
commercialize products, product candidates and technology substantially similar or identical to ours, and our ability to
successfully commercialize any product candidates we may develop may be adversely affected.

• We are currently, and expect in the future to be, party to material license or collaboration agreements, which may impose
numerous obligations and restrictions on us.

• Third party claims of intellectual property infringement, misappropriation or other violations may prevent or delay our
product discovery and development efforts.

Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties

• If the third parties we plan to rely on to conduct our clinical trials or to manufacture certain aspects of our product candidates
do not properly and successfully carry out their contractual duties or meet expected deadlines, we may not be able to obtaint
regulatory approval for or commercialize our product candidates.

• We may not realize the benefits of our current or futff ure collaborations, alliances, or licensing arrangements.t

General Risk Factors

• Rising inflaff tion rates may result in increased operating costs and reduced liquidity, and affect our ability to access credit.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on developing a robust pipeline of T cell receptor-engineered T cell,
or TCR-T, therapies for the ta reatment of patients with cancer. Our approach is based on the central premise that we can learn from
patients who are winning their fight against cancer in order to treat those who are not. We are continuing to build our ImmunoBank, a
repository of therapeutic T cell receptors, or TCRs, that recognize diverse targets and are associated with multiple human leukocyte
antigen, or HLA, types to provide customized multiplexed TCR-T therapy candidates for patients with a variety of solid tumors. We are
building our ImmunoBank using our proprietary platform technologies. Using TargetScan, we analff yze the T cells of cancer patients
with exceptional responses to immunotherapy to discover how the immune system naturally recognizes and eliminates tumor cells in
these patients. This allows us to precisely identify the targets of TCRs that are driving these exceptional responses. We aim to use these
anti-cancer TCRs to treat patients with cancer by genetically engineering their own T cells to recognize and eliminate their cancer. In
addition to discovering TCR-T therapies against novel targets, we are using our ReceptorScan technology to further diversify our
portfolio of therapeutic TCRs with TCR-T therapies against known targets. We reduce the risk and enhance the safety profile of these
therapeutic TCRs by screening them using SafetyScan to identify potff ential off-targets of a TCR and eliminate those TCR candidates
that cross-react with proteins expressed at high levels in critical organs.

Our in-house good manufacturing practices, or GMP, manufacturing platform, which we refer to as T-Inteff grate, enables the rapid,
cost-effective and consistent manufacturing of TCR-Ts. Our TCR-T therapy candidates are manufactured using a non-vira al
transposon/transposase system. This system is highly reproducible and can be routinely manufactured in a cost-effective manner without
the need for extensive process development. The additional cargo capacity of our non-viral vector delivery system allows us to add
additional T cell enhancements to our product candidates to provide support for cytotoxic T cells. By adding CD8α/β, we believe we
have the potential to increase response to TCR-T therapy up to four-fold in the clinic compared to the addition of the TCR alone. We
are also adding dominant-negative TGFβRII to enable T cell proliferation despite the presence of TGFβ in the hostile tumor
microenvironment, potentially enhancing T cell persistence. Our GMP faff cility has the capacity to manufacture clinical trial materials
for more than 300 patients per year, sufficient to support our programs through Phase 2 clinical development.

We are advancing a robust pipeline of TCR-T therapy candidates for the treatment of patients with hematologic malignancies and
solid tumors. Our lead product candidates, TSC-100 and TSC-101, are in development for the treatment of patients with hematologic
malignancies to eliminate residual leukemia and prevent relapse following hematopoietic cell transplantation, or HCT. TSC-100 and
TSC-101 target HA-1 and HA-2 antigens, respectively, which are well-recognized TCR targets that were identified in patients with
exceptional responses to HCT-associated immunotherapy. We have initiated a multi-arm Phase 1 clinical study of TSC-100 and TSC-
101 with several clinical sites activated, with planned additional sites to be added in 2023.

In addition, we are developing multiple TCR-T therapy candidates for the treatment of solid tumors. One of the key goals for our
solid tumor program is to develop what we refer to as multiplexed TCR-T therapy. We are designing these multiplexed therapies to be
a combination of up to three highly active TCRs that are customized for each patient and selected from our bank of therapeutic TCRs,
which we refer to as the ImmunoBank. We plan to populate the ImmunoBank with TCRs for multiple targets as well as multiple HLA
types for each target, thus helping us to overcome key solid tumor resistance mechanisms of target loss and HLA loss. We are currently
advancing six solid tumor programs: TSC-204, entering Phase 1 development; TSC-200 and TSC-203, in IND-enabling activities; TSC-
201, in lead optimization; and TSC-202 and TSC-205, in discovery. In December 2022, we submitted a primary investigational new
drug, or IND, application for T-Plex, enabling customized mixtures of TCR-Ts to be administered to patients based on cancer-targets
and associated common HLA types expressed in their tumors, as well as secondary IND applications for two initial TCR-T product
candidates: TSC-204-A0201 and TSC-204-C0702. The FDA has cleared our IND applications for T-Plex, TSC-204-A0201, and TSC-
204-C0702, allowing us to initiate study start-up activities. We plan to further expand the ImmunoBank by filing INDs for additional
TCRs throughout 2023.

T cells are an essential component of the adapta ive immune system and provide protection against cancer, infection, and
autoimmune disease. Multiple approaches have been and are continuing to be explored to develop effective T cell-based therapies forff
the treatment of cancer, including tumor infiltrating lymphocyte, or TIL, therapy and chimeric antigen receptor T cell, or CAR-T,
therapy. The success of TIL therapy depends on the specific T cells present in the patient. If their TILs do not have appropriate anti-
cancer specificities, the therapy ia s unlikely to be effective. In addition, TIL therapy has, to date, shown limited applicability for the
treatment of hematologic malignancies. In contrast, CAR-T therapy has proven effective in certain hematological malignancies of
lymphoid origin but have not yet shown efficacy or safety in myeloid malignancies. Additionally, this type of treatment is limited to
targets on the surface of tumor cells and carries higher toxicity risks such as cytokine release syndrome compared with TCR-T therapy
due to the CAR-T therapy's artififf cial intracellular signaling domains and excessive stimulation of T cells. Both TIL and CAR-T therapies,a
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as well as other immunotherapies such as checkpoint inhibitors, harness the power of cytotoxic T cells in fighting cancer. Despite
demonstrating compelling efficacy, they are only effective in a sff ubset of patients. To address a broader patient population, we believe
additional T cell-based approaches are needed that more closely mimic the way the immune system recognizes and fights cancer in
patients who are responding to immunotherapy.

Two key shortcomings in the TCR field remain: Low response rates, and limited duration of response. These shortcomings are
related to solid tumors being heterogenous, and poor persistence of engineered T cells in patients. We believe we can overcome these
known issues by adding enhancements to our product candidates, such as the addition of CD8α/β to improve persistence compared to
CD8α alone. We are also co-introducing DN-TGFβRII, which is designed to overcome immunosuppression from TGFβ in the tumor
microenvironment.

Our decision to develop TCR-T therapies for tff he treatment of cancer is based on our conviction that we can learn from the natural
interaction between T cells and tumor cells and harness this information to treat patients by reprogramming their immune systems. We
believe that TCR-T therapy combines the benefits of TIL and CAR-T therapies while uniquely addressing their key limitations.

The development of TCR-T therapy requires three key prerequisites: (i) an effective anti-cancer TCR; (ii) knowledge of the precise
peptide antigen, a protein or other molecule to which an antibody binds, that is recognized by the TCR; and (iii) confirmation that the
TCR does not recognize problematic off-targets. We believe that our approach provides us with the following key advantages:

• Our TCR-T therapies are based on highly active TCRs that are clinically relevant.i Many other approaches to T cell therapy
rely on specifically expanding T cells that are already present in the patient. Our platform analyzes anti-cancer T cells from
a wide variety of patients who are responding to immunotherapy in order to find the most active and clinically relevant TCRs
against each target. We believe that we can develop TCR-T therapies for a wide range of patients, including those who do
not have T cells that effiff ciently recognize their cancers.

• Our TCTT RCC -T therapies are designed to be used in combination with each other.We are building the ImmunoBank of TCRs to
allow for multiplexed TCR-T therapy, which has the potential to address the heterogeneous nature of solid tumors and to
prevent resistance developing due to loss of a single target. We believe this approach may allow us to overcome the limitations
and challenges of TCR-T therapy development to date. We plan to populate the ImmunoBank with TCRs for multiple targets
as well as multiple common HLA types for each target, thus helping us to overcome the key solid tumor resistance
mechanisms of target loss as well as HLA loss.

• Our approach is expandable. The ImmunoBank has the flexibility to be used with new and optimized methods of T cell
engineering that we may develop over time. We are building the ImmunoBank to be compatible with both autologous and
allogeneic engineering technologies in order to potentially transition to generating off-the-shelf, allogeneic T cells that have
been pre-engineered with our TCRs for direct, customized administration to patients. As we expand the ImmunoBank to
include TCRs across additional targets and HLA types, we believe we will increase the eligible patient population for our
clinical trials, which will allow for rapid and effiff cient clinical trial enrollment with fewer screen failures.

Our proprietary platform is designed to: (i) discover anti-cancer TCRs from patients with exceptional responses to immunotherapy;
(ii) determine novel targets of clinically relevant TCRs; (iii) discover novel TCRs that recognize clinically validated targets; (iv) identify
off-targets of TCRs to eliminate candidates that could potentially pose a safety risk; and (v) manufacture TCR-T therapies efficientlyff
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and consistently without the use of viral vectors using our T-Integrate technology. The central elements of our platform that differentiateff
us from other cell therapy companies are TargetScan, ReceptorScan, SafetyScan, the ImmunoBank and T-Integrate.

TargetScan. At the core of our proprietary plrr atform is TargetScan, which enables us to identify natural targets of TCRs usff ing an
unbiased, genome-wide high-throughput screen. We have developed this technology to be extremely versatile and applicable across
multiple therapeutic areas, including cancer, autoimmune disorders, and infectious diseases. It can be applied to virtually any TCR that
plays a role in the cause or prevention of disease. Using TargetScan, we have identified about 100 novel antigens as targets of tumor
infiltrating T cells from patients who are actively responding to immunotherapy. We believe this provides us with a competitive
advantage, because not only are we among the first to identify these targets as tumor-specific antigens, but also we have already identified
highly active TCRs that recognize these targets.

Safeff tyScan.tt SafetyScan is designed to identify potential off-target interactions of a given TCR and eliminate those TCR candidates
that cross-react with proteins expressed at high levels in critical organs. We believe this will allow us to reduce the risk and enhance the
potential safety profile of our TCR-T therapy candidates early in development before we initiate clinical trials.

ReceptorScan. To furff ther expand our ability to discover and develop therapeutic TCRs, we have developed our proprietary
ReceptorScan technology to enable us to identify and clone highly active Tff CRs that recognize known or clinically validated targets. We
co-culture hundreds of millions of CD8+ T cells from either healthy donors or cancer patients with dendritic cells, also referred to as
antigen-presenting cells, that display the target antigen of interest to the T cells. T cells that recognize the target of interest proliferate
and are subsequently isolated based on their ability to recognize a fluorescently labeled version of the target. We then use single cell
sequencing to identify the specific TCR sequences that recognize the target. Our novel technologies allow us to gene-synthesize hundreds
of TCRs simultaneously and to rapidly sort through hundreds of target-specific TCRs in a single high-throughput screen to identify the
most active clones. Using ReceptorScan, we have identififf ed our two lead TCR-T therapy candidates, TSC-100 targeting HA-1 and TSC-
101 targeting HA-2, as well as our other pipeline programs such as the MAGE-A1-targeting TCR that has now become our solid tumort
therapeutic candidate, TSC-204-C0702, featured in the peer-reviewed journal Cell in 2022.

ImmunoBank.kk We are building the ImmunoBank, our diverse bank of therapeutic TCRs, to allow for multiplexed TCR-T therapy,
which has the potential to address the heterogeneous nature of solid tumors and to prevent resistance developing due to loss of a single
haplotype target. We believe this approach may allow us to overcome the limitations and challenges of TCR-T therapy development to
date. We plan to populate the ImmunoBank with TCRs for multiple targets as well as multiple HLA types for each target, thus helping
us to overcome the key solid tumor resistance mechanisms of target loss as well as HLA loss. Finally, we are building the ImmunoBank
to have the flexibility to be used with new and optimized methods of T cell engineering that we may develop over time. We are building
the ImmunoBank to be compatible with both autologous and allogeneic engineering technologies in order to potentially transition to
generating off-the-shelf, allogeneic T cells that have been pre-engineered with our TCRs for direct, customized administration to
patients.
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T-TT IntII egre ate. Manufacturing cell therapies is highly complex, and associated challenges have led to significant delays or failures
in the development of many cell therapies. To enable the rapid, cost-effective, and consistent manufacturing of TCR-Ts, we have
developed a non-viral vector delivery system that we refer to as T-Interr grate. Our TCR-T therapy candidates are manufactured using a
transposon/transposase system, in which the DNA encoding the TCR is manufactured as a Nanoplasmid™, a non-viral vector. The
Nanoplasmid, together with an mRNA sequence encoding a transposase enzyme, is introduced into the T cell by electroporation. After
the T cell translates the mRNA into protein, the transposase enzyme inserts the TCR sequence from the Nanoplasmid into the genome
of the T cell. This system is highly reproducible, as the only required components are a Nanoplasmid, which is different for each TCRff
product, and an mRNA, which is constant for all TCR products. Unlike lentivirus, both of these components are routinely manufactured
in a cost-effective manner without the need for extensive process development.

We have completed the construction and validation of a 7,000 square-foot state-of-the-art GMP manufacturing facility to
manufacture all necessary Phase 1 and 2 supply for our TCR-T therapies. We expect that this facility will provide sufficient production
capacity to supply product for all planned Phase 1 and 2 clinical studies for the hematologic malignancies and solid tumor programs.
Clearance of our INDs for TSC-100 and TSC-101 validates our facility for human manufacturing of our T cell therapies. We believe
our manufacturing platformwill enable us to efficiently develop and manufacff ture many different TCR-T therapies, allowing us to delivert
customized multiplexed therapy to patients with cancer. As of February 28, 2023, we have successfully manufaff ctured TSC-100 andt
TSC-101 but have not yet dosed patients in our hematological malignancies program. The FDA has additionally cleared three INDs for
our solid tumor program, including our primary IND, T-Plex which supports the simultaneous use of multiple TCRs to create
customized, multiplexed TCR-T therapy candidates, as well as INDs for TSC-204-A0201 and TSC-204-C0702, in our view further
validating our manufacturing capabilities.

Our Pipeline

We are building the ImmunoBank with the goal of delivering customized multiplexed TCR-T therapies to a wide range of patients
with cancer. In addition, we are applying our platform to identify targets and TCRs in therapeutic areas outside of oncology, such as
autoimmune disorders and infectious disease, through strategic partnerships. Our current proprietary pipeline is summarized in the figure
below.

In addition to our proprietary pirr peline programs noted above, we have also entered into collaborations with strategic paa rtners forff
applications of our platform technologies. We have a collaboration and license agreement with Novartis Institutes for BioMedicalff
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Research, Inc., or Novartis, to identify novel cancer antigens from the T cells of patients with a certain specific type of cancer. Novartis
has the option to license and develop therapies for up to three of the targets discovered in the collaboration.

With our differentiated platform as the foundation, we are building a three-pillar research and development strategy to create
transformational TCR-T therapies for paff tients.

1. Our HemHH atologic Malignancies Program.MM We are developing our hematologic malignancies program to treat patients with
non-B cell malignancies including acute myeloid leukemia, or AML, myelodysplastic syndromes. or MDS, and acute
lymphocytic leukemia, or ALL, who are undergoing allogeneic HCT. In the first phase of our clinical development strategy,
we are initially focusing on clinically validated cancer targets that have been discovered in patients with exceptional
responses to HCT-associated immunotherapy, including HA-1 and HA-2.

In the fourff th quarter of 2021, we submitted IND applications with the FDA for our lead TCR-T therapy candidates, TSC-100 and
TSC-101. In the firff st and second quarter of 2022, the FDA cleared the INDs for TSC-100 and TSC-101, respectively. We have initiated
a multi-arm Phase 1 clinical study with several clinical sites activated with planned additional sites to be added in 2023. The study
protocol allows us to conduct clinical trials of TSC-100 and TSC-101 in parallel, with patients enrolled in treatment arms based on their
genotype. Patients who are positive for the target antigen, HA-1 or HA-2, as well as the HLA-A*02:01 allele, which is the HLA type
required to display HA-1 and HA-2 on the cell surfaff ce for recognition by a T cell, will be eligible for enrollment. Furthermore, eligible
patients will require donors who are negative for either the target antigen or the HLA-A*02:01 allele.

Through the development of our hematologic malignancies program, we have built a foundation of manufacturing, clinical, and
regulatory capaa bila ities, which we are applying to the development of our broader portfolio of TCR-T therapy candidates for solid tumors.

2. Our Solid Tumor Program.We are developing a portfolio of autologous TCR-T therapy ca andidates that are designed to be used
in combination with each other to treat and eliminate solid tumors. Our TSC-200 series of product candidates are designed to
elicit anti-tumor responses in patients by targeting cancer-specific antigens in their tumor cells. Our TCR-T therapy candidates
include: (i) either well-recognized cancer targets that have demonstrated anti-tumor activity in clinical trials or novel targets
that were identified by TargetScan from the T cells of patients responding to immunotherapy, and (ii) naturally occurring TCRs
specific to a patient’s HLA type that recognize these cancer-specific targets. Such targets are not only commonly shared among
patients with the same cancer type, but also frequently expressed in multiple solid tumor types, enabling clinical development
across multiple indications. Our first six product candidates include a combination of known targets, such as HPV16 for TSC-
200, PRAME for TSC-203, and MAGE-A1 for TSC-204, as well as targets that are novel antigens for TCR-T therapy, such as
for TSC-201, TSC-202, and TSC-205. In addition to our six lead product candidates, we have identified about 100 novel
antigens as targets of tumor infiltrating T cells from patients who are responding to immunotherapy using our TargetScan
technology. We are in early stages of analyzing these additional novel antigens and plan to advance those that we believe have
the best potential as a TCR-T product candidate into preclinical development.

Our vision is to create and continuously expand the ImmunoBank to enable customized multiplexed TCR-T therapy for a wide
range of solid tumor patients. Our initial solid tumor indications include head & neck, cervical, non-small cell lung and ovarian cancers,
as well as melanoma. For each patient with a solid tumor malignancy, we plan to analyze their tumor to determine which targets are
expressed at high levels in each patient's particular cancer. We will then access the ImmunoBank and select up to three TCRs that match
their HLA type and address the most highly expressed targets in their tumor. We will use this set of TCRs to genetically reprogram their
T cells to recognize these targets, and the resulting T cells will be infused back into the patient as a multiplexed TCR-T therapy.

We are also adding enhancements to our product candidates to deepen tumor responses and prolong duration of response. The
additional cargo capacity of our non-viral vector delivery system allows us to add additional T cell enhancements to our product
candidates to provide support for cytotoxic T cells. By adding CD8ff α/β, we believe we have the potential to increase response to TCR-
T therapy up to four-fold in the clinic compared to the addition of the TCR alone. We are also adding dominant-negative TGFβRII to
enable T cell prolifeff ration despite the presence of TGFβ in the hostile tumor microenvironment, potentially enhancing T cell persistence.

3. Strategic Partnerships and Collaborations. T cells play a fundamental role in many other therapeutic areas beyond cancer,
such as autoimmune diseases and infectious disease. We believe that our TargetScan technology is well suited to discover
novel antigens for the development of therapeuticsa , diagnostics, and vaccines in these other therapeutic areas. We intend to
opportunistically pursue collaborations with strategic partners for applications of our platform technologies outside our core
focus of oncology.
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Our Strategy

Our mission is to create life-changing T cell therapies for patients by unleashing the untapped potential of the human immune
system. Our goal is to use our proprietary platform technologies for the identification of novel tumor-specific antigens and clinically
active TCRs to become a leader in the development of engineered T cell therapies for the treatment of hematologic malignancies and
solid tumors. Our strategy includes the follff owing key elements:

• Leverage our proprietary platform technologies tll o build the ImmunoBank of therapeutic TCRs to trtt eat a wide range of
tumor typeyy s. Our TargetScan technology enabla es us to identify novel antigens that are broadly expressed across multiple
types of solid tumors. In order to ensure that the antigens identififf ed are clinically relevant, we use TCRs from tumor samples
of patients with exceptional responses to immunotherapy. Our platform allows us to assess the specificity and cytotoxicity
of these TCRs to develop a portfolio of TCR-T therapy candidates with therapeutic potential. As we continue to expand our
screening technology, we believe we will be able to generate the ImmunoBank of therapeutic TCRs with the diversity
required to treat many solid tumors using multiplexed therapy.We plan to populate the ImmunoBank with TCRs for multiple
targets as well as multiple common HLA types for each target, thus helping us to overcome the key solid tumor resistance
mechanisms of target loss as well as HLA loss.

• Advance our lead product candidates, TSC-100 and TSCCC -101, through clinical development.CC Our two lead programs,
TSC-100 and TSC-101, are designed to target HA-1 and HA-2, respectively, both of which are antigens with clinically
demonstrated anti-tumor effects in patients who naturally develop T cells specific to these targets. Using our ReceptorScan
technology, we generated hundreds of highly active TCRs that recognize HA-1 and HA-2. We selected TSC-100 and TSC-
101 based on their superior potency and lack of off-target effects. In the fourth quarter of 2021 we submitted INDs for each
of TSC-100 and TSC-101 to the FDA. The FDA cleared the INDs for both TSC-100 and TSC-101 enabling us to move
forward with Phase 1 clinical development. We have initiated a multi-arm Phase 1 clinical study of TSC-100 and TSC-101
with several clinical sites activated, with planned additional sites to be added in 2023. The study protocol allows us to
conduct clinical trials of TSC-100 and TSC-101 in parallel, with patients enrolled in treatment arms based on their genotype.
In addition, through our hematologic malignancies programs, we have establa ished a foundation of manufacturing, clinical
and regulatory capabilities to support the development of our broad portfolio of TCR-T therapies.

• Apply experience from our hematologic malignancies progree am to efficiently develop our solid tumor program targetingff
both novel and previously identified antigens. Using TargetScan, we have identified about 100 novel antigens as targets of
tumor infiltrating T cells from patients who are responding to immunotherapy. We are initially developing our TSC-200
series of TCR-T therapies against six selected target antigens that are frequently expressed across multiple solid tumor types.
Our first six solid tumor TCR-T therapy candidates include a coa mbination of known targets, such as HPV16 for Tff SC-200,
PRARR ME for Tff SC-203, and MAGE-A1 for TSC-204 as well as targets that are novel antigens for TCR-T therapy, such as
for TSC-201, TSC-202, and TSC-205. We believe that the treatment of solid tumors will requirff e a combination of several
TCR-T therapeutics, which we refer to as ‘multiplexed therapy. We plan to leverage the foundation built from ourff
hematologic malignancies programs to efficiently develop a robust portfolio of TCR-T therapy candidates and expand the
ImmunoBank to enabla e multiplexed TCR-T therapies for the treatment of solid tumors.

• MaiMM ntain inteii rnal manufacturing capabilities based on our non-viral T-Integrate syste- m. We believe that in-house
manufacturing capabilities substantially faff cilitate the successful early development of cell therapies. For our TCR-T therapy
candidates, we have developed a non-viral gene delivery system, which we refeff r to as T-Integrate, based on transposons
that are designed to enable cost-effective and consistent cell manufacturing with short development times. We have built an
internal, fully operational Gff MP manufacturing facility that wt e expect will provide sufficient capacity to support all of our
clinical programs in both hematologic malignancies and solid tumors through Phase 2 clinical trials. The additional cargo
capacity of our non-viral vector delivery system allows us to add additional T cell enhancements to our product candidates
to provide support for cytotoxic T cells. By adding CD8α/β, we believe we have the potential to increase response to TCR-T
therapy up to four-fold in the clinic compared to the addition of the TCR alone. We are also adding dominant-negative
TGFβRII to enable T cell proliferation despite the presence of TGFβ in the hostile tumor microenvironment, potentially
enhancing T cell persistence. With the FDA clearance of our IND applications for TSC-100, TSC-101, and our first three
IND applications for our solid tumor program, we consider our approach to be validated.a

• Develop next generation T cell engineering capabilititt es. Our long-term vision is to build an allogeneic repository of off-
the-shelf, genetically engineered T cells and provide customized multiplexed TCR-T therapies to patients with a wide range
of malignancies. Although our initial solid tumor programs are autologous, we are developing T cell engineering
technologies and in-house manufaff cturing capabilities to transition our therapeutic TCRs to allogeneic therapies based on T
cells derived from healthy donors or induced pluripotent stem cells. We are also exploring additional next generation
technologies, such as in vivo T cell engineering, to further advance our T cell engineering capabilities.

• OpporOO tunistically pursue strategic partnerships and collaborations to maximize the full potential of our platform. Our
platform represents a powerful tool to identify targets and TCRs in therapeutic areas outside of oncology, such as
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autoimmune diseases and infeff ctious disease. We intend to seek strategic partners with proven clinical development and
commercialization capabilities fa or certaff in targets and/or assets that do not overlap with our internal programs or our core
focus. To date, we have a collaboration and license agreement with Novartis to identify novel cancer antigens from the Tff
cells of patients with a specific type of cancer. Novartis has the option to license and develop therapies for up to three
discovered targets. Should Novartis license a target, we are eligible for a payment of $10 million per target as well as future
milestones and royalties. We have also expanded our target discovery capaa bia lities to include both CD8+ and CD4+ T cell
target discovery by engineering our platform to include class II antigen presentation. This capability allows for us to expand
discovery efforts into T-cell mediated autoimmune diseases that have a strong Major Histocompatibility Complexes, or
MHC, class II linkage. We intend to leverage this new capability to identify the pathogenic autoantigens driving T-cell
mediated autoimmune diseases.

Background on T Cell Therapies

The human immune system constantly provides a natural and highly effective defense against cancer, which only forms when
tumor cells find a way to evade the immune system. The treatment of cancer was revolutionized over a decade ago with the advent of
immunotherapy – therapeutic approaches designed to re-enable or re-direct immune cells to recognize and fight cancer. Over the past
10 years, a suite of immuno-oncology drugs has been approved and adopted as part of routine clinical practice. Successes in immuno-
oncology came initially from the approval of immune checkpoint inhibitors and more recently from the development of cellularff
therapies, such as CAR-T and TIL therapies. These therapies all harness the power of cytotoxic T cells in fighting both hematologic
malignancies and solid tumors. Although these therapia es have demonstrated compelling efficacy, they are only effective in a subset of
patients. To address a broader patient population, we believe additional T cell-based approaches are needed that more closely mimic the
way the immune system recognizes and fights cancer in patients who are responding to immunotherapy.

Overview of T Cell Biology

T cells are an essential component of the adaptive immune system and provide protection against cancer, infection, and
autoimmune disease. T cells are classically divided into two primary types of activating cells: helper T cells and cytotoxic T cells. Helper
T cells, which express the CD4 co-receptor, function by providing signals to other immune cells for activation and recruitment. Cytotoxic
T cells, which express the CD8 co-receptor, function by killing any cells in the human body that are expressing unnatural proteins,
including proteins that are not expressed in normal tissue, proteins that arise from mutated genes, or proteins derived from pathogens.
By definition, tumor cells are abnormal and make a wide variety of unnatural proteins. T cells are activated and exert their helper or
cytotoxic function when their T cell receptors, or TCRs, recognize antigens displayed on the surface of malignant or infected cells.

Virtually every cell in the body has a mechanism for displaying on its surface a sampling of every protein that is being made by
the cell. This includes all normal proteins as well as aberrant proteins if the cell is cancerous or proteins from pathogens if the cell has
been infected. Cellular proteins are broken down into short fragments, or peptides, by the proteasome, and these peptides are loaded into
Major Histocompatibility Complexes, or MHCs, to be displayed on the outside of the cell. These peptide/MHC complexes are
recognized by TCRs on cytotoxic CD8+ T cells, as shown in the graphic below. Because the TCR recognizes both the peptide and the
MHC, a TCR only functions correctly when both the peptide and the correct MHC are present.

TCRs on Cytotoxic CD8+ T Cells Recognize the
Peptide/MHC Complexes of Tumor Cells
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MHC proteins, which present different peptides to the human immune system, are highly variable among people. An individual’s
MHC proteins are determined by their HLA type. Although there are many diffeff rent HLA types, some are quite common. For example,
42% of individuals in the United States are positive for the HLA-A*02:01 allele, or variant. TCRs are often referred to as “HLA-
restricted” because they are only able to interact with specific HLA types. For this reason, TCR-T therapy harnesses the specificity of
the TCR-peptide-MHC interaction to selectively target tumor cells.

Current ApprA oaches to T Cell Therapy

Multiple approaches are being explored to develop effective T cell-based therapies for the treatment of cancer. One approach is
to isolate naturally occurring T cells from a patient’s tumor, referred to as tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, or TILs, expand and activate
those cells ex vivo, and then return them to the patient via intravenous infusion. Although the targets of these T cells are not known, it
is presumed that T cells isolated from a tumor are enriched in T cells directed against cancer cells. This approach, however, depends on
the anti-cancer T cells present in the patient. If the patient’s TILs do not have appropriate anti-cancer specificities or if their anti-cancer
TILs cannot be adequately expanded ex vivo, the therapy is unlikely to be effective.

A different approach that has proven effective in certain hematological malignancies is to identify targets that are highly expressed
on the surface of tumor cells, such as CD19. Antibody fragments that recognize these targets are used to create an artificial construct
that links the antibody to key signaling elements required for T cell activation. The resulting chimeric antigen receptor, or CAR, is
incorporated genetically into a patient’s T cells, thereby redirecting those cells to recognize and fight the patient’s cancer. Although
CAR-T therapiea s have been highly effective in certain tumor types, leading to multiple approved productsa , the benefiff t of these therapies
and the addressable cancer indications have been limited by several factors. First, it is likely that there is a relatively limited set of truly
tumor-specific cell surface antigens. In general, most antigens expressed on the surface of tumor cells are also expressed on normal
cells, resulting in therapies that, even if effective, have a narrow therapeutic window and are vulnerable to potentially life-threatening
toxicities. Second, CAR-T cells rely on antibody frff agments that recognize cell-surface proteins, precluding intracellular proteins as
potential targets. Third, CAR-T therapies generally do not efficiently penetrate solid tumors, which to date has limited theiff r applicability
to hematologic malignancies.

In contrast to CAR-T therapies, naturally occurring TCRs offer two important benefits compared to antibody-containing artificial
receptors. First, TCRs are the natural receptors used by the T cell to recognize foreign antigens. As such, they are optimized to stimulate
the T cell appropriately when they engage their targets on a tumor cell. An appropriately stimulated T cell will not only kill the tumor
cell, but also produce cytokines that stimulate other immune cells and make copies of itself, or proliff ferate, to further augment the immune
response. Balancing all the cellular responses of a T cell is something that has been finely tuned over millions of years of evolution andt
is best mediated by naturally occurring TCRs, rather than by artificial constructs. Second, TCRs can recognize a much broader set of
antigens, including peptides derived from both cell surface and intracellular proteins, whereas CARs are restricted to recognizing only
cell surface proteins. MHC-I peptides are predominantly derived from intrff acellular proteins rather than extracellular proteins, which
dramatically increases the universe of potential cancer-specific antigens that can be recognized by TCRs compared to CARs. We believe
TCR-T therapy combines the benefits of TIL and CAR-T therapia es while uniquely addressing their key limitations, as shown below.
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Reprogramming T cells with proven, highly effective TCRs comprehensively treats all cancer patients

The development of TCR-T therapy requires three key prerequisites: (i) an effective anti-cancer TCR; (ii) knowledge of the precise
peptide antigen that is recognized by the TCR; and (iii) confirmation that the TCR does not recognize problematic off-targets. Each of
these prerequisites is technically challenging. Historically, targets of anti-cancer T cell clones were identified through a manual and
labor-intensive process, and the identification of each target was oftff en a multi-year project. As a result, only a few dozen targets have
been identififf ed to date and most clinical development efforts are focused on a short list of the most promising targets.

Two key shortcomings in the TCR field remain: Low response rates, and limited duration of response. These are related to solid
tumors being heterogenous, and poor persistence of engineered T cells in patients. We believe we can overcome these known issues by
adding enhancements to our product candidates, such as the addition of CD8α/β to improve persistence compared to CD8α alone. We
are also co-introducing DN-TGFβRII, which is designed to overcome immunosuppression from TGFβ in the tumt or microenvironment.

Our Approach

Our approach is based on the central premise that we can learn from patients who are winning their fiff ght against cancer in order
to treat those who are not. Using our proprietary plrr atform technologies, we are analyzing the T cells of cancer patients with exceptional
responses to immunotherapy to discover clinically ra elevant targets and TCRs. We are building the ImmunoBank with the goal of
delivering customized multiplexed TCR-T therapy to a wide range of patients with cancers.

Learninii g

When a patient responds to an immunotherapy dra ug such as an immune checkpoint inhibitor, their tumr or shrinks because T cells
in their tumor become activated and drive an anti-tumor cytotoxic response. The TCRs of their T cells recognize tumor-specific antigens
on tumor cells and signal the T cell to kill the cancer cells. Our approach starts with isolating clinically active anti-cancer T cells fromff
tumt or samples of patients who are responding to immunotherapy agents. We then use our proprietary TargetScan technology to
determine the precise targets being recognized by their TCRs. This provides us with a novel TCR/target pair that can be developed into
a TCR-T therapy ca andidate. The advantage of our approach is that when we identify a new target, we know the target is immunologically
relevant – the human immune system has already used that target to recognize and fight cancer. Furthermore, we have already identified
a TCR that recognizes the target and, importantly, is associated with a meaningful clinical response in a patient. This approach wasff
highlighted in the peer-reviewed journal CeCC ll in 2019. To de-risk clinical development of the TCR, we use our SafetyScan technology
to scan across every peptide sequence in the entire human proteome with the goal of ensuring that it does not have any problematic off-
target effects. We then select TCRs that are highly active with no apparent problematic off-target effects to be added to the ImmunoBank.

In addition to discovering novel TCR/tRR arget pairs, we are leveraging our proprietary ReceptorScan technology to identify highly
active TCRs against previously identified and clinically validated targets. This approach was featured in the peer-reviewed journal Cell
in 2022. Once we identify these highly active TCRs, we use our SafetyScan technology to reduce the risk that they exhibit problematic
off-target effects, which de-risks their subsequent clinical development. The diagram below illustrates our proprietary discovery process
where therapeutic TCR candidates are discovered using either TargetScan or ReceptorScan and those that we characterize as the best
TCRs after screening with SafetyScan are added to the ImmunoBank.
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Our Proprietary Target and TCR Discovery Process

TrTT eatitt nii g

Our discovery prrr ocess enables us to build and expand the ImmunoBank with what we believe represents the most active TCRs
isolated from a large group of diverse patients who are responding to immunotherapy. We are developing TCR-T therapies that use
these clinically relevant TCRs to reprogram the T cells of patients who do not spontaneously generate effective anti-cancer T cells and
thus do not respond to immunotherapy. Such patients will fiff rst have their tumors undergo HLA typing and testing for the presence of
tumt or-specific targets. Next, to manufacture engineered T cells, white blood cells will be obtained from either the patient or a healthy
donor using a procedure called leukapheresis. We will then transport these white blood cells to our in-house manufacturing facility,
where we isolate the T cells and genetically engineer them using TCR sequences from the ImmunoBank. We believe the continued
expansion and diversification of the ImmunoBank will enable us to deliver customized multiplexed TCR-T therapy to patients, where
each patient’s T cells are engineered with multiple TCRs that are matched to their specific tumor and HLA type. For example, if a
patient’s tumor expresses high levels of a particular cancer target, their T cells will be reprogrammed with a TCR that recognizes that
particular cancer target. The FDA's clearance of our T-Plex IND for the simultaneous combination of diffeff rent TCRs, as well as
secondary INDs for the first two TCRs in our solid tumt or program, allows us to rapidly and efficiently expand the ImmunoBank and
enables us to work toward our goal of bringing customized, multiplexed therapies ta o patients.

Once the T cells are engineered with a combination of the most relevant TCRs, they will be transported back to the hospital and
reintroduced into the patient by intravenous infusion. Following the infusion, the engineered T cells, which are designed to recognize
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multiple targets expressed by the patient’s tumor, will proliferate in vivo and mount an anti-cancer immune response. Our patient
treatment and manufacturing process is summarff ized in the graphic below.

Our Patient Treatment and Manufacturing Process

Key Features of Our Approach

We believe there are three key advantages to our approach:

• Our TCR-T thett rapies are based on highly active TCRs that arCC e clinically relevant. Many other approaches to T cell
therapy rely on specifically expanding T cells that are already present in the patient. Our platform analyzes anti-cancer T cells
from a wide variety of patients who are responding to immunotherapy in order to find the most active and clinically relevant TCRs
against each target. We believe that we can develop TCR-T therapies for a wide range of patients, including those who do not
have T cells that efficiently recognize their cancers.

• Our TCR-T therapies are designed to be used in combination with each other.We are building the ImmunoBank of
TCRs to allow for multiplexed TCR-T therapy, which has the potential to address the heterogeneous nature of solid tumors and
to prevent resistance developing due to loss of a single target. We believe this approach may allow us to overcome the limitations
and challenges of TCR-T therapy development to date. We plan to populate the ImmunoBank with TCRs for multiple targets as
well as multiple common HLA types for each target, thus helping us to overcome the key solid tumor resistance mechanisms of
target loss as well as HLA loss. As the ImmunoBank is populated with more TCRs, we expect that patient eligibility will expand,
as will our target market opportunities.

• Our approach is eii xee pandablx e. The ImmunoBank has the flexibility to be used with new and optimized methods of T
cell engineering that we may develop over time. We are building the ImmunoBank to be compatible with both autologous and
allogeneic engineering technologies in order to potentially transition to generating off-the-shelf, allogeneic T cells that have been
pre-engineered with our TCRs for direct administration to patients.

Our Platform

Our proprietary platform is designed to: (i) discover anti-cancer TCRs from patients wff ith exceptional responses to immunotherapy;
(ii) determine novel targets of clinically relevant TCRs; (iii) discover novel TCRs that recognize clinically validated targets; (iv) identify
off-targets of TCRs to eliminate candidates that could potentially pose a safety risk; (v) multiplex treatments through inclusion of
clinically relevant targets with HLA type to customize treatments and (vi) manufacture TCR-T therapies efficiently and consistentlyff
without the use of viral vectors using T-Integrate. The central elements of our platform that differentiate us from other cell therapyff
companies are our proprietary platforff m technologies: TargetScan, ReceptorScan, SafetyScan, the ImmunoBank and T-Integrate.
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TarTT ger tStt cSS an—IdeII ntiftt ication of Novel Targets of Clinff icallll y Actll itt ve TCRs

At the core of our proprietary platforff m is our TargetScan technology that enables us to identify the natural target of a TCR using
an unbiased, genome-wide, high-throughput screen. We have developed this technology to be extremely versatile and applicable across
multiple therapeutic areas, including cancer, autoimmune disorders, and infectious diseases. It can be applied to virtually any TCR that
plays a role in the cause or prevention of disease.

To identify the target of a clinically active TCR found in the T cells of a patient responding to immunotherapy, we mix T cells
expressing that TCR with a genome-wide library of target cells where every cell in the library expresses a different protein fragment. In
each target cell, the protein fragment is processed naturally by the proteasome or immunoproteasome and the resulting peptides are
displayed on cell-surface MHC proteins. If a T cell recognizes the peptide-MHC complex on a target cell, it attempts to kill the target
cell, thereby activating a proprietary fluorescent reporter in the target cell. By isolating fluorescent target cells and sequencing theirff
expression cassettes, TargetScan reveals the natural target(s) of the T cell, as shown below. This technology was published as a feature
article in CeCC ll in 2019.

Overview of Our Proprietary TargetScan Technology

Central to this technology is the library of protein fragments used for any given TargetScan screen. Our proprietary libraries
comprise hundreds of thousands of specific sequences that collectively include most or all of the targets that a TCR could potentially
recognize. For example, our current Oncology Target Discovery Library (version 3.0) comprises over one million clones, each
expressing a unique protein fragment. Collectively, these fragments span every human protein encoded in the human genome, along
with all single nucleotide polymorphisms, or SNPs, which are single amino acid variations in naturally occurring proteins, observed at
over 1% frequency in the human population. In addition, the library includes elements that are specific to cancer cells, which are
particularly interesting to us as potential targets: common oncogenic driver mutations, cancer/testis antigens, human endogenous
retroviruses, or HERVs, and a large collection of sequences that are not translated in normal tissue but frequently translated in human
cancers. We constructed our librarrr ies using a tiling pattern of overlapping fragments to provide complete and redundant coverage of
every targeted sequence.

Our Oncology Target Discovery Library allows us to precisely identify the novel targets recognized by TCRs from patients who
are responding to immunotherapy. In addition, because the librara y comprehensively covers every non-mutated human protein sequence,
we are also able to fully characterize all potential off-target interactions for any given TCR, which we believe will help us reduce the
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risk and enhance the potential safety profile of our TCR-T therapy candidates before we advance them to clinical development.
Furthermore, we can use our screen for any HLA type, enabling target discovery across a wide range of patient demographics.

SafetyScan—Elimination of Off-Target Activiti ytt

Safeff tyScan is designed to identify potential off-targets of a TCR and eliminate those TCR candidates that cross-react with proteins
expressed at high levels in critical organs. We believe this will allow us to reduce the risk and enhance the potential safety profile of our
TCR-T therapy candidates early in development before we initiate clinical trials.

The abia lity to identify prff oblematic offff -ff targets is critical as TCR-T therapies engineered with TCRs that recognize off-targets
expressed at high levels in critical organs could cause toxicities, thereby limiting their therapeutic potential. We use SafetyScan to screen
affinity-enhanced versions of TCRs. Affinity enhancement is a process by which a naturally occurring TCR is mutated in order to
generate a more potent therapeutic construct. One such affinity-enhanced TCR that we screened had previously entered clinical trials
with a different sponsor, but human testing of the TCR was halted abruptly because two patients treated with T cells engineered to
express this affinity-enhanced TCR died of acute cardiac failure within five days of T cell administration. Subsequent studies revealed
that this TCR recognized an off-target derived from the muscle protein Titin, which is abundantly expressed in cardiac tissue. When we
screened this same affinity-enhanced TCR using our Safeff tyScan technology, we identified a variety of potential additional off-targets
which were not seen in our screen of the natural TCR, including the protein Titin. This experiment demonstrates why we believe that
our SafetyScan technology provides a significant competitive advantage, because it enables us to rapidly and efficiently eliminate from
our preclinical pipeline TCRs that are identified as recognizing potentially problematic off-targets. Importantly, this includes off-targetsff
that may not be identified through standard bioinformatics or in- vitro tissue assays. We believe that SafetyScan thereby has the potential
to enable us to decrease the risk of encountering unexpected toxicities in our clinical trials by providing a genome-wide understanding
of off-target effects.

Using our TargetScan technology, we have identified about 100 novel antigens as targets of tumor infiltrating T cells from patients
who are responding to immunotherapy. We believe this provides us with a competitive advantage, because not only are we among the
fiff rst to identify these targets as tumor-specific antigeff ns, but also we have already identified highly active TCRs that recognize these
targets.

ReceptorScan identifies ultrahigh affinity, naturally occurring TCRs with low risk of off-target effeff cts

T-Integrate—Genetic Engineering of T Cells Using Transposons

Cell therapy manufacturing is highly complex, and associated challenges have led to significant delays or failures in the
development of many cell therapies. To enable the rapid, cost-effective, and consistent manufacturing of TCRs, we have developed a
non-viral vector delivery system that we refeff r to as T-Integrate. Our manufacturing platform enables us to introduce any of the TCRs
from the ImmunoBank, along with additional genetic elements such as CD8 that further augment T cell function, into the genomes offf
patient- or donor-derived T cells.
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Genetically engineering a T cell requires two steps: (1) delivering DNA encoding the TCR into the nucleus of a T cell and (2)
integrating that DNA into the genome of the T cell. These two steps are often accomplished through the use of retroviral vectors, such
as lentivirus, by packaging RNA encoding the TCR into lentiviral particles, which are then used to infect T cells. Although effective,
manufacturing lentiviral particles is time-consuming, costly, and oftff en highly variable. In addition, each new TCR requires extensive
process development, as the TCR sequence affects the efficiency with which it is packaged into the lentivirus.

As a more efficient and reproducible alternative to lentivirus, we have developed T-Integrate to genetically engineer T cells using
a transposon/transposase system, as shown in the graphic below. In this system, DNA encoding the TCR is manufactured as a
Nanoplasmid™ and enables DNA delivery using a smaller plasmid footprint. The Nanoplasmid, together with an mRNA sequence
encoding a transposase enzyme, is introduced into the T cell by electroporation. After the T cell translates the mRNA into protein, the
transposase enzyme inserts the TCR sequence from the Nanoplasmid into the genome of the T cell. This system is highly reproducible,
as the only required components are a Nanoplasmid, which is different for each TCR product, and mRNA, which is constant for alff l TCR
products. Unlike lentivirus, both of these components are routinely manufaff ctured in a cost-effective mt anner without the need forff
extensive process development. We believe our manufacturing platform will enable us to efficiently develop and manufacture many
different TCR-T therapia es, allowing us to deliver customized multiplexed therapy to patients with cancer. As of February 28, 2023, we
have successfully manufactured TSC-100 and TSC-101 but have not yet dosed patients in our hematological malignancies program. The
FDA has cleared three INDs for our solid tumor program, including our primary IND, T-Plex which supports the simultaneous use of
multiple TCRs to create customized, multiplexed TCR-T cell therapy candidates, as well as INDs for TSC-204-ff A0201 and TSC-204-
C0702.

Our T-Integrate Manufacturing Platform

Our transposon vector includes both the beta and alpha chains of the TCR under the control of a strong promoter. This is designed
to ensure that high levels of the TCR are produced on the surface of the T cells and that the TCRs that are normally expressed in the
patient or donor’s T cells, or the ‘endogenous’ TCRs, are suppressed. We have also introduced specific alterations in the constant region
of the TCR to further augment its stability. In addition to the TCR, our transposon construct includes genes encoding the alpha and beta
chains of the cell-surface protein CD8. CD8 forms a complex with the TCR and is necessary for the TCR to recognize its target on tumor
cells. Including the CD8 co-receptor in our construct enables us to genetically reprogram both major types of T cells: cytotoxic T cells
that naturally make their own CD8 and helper T cells that do not make CD8. Our final TCR-T therapies are a mixture of both cytotoxic
and helper T cells that have been reprogrammed to recognize and eliminate tumor cells expressing the relevant targets. We also included
a short peptide tag at the beginning of CD8 alpha in our construct. This tag does not interfeff re with the funcff tion of CD8 alpha but provides
a way to easily purify the engineered T cells during our manufacturing process. We plan to further enhance our T cell therapies with the
addition of DN-TGFβRII to overcome the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment. An illustration of the construct of our TCR-T
therapies is shown below.
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Construct of our TCR-T Therapies

Another important advantage of T-Integrate, our manufaff cturing platform, is that its greater carrt ying capacity than the commonly
used lentiviral approach enables us to introduce additional genes that augment T cell function along with the gene that encodes the TCR
itself. As our programs advance, we intend to introduce additional elements to our products with the goal of further improving their
performance in the solid tumor setting, including features designed to increase the penetration of our T cells into solid tumors, with the
aim of keeping our T cells active for a longer time and rendering our T cells more impervious to the hostile tumor microenvironment.

Our Programs

With our differentiated platform as our foundation, we are building a three-pillar research and development strategy to create
transformational TCR-T therapies for patients, as shown below.

Our Hematologic Malignancies Program

We are developing our hematologic malignancies program to treat patients with non-B cell malignancies (AML, MDS, ALL) who
are undergoing allogeneic HCT. In the first phase of our clinical development strategy, we are initially focusing on well-recognized
cancer targets that have been discovered in patients with exceptional responses to HCT-associated immunotherapy, including HA-1 and
HA-2. Our program is based on the well-established observation that patients who are mismatched with their donors for minor
histocompatibility antigens such as HA-1 or HA-2, and naturally mount a T cell response against those antigens, show significantly
lower relapsa e rates following HCT. By developing TSC-100 and TSC-101, TScan aims to recreate this natural graft versus leukemia
response in order to prevent relapse in patients undergoing HCT.

Minor histocompatibility antigens like HA-1 and HA-2 are distinct from other cancer-associated antigens such as WT1 previouslyff
targeted by TCR-T therapia es in hematologic malignancies. As shown below, cancer-associated antigens like WT1 have low and
heterogenous expression and were previously selected so that normal blood cells in the patient would be relatively spared. WT1-targeted
TCR-T therapies proved to have relatively poor efficacy in patients with AML, potentially due to the rapid emergence of resistant tumor
cells that had lacked WT1 expression and thus escaped killing by engineered T cells. HA-1 and HA-2 in contrast have high and
homogenous expression (see below) making it less likely for tumors cells to escape due to low antigen expression. While HA-1 and
HA-2 are also expressed in normal blood cells, treating HA-1/ HA-2 positive patients who receive stem cell transplantation from donors
who are negative for HA-1/ HA-2, ensures that the engineered T cells selectively eliminate all the patient’s blood cells, cancerous or
normal, while sparing donor-derived normal blood cells. This strategy therefore enables high levels of anti-cancer efficacy with what
we believe to be less risk of life-threatening toxicities to normal cells.
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We are conducting clinical trials of our lead TCR-T therapy candidates, TSC-100 and TSC-101, in parallel, with patients to be
enrolled in treatment arms based on their genotype, as shown below. Patients who are positive for the target antigen, HA-1 or HA-2, as
well as the HLA-A*02:01 allele, which is the HLA type required to display HA-1 and HA-2 on the cell surface for recognition by a T
cell, will be eligible for enrollment. Furthermore, eligible patients will require donors who are negative for either the tarff get antigen or
the HLA-A*02:01 allele.

Our Clinical Development Strategy for Multiple TCR-T Therapies

Background on Hematologic Malignancies

HCT has become the standard of care for many hematologic malignancies. When a patient with leukemia undergoes HCT, they
start by receiving a conditioning regimen of high dose chemotherapy with or without radiation. This regimen is intended to kill both the
patient’s leukemia cells as well as their native blood cells and blood cell precursors, including hematopoietic stem cells in their bone
marrow. The patient then receives hematopoietic stem cells from an HLA-matched donor. The stem cells engraft in their bone marrow
and start to repopulate their body with new blood cells, which are now genetically identical to the donor. HCT has demonstrated the rare
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opportunit ty in cancer treatment to generate long-term remissions or cures. For example, patients with acute myeloid leukemia, or AML,
who receive HCT have a fiff ve-year post-transplant survival rate of 44%.

Approximately 7,000 allogeneic HCT procedures are performed yearly in the United States, primarily in patients with AML,
MDS, or ALL. As a curative therapy for many hematologic malignancies, use of HCT has been steadily increasing over the last two
decades, as shown below, with increased use driven largely by increasing donor qualification, an increase in disease prevalence due to
aging populations, and improved conditioning regimens permitting broader use in older and frailer patient segments. In addition, newer,
more effective leukemia therapies continue to drive an increasing use of HCT in patients who previously failed to achieve proper
remission prior to transplant. While the approval of CAR-T therapies has significantly impacted the treatment of B cell malignancies
over the last decade, HCT in non-B cell malignancies is anticipated to remain the standard of care for patients. An example of the
limitations associated with CAR-T therapy is the difficulty differentiating tumor from normal cells of CD19-targeted CAR-T therapies.
CD19 is a target highly expressed on the surface of tumor cells and is also expressed on normal B cells which are also eliminated by
CD19 targeted CAR-T cells. While loss of B cells does not generally lead to serious complications, toxicity on other normal myeloid
blood cell types such as neutrophils would cause a life-threatening complication called febrile neutropenia in which bacterial infections
occur due to the loss of neutrophils. This is one reason why CAR-T therapies cannot be used in non-B cell hematologic malignancies
such as myeloid leukemias and HCT remains the standard of care for those patients.

The Number of Allogeneic HCT Procedures in the U.S. Continues to Rise

However, despite the increasing use of HCT and the resulting clinical benefits or cures, approximately 40% of the patients who
receive HCT relapse, at which point there are limited treatment options and the prognosis is very poor. Clinical observations have shown
that if the T cells of the donor recognize certain minor histocompatibility antigens, or miHAs, in the patient’s leukemia cells, such as
proteins that have single amino acid differences between the patient and the donor, the T cells of the donor drive a specific graft vs.
leukemia, or GvL, effeff ct, whereby the engrafted donor T cells detect remaining leukemia as foreign and eliminate the remaining disease.
As a result, the patient often experiences a long-term remission from their cancer, or even a complete cure. If the miHAs are also
expressed in non-hematopoietic tissues, the patient may develop graft vs. host disease, or GvHD, but if the miHAs are only expressed
in blood cells, a specific GvL effect is observed without an increase in GvHD. Our hematologic malignancies program is focused on
targeting miHAs that are exclusively expressed in hematopoietic cells in order to induce the GvL effect while potentially mitigating the
risk of GvHD.

TSTT C-CC 100

TSC-100 is an allogeneic TCR-T therapy candidate directed at eliminating all native blood cells, including residual cancer cells,
in HA-1-positive and HLA-A*02:01-positive patients with hematologic malignancies who undergo HCT using a donor who is either
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HA-1-negative or HLA-A*02:01-negative. Using ReceptorScan, we screened over a hundred million CD8+ T cells and identified and
assessed hundreds of highly active TCRs that recognize the HA-1 antigen. We selected TCR-100a based on its superior affinity,ff
cytotoxic activity, and specififf city compared to the others. TSC-100 is designed to elicit an anti-tumor response in patients by targeting
HA-1, which is present on malignant and normal blood cells of HA-1-positive patients but not on any of the new, donor-derived blood
cells they receive from a donor who is either HA-1-negative or HLA-A*02:01-negativeff . We believe that donor T cells specifically
engineered to express TCR-100a will generate an anti-tumor effect in patients, leading to a reduction in relapse rates and an increase in
long-term survival.

HA-1 was one of the first miHAs to be discovered in a patient undergoing HCT. HA-1 is a peptide antigen derived from the
protein ARHGAP45, which is an intracellular protein expressed at high levels in all blood cells but not in any other tissue. ARHGAP45
comes in two forms. In HA-1-positive individuals, the peptide has the sequence VLHDDLLEA and, if the individual has the HLA type
A*02:01, the antigen is efficiently displayed on the surface of blood cells. In HA-1-negative individuals, the peptide has the sequence
VLRDDLLEA, and the HA-1 antigen is not displayed. Approximately 60% of people have the VLHDDLLEA sequence and
appra oximately 42% of people in the United States have the HLA type A*02:01, which means that approximately 25% of individuals in
the United States are HA-1-positive with the specififf c HLA type required for antigen expression. Studies of patients receiving HCT have
shown that in cases where the T cells of an HA-1-negative donor naturally develop a response to HA-1 in an HA-1-positive patient, the
T cells mediate a specific GvL effect and the patient often experiences a long-term remission. TSC-100 is based on this clinical
observation and is designed to specifically cause this GvL effect in patients receiving HCT.

We are developing TSC-100 as a treatment for patients with cancer who are HA-1-positive and have been deemed eligible for
HCT. For each patient, a healthy donor who is HA-1-negative or HLA-A*02:01-negative will be identified. Hematopoietic stem cells
isolated from that donor will be used as the source of transplant material. In parallel, T cells isolated from the same donor will be
genetically engineered to recognize HA-1. Once engraftment of donor stem cells is established in the patient, TSC-100 will be infused
into the patient with the goal of eliciting a highly specififf c anti-tumor effect. The engineered donor T cells are designed to recognize and
eliminate all of the patient’s native blood cells, including residual leukemia cells, which are HA-1-positive, thereby preventing relapse
and potentially promoting complete cures. Because the patient’s new healthy blood cells are derived from the donor and are therefore
either HA-1-negative or HLA-A*02:01-negative, we believe that TSC-100 should have minimal toxic side effects. A summary of the
treatment paradigm for Tff SC-100 is illustrated below.

TSC-100 Treatment Paradigm

Because people inherit two copies of every chromosome, one from their mother and one from their father, everyone has two copies
of the ARHGAP45 gene. HA-1-positive patients can therefore be either homozygous for HA-ff 1 (+/+), with both genes encoding the HA-
1-positive peptide (VLHDDLLEA), or heterozygous for HA-1 (+/-), with one gene encoding the HA-1-positive peptide and the other
encoding the HA-1-negative peptide (VLRDDLLEA). To ensure that TSC-100 is able to effectively eliminate healthy blood cells and
leukemia cells that are either homozygous HA-1-positive (+/+) or heterozygous HA-1-positive (+/-), we assessed the activity of TSC-
100 against blood cells derived from a variety of healthy donors and patients with AML and ALL. In preclinical studies, TSC-100
eliminated both homozygous and heterozygous HA-1-positive healthy blood cells and leukemia cells.
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It is known in the cell therapy field that TCRs which exhibit off-target effects can potentially cause toxicity. In order to reduce
the potential for TCR-100a to exhibit problematic off-target effects, we used SafetyScan to comprehensively scan for any otff her potential
targets recognized by TCR-100a. In the screen, all three protein fragments in the library that contain the HA-1-positive peptide antigen
were strongly enriched, and no significant off-target interactions were observed. In contrast, some of the other HA-1-specific TCRsff
identified by ReceptorScan did exhibit off-target effects, highlighting our ability to select candidates that we believe have favorablea
risk/benefit profiles.

TSTT C-CC 101

Similar to TSC-100, TSC-101 is an allogeneic TCR-T therapy candidate directed at eliminating residual cancer cells in HA-2-
positive and HLA-A*02:01-positive patients with hematologic malignancies who undergo HCT using a donor who is either HA-2-
negative or HLA-A*02:01-negative. HA-2, which is derived from the protein MYO1G, is another miHA that has been identified to beff
clinically relevant. In patients who naturally develop HA-2-specific T cells, a GvL effff eff ct has been observed and these patients experience
long-term remissions. Using ReceptorScan, we have identified a highly active TCR, which we refer to as TCR-101a, that recognizes
HA-2. In the fourth quarter of 2021, we filed an IND for TSC-101. The FDA cleared our IND for TSC-101, enabling us to move forward
with Phase 1 clinical development.

Unlike HA-1, the HA-2 antigen is highly prevalent, with approximately 95% of individuals in the United States being HA-2-
positive. However, as with HA-1, a specific HLA type, HLA-A*02:01, which is present in approximately 42% of individuals in the
United States, is required to display the HA-2 antigen on the cell surface for recognition by a T cell. As a result, approximately 40% offf
HCT patients would be positive for both HA-2 and HLA-A*02:01 and therefore be eligible for treatment with TSC-101 using a donor
who is negative for HLA-A*02:01, regardless of whether the donor iff s HA-2-positive or HA-2-negative. Such donors are straightforward
to identify and should be available to most patients who undergo half-matched, or haploidentical, transplantation using family members
as donors, as patients typically have between two and three potential haploidentical donors.

Similar to TCR 100a, we used ReceptorScan to identify TCR 101a. We screened approximately 237 million CD8+ cells from five
healthy HA-2 negative donors and identified approximately 1,302 natural TCRs that recognize HA-2. These were then narrowed down
to 15 TCRs with the highest surfaff ce expression and greatest affinity fff or the HA-2 peptide. We further evaluated the top five TCRs forff
off-target cross-reactivity against the entire human proteome using SafetyScan, identifying TCR-101 as the most active TCR with the
lowest off-target activity and cleanest cross-reactivity profile against 108 other HLA alleles. Finally, TSC-101, our TCR-T therapy
candidate which is T cells manufactured to express TCR-101, was tested on a panel of normal cell types representing all vital organs
and did not recognize any normal non-hematologic cell type. In contrast, TSC-101 demonstrated efficient cell killing of both normalff
and malignant primary hematologic srr amples confirming a high degree of selectivity for hematologic cells. The discovery of TCR-101
was presented at the 63rd American Society of Hematology Annual Meeting and Exposition, in December 2021.

ClCC ill nii ical Developmell nt Plan for Our Hematologill c Malignancies Program

Backgrk ound on Types of HCT

Patients with acute leukemias who undergo allogeneic HCT have heterogeneous outcomes that are primarily related to two main
variables: (i) the intensity or doses of the conditioning regimen they receive prior to the stem cell infusion and (ii) the type of donor who
provides the stem cells.

High-intensity conditioning regimens are called myeloablative conditioning and associated with higher mortality rates. They are
thereforff e reserved for young and relatively fit patients. Lower-intensity regimens are called reduced-intensity conditioning, or RIC, and
better tolerated, but are associated with higher relapse rates. TSC-100 and TSC-101 are both designed to substantially reduce relapse
rates, and we plan to enroll patients who are eligible for RIC-based HCT with the goal of improving clinical outcomes for these patients.

There are different types of donors who are eligible for allogeneic HCT procedures. Donors who are siblings of the patient and
are perfectly matched for eff ight out of eight HLA alleles are considered the highest priority donor type for patients undergoing allogeneic
HCT, but these types of donors are available for less than a third of patients. For the majority of patients, the choice is between an
unrelated donor who is perfeff ctly matched for eight out of eight HLA alleles, refeff rred to as a matched unrelated donor, or MUD, or a
family member such as a sibling, parent or child who has a half-match with the patient, refff eff rred to as a haploidentical donor, or haplo.a
Historically, haplo donor transplantation was associated with much higher GvHD than MUD-transplants, but a recent treatment regimen
that uses chemotherapy given three days after stem cell infusion called post-transplantation cyclophosphamide, or PTCy, specifically
kills immune cells that cause GvHD. As a result, haplo transplants with PTCy have recently achieved equivalent outcomes as MUD
transplants and are rapidly increasing in usage in the United States and worldwide.
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The use of haplos greaa tly expands the donor pool for patients undergoing HCT and provides patients with the optionality to choose
donors who are mismatched on specific HLA types, such as A*02:01, as opposed to being mismatched on certain minor antigens, such
as HA-1 or HA-2. We are developing TSC-100 and TSC-101 with a specific focff us on patients undergoing haplo donor transplantation
with donors who are negative for either the miHA or the specific HLA type. We believe the engineered donor T cells will recognize any
residual leukemia cells, which are target-positive, in the patient and prevent relapse with the potential to promote complete cures.
Because the patient’s new healthy blood cells are derived from the donor and are therefore either tarff get-negative or not able to express
the target, we believe TSC-100 and TSC-101 should have minimal toxic side effects.

Phase 1 Clinical Trial

We have initiated clinical studies for TSC-100 and TSC-101 within a multi-arm, controlled, Phase 1, ‘umbrella’ design clinical
trial to investigate the safety and efficacy of TSC-100 and TSC-101 in patients with ALL, AML, and MDS, that are undergoing HCT
following RIC.

Our Phase 1 clinical trial is designed to include measurements of early surrogate markers of efficacy, such as chimerism, or the
percentage of blood cells that are donor-derived, and whether patients continue to have detectable residual leukemia in their post-
transplant bone marrow biopsy, both of which are predictors of relapse. As shown in the graphic below, we are also including a control
arm, comprising patients who do not meet the HLA or miHA genetic criteria and are treated with standard RIC haplo transplantation
alone. Comparisons of both safety and efficacy outcomes with this control arm will potentially enable all patients treated with TSC-100
or TSC-101 to be included as part of the efficacy analysis for the initial Phase 1 trial prior to transitioning the program into a registrational
Phase 2 trial towards a futff urt e biologics license application, or BLA, filing.

Multi-Arm Phase 1 Clinical Trial Design

Anticipati ed timeline

We filed INDs for TSC-100 and TSC-101 in the fourth quarter of 2021. The FDA has cleared our INDs for TSC-100 and TSC-
101, enabling us to move forward with our clinical development plans. We expect to enroll patients in all three arms in the Phase 1
umbrella trial for TSC-100 and TSC-101 and plan to report safety and biomarker data mid-year. Additionally, we expect that we will
reach the recommended Phase 2 dose for TSC-100 and TSC-101 and report further clinical safety and biomarker data for the program
by the end of 2023. We expect to report prevention of relapse data in 2024.

FutFF ure market expansion opportunitiesrr

If TSC-100 and TSC-101 demonstrate the ability to significantly reduce relapse rates after HCT, there could potentially be new
opportunities to expand the curative potential of HCT combined with TSC products to greater numbers of patients. Currently, only about
7,000 patients undergo HCT per year in the United States out of approximately 40,000 patients diagnosed each year with AML, MDS
and ALL. There are two reasons for this relatively modest rate of transplant utilization. First, only patients who achieve a clinical
complete remission (CR) are referred for HCT since the relapse rates of patients not in CR are considered too high to safely use HCT.
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If HCT combined with TSC products markedly reduce relapse rates, patients who do not achieve CR could still undergo HCT and
benefit from its curative potential. This market expansion would require a separate clinical trial. Second, while reduced intensity
conditioning has enabled many more elderly and frff ail patients to undergo transplantation, the chemotherapy and radiation doses used
for conditioning are still high and considered too toxic for most patients over the age of 65 or those with underlying comorbidities. This
is because the conditioning regimen of HCT is considered the primary modality to eliminate residual leukemia cells and reducing doses
furff ther would result in greater relapse rates. If however, the relapse rates could be reduced by a TSC product post HCT, a clinical trial
could test the use of minimal intensity conditioning prior to HCT. If successful, this would further expand the curative potential of HCT
combined with TSC therapy to older, frailer patients. A fiff nal market expansion opportunity could occur from the use of TSC products
as a chemotherapy aa nd radiation-frff ee conditioning regimen for non-malignant diseases such as sickle cell anemia which are currently
treated with HCT. Since chemotherapy and radiation are associated with the risk of long-term toxicities such as cancer, heart damage,
lung damage and infertility, cellular therapies such as TSC-100 or TSC-101 could reduce those risks and increase the numbers of patients
willing to undergo HCT.

Solid Tumor Program

We are developing a portfolio of autologous TCR-T therapy candidates that are designed to be used in combination with each
other to treat and eliminate solid tumors. Our TSC-200 series of product candidates are designed to elicit an anti-tumor response in
patients by targeting cancer-specific antigens in their tumor cells. Our TCR-T therapy candidates include: (i) either well-recognized
cancer targets that have demonstrated anti-tumor activity in clinical trials or novel targets that were identified by TargetScan from the
T cells of patients responding to immunotherapy and (ii) naturally occurring TCRs specific to a patient’s HLA type that recognize these
cancer-specific targets. Such targets are not only commonly shared among patients with the same cancer type, but also frequently
expressed in multiple solid tumor types, enabling clinical development across multiple indications. Our six solid tumor TCR-T therapy
candidates include a combination of known targets, such as HPV16 for TSC-200, PRAME for TSC-203, and MAGE-A1 for TSC-204,
as well as novel TCR-T therapy targets that have not yet been tested in the clinic, such as TSC-201, TSC-202, and TSC-205. We are
currently advancing our six solid tumor TCR-T therapy candidates. We received FDA clearance for our initial three INDs for the
treatment of solid tumors. These include a primary IND for the entire solid tumor program, which we refer to as T-Plex, which supports
the simultaneous use of multiple TCRs to create customized, multiplexed TCR-T cell therapy candidates based on target and HLA
expression. The FDA also cleared INDs for TSC-204-A0201 and TSC-204-C0702, the first two TCRs in the ImmunoBank, targeting
MAGE-A1 on HLA types A*02:01 and C*07:02, respectively. We plan to further expand the ImmunoBank by filing INDs for additional
TCRs throughout 2023. In addition to our six lead solid tumor TCR-T therapy candidates, we have identififf ed about 100 novel antigensa
as targets of tumor infiltrating T cells from patients who are responding to immunotherapy using our TargetScan technology. We are in
early stages of analyzing these additional novel antigens and plan to advance those that we believe have the best potential as a TCR-T
therapy candidate into preclinical development.

We are building the ImmunoBank, a collection of highly active TCRs, to enable multiplexed TCR-T therapy. Our vision is to
expand the ImmunoBank with TCRs that recognize diverse targets and are associated with multiple HLA types in order to provide a
broad array of therapeutic options for patients with various types of solid tumors. For patients with a solid tumor malignancy, we plan
to analyze their tumor to determine which targets are expressed at high levels in their particular cancer. We will then access the
ImmunoBank and select up to three TCRs that match their HLA type and address the most highly expressed targets in their tumor. We
will use this set of TCRs to genetically reprogram their T cells to recognize these targets and the resulting engineered T cells will be
infused back into the patient as a multiplexed TCR-T therapy.
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Our Strategy to Treat Solid Tumors with Multiplexed TCR-T Therapy

TCTT RCC -T TheTT rapy for the TrTT eatmtt ent of SolSS ill d Tumors

Immunotherapy has reshaped ta he treatment of solid tumors by demonstrating that tumor shrinkage, eradication, and long-term
durable responses can be obtained by stimulating the patient’s own immune system to attack their cancer cells. Immune checkpoint
inhibitors, such as nivolumab or pembrolizumab, work by unla eashing anti-cancer T cells that are already present in a patient’s tumor,
enabling those T cells to recognize and eliminate their cancer. For patients who respond to checkpoint inhibitors, these agents have been
shown to be very err ffff ective. However, only a sff ubset of patients responds to checkpoint inhibitors, highlighting the need for T cell-based
therapies that can treat those patients who do not respond. Despite their efficacy in only a subset of patients, checkpoint inhibitors have
annual sales well in excess of $25 billion.

One reason why patients do not respond to current immunotherapy treatments is that they lack T cells with highly active TCRs
that recognize cancer-specific antigens in their tumors. By reprogramming the patient’s own T cells to recognize these targets, we believe
that we can expand the dramatic responses observed with checkpoint inhibitor therapy to the patients for whom these therapies are
ineffective.

Our Solution

Our solid tumor program is based on the premise that if we can understand how T cells naturally fight cancer, we can use this
information to design life-changing TCR-T therapies for virtually any patient with cancer. Our discovery process begins with identifying
patient T cells that are actively driving their clinical response to immunotherapy. We then use TargetScan to determine the precise
targets of these highly active TCRs. Our discovery efforts arrr e initially focused on patients with head and neck cancer who respond to
checkpoint inhibitor therapy and patients with melanoma who respond to TIL therapy. These cancers represent tumor types with a high
degree of T cell infiltration and strong responses to immunotherapy, which provides us with clinically active T cells from which we can
discover novel TCR/target pairs. We have found that targets discovered in one type of cancer are often expressed in other cancers as
well, enabla ing broader clinical development of our TCR-T therapy candidates. The tumor types we are focused on also express several
known targets that were previously discovered from patient T cells. We are using ReceptorScan to discover highly active TCRs for these
previously identififf ed targets to complement the discovery of our novel TCR/target pairs. Finally, the ImmunoBank will allow us to
target multiple HLA types to prevent target loss and increase durability of response.

Novel Targets Identified from Patiei nts with Hett ad and NeNN ck Cancer

One of the ways we identify anti-cancer TCRs is by focusing on T cells that clonally expand in a tumor when the patient responds
to checkpoint inhibitor therapy. Some of this work is being performed under collaborative research agreements with various academic
institutions. Using single cell sequencing, our collaborators determined the TCR sequences of thousands of T cells in the tumors of
patients with head and neck cancer before and after immunotherapy. This analysis also revealed the frequency of each T cell clone in
the tumor samples. As an example, if a particular TCR sequence is observed at 0.05% frequency in the tumor before the patient receives
immunotherapy and then increases to 5% after the tumor starts to shrink, the T cell has clonally expanded 100-fold and is likely to have
played a causal role in driving the patient’s clinical response. Certain TCR sequences are not detectable in the pre-treatment biopsy but
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are observed at high frequency in the post-treatment tumor. Tt hese emerging clones are also potential candidates for driving the patient’s
clinical response. An illustrative example of T cell sequencing data from one patient with head and neck cancer who had a complete
response to immunotherapy.

Clinically Relevant Anti-Cancer T Cells Identified Through T Cell Sequencing

Novel Targets IdenII tifieff d frff om PatPP ients with Melanomtt a

Another approach we use to identify clinically relevant anti-cancer T cells is to analyze T cells from patients with melanoma who
respond to TIL therapy. Using single cell sequencing, we determine the TCR sequences of the T cells in the responding patient’s TIL
therapy pra oduct and focus on the most abundant T cell clones. We have found that TIL therapy products are oftff en dominated by as few
as two or three clones, further increasing our confidence that these TCRs played a causal role in fighting the patient’s cancer.

To increase the throughput of our discovery efforts, we have used TargetScan in a more directed manner to screen sub-libraries
of protein fragments that focus on particular classes of tumor antigens. For example, we built a sub-library that focuses on cancer/testis
antigens, or CTAs, which are genes that typically play a role in embryonic development but are not expressed in any adult tissues other
than testes. T cells do not infiltrate testes and cells in the testes have very low levels of MHC proteins, making testes an immune-
privileged site that will not be targeted by engineered T cells in the context of cell therapy. CTA genes are frequently found to beff
expressed in tumor cells and often play a role in causing cancer. Several well-recognized targets in development for TCR-T therapy are
CTAs, including NY-ESO-1 and MAGE-A4.

We are focused on the discovery of novel targets within this class of antigens and have built a TargetScan library comprising
40,000 fragments that cover 1,600 CTA genes. Because this library is substantially less complex than our genome-wide Oncology Target
Discovery Library, we can screen the TargetScan library with dozens of TCRs simultaneously. For example, we screened 35 TCRs
derived from 11 patients with melanomawho received TIL therapy. In a single screen, we identified three TCR/target pairs that recognize
CTAs, including the antigen target for one of our lead solid tumor product candidates, TSC-201, which we refer to as Target-201, as
well as two other antigens that have not previously been identified as targets for TCR-T therapy.

TCR and TarTT ger t ValidatVV itt on Process

When we discover novel TCR/target pairs, we first determine if the gene that encodes the target is expressed at high levels in
normal tissue. We found that Target-201 is exclusively expressed in testis, which is an immune privileged tissue and, as a result, should
not pose a significant safety concern. We also examined how frequently the target is expressed in various solid tumors. In the screen,
Target-201 was overexpressed in a high percentage of melanoma tumor samples as well as in several other tumor types, including non-
small cell lung cancer, or NSCLC, head and neck cancer, and cervical cancer.
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Next, as part of our discovery process, we test if the TCRs discovered with our approach are able to kill cancer cells that naturally
express the relevant target and specific HLA type. As shown below on the leftff , when T cells expressing the TCR that recognizes Target-
201 are cultured with melanoma cell lines that naturally express different levels of Target-ff 201, such as A101D and SKMEL5, the degree
to which the T cells get activated correlates with the expression level of Target-201 in the melanoma cells. In addition, the T cells kill
melanoma cells expressing high levels of Target-201, as shown below on the right but do not kill cells that express low levels of Target-
201, which highlights the selectivity of the TCR for Target-201.

Finally, to reduce the risk that a TCR discovered in a targeted screen recognizes any problematic off-targets, we re-screen theff
TCR using SafetyScan and our genome-wide library. When the TCR that recognizes Target-201 was re-screened using our Orr ncology
Target Discovery Library, which includes protein fragments spanning every normal protein encoded in the human genome, only one
potential off-target was observed. We subsequently identified several cell lines that naturally express the full-length protein from whichff
the offff -ff target antigen was derived and found that T cells engineered with the TCR do not recognize or kill these cells. Although the TCR
recognizes target cells overexpressing protein fragments containing this off-target antigen, it does not recognize cells expressing the
full-length protein at normal levels. This shows that our genome-wide screen detects potential off-targets with very high sensitivity, and
that not all off-targets detected in this manner are problematic. In the event, however, that a TCR exhibits problematic off-target effects,
we can use ReceptorScan to discover alternative TCRs that have similar anti-cancer effects but do not cross-react with proteins expressed
at high levels on normal tissue or critical organs.

To further expand the pool of addressable patients with our TSC-200 series of product candidates, we can also use ReceptorScan
to identify TCRs recognizing antigens on the same target protein that are presented by diffeff rent HLA alleles. Ultimately, we believe this
strategy has the potential to enable multiplexed TCR-T therapy in which a patient is treated with more than one TCR for the same target
protein, presented on two different HLA alleles. This approach could reduce the risk of resistance arising from loss, downregulation, or
mutation of individual HLA genes.

TSTT C-CC 200 Series

Our six solid tumor TCR-T therapy candidates include a combination of known targets, such as HPV16 for TSC-ff 200, PRAME
for TSC-203, and MAGE-A1 for TSC-204, as well as targets that are novel antigens for TCR-T therapy, such as for TSC-201, TSC-ff
202, and TSC-205. All of these targets are frequently expressed in the solid tumt ors of interest to us, including melanoma, head and neck
cancer, NSCLC, and cervical cancer. In 2022, it is estimated that in the U.S., approximately 100,000 patients are diagnosed with
melanoma, 66,000 with head and neck cancer, 185,000 with NSCLC, and 14,000 with cervical cancer. We plan to advance a combination
of known and novel targets into clinical development, which will allow us to use the product candidates targeting known antigens as
backbones for our initial cff linical trials evaluating multiplexed TCR-T therapy. For example, we plan to evaluate TSC-200, which targets
well-known and clinically-validated oncogenic proteins derived from HPV16, in combination with TSC-201 and TSC-202, which target
antigens that have not yet been tested for TCR-T therapy.

TSC-200

In parallel with our TargetScan discovery efforts in head and neck cancer, we are using ReceptorScan to discover highly active
TCRs that target antigens in human papilloma virus, or HPV, for our TSC-200 program. Over 25% of head and neck cancers are caused
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by HPV infection, iff ncluding up to 70% of oropharangeal cancers. HPV antigens are a particularly compelling set of targets due to the
fact that HPV proteins drive tumorigenesis in these cancers, which means that these proteins are (1) present in every tumor cell in an
HPV-positive tumor and (2) essential to the survival of the tumor cell. In addition to head and neck cancers, HPV is found in mff ore than
90% of cervical and anal cancers as well as over 60% of vaginal, vulval, and penile cancers. Recent Phase 1 clinical data from theff
National Cancer Institute showed tumor regression with objective clinical responses in 50% of patients with metastatic HPV-positive
cancers who were treated with a TCR-T candidate targeting HPV16, which we believe provides clinical support for the inclusion of anff
HPV16-targeting TCR, TSC-200, in our multiplexed TCR-T therapy strategy. We have identified over a thousand TCRs that recognize
HLA-A*02:01- specific antigens derived frff om HPV16, and we are currently identifying the most active TCR with a de-risked safety
profile to advance to IND-enabling studies. We also intend to extend our discovery efforts to include additional HPV16-derived antirr gens
presented on other HLA types as the program advances.

TSC-201

As detailed above, using our TargetScan technology, we have identified what we refa eff r to as Target-201, as one of three targets
from the T cells of melanoma patients responding to TIL therapy. Target-201 is a CTA that is exclusively expressed in testis and is not
expressed in normal adult tissues. The testis is an immune-privileged tissue and, as a result, we believe that targeting Target-201 should
not pose a significant safety concern. In addition, Target-201, which contributes to tumorigenesis by suppressing the cellular mechanisms
responsible for controlling cell division, is selectively expressed across multiple different types of tumors, including approximately 50%
of melanomas, approximately 25% of head and neck cancers, and approximately 50% of non-small cell lung cancers. Tumors expressing
Target-201 have been shown to be associated with metastasis and poor patient survival. We have identified two clinically active TCRs
that recognize novel epitopes derived frff om Target-201 presented on two common HLA alleles, and we are currently evaluating which
TCR/Target-201 antigen pair to advance to IND-enabling studies. We are also using ReceptorScan to identify additional TCRs for
Target-201 epitopes presented on other HLA alleles to further expand the addressable patient population.

TSCTT -CC 202

We have also identified clinically active TCRs targeting what we refeff r to as Target-202, which is a protein involved in cell invasion
and migration that plays a role in the metastasis of tumors. Target-202 is a CTA that is expressed only in the placenta, with very low
expression in testis and no expression in any other adult tissue. Increased expression of Target-202 is positively correlated with the
degree of tumor invasion, lymph node metastasis, distant metastasis, and poor prognosis. Expression of Target-202 is especially high in
HPV-positive tumors. Target-202 expression is repressed in normal tissue by the tumor suppressor protein p53. In HPV-driven
carcinomas, however, the viral protein E6 causes degradation of p53, leading to increased expression of Target-202. As a result, high
expression of Target-202 is observed in over 90% of cervical cancers and approximately 75% head and neck cancers. Target-202 is also
expressed in HPV-negative tumors, including approximately 40% of NSCLCs, over 95% of melanomas, and up to 80% of primary
breast cancers. Using ReceptorScan, we have identified thousands of TCRs that recognize multiple HLAA*02:01-specific epitopes
derived from Target-202, and we are currently identifying the most active TCR to advance to IND-enabling studies.

TSC-203

We are developing TSC-203 as a TCR-T therapy candidate targeting a known cancer antigen, Preferentially Expressed Antigen
in Melanoma, or PRAME. Similar to Target-201, PRAME contributes to tumorigenesis by suppressing cellular signals that control cell
division, and higher expression levels of PRAME in tumors correlate with increased metastasis and poor patient outcomes. PRAME is
a CTA that, like Target-201 and Target-202, is absent in adult tissues except in the ovaries and testis. Approximately 50% of NSCLCs,
approximately 25% of cervical cancers, and approximately 90% of melanomas and head and neck cancers express PRAME. Moreover,
PRAME expression is homogeneous within these tumors, which we believe make it an attractive target for multiplexed TCR-T therapy.ff
Using ReceptorScan, we have identified thousands of TCRs across multiple PRAME-derived epitopes presented on HLA-A*02:01, and
we are currently identifying the most active TCR to advance to IND-enabling studies. In addition, we are using TargetScan on clinically
active TCRs from patients with melanoma and head and neck cancer to identify novel PRAME epitopes presented on other HLA types.

TSC-204

We are developing TSC-204 as a TCR-T therapy candidata e targeting a known cancer antigen, melanoma-associated antigen 1, or
MAGE-A1, that will include multiple TCRs for different HLA-restricted epitopes on this target. Using our TargetScan platform we have
identified MAGE-A1 as one of the targets of T cells from a head and neck cancer patient responding to checkpoint inhibitor therapy.
From this patient, we discovered multiple different TCRs recognizing a novel HLA-C*07:02 restricted epitope of MAGE-A1 which is
a cancer/testis gene frequently overexpressed in a wide variety of solid tumors, including approximately 45% of head and neck cancers,
50% of melanomas, 50% of cervical cancers and 50% of non-small cell lung cancers. In addition to these highly active HLA-C*07:02
restricted TCRs, we are also using ReceptorScan to identify additional clinical TCRs for MAGE-A1 epitopes presented on multiple
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other HLA alleles to further expand the addressabla e patient population. TScan believes that it is the only company with a disclosed TCR
program in MAGE-A1 for HLA types other than A*02:01. The Company filed INDs for TSC-204-A0201 and TSC-204-C0702 in
December 2022, and the FDA cleared these INDs in January 2023, allowing us to proceed with Phase 1 clinical development enabling
activities.

TSCTT -CC 205

We are developing TSC-205, a known cancer antigen, as a TCR-T therapy candidate. Expression of this antigen is distinct from
our current clinical targets, with especially prevalent expression in head and neck and non-small cell lung cancers. Using our
ReceptorScan platform, we have generated candidate TCRs for two difff ferent epitopes derived from TSC-205.ff

In addition to our six lead solid tumt or TCR-T therapy candidates, we have identified about 100 novel antigens as targets of tumor
infiltrating T cells from patients who are responding to immunotherapy using TargetScan. Although target validation naturally results
in attrition, it is clear that tumor-resident T cells recognize many more shared antigens than have been reported to date. Many of the
antigens we have identified are expressed across multiple solid tumor types and some have expression levels comparable or superior to
targets currently in clinical development by others such as NY-ESO-1. We are currently in the process of validating several of these
additional novel antigens and identifying potential TCR/target pairs using our platform technologies. We plan to continuously expand
the ImmunoBank with TCRs for both known and novel targets as well as address different HLA types to enable customized multiplexed
TCR-T therapy candidates while also addressing the potential issue of HLA loss leading to resistance for a wide range of solid tumor
patients.

ClCC ill nii ical Developmell nt Plan for Our SolSS ill d TuTT mor ProgramPP

For the initial first-in-human studies for our TSC-200 series of TCR-T therapy candidates, we plan to evaluate multiple TCRs in
parallel to determine the safety and preliminary efficacy of multiplexed TCR-T therapy. In January 2023, the FDA cleared our IND
application for T-Plex, which will serve as the primary IND for our solid tumor program, enabling customized combinations of TCR-
Ts to be administered to patients based on the targets and HLAs expressed in their tumors. Specific TCRs for each patient will be chosen
from the ImmunoBank consisting of high affinity, naturally occurring TCRs that recognize a variety of prevalent cancer-specific targets
and are associated with common HLA types. Each unique TCR-T will be filed as a secondary IND and will reference the primary T-
Plex IND.

In addition to the T-Plex IND, the FDA cleared secondary INDs for two initial TCR-T product candidates, TSC-204-A0201 and
TSC-204-C0702, targeting melanoma associated antigen 1 (MAGE-A1) on HLA types A*02:01 and C*07:02. MAGE-A1 is a cancer-
associated antigen overexpressed in 45% of head and neck cancers and 50% of melanoma, cervical, and non-small cell lung cancers.
We believe that TSC-204-C0702 is the first clinical program in MAGE-A1 for an HLA type other than A*0201. We are now conducting
activities to enable the initiation of a multicenter Phase 1 clinical trial to evaluate the safety, preliminary efficacy, and feasibility of
repeat dosing of multiplexed TCR-T therapy. We plan to enroll patients with non-small cell lung cancer, melanoma, head and neck
cancer, ovarian, and cervical cancer. We expect that many of the clinical trial sites enrolling patients in our hematologic malignancies
program are planning to join our solid tumor Phase 1 study. We plan to begin enrolling patients in the screening protocol of this study
by the middle of this year, with patient dosing expected to commence in the third quarter of 2023. We plan to share initial safety and
biomarker data for the most advanced single-agent TCRs by the end of 2023, with initial multiplex therapy data for our first combination
of TCRs under T-Plex expected in the first half of 2024.

We plan to further populate the ImmunoBank with additional targets and HLA types, including cancer/r testis antigens and TCRs
targeted at epitopes of HPV. We envision these HPV-targeting TCRs will serve as a backbone therapy for patients with HPV-positive
malignancies, including head and neck, cervical, and anal cancers. According to the Centers for Disease Control, the incidence of HPV-
positive cancers in the U.S. is approximately 46,000 cases per year, with five-year survival rates ranging from approximately 50% to
70%. The targets of TSC-201, TSC-202, TSC-203, TSC-204, and TSC-205 are also frequently expressed in the solid tumors of interest
to us, as shown below.



31

Cancer Expression Levels for the Tff argets of our Lead Solid Tumor Programs

Aftff er establishing single agent safety for each of our initial solid tumor TCR-T therapy candidates in a multi-arm Phase 1 clinicala
trial, we plan to test our series 200 TCR-Ts in combination with other TCRs in the ImmunoBank in patients who are positive for the
respective targets of these therapies. We will also explore three-TCR combinations in patients who are positive for the three respective
targets. Because the targets of TSC-201, TSC-202, TSC-203, and TSC-204 are also frequently expressed in melanoma and NSCLC, we
will also explore various combinations of these TCR-T therapy candidates in patients with HPV-negative head and neck cancer,
melanoma, and NSCLC. A summary of our planned Phase 1 clinical strategy is shown below.

TSC-200 Series Dose Escalation Scheme Provides Rapid Path to Testing and Expanding Multiplexed TCR-T in Phase 1

Anticipated timeline
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As we advance our solid tumor program, we anticipate submitting IND filings for additional TCRs throughout 2023. We expect
to report initial safety data for the most advanced TCRs in this series by year end 2023, with multiplex therapy data anticipated in 2024.
As we continue to discover and validate TCR/target pairs, we aim to continue to file additional INDs and introduce those solid tumor
TCR-T therapy candidates into this multi-arm basket-style Phase 1 clinical trial. We believe this trial will serve as the first step towards
our long-term goal of building and expanding the ImmunoBank to provide customized multiplexed TCR-T therapy for virtually any
patient with a solid tumor malignancy.

ImmunoBank – Flexible Content for Diverse Platforms

Our current clinical development strategy is based on autologous T cell engineering, which is the basis for approved CAR-T
products such as Kymriah and Yescarta. As the field of T cell engineering evolves, a wide variety of additional manufacturing platforms
are being developed that may further improve TCR-T cell products. For example, companies such as Lyell Immunopharma, Inc. are
developing methods to enhance autologous T cell engineering to provide improved duration of efficacy, while companies such as
Allogene Therapeutics, Inc. are developing ways to engineer allogeneic T cells and companies such as Sana Biotechnology, Inc. are
developing ways to engineer T cells in vivo. All of these engineering platforms require validated “content” – TCRs that recognize tumor-
specific antigens on cancer cells without recognizing problematic off-targets. As we advance the ImmunoBank of TCRs through clinical
development, we intend to continue to build our own manufacturing platform, while simultaneously investigating novel T cell
engineering platforms once they have established safety and efficacy. Ultimately, we aspire to build the largest collection of validated
TCR “content” that can be used with a variety of T cell engineering platforms.

Expansion Opportunities Beyond Oncology

Our primary focus is on the development of T cell therapies to treat cancer. However, T cells play a fundamental role in many
other disease areas, such as infectious disease and autoimmune disease. We believe that our TargetScan technology is well suited to
discover novel antigens for the development of therapeutics, diagnostics, and vaccines in these other areas. We intend to build additional
corporate value by opportunistically pursuing collaborations with sa trategic partners for applications of our platform technologies outside
our core focus.

Othtt er Disii eases

TargetScan can also be used for novel target discovery in additional infectious and autoimmune diseases. For example, infections
such as tuberculosis, influenza, and HIV have been shown to be T cell-mediated and are associated with high mortality rates. In addition,
many autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis, and scleroderma are largely T cell-mediated, but with poorly defined
instigating self-antigens. Our TargetScan technology, which provides an unbiased, genome-wide method to discover the natural targets
of disease-relevant T cells, is well positioned to identify these self-antigens. We believe the discovery of these targets could enable the
development of novel, more targeted therapeutic approaches to treat these diseases.

License and Collaboration Agreements

Collaboration and License Agreement with Novartis

On March 27, 2020, we entered into a Collaboration and License Agreement with Novartis Institutes for BioMedit cal Research,
Inc. (Novartis) (such agreement, the Novartis Agreement). Pursuant to the Novartis Agreement, we have received an aggregate of $20.0
million of cash representing the upfront payment and research funding totalling $10 million. We granted Novartis and its affiliates
options to obtain exclusive, royalty-bearing, sublicensable, transferable, worldwide licenses to certain target antigens identified in
performance of the Novartis Agreement and corresponding T cell receptors for such target antigens to make, have made, import, use,
sell or offer for sale, including to develop, manufacture, commercialize, register, hold or keep, have used, export, transport, distribute,
promote, market or have sold or otherwise dispose of such target antigens and corresponding T cell receptors. Novartis can exercise
each option by paying us $10.0 million and can exercise up to three options (each target antigen for which Novartis exercises an option,
an “Optioned Program”). In addition, we granted Novartis and its affiliates an option to obtain a non-exclusive, royalty-bearing,
sublicensable, transferable, worldwide license under our intellectuat l property corresponding to products associated with such Optioned
Program and improvements to our platform created in performance of activities under the Novartis Agreement, in each case, solely as
necessary to exploit products associated with such Optioned Program.

The ownership of inventions (and resulting patent rights) created in performance of the collaboration will be determined by
inventorship (i.e., inventions invented solely by us in performance of the collaboration and inventions invented solely by Novarff tis in
performance of the collaboration will be owned by Novartis and inventions invented jointly by us and Novartis in performance of the
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collaboration will be jointly owned). We retain our rights to (i) our intellectual property, (ii) programs that are not selected by Novartis
and (iii) our platform improvements, which will not be considered collaboration technology.

Each party has the sole right (but not the obligation) in its sole discretion and cost, to prepare, file, prosecute and maintain all
patents and patent applications that are owned solely by such party. For any collaboration patents or patent applications owned by us, if
we elect not to file a patent application or to cease the prosecution or maintenance of any of our collaboration patents or patenta
applications, we must notify Novartis immediately of such decision, at which point Novartis will become permitted to file or continue
prosecution or maintenance of such patent or patent application in our name. For joint collaboration patents and patent applications,
Novartis has the first right (but not the obligation) to prepare, file, prosecute and maintain any joint collaboration patent or patent
applications and/or optioned program patents or patent applications.

For each Optioned Program, as between the parties Novartis is solely responsible for the clinical development of such Option
Program. Novartis is required to pay us up to an aggregate of $230.0 million upon achievement of certain clinical milestones and
milestones for the first commercial sale in certain countries with respect to products directed to the corresponding target antigen for each
Optioned Program. Novartis is also required to pay us up to an aggregate of $260.0 million upon achievement of certain annual net sales
milestones for products directed to the corresponding target antigen for each Optioned Program. In addition, for each Optioned Program,ff
Novartis is required to pay us, on a product-by-product and country-by-country basis, tiered royalties in the low-single-digit to mid-
single-digit percentage on Novartis’, its affiliates’ and sublicensees’ net sales of certain products directed to target antigens for each
Optioned Program and a percentage in the mid-single-digits to low-teens on Novartis’ net sales of products directed to such antigens
and containing a T cell receptor we identified to Novartis in our performance of the Novartis Agreement, subject to certain customary
reductions. Royalties will be payable on a product-by-product and country-a by-country basis during the period of time commencing on
the first commercial sale of an applicable product in a country and endiff ng upon the later of: (a) 10 years from the date of first commercial
sale of such product in such country; (b) expiration of the last-to-expire valid claim of patents licensed by us to Novartis under the
Novartis Agreement covering the manufacture, use or sale of such product in such country; or (c) the expiration of any regulatory or
marketing exclusivity in such country with respect to such product (the “Royalty Term”). Novartis may terminate the Novartis
Agreement entirely or on a program-by-program basis at any time for convenience upon 90 days’ notice; provided, however, that
Novartis will be required to fulfill any payment obligations that accrued prior to termination.

For a period of up to 180 days after the end of the collaboration period (which collaboration period is anticipated to end in March
2023), we agree to notify Novartis if we intend to seek a third party partner to exclusively license or similarly grant rights to patents or
know-how developed by us under the collaboration to allow for the development or commercialization of products directed to any
programs that Novartis has not exercised an option to prior to the expiration of such option (a ROFN Notice). Upon receiving such
notice, Novartis will have 90 days to provide us with a term sheet to exclusively license such collaboration technology to develop or
commercialize products directed to such previously declined program, which will trigger Novartis’s right of first negotiation. If Novartis
delivers such term sheet, then Novartis will have 270 days following the ROFN Notiff ce to negotiate a license for such collaboration
technology.

The Novartis Agreement will remain in effect until (i) all options expire unexercised or (ii) if any options are exercise, on a
product-by-product and country-by-country basis for each Optioned Program, upon the expiration of the Royalty Term for all products
associated with such Optioned Program in such country. Either party may terminate the Novartis Agreement upon an uncured material
breach of the agreement or insolvency of the other party. We may terminate the Novartis Agreement immediately upon written notice
to Novartis if Novartis challenges the validity, enforceability or scope of any of the patents we license to Novartis under the agreement.
Novartis may terminate the agreement, either in its entirety or on a program-by-program basis, for convenience at any time with 90
days’ prior written notice.

Exclusive Patent License Agreement witii h Btt WHWW

On December 5, 2018, we entered into an Exclusive Patent License Agreement with The Brigham and Women’s Hospital, Inc.,
or BWH, as amended on July 26, 2019 and further amended and restated on April 20, 2021, or, collectively, the BWH Agreement,
pursuant to which we obtained an exclusive, sublicensable, worldwide license to practice under certain of BWH’s patent rights for
identifying T Cell epitopes, which are relevant to our TargetScan technology for identifying potential therapeutic products. The original
2018 BWH Agreement granted us the right to practice BWH’s patent rights in a certain field of use, MHC Class I License Field. In
connection with the amended and restatement of the BWH Agreement in 2021, we expanded the field of use in which we are authorized
to practice BWH’s patent rights to include MHC Class II uses and applications in exchange for certain additional payments to BWH.
We are obligated to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop and commercialize at least one product or process that practices the
licensed patent rights and at least one therapeutic or diagnostic product or process directed to an epitope identified through practicing
the licensed patent rights.

Upon execution of the amendment of the BWH Agreement dated April 20, 2021, we paid an additional one-time fee of $466,500.
We are required to pay BWH up to an aggregate of $12.72 million upon the achievement of certain clinical, regulatory and sales
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milestones for therapeutic products and processes. We are obligated to pay a low double-digit percentage of all non-royalty income we
receive under sublicenses of BWH’s patent rights. We are also obligated to pay a low single-digit percentage of all non-royalty income
we receive under agreements with third parties, or Collaborators, where we practice under BWH’s patent rights in connection with the
research or development one or more therapeutic products or processes with or for such third party, or Collaboration Agreements. We
are also obligated to pay tiered royalties in the high single-digit percentage range on annual net sales of products and processes that
practice the licensed patent rights and in the low single-digit percentage range on annual net sales of therapeutic and diagnostic products
and processes directed to an epitope identified through practicing the licensed patent rights (other than those sold by Collaborators),
with the royalty percentage for such products and processes decreasing to lower than one-percent royalties if directed to epitopes
identified through practicing the licensed patent rights after December 31, 2019. For therapeutic and diagnostic products and processes
directed to an epitope identified through practicing the licensed patent rights and sold by a Collaborator, we are obligated to pay lower
than one-percent royalties of the Collaborator’s annual net sales of such products and processes. For products and processes sold by us,
our affff ilff iates or sublicensees, such royalties only apply to products and processes directed to epitopes in a defined field of use MHC
Class I field identified prior to December 31, 2022 and products and processes based on epitopes in the MHC Class II field identified
prior to September 30, 2023. For products or processes directed to epitopes identified under a Collaboration Agreement, such royalties
apply regardless of when the epitopes were identified. For each applicable product or process, the royalty term continues until the tenth
(10th) anniversary of the first commercial sale of such product or process. The royalty rates are also subject to reduction upon certain
other events. Within sixty (60) days of each anniversary of December 5th, we are obligated to pay BWH a non-refundable, mid five
figure minimum annual royalty, which amount is creditable against royalties subsequently due on net sales of products and processes in
such calendar year.

The BWH Agreement will terminate upon the later of (a) the last to expire or abandoned valid claim within the licensed patents,
and (b) one year after the last sale for whiff ch a royalty is due. The current expected expiration date for the last-to-expire licensed patent
right is June 8, 2038 (absa ent any adjustments or extensions of term). We also have the right to terminate the BWH Agreement in its
entirety or on a country-by-country basis, for any reason upon 90 days’ prior written notice to BWH. BWH may terminate the BWH
Agreement: (1) without notice if we fail to maintain insurance required by the BWH Agreement; (2) upon notice within 60 days of our
bankruptcy; (3) upon notice within 60 days after notice by BWH of our default in the performance of any obligation under the BWH
Agreement that is not cured within such 60-day period; (4) if we fail to make any payments due under the BWH Agreement and do not
cure such failure within 10 days after receiving BWH notice thereof; or (5) if we or any of our affiff liates challenge the validity,
enforceability or scope of any of the patent rights licensed to us under the BWH Agreement.

Non-Exclusive License Agreement with Provincii ial Health Services Authority

On October 15, 2020, we entered into a Non-Exclusive License Agreement with the Provincial Health Services Authority of
British Columbia, or PHSA, and such agreement, the PHSAAgreement. Pursuant to the PHSAAgreement, we obtained a non-exclusive,
perpetual, non-transferable, sublicensable, worldwide license to practice certain of PHSA’s patent rights for identifying T Cell epitopes,
which epitopes are relevant to our platform for identifying potential TCR-T therapies. Any sublicenses we grant to PHSA’s patent rights
must also include a license of our own IP; we are not permitted to sublicense PHSA’s rights on a standalone basis.

Pursuant to the PHSA Agreement, we paid PHSA a one-time, non-refundable upfront fee of $500,000 as well as a reimbursement
for previously incurred patent prosecution costs of approximately $50,000. Starting on the fiff rst anniversary of the effective date of the
PHSA Agreement and continuing for five years thereafter, we are required to pay PHSA a mid-five-figure annual license fee, of wff hich
the first installment has been paid. In addition, we are obligated to pay a mid-six-figure fee for each sublicense and each further
sublicense granted by one of our sublicensees or a sublicensee of our sublicensee (through multiple tiers) of the rights granted to us
under the PHSA Agreement.

The PHSA Agreement will terminate upon the last to expire patent licensed under the PHSA Agreement. We also have the right
to terminate the PHSA Agreement at any time, but such termination will not be effective until the later of (a) October 16, 2023, and (b)ff
the date we have paid PHSA total aggregate fees equal to the upfront fee plus five years of annual license fees totaling $750,000. PHSA
may terminate the PHSA Agreement upon giving us two separate written notices at least 30 days apart if: (i) we or any of our affiliatesff
challenge the validity, enforceability or scope of any of the patents licensed to us under the PHSA Agreement; (ii) we owe unpaid fees
due under the PHSA Agreement in excess of $100,000; or (iii) we breach material terms of the PHSA Agreement regarding sublicense
restrictions (such as failing to pay the sublicense fee or sublicensing PHSA technology on a standalone basis) or our obligation to
indemnify PHSA for damages resulting from our research or commercialization of PHSA’s patent rights and, in each case described
above, such termination will be effective only if we fail to cure such breach aftff er receiving PHSA’s two separate notices.
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Royaltll y Agreementtt

In connection with our incorporation in April 2018, we entered into a royalty agreement with one of our founders. We amended
and restated this royalty agreement in June 2018 and our founder assigned his rights and obligations under the royalty agreement to one
of his affiff liated entities in January 2021. Pursuant to the royalty agreement, we are required to pay him a royalty of 1% of net sales (as
defined in the royalty agreement) of any product sold by us or by any of our direct or indirect licensees for use in the treatment of any
disease or disorder covered by a pending patent application or issued patent held or controlled by us as of the last date that the founder
was providing services to us as a director or consultant under a written agreement. Royalties are payabla e with respect to each applicable
product on a country-by-country and product-by-product basis, beginning on the first commercial sale of the first royalty-bearing product
and ending on the later of (i) the date on which the exploitation of such royalty-bearing product is no longer covered by such patent in
such country or (irr i) the 15th anniversary of the first commercial sale of the first royalty-bearing product in such country. We may not
assign our rights and obligations under the royalty agreement except in the event of a change in control relating to our company. The
term of the royalty agreement continues until expiration of the last applicable royalty term.

Manufacturing

We have built in-house cell therapy manufacta uring capabilities as one of the key components of our platform. The manufacturing
of cell therapies requires the integration of several distinct components. Primary human blood cells are the source of T cells, along with
a vector that delivers the desired genetic elements into these T cells. As a more operationally flexible and cost-efficient alternative to
lentivirus, we have developed a manufacturing platform to geneticalff ly engineer T cells using a transposon/transposase system, which
we refer to as T-Integrate.

We are designing our programs to use a transposon vector and corresponding transposase enzyme, which is derived from sfR fall
armyworm, to deliver our TCRs into the genome of T cells. Our transposon/transposase system effectively inserts our TCRs and other
exogenous genes, such as CD8, at random locations in the genome. The transposon will be delivered as a Nanoplasmid™, which was
developed by Nature Technology, an Aldevron Company, and has no antibiotic selection element, reducing the risk of inadvertent
transmission of antibiotic resistance into T cells. The transposase will be delivered as mRNA. mRNRR A is transiently expressed in the cell,
reducing exposure of cells to prolonged transposase activity, which could result in multiple transposition events where the transposon
would be moved around the genome. Aldevron has a license from Nature Technology to manufacture research-grade and GMP-grade
transposon and transposase.

We are developing our manufacturing process using industry standard instrumentation to enable direct transfer of methods from
process development to manufacturt ing. These devices also allow for functionally closed processes in a small footprint. For product
manufacturing, we use single-use bag and tubing kits, supplies, and process reagents that are available from well-established vendors
who specialize in supplying clinical grade reagents for the cell and gene therapy industry. Our TCR-T therapies will be characterized
and released using well-developed analytic methods. The final product will be cryopreserved, simplifying logistics and reducing risk of
delivery failures. We plan to have controls and safeguards throughout the entire process to ensure product identity, integrity, and chain
of custody. A clearly defiff ned and documented manufacturing process, performed by trained operators using specialized instrumentation
in an appropriately designed, commissioned, and operated manufacturing facility, are all critical for the manufacturing of safe, effective,
and well-characterized cell therapies.

Our cell product manufacturing facility in Waltham, MA was designed and built to support multiple programs through Phase 1
and Phase 2 clinical development, with a projected capacity to support treating over 300 patients per year. We believe internalizing our
manufacturing process enables us to better control this key aspect of clinical development and reduces the risk of program delay due to
third party reliance. We expect to revisit our manufacturing process prior to commencing registrational trials and may use third-party
CMOs to manufacture product candidates for our registrational trials.

Competition

We believe our novel and proprietary platforff m technologies, TargetScan and ReceptorScan, and our in-house cell therapy expertise
constitute a meaningful competitive advantage in successfully developing novel and highly effective treatments for cancer. However,
the biopharmaceutical industry in general, and the cell therapy field in particular, is characterized by rapidly advancing and changing
technologies, intense competition, and a strong emphasis on intellectual property. We faff ce substantial and increasing competition from
many different sources, including large and specialty biopharmaceutical companies, academic research institutions, governmental
agencies, and public and private research institutions. Competitors may compete with us in hiring scientific and management personnel,
establishing clinical study sites, recruiting patients to participate in clinical trials, and acquiring technologies complementary to, or
necessary for, our programs.
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We face competition from segments of the pharmaceutical, biotechnology and other related markets that pursue the development
of TCR-T or other cell therapies for the treatment of cancer. We expect to compete with a number of other T cell therapy companies,
including those with target discovery platforms, such as Adaptive Therapeutics, Inc., Immatics N.V., Enara Bio Ltd., Repertoire Immune
Medicines, Inc., and 3T Biosciences Inc. In addition, we may face competition from other TCR companies such as Adaptimmune
Therapeutics, Plc., Medigene AG, Affini-T Therapeutics, Inc., T-Knife Gff mbH, and Alaunos Therapeutics, Inc. We may also face
competition from companies focused on CAR-T, TIL, gammadelta T cell, and other T cell therapia es, such as Kite Pharma, Inc., a
subsidiary of Gilead, Inc. (including Yescarta, which is approved for the treatment for large B cell lymphoma or follicular lymphoma,
two types of non-Hodgkin lymphoma), Juno Therapeutics, Inc., a subsidiary of Bristol-Myers Squibb, Inc., Iovance Biotherapeutics,
Inc., Instil Bio, Inc., Achilles Therapeutics plc, Sana Biotechnology, Inc., 2seventy Bio, Inc., Atara Biotherapeutics, Inc., Lyell
Immunopharma, Inc., Allogene Therapeutics, Inc., Gadeta B.V., and Adicet Bio, Inc. There are also companies utilizing other cell-based
approaches that may be competitive to our product candidates. For example, companies such as Takeda Pharmaceutical Company, Ltd.,
Celyad, S.A., ImmunityBio, Inc., Celularity, Inc., Fate Therapeutics, Inc., and Nkarta, Inc. are developing therapies that target and/or
engineer natural killer, or NK, cells. In addition, for our lead programs, TSC-100 and TSC-101, we may face competition from
BlueSphere Bio, NexImmune, Inc., VOR Biopharma, Inc., and Marker Therapeutics, Inc., who are also developing cell therapies in the
post-HCT setting. The named companies are not fully inclusive of all possible competitive threats.

Immunocore’s KIMMTRARR K is the first TCR-based therapeutic to receive FDA approval, potentially establishing a regulatory
pathway, pricing benchmark, and commercial uptake pattern for TCR-based therapeutics. However, KIMMTRAK is a bispecific
antibody indicated for use in a rare patient population with unresectable or metastatic uveal melanoma, which is not directly competitive
to TScan and may have diffff ereff nt market access and commercial uptake dynamics. Immunocore’s other programs using TCR-mimic
bispecifics in other indications such as cutaneous melanoma may be a more direct competitor to TScan’s products.

Furthermore, we also face competition more broadly across the oncology market for cost-effeff ctive and reimbursable cancer
treatments. The most commonmethods of treating patients with cancer are surgery, radiation, and drug therapy, including chemotherapy,
hormone therapy, biologic therapy, such as monoclonal and bispecific antibodies, immunotherapy, cell-based therapy, and targeted
therapy, or a combination of any such treatments. There are a variety of available drug therapies marketed for cancer. In many cases,
these drugs ar re administered in combination to enhance efficacy. While our TCR-T therapy candidates, if any are approved, may
compete with these existing drugs and other therapies, to the extent they are ultimately used in combination with or as an adjunct to
these therapies, our TCR-T therapies may not be competitive wita h them. Some of these drugs are branded and subject to patent
protection, and others are available on a generic basis. As a result, obtaining market acceptance of, and gaining significant share of the
market for, and commanding a certain price for any of our TCR-T therapies that we successfully introduce to the market may pose
challenges. In addition, many companies are developing new oncology therapeutics, and we cannot predict what the standard of care
will be as our product candidates progress through clinical development.

We could see a reduction or elimination in our commercial opportunity if our competitors develop and commercialize drugs that
are safer, more effeff ctive, have feff wer or less severe side effectsff , are more convenient to administer, are less expensive, are more
accessible, or receive a more favorable label than our TCR-T therapy candidates. Our competitors also may obtain FDA or other
regulatory approval for their drugs more rapidly than we may obtain approval for ours, which could result in our competitors establishing
a strong market position before we are able to enter the market. The key competitive factors affecting the success of all of our TCR-T
therapy candidates, ia f appra oved, are likely to be their efficacy, safety, convenience, price, and the availability of reimbursement fromff
government and other third-party payors.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part on our ability to obtain, maintain and protect our proprietary technology and intellectual property and
proprietary rights and to operate our business without infringing, misappropriating and otherwise violating the intellectual property and
proprietary rights of third parties. We rely on a combination of patent applications, trademarks, trade secrets, and other intellectual
property rights and measures to protect the intellectual property rights that we consider important to our business. We also rely on know-
how and continuing technological innovation to develop and maintain our competitive position. We also seek to protect our proprietary
rights by entering into confidentiality agreements and proprietary information agreements with suppliers, employees, consultants and
others who may have access to our proprietary information. The steps we have taken to protect our trade secrets, trademarks, patent
applications and other intellectual property and proprietary rights may not be adequate, and third parties could infringe, misappropriata e
or misuse our intellectual property. If this were to occur, it could harm our reputation and adversely affeff ct our business, competitive
position, financial condition or results of operations.

As of the date hereof, our patent portfolio includes a patent family exclusively licensed from BWH, including a pending U.S. non-
provisional patent applica ation and multiple pending foreign non-provisional patent appla ications, relating to methods and compositions
for identifying target antigens specific to T cells. In addition, we have filed applications in multiple patent families including multiple
pending U.S. provisional patent applications and more than ten pending international and foreign patent applications. The claims of
these patent applications are directed toward various aspects of our therapy candidates and research programs, including compositions



37

of matter directed to SARS-CoV-2 immunodominant antigens, anti-SARS-CoV-2 TCRs, anti-SARS-CoV-2 vaccines, anti-HA-1 TCRs
(including the TSC-100 TCR-T therapy candidate), anti-HA-2 TCRs (including the TSC-101 TCR-T therapy candidate), anti-HPV
TCRs (including the TSC-200 TCR-T therapy candidate), anti-PRAME TCRs (including the TSC-203 TCR-T therapy candidate), and
anti-MAGE-A1 TCRs (including the TSC-204 TCR-T therapy candidate), as well as platform technologies including a phospholipid
scrambling reporter-based T cell antigen screening platform and certain screening methods thereof, and a TCR multiplexing platform
and certain therapeutic methods thereof. These patent applications, if issued, are expected to expire on various dates from 2038 through
2043, in each case without taking into account any possible patent term adjustments or extensions and assuming that appropriate
maintenance and governmental fees are paid.

HeHH matologic Malignancies Program Product Patent Families

We have filed multiple pending patent applications covering aspects of our hematologic malignancies programs including claims
to the composition-of-matter of TSC-100, TSC-101, and other anti-HA-1 and anti-HA-2 TCRs and related T cell therapies. The pending
international Patent Cooperation Treaty (PCT) application will begin to enter the national and regional phases byMay 2023. The pending
international Patent Cooperation Treaty (PCT), Australian, Argentine, and Taiwanese patent applications claim the benefit of priority
from earlier-fiff led U.S. priority provisional patent applications filed in 2020 and 2021. We expect the issued Australian patent and any
additional patents within this family, if issued, to expire no earlier than 2041 (without taking into account any possible patent term
adjustments or extensions and assuming that appropriate maintenance and governmental fees are paid).

SolSS ill d Tumor Program Product Patent FamiliesTT

We have filed multiple pending U.S. provisional and PCT international patent applications covering aspects of our solid tumor
programs including claims to the composition-of-matter of anti-HPV, anti-PRAME, anti-MAGE-A1 TCRs, and related T cell therapies.
The pending patent applications will begin to enter the national and regional phases by October 2023. We expect any patents within this
family, if issued, to expire no earlier than 2042 (without taking into account any possible patent term adjustments or extensions and
assuming that appropriate maintenance and governmental fees are paid).

Infectious Disease Product Patent FamFF ilii ill es

We have fiff led multiple pending patent applications covering aspects of our infectious disease programs including claims to the
composition-of-matter of SARS-CoV-2 immunodominant antigens, anti-SARS-CoV-2 TCRs, and the composition-of-matter of certain
SARS-CoV-2 vaccines. These pending international PCT, U.S., Australian, Canadian, European, Argentine, Bangladeshi, Democratic
Republic of the Congo, Pakistani, and Taiwanese patent applications claim the benefit of priority from earlier-filed Uff .S. priority
provisional patent applications filed in 2020. We expect the issued Australian patent, the Democratic Republic of the Congo patent, and
any additional patents within this family, if issued, to expire no earlier than 2041 (without taking into account any possible patent term
adjustments or extensions and assuming that appropriate maintenance and governmental fees are paid). Certain of these pending patent
applications are jointly owned by us and AHS Hospital Corporation, or AHS. AHS has exclusively licensed their interest in such patent
applications to us.

PlPP atll ftt orff m Terr chnology

We own a pending PCT patent application with claims that cover aspects of our reporter-based T cell antigen screening platform.
We expect any claims within this family, if issued, to expire no earlier than 2041 (without taking into account any possible patent term
adjustments or extensions and assuming that appropriate maintenance and governmental fees are paid).

We also own a family of pending provisional patent appla ications with claims that cover multiplexed TCR compositions and certain
therapeutic methods thereof. We expect any claims within this family, if issued, to expire no earlier than 2043 (without taking into
account any possible patent term adjustments or extensions and assuming that appropriate maintenance and governmental fees are paid).

Our pending patent appla ications may not result in issued patents and we can give no assurance that any patents that might issue in
the future will protect our products or provide us with any competitive advantage. Moreover, U.S. provisional patent applications are
not eligible to become issued patents until, among other things, we file a non-provisional patent application within 12 months of filing
of one or more of our related provisional patent appla ications. With regard to such U.S. provisional patent applications, if we do not
timely file any non-provisional patent applications, we may lose our priority date with respect to our provisional patent applications and
any patent protection on the inventions disclosed in our provisional patent applications. While we generally intend to timely file non-
provisional patent applications relating to our provisional patent applications, we cannot predict whether any such patent applications
will result in the issuance of patents that provide us with any competitive advantage. For more information regarding the risks relatedff
to our intellectual property, please see “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property”.



38

ThTT iri d-P- arPP ty Itt nII tellell ctual Property Rights

For certain aspects of our business, we rely on certain technology and intellectual property rights that we in-license from third
parties. We have an exclusive patent license from The Brigham andWomen’s Hospital, Inc. (BWH) to a patent family directed to aspectsff
of a granzyme B (GzB)-based antigen screening technology platform, as well as compositionsff -of-matter and certain screening methods
thereof (consisting of one pending U.S. patent application and six foreign patent aff pplications pending in Australia a, Canada, China,
Europe, Hong Kong, and Japan). Any patents issuing from the U.S. and foreign patent applications are expected to expire no earlier thanff
2038 (without taking into account any possible patent term adjustments or extensions and assuming that appropriate maintenance and
governmental fees are paid). We also have a non-exclusive, perpetual, non-transferable patent license from the Provincial Health
Services Authority of British Columbia (PHSA) to a patent family directed to granzyme-based antigen screening methods consisting of
an issued U.S. patent that is expected to expire on August 4, 2035 (assuming that appropriate maintenance and governmenta al fees are
paid), a pending U.S. patent application, and issued Canadian patent that is expected to expire March 25, 2035 (assuming that appropriate
maintenance and governmental fees are paid). We do not have any additional material licenses to any technology or intellectual property
rights.

As of the date hereof, we own or have rights to U.S. and foreign trademark registrations and applications that cover certain aspects
of our business.

Government Regulation

FDA Regulation and Marketing Approval

In the U.S., the FDA regulates drugs under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosr metic Act, or FDCA, and biologics under the Public
Health Service Act, the regulations promulgated under both laws and other federal, state, and local statutes and regulations. Failure to
comply with the applicable U.S. regulatory requirements at any time during the product development procesrr s, approval process or after
approval may subject an applicant to administrative or judicial sanctions and non-approval of product candidates. These sanctions could
include, among other things, the imposition by the FDA of a clinical hold on trials, the FDA’s refusal to approve pending applications
or related supplements, withdrawal of an approval, untitled or warning letters, product recalls, product seizures, total or partial
suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, fines, restitution, disgorgement, civil penalties, or criminal prosecution. Such
actions by government agencies could also require us to expend a large amount of resources to respond to the actions. Any agency or
judicial enforcement action could have a material adverse effect on us.

The FDA and comparable regulatory agencies in state and local jurisdictions and in foreign countries impose substantial
requirements upon the clinical development, approval, manufacture, distribution and marketing of pharmaceutical products. These
agencies and other federal, state and local entities regulate research and development activities and the testing, manufacture, quality
control, safety, effectiveness, labeling, packaging, storage, distribution, record keeping, approval, post-approval monitoring, advertising,
promotion, sampling and import and export of our products. Rocket’s drugs must be approved by the FDA as biologics through the BLA
approval process applicable to gene therapy product candidates, before they may be legally marketed in the U.S.

Within the FDA, the FDA’s Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research, or CBER, regulates gene therapy products and has
published guidance documents with respect to the development these types of products. The FDA also has published guidance
documents related to, among other things, gene therapy products in general, their preclinical assessment, observing subjects involved in
gene therapy studies for delayed adverse events, potency testing, and chemistry, manufacturing and control information in gene therapy
INDs.

The process required by the FDA before a biologic may be marketed in the United States generally involves the following:

• completion of non-clinical laboratory tests, animal studies and formulation studit es conducted according to Good Laboratory
Practice, or GLP, or other applicable regulations;

• submission of an IND, which allows clinical trials to begin unless FDA objects within 30 days;

• performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials to establish the safety and efficacy of the proposed drug
or biologic for its intended use or uses conducted in accordance with FDA regulations and Good Clinical Practices, or GCP,
which are international ethical and scientific quality standards meant to ensure that the rights, safety and well-being of trial
participants are protected, and that the integrity of the data is maintained;

• preparation and submission to the FDA of a BLA;
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• submission of a user fee for FDA review of the BLA;

• review of the product by an FDA advisory committee, where appropriate or if applicable;

• satisfactory completion of pre-approval inspection of manufacturing faff cilities and clinical trial sites at which the product,
or components thereof, are produced to assess compliance with current Good Manufacturing Practice, or cGMP,
requirements, and if applicable, the FDA’s current Good Tissue Practice, or cGTP, requirements, and of selected clinical
trial sites to assess compliance with GCP requirements; and

• FDA approval of a BLA which must occur before a biologic can be marketed or sold.

Preclinical Studies

Preclinical studies include laboratory evaluation of the purity and stability of the manufactured drug substance or active
pharmaceutical ingredient and the formulated drug or drug product, as well as in vitro and animal studies to assess the safety and activity
of the drug for initial testing in humans and to establish a rationale for therapeutic use. The conduct of preclinical studies is subject toa
federal regulations and requirements, including GLP regulations. The results of the preclinical tests, together with manufacturing
information, analytical data, any available clinical data or literature and plans for clinical studies, among other things, are submitted to
the FDA as part of an IND.

Companies usually must complete some long-term preclinical testing, such as animal tests of reproductive adverse events and
carcinogenicity and must also develop additional information about the chemistry and physical characteristics of the drug and finalize a
process for manufacturing the drug in commercial quantities in accordance with, or cGMP, requirements. The manufacturing process
must be capable of consistently producing quality batches of the drug candidate and, among other things, the manufacturer must develop
methods for testing the identity, strength, quality, and purity of the final drug product. Additionally, appropriate packaging must be
selected and tested, and stabia lity studit es must be conducted to demonstrate that the drug candidate does not undergo unacceptable
deterioration over its shelf life.

IND and Clinical Trials

Clinical trials involve the administration of the investigational product to human subjects under the supervision of qualified
investigators in accordance with GCP requirements. Clinical trials are conducted under written study protocols detailing, among other
things, the objectives of the study, the parameters to be used in monitoring safety and the effectiveness criteria to be evaluated. Prior to
commencing the first clinical trial, an initial IND, which contains the results of preclinical testing along with other information, such as
information about product chemistry, manufacturing and controls and a proposed protocol, must be submitted to the FDA. The IND
automatically becomes effective 30 days aftff er receipt by the FDA unless the FDA within the 30-day time period raises concerns or
questions about the drug product or the conduct of the clinical trial and imposes a clinical hold. A clinical hold may also be imposed at
any time while the IND is in effect. In such a case, the IND sponsor must resolve any outstanding concerns with the FDA before the
clinical trial may begin or re-commence. Accordingly, submission of an IND may or may not result in the FDA allowing clinical trials
to commence or continue.

In addition to the submission of an IND to the FDA before initiation of a cff linical trial in the United States, certain human clinical
trials involving recombinant or synthetic nucleic acid molecules are subject to oversight of institutional biosafety committees, or IBC’s,
as set forth in the National Institutes for Health, or NIH, Guidelines for Research Involving Recff ombinant or Synthetic Nucleic Acid
Molecules, or NIH Guidelines. Under the NIH Guidelines, recombinant and synthetic nucleic acids are defined as: (i) molecules that are
constructed by joining nucleic acid molecules and that can replicate in a living cell (i.e., recombinant nucleic acids); (ii) nucleic acid
molecules that are chemically or by other means synthesized or amplified, including those that are chemically or otherwise modified
but can base pair with naturally occurring nucleic acid molecules (i.e., synthetic nucleic acids); or (iii) molecules that result from the
replication of those described in (i) or (ii). Specifically, under the NIH Guidelines, supervision of human gene transfer trials includes
evaluation and assessment by an IBC, a local institutional committee that reviews and oversees research utilizing recombinant or
synthetic nucleic acid molecules at that institution. The IBC assesses the safety of the research and identifies any potential risk to publicff
health or the environment, and such review may result in some delay before initiation of a clinical trial. While the NIH Guidelines aff re
not mandatory unless the research in question is being conducted at or sponsored by institutions receiving NIH funding of recombinant
or synthetic nucleic acid molecule research, many companies and other institutions not otherwise subject to the NIH Guidelines
voluntarily folff low them.

A sponsor who wishes to conduct a clinical trial outside the U.S. may, but need not, obtain FDA authorization to conduct the
clinical trial under an IND. If a foreign clinical trial is not conducted under an IND, the sponsor may submit data from the clinical trial
to the FDA in support of a BLA or IND so long as the clinical trial is conducted in compliance with GCP, and the FDA is able to validate
the data frff om the study tt hrough an onsite inspection if the agency deems it necessary.
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A separate submission to the existing IND must be made for each successive clinical trial to be conducted during product
development. Further, an independent Institutional Review Board, or IRB, for each site at which the clinical trial will be conducted must
review and approve the clinical trial before it commences at that site. Informed written consent must also be obtained from each trial
subject. Regulatory authorities, including the FDA, or IRB, or the sponsor, may suspend or terminate a clinical trial at any time on
various grounds, including a finding that the participants are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk or that the clinical trial is not
being conducted in accordance with FDA requirements. Additionally, some clinical trials are overseen by an independent group of
qualified experts organized by the clinical trial sponsor, known as a data safety monitoring board or committee. This group provides
authorization as to whether or not a trial may move forward at designated check points based on access to certain data from the trff ial and
may recommend halting the clinical trial if it determines that there is an unacceptable sa afety risk for subjects or other grounds, such as
no demonstration of efficacy.

Human clinical trials for BLA approval typically involve a three-phase process, although some phases may overlap or be
combined. Phase 1, the initial clinical evaluations, consists of administering the drug and testing for safety and tolerated dosages and in
some indications such as rare disease, as preliminary evidence of efficacy in humans. Phase 2 involves a study to evaluate the
effectiveness of the drug fr or a parff ticular indication and to determine optimal dosage and dose interval and to identify possible adverseff
side effects and risks in a larger patient group. When a product is found safe, and initial efficacy is established in Phase 2, it is then
evaluated in Phase 3 clinical trials. Phase 3 trials consist of expanded multi-location testing for efficacy and safety to evaluate the overallff
benefit-to-risk index of the investigational drug in relationship tr o the disease treated. The results of preclinical and human clinical testing
are submitted to the FDA in the form of a BLA for approval to commence commercial sales.

All clinical trials must be conducted in accordance with FDA regulations, GCP requirements and their protocols in order for the
data to be considered reliable for regulatory purposes. Progress reports detailing the results of the clinical trials must be submitted at
least annually to the FDA and more frequently if serious adverse events occur. Phase 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical trials may not be
completed successfully within any specified period, or at all. Government regulation may delay or prevent marketing of product
candidates or new drugs for a considerable period of time and impose costly procedures upon our activities.

Disclosure of Clinical Trial Inforff mrr ation

Sponsors of clinical trials of FDA-regulated products, including drugs, are required to register and disclose certain clinical trial
information. Information related to the product, patient population, phase of investigation, study sites and investigatorst , and other aspects
of the clinical trial is then made public as part of the registration. Sponsors are also obligated to disclose the results of their clinical trials
after completion. Disclosure of the results of these trials can be delayed until the new product or new indication being studied has been
approved up to a maximum of two years. Competitors may use this publicly available information to gain knowledge rff egarding the
progress of development programs.

ThTT e BLBB A Approval PLL rPP ocess

In order to obtain approval to market a drug in the U.S., a marketing application must be submitted to the FDA that provides data
establishing to the FDA’s satisfaction the safety and effectiveness of the investigational drug for the proposed indication. The application
includes all relevant data available from pertinent non-clinical or preclinical studies and clinical trials, including negative or ambiguous
results as well as positive findings, together with detailed information relating to the product’s chemistry, manufacturing, controls and
proposed labeling, among other things. Data can come from company-sponsored clinical trials intended to test the safety and
effectiveness of a use of a product, or from a number of alternative sources, including studies initiated by investigators that meet GCP
requirements.

During the development of a new drug, sponsors are given opportunities to meet with the FDA at certain points. These points may
be prior to submission of an IND, at the End-of-Phase 1 or 2, and before a BLA is submitted. Meetings at other times may be requested.
These meetings can provide an opportunity for the sponsor to share information about the data gathered to date, for the FDA to provide
advice and for tff he sponsor and the FDA to reach agreement on the next phase of development.

The results of product development, non-clinical studies and clinical trials, along with descriptions of the manufacturing process,
analytical tests conducted on the chemistry of the drug, proposed labeling and other relevant information are submitted to the FDA as
part of a BLA requesting approval to market the product for its iff ntended indication. The FDA reviews all BLAs submitted to ensure that
they are sufficiently complete for substantive review before it accepts them for filing. It may request additional information rather than
accept a BLA for filing. In this event, the BLA must be resubmitted with the additional information. The resubmitted application also
is subject to review before the FDA accepts it for filing. The FDA has 60 days from its receipt of a BLA to conduct an initial review toff
determine whether the application will be accepted for filing based on the agency’s threshold deterff mination that the application isa
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suffff iff ciently complete to permit substantive review. The FDA reviews a BLA to determine, among other things, whether the proposed
product is safe and potent, or effective, for its intended use, and has an acceptable purity profile, and whether the product is being
manufactured in accordance with cGMP to assure and preserve the product’s identity, safety, strength, quality, potency and purity. The
FDA has agreed to specific performance goals on the review of BLA’s. Specifically, FDA under the goals and policies agreed to by the
FDA under the Prescription Drug User Fee Act, or PDUFA, as amended, the FDA has 10 months, from the filing date, in which to
complete its initial review of an original BLA and respond to the applicant, and six months from the filing date of an oriff ginal BLA
designated for priority review. The review process may be extended by the FDA for three additional months to consider certain late-
submitted information or information intended to clarify information already provided in the submission. After the FDA completes its
substantive review of a BLA, it will communicate to the sponsor that the drug will either be approved, or it will issue a complete response
letter to communicate that the BLA will not be approved in its current form and inform the sff ponsor of changes that must be made or
additional clinical, non-clinical or manufacturing data that must be received before the application can be approved, with no implication
regarding the ultimate approvability of the application or the timing of any such approval, if ever. If or when those deficiencies have
been addressed to the FDA’s satisfaff ction in a resubmission of the BLA, the FDA may issue an approval letter. FDA has committed to
reviewing such resubmissions in two to six months depending on the type of information included. The FDA may refer applications for
novel drug products or drug products that present difficult questions of safeff ty or efficacy to an advisory committee, typically a panel
that includes clinicians and other experts, for review, evaluation, and a recommendation as to whether the appla ication should be approved
and, if so, under what conditions. The FDA is not bound by the recommendations of an advisory committee, but it consirr ders such
recommendations carefully wheff n making decisions.

Before appra oving a BLA, the FDA typically will inspect the facilities at which the product is manufactured. The FDA will not
approve the product unless it determines that the manufacturing processes and facilities are in compliance with cGMP requirements and
adequate to assure consistent production of the product within required specifications. Additionally, before approving a BLA, the FDA
may inspect one or more clinical sites to assure compliance with GCP. For a gene therapy product, the FDA also will not approve the
product if the manufacturer is not in compliance with the cGTPs. These are FDA regulations that govern the methods used in, and the
facilities and controls used for, the manufacture of human cells, tissues, and cellular and tissue-based products, or HCT/Ps, which are
human cells or tissue intended for implantation, transplant, infusion, or trff ansfeff r into a human recipient. The primary intent of the +cGTP
requirements is to ensure that cell and tissue-based products are manufactured in a manner designed to prevent the introduction,
transmission and spread of communicable disease. FDA regulations also require tissue establishments to register and list their HCT/Ps
with the FDA and, when applicable, to evaluate donors through appropriate screening and testing. If the FDA determines that the
application, manufaff cturing process or manufacturing facilities are not acceptable, it typically will outline the defiff ciencies and often will
request additional testing or information. This may significantly delay further review of the application. If the FDA finds that a clinicalff
site did not conduct the clinical trial in accordance with GCP, the FDA may determine the data generated by the clinical site should be
excluded frff om the primary efficacy analyses provided in the BLA. Additionally, notwithstanding the submission of any requested
additional information, the FDA ultimately may decide that the application does not satisfy the regulatory criteria for approval.

The FDA may require, or companies may pursue, additional clinical trials after a product is approved. These so-called Phase 4 or
post-approval trials may be made a condition to be satisfied for continuing drug approval. The results of Phase 4 trials can confirm the
effectiveness of a product candidate and can provide important safety information. In addition, the FDA has authority to require sponsors
to conduct post-marketing trials to specifically address safety issues identified by the agency. See “Post-Marketing Requirements”
below.

The FDA also has authority to require a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS, from manufacturerff s to ensure that
the benefits of a drug outweigh its risks. A sponsor may also voluntarily propose a REMS as part of the BLA submission. The need for
a REMS is determined as part of the review of the BLA. Based on statutt ory standards, elements of a REMS may include “Dear Doctor
letters,” a medication guide, more elaborate targeted educational programs, and in some cases distribution and use restrictions, referred
to as elements to assure safe use, or ETASU. ETASU can include, but are not limited to, special training or certification for prescribing
or dispensing, dispensing only under certain circumstances, special monitoring and the use of patient registries. These elements are
negotiated as part of the BLA appra oval, and in some cases the approval date may be delayed. Once adopted, REMS are subject to
periodic assessment and modification.

Changes to some of the conditions established in an approved appla ication, including changes in indications, labeling,
manufacturing processes or facilities, require submission and FDA approval of a new BLA or BLA supplement before the change can
be implemented. A BLA supplement for a new indication typically requires clinical data similar to that in the original application, and
the FDA uses the same procedures and actions in reviewing BLA supplements as it does in reviewing BLAs.

Even if a product candidate receives regulatory approval, ta he approval may be limited to specific disease states, patient populations
and dosages, or might contain significant limitations on use in the form of warnings, precautions or contraindications, or in the form of
onerous risk management plans, restrictions on distribution or use, or post-marketing trial requirements. Further, even after regulatory
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appra oval is obtained, later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product may result in restrictions on the product, including
safeff ty labeling or imposition of a REMS, the requirement to conduct post-market studies or clinical trials or even complete withdrawal
of the product frff om the market. Delay in obtaining, or failure to obtain, regulatory approval for our products, or obtaining approval but
for sff ignififf cantly limited use, would harm our business. In addition, we cannot predict what adverse governmental regulations may arise
frff om future U.S. or foreign governmental action.t

ThTT e HatchHH -Waxman Amendments

Under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, referred to as the Hatch-Waxman Amendments, a
portion of a product’s U.S. patent term that was lost during clinical development and regulatory review by the FDA may be restored by
returning up to five years of patent life for a patent that covers a new product or its use. This period is generally one-half the time
between the effective date of an IND (falling after issuance of the patent) and the submission date of a BLA, plus the time between the
submission date of a BLA and the approval of that application, provided that the sponsor acted with diligence. Patent term restorations,
however, cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product approval and only one patent
applicable to an approved drug may be extended and the extension must be applied for prior to expiration of the patent. The U.S. Patent
and Trademark Office, in consultation with the FDA, reviews and approves the application for any patent term extension or restoration.

Market Exclusivity

The Patient Protection and Affff orff dable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care Education and Reconciliation Act, or, collectively,a
the ACA, signed into law on March 23, 2010, includes a subtitle called the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2009, or
the BPCIA, which created an abbreviated approval pathway for biological products shown to be similar to, or interchangeable with, an
FDA-appra oved reference biological product. Bio similarity, which requires that there be no clinically meaningful diffeff rences between
the biological product and the refeff rence product in terms of safety, purity, and potency, can be shown through analytical studies, animal
studies, and a clinical trial or trials. Interchangeability requires that a product is biosimilar to the reference product and the product must
demonstrate that it can be expected to produce the same clinical results as the reference product and, for products administered multiple
times, the biologic and the reference biologic may be switched after one has been previously administered without increasing safety
risks or risks of diminished efficacy relative to exclusive use of the reference biologic. However, complexities associated with the larger,
and often more complex, structure of biological products, as well as the process by which such products are manufactured, pose
signififf cant hurdles to implementation that are still being worked out by the FDA.

A reference biological product is granted four (4) and twelve (12) year exclusivity periods from the time of fiff rst licensure of the
product. FDA will not accept an application for a biosimilar or interchangeable product based on the reference biological product until
four years after the date of first licensure of the reference product, and FDA will not approve an application for a biosimilar or
interchangeable product based on the reference biological product until twelve (12) years after the date of first licensure of the reference
product. “First licensure” typically means the initial date the particular product at issue was approved in the United States. Date of firstff
licensure does not include the date of licensure of (and a new period of exclusivity is not available for) a biological product if the
licensure is for a supplement for the biological product or for a subsequent application by the same sponsor or manufacturer of the
biological product (or licensor, predecessor in interest, or other related entity) for a change (not including a modification to the strucr ture
of the biological product) that results in a new indication, route of administration, dosing schedule, dosage form, delivery system,
delivery device or strength, or for a modification to the structure of the biological product that does not result in a change in safety,
purity, or potency. Therefore, one must determine whether a new product includes a modification to the structure of a previously
approved product that results in a change in safeff ty, purity, or potency to assess whether the licensure of the new product is a first
licensure that triggers its own period of exclusivity. Whether a subsequent application, if approved, warrants exclusivity as the “first
licensure” of a biological product is determined on a case-by-case basis with data submitted by the sponsor.

In addition, under the Orphan Drug Act, FDA may designate a biologic product as an “rr orphan drug” if it is intended to treat a rare
disease or condition (generally meaning that it affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the U.S., or more in cases in which there is no
reasonable expectation that the cost of developing and making a biologic product available in the U.S. for treatment of the disease or
condition will be recovered from sales of the product). Orphan product designation mff ust be requested before submitting a BLA. After
FDA grants orphan product designation, the identity of the therapeutr ic agent and its potential orphan use are disclosed publicly by FDA.
Orphan product designation does not convey any advantage in, or shorten the duration of, the regulatory review and approval process.
If a product with orphan status receives the first FDA approval for the disease or condition for which it has such designation, the product
is entitled to orpharr n product exclusivity, meaning that FDA may not approve any other applications to market the same drug or biologic
product for the same indication for seven years, except in limited circumstances, such as a showing of clinical superiority to the product
with orphan exclusivity or if the party holding the exclusivity fails to assure the availability of sufficient quantities of the drug to meet
the needs of patients with the disease or condition for which the drug was designated. Competitors, however, may receive approval of
different products for the same indication than that for which the orphan product has exclusivity or obtain approval for the same product
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but for a diff fferent indication for which the orphan product has exclusivity. Orphan medicinal product status in the EU has similar, but
not identical, benefiff ts.

Pediatric exclusivity is another type of non-patent marketing exclusivity in the U.S. and, if granted, provides for the attachment
of an additional six months of marketing protection to the term of any existing regulatory exclusivity, including the non-patent
exclusivity. This six-month exclusivity may be granted if a BLA sponsor submits pediatric data that fairly respond to a written request
from the FDA for such data.

Rare Pediatric Disease Designati ion and Priority Review Vouchers

Under the FDCA, the FDA incentivizes the development of drugs and biological products that meet the definition of a “rare
pediatric disease,” defined to mean a serious or life-threatening disease in which the serious of life-threatening manifestations primarily
affect individuals aged from birth to 18 years and the disease affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States or affeff cts more
than 200,000 in the United States and for which there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing and making in the United
States a drug or biological product for such disease or condition will be received from sales in the United States of such drug or biological
product. The sponsor of a product candidate for a rare pediatric disease may be eligible for a voucher that can be used to obtain a priority
review for a subsequent human drug or biological product application after the date of approval of the rare pediatric disease drug or
biological product, referred tff o as a priority review voucher, or PRV. A sponsor may request rare pediatric disease designation from the
FDA prior to the submission of its BLA. A rare pediatric disease designation does not guarantee that a sponsor will receive a PRV upon
approval of its BLA. Moreover, a sponsor who chooses not to submit a rare pediatric disease designation request may nonetheless
receive a PRV upon approval of their marketing application if they request such a voucher in their original marketing application and
meet all of the eligibility criteria. If a PRV is received, it may be sold or transferred an unlimited number of times. Congress has extended
the PRV program through September 30, 2024, with the potential for PRVs to be granted through September 30, 2026.

ExEE pex dited Development and Review Programs

FDA is authorized to expedite the review of BLAs in several ways. Under the Fast Track program, the sponsor of a biologic
product candidate may request FDA to designate the product for a specific indication as a Fast Track product concurrent with or after
the filing of the IND. Biologic products are eligible for Fast Track deff signation if they are intended to treat a serious or life-threatening
condition and demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical needs for the condition. Fast Track designation applies to the
combination of the product candidate and the specific indication for which it is being studied. In addition to other benefits, such as the
ability to have greater interactions with FDA, FDA may initiate review of sections of a Fast-Track BLA before the application is
complete, a process known as rolling review.

Any product submitted to FDA for mff arketing, including under a Fast Track program, may be eligible for other types of FDA
programs intended to expedite development and review, such as regenerative medicine advanced therapy, or RMAT, designation,
priority review and accelerated approval. To qualify for RMAT designation, the product candidate must be a regenerative medicine
therapy, which is defined as a cell therapy, therapeutic tissue engineering product, human cell and tissue product, or any combination
product using such therapies or products, except for those regulated solely under Section 361 of the Public Health Service Act and part
1271 of Title 21, Code of Federal Regulations; is intended to treat, modify, reverse, or cure a serious or life-threatening disease orff
condition; and preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the product has the potential to address unmet medical needs for such disease
or condition. A gene therapy product may meet the definition of a regenerative medicine therapy for purposes of RMAT designation. A
BLA for a product candidate that has received RMAT designation may be eligible for priority review or accelerated approval thrff ough
use of surrogate or intermediate endpoints reasonably likely to predict long-term clinical benefiff t, or reliance upon data obtained from a
meaningful number of sites. Benefits of RMAT designation also include early interactions with FDA to discuss any potential surrogate
or intermediate endpoint to be used to support accelerated approval. A product candidate with RMAT designation that is granted
accelerated approval and is subject to post-approval requirements may fulfill such requirements through the submission of clinical
evidence from clinical studies, patient registries, or other sources of real-world evidence, such as electronic health records; the collection
of larger confirmatory data sets; or post-approval monitoring of all patients treated with such therapy prior to its approval.

A product candidate including one that received Fast Track or RMAT designation is eligible for priority review if it treats a serious
condition and, if approved, it would be a significant improvement in the safety or effectiveness of the treatment, diagnosis or prevention
of a serious condition compared to available therapies. FDA aims to complete its review of priority review applications within six
months as opposed to 10 months for standard review.

Additionally, a biologic product may be eligible for accelerated approval if it is dea signed to treat a serious or life-threatening
disease or condition and demonstrates an effect on a surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict a clinical benefit, or on the
basis of an effect on a clinical endpoint other than survival or irreversible morbidity or mortality or other clinical benefit, taking into
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account the severity, rarity and prevalence of the condition and the availability or lack of alternative treatments. As a condition of
approval, FDA may require that a sponsor of a drug or biologic product candidate receiving accelerated approval perform adequate and
well-controlled post-marketing clinical trials and, under the Food and Drug Omnibus Reform Act of 2022, or FDORA, the FDA is now
permitted to require, as appropriate, that such trials be underway prior to approval or within a specific time period after the date of
approval for a product granted accelerated approval. Under FDORA, the FDA has increased authority for expedited procedures to
withdraw approval of a drug or indication approved under accelerated approval if, for example, the confirmatory trial fails to verify the
predicted clinical benefiff t of the product. In addition, FDA currently requires, unless otherwise informed by the agency, pre-approval of
promotional materials intended for dissemination or publication.

Even if a product qualifies for one or more of these programs, the FDA may later decide that the product no longer meets the
conditions for qualification or the time period for FDA review or approval may not be shortened. Fast Track designation, priority review
and accelerated approval do not change the standards for approval but may expedite the development or approval process.

Additionally, under FDORA, a platform technology incorporated within or utilized by a biological product is eligible forff
designation as a designated platform technology if (1) the platform technology is incorporated in, or utilized by, a biological product
appra oved under a BLA; (2) preliminary evidence submitted by the sponsor of the licensed biological product, or a sponsor that has been
granted a right of reference to data submitted in the application for such biological product, demonstrates that the platform technology
has the potential to be incorporated in, or utilized by, more than one biological product without an adverse effect on quality,
manufacturing, or safety; and (3) data or information submitted by the applicable person indicates that incorporation or utilization of the
platform technology has a reasonable likelihood to bring significant efficiencies to the biological product development or manufacturing
process and to the review process. A sponsor may request the FDA to designate a platform technology as a designated platform
technology concurrently with, or at any time after, submission of an IND application for a biological product that incorporates or utilizes
the platforff m technology that is the subject of the request. If so designated, the FDA may expedite the development and review of any
subsequent original BLA for a biological product that uses or incorporates the platform technology. Designated platform technology
status does not ensure that a biological product will be developed more quickly or receive FDA approval. In addition, the FDA may
revoke a designation if the FDA determines that a designated platform technology no longer meets the criteria for such designation.

Post-Marketing Requirements

Following approval of a new product, a pharmaceutical company and the approved product are subject to continuing regulation
by the FDA, including, among other things, monitoring and recordkeeping activities, reporting to the applicable regulatory authorities
of adverse experiences with the product, providing the regulatory authorities with updated safety and efficacy information, product
sampling and distribution requirements, and complying with promotion and advertising requirements, which include, among others,
standards for direct-to-consumer advertising, restrictions on promoting drugs for uses or in patient populations that are not described in
the drug’s approved labeling, or off-label use, limitations on industry-sponsored scientififf c and educational activities and requirements
for promotional activities involving the internet. Although physicians may, in their independent profeff ssional medical judgment,
prescribe legally available drugs for off-label uses, manufacturers typically may not market or promote such off-label uses.
Modifications or enhancements to the product or its labeling or changes of the site of manufaff cture are often subject to the approval of
the FDA and other regulators, who may or may not grant approval or may include a lengthy review process.

Prescription drug advertising is subject to federal, state, and foreign regulations. In the U.S., the FDA regulates prescription drug
promotion, including direct-to-consumer advertising. Prescription drug promotional materials must be submitted to the FDA in
conjunction with their fiff rst use. Any distribution of prescription drug products and pharmaceutical samples must comply with the U.S.
Prescription Drug Marketing Act, a part of the FDCA.

In the U.S., once a product is approved, its manufacturing is subject to comprehensive and continuing regulation by the FDA. The
FDA regulations require that products be manufactured in specific approved facilities and in accordance with cGMP. cGMP regulations
require among other things, quality control and quality assurance as well as the corresponding maintenance of records and documentation
and the obligation to investigate and correct any deviations from cGMP. Drug manufaff cturers and other entities involvet d in the
manufaff cture and distribution of approved drugs are required to register their establishments with the FDA and certain state agencies and
are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA and certain state agencies for compliance with cGMP and other laws.
Additionally, manufacturers and other parties involved in the supply chain for prescription drug products must also comply with product
tracking and racing requirements and for notifyiff ng the FDA of counterfeit, diverted, stolen and intentionally adulterated products or
products that are otherwise unfit for distribution in the U.S. Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expend time, money, and
effort in the area of production and quality control to maintain cGMP compliance. These regulations also impose certain organizational,
procedural and documentation requirements with respect to manufacturing and quality assurance activities. BLA holders using contract
manufacturers, laboratories or packagers are responsible for the selection and monitoring of quaff lified fiff rms, and, in certain
circumstances, qualified suppliers to these fiff rms. These firms and, where applicable, their suppliers are subject to inspections by the
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FDA at any time, and the discovery of violative conditions, including failure to conform to cGMP, could result in enforcement actions
that interrupt the operation of any such product or may result in restricr tions on a product, manufacturer, or holder of an approved BLA,
including, among other things, recall or withdrawal of the product from the market. In addition, the manufacturer and/or holder of an
approved BLA are subject to annual product and establishment fees. These feff es are typically increased annually.

The FDA also may require post-marketing testing, also known as Phase 4 testing, to monitor the effects of an approved product
or place conditions on an approval via a REMS that could restrict the distribution or use of the product. Discovery of previously unknown
problems with a product or the failure to comply with applicable FDA requirements can have negative consequences, including adverse
publicity, judicial or administrative enforcement, untitled or warning letters from the FDA, mandated corrective advertising or
communications with doctors, withdrawal of approval, and civil or criminal penalties, among others. Newly discovered or developed
safety or effff eff ctiveness data may require changes to a product’s approved labeling, including the addition of new warnings and
contraindications, and also may require the implementation of other risk management measures. Also, new government requirements,
including those resulting from new legislation, may be established, or the FDA’s policies may change, which could delay or prevent
regulatory approval of our products under development.

Coverage and Reimbursement

Sales of any products for which we receive regulatory approval for commercial sale will depend in part on the availability offf
reimbursement from third-party payors, including government healthcare program administrative authorities, managed care
organizations, private health insurers, and other entities. Patients who are prescribed medications for the treatment of their conditions,
and their prescribing physicians, generally rely on third-party payors to reimburse all of part of the costs associated with their prescription
drugs. Patients are unlikely to use our products unless coverage is provided, and reimbursement is adequate to cover a significant portion
of the cost of our products. Therefore, our products, once approved, may not obtain market acceptance unless coverage is provided, and
reimbursement is adequate to cover a significant portion of the cost of our products. Factors payors consider in determining
reimbursement are based on whether the product is:

• a covered benefit under its health plan;

• safe, effective and medically necessary;ff

• appropriate for the specific patient;

• cost-effective; and

• neither experimental nor investigational.

In the U.S., no uniforff m policy of coverage and reimbursement for drug or biological products exists.

The process for determining whether a third-party payor will provide coverage for a drug product typically is separate from the
process for setting the price of a drug product or for establa ishing the reimbursement rate that the payor will pay for the drug product
once coverage is approved. Third-party payors may limit coverage to specific drug products on an approved list, also known as a
formulary, which might not include all of the FDA-approved drugs for a particular indication. A decision by a third-party payor not ta o
cover our product candidates could reduce physician utilization of our products once approved. Moreover, a third-party payor’s decision
to provide coverage for a drug product does not imply that an adequate reimbursement rate will be approved. Adequate third-party
reimbursement may not be availabla e to enabla e us to maintain price levels sufficient to realize an appropriatff e return on our investment in
product development. Additionally, coverage and reimbursement for drug products can differ significantly from payor to payor. Oneff
third-party payor’s decision to cover a particular drug product or service does not ensure that other payors will also provide coverage
for the medical product or service or will provide coverage at an adequate reimbursement rate. As a result, the coverage determination
process will require us to provide scientific and clinical support for the use of our products to each payor separately and will be a time-
consuming process.

The containment of healthcare costs has become a priority of federal, state, and foreign governments, and the prices of drugs have
been a focus in this effort. Third-party payors are increasingly challenging the prices charged for drug products and medical services,
examining the medical necessity, and reviewing the cost effectiveness of drug products and medical services, in addition to questioning
safeff ty and effff iff cacy. If these third-party payors do not consider our products to be cost-effeff ctive compared to other available therapies,
they may not cover our products after FDA approval or, if they do, the level of payment may not be sufficient to allow us to sell our
products at a profit.

The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 provided funding for the feff deral government to compare the effectiveness
of different treatments for the same illness. The plan for the research was published in 2012 by the Department of Health and Human
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Services, the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality and the National Institutes for Health, and periodic reports on the status of
the research and related expenditures will be made to Congress. Although the results of the comparative effeff ctiveness studies are not
intended to mandate coverage policies for publff ic or private payors, it is not clear what effect, iff f any, the research will have on the sales
of our product candidates, if any such product or the condition that it is intended to treat is the subject of a study. It is also possible that
comparative effectiveness research demonstrating benefits in a competitor’s product could adversely affect the sales of our product
candidates, once approved. If third-party payors do not consider our products to be cost-effective compared to other available therapies,
they may not cover our products after approval as a benefit under their plans or, if they do, the level of payment may not be sufficient
to allow us to sell our products on a profitable basis.

In addition, in some foreign countries, the proposed pricing for a drug must be approved before it may be lawfully marketed. The
requirements governing drug pricing vary widely from country to country. For example, the EU provides options for its member states
to restrict the range of medicinal products for wff hich their national health insurance systems provide reimbursement and to control the
prices of medicinal products for human use. A member state may approve a specific price for the medicinal product, or it may instead
adopt a system of direct or indirect controls on the profitability of the company placing the medicinal product on the market. There can
be no assurance that any country that has price controls or reimbursement limitations for pharmaceutical products will allow favorablea
reimbursement and pricing arrangements for any of our products. Historically, products launched in the Eff U do not follow price structures
of the U.S. and generally tend to be significantly lower.

Antitt -ii K- iKK ckback and False Claims Laws and Other Regue latll ory Matterstt

In the U.S., among other things, the research, manufacturing, distribution, sale and promotion of drug products and medical
devices are potentially subject to regulation and enforcement by various federal, state and local authorities in addition to the FDA,
including the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, other divisions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (e.g.,
the Office of Inspector General), the Drug Enforff cement Administration, the Consumer Product Safety Commission, the Federal Trade
Commission, the Occupational Safety & Health Administration, the Environmental Protection Agency, state Attorneys General and
other state and local government agencies. Our current and future business activities, including for example, sales, marketing, and
scientific/educational grant programs must comply with healthcare regulatory laws, as applicable, which may include the Federal Anti-
Kickback Statute, the Federal False Claims Act, as amended, the privacy and security regulations promulgated under the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, or HIPAA, as amended, physician payment transparency laws, and similar state laws.
Pricing and rebate programs must comply with the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program requirements of the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation
Act of 1990, as amended, and the Veterans Health Care Act of 1992, as amended. If products are made available to authorized users of
the Federal Supply Schedule of the General Services Administration, additional laws and requirements apply. All of these activities are
also potentially subject to federal and state consumer protection and unfair competition laws.

The distribution of pharmaceutical products is subject to additional requirements and regulations, including extensive record-
keeping, licensing, storage, and security requirements intended to prevent the unauthorized sale of pharmaceutical products.

The Federal Anti-Kickback Statute makes it illegal for any person or entity, including a prescription drug manufacturer (or a party
acting on its behalf) to knowingly and willfully, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, solicit, receive, offer, or pay any remuneration
that is intended to induce the referral of business, including the purchasing, leasing, ordering or arranging for or recommending theff
purchase, lease or order of, any good, facility, item or service for which payment may be made, in whole or in part, under a federal
healthcare program, such as Medicare or Medicaid. The term “remuneration” has been broadly interpreted to include anything of valuer .
The Federal Anti-Kickback Statute has been interpreted to appla y to arrangements between pharmaceutical manufacturers on one hand
and prescribers, purchasers, and formulary managers on the other. Although there are a number of statutt ory exceptions and regulatory
safe harbors protecting some common activities from prosecution, the exceptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowly. Practices that
involve remuneration that may be alleged to be intended to induce prescribing, purchases or recommendations may be subject to scrutiny
if they do not qualify for an exception or safe harbor. Failure to meet all of the requirements of a particular applicable statutory exception
or regulatory safe harbor does not make the conduct per se illegal under the Federal Anti-Kickback Statutt e. Instead, the legality of the
arrangement will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis based on a cumulative review of all of its facts and circumstances. Additionally,
the intent standard under the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute was amended by the ACA, to a stricter standard such that a person or entity
no longer needs to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation. In addition,
the ACA codified case law that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute
constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the Federal False Claims Act. Violations of this law are punishable by up ta o five
years in prison, criminal fines, administrative civil money penalties, and exclusion from participation in federal healthcare programs. In
addition, many states have adopted laws similar to the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute. Some of these state prohibitions apply to the
referral of patients for healthcare services reimbursed by any insurer, not just federal healthcare programs such as Medicare and
Medicaid. Due to the breadth of these federal and state anti-kickback laws, and the potential for additional legal or regulatory change in
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this area, it is possible that our future business activities, including our sales and marketing practices and/or our futff ure rt elationships with
physicians and the medical community might be challenged under anti-kickback laws, which could harm us.

Federal false claims and false statement laws, including the civil False Claims Act, prohibits any person or entity from, among
other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, for payment to federal programs (including Medicare and Medicaid)
claims for items or services, including drugs, that are false or fraudulent. Although we would not submit claims directly to payors,
manufacturers can be held liable under these laws if they are deemed to “cause” the submission of false or fraudulent claims by, forff
example, providing inaccurate billing or coding information to customers or promoting a product off-label. In addition, our future
activities relating to the reporting of wholesaler or estimated retail prices for our products, the reporting of prices used to calculate
Medicaid rebate information and other information affecting federal, state, and third-party reimbursement for our products, and the sale
and marketing of our products, are subject to scrutiny under this law. For example, pharmaceutical companies have been found liableff
under the Federal Civil False Claims Act in connection with their off-label promotion of drugs. Penalties for a civil False Claims Act
violation include three times the actual damages sustained by the government, plus mandatory civil penalties for each separate false
claim, the potential for exclusion from participation in federal healthcare programs, and, although the Federal False Claims Act is a civil
statute, conduct that results in a False Claims Act violation may also implicate various federal criminal statutes. If the government were
to allege that we were, or convict us of, violating these false claims laws, we could be subject to a substantial fine and may suffer a
decline in our stock price. In addition, private individuals have the ability to bring actions under the Federal Civil False Claims Act and
certain states have enacted laws modeled after the Federal False Claims Act.

Additionally, HIPAA created additional federal criminal statutes that prohibit, among other things, knowingly and willfully
executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefiff t program, including private third-party payors and
knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing, or covering up a material fact or making any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent
statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefrr iff ts, items or services. Similar to the federal Anti-Kickback
Statutet , a person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed
a violation.

There are also an increasing number of state laws that require manufacturers to make reports to states on pricing and marketing
information. Many of these laws contain ambiguities as to what is required to comply with the laws. For example, federal government
price reporting laws, which require us to calculate and report complex pricing metrics in an accurate and timely manner to government
programs. In addition, as discussed below, a similar federal requirement under the Physician Payments Sunshine Act, requires certain
manufacturers to track and report to the federal government certain payments provided to physicians, certain other licensed health care
practitioners and teaching hospitals made in the previous calendar year, as well as certain ownership and investment interests held by
physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists, and chiropractors) and their immediate family members. These
laws may affect our sales, marketing, and other promotional activities by imposing administrative and compliance burdens on us. In
addition, given the lack of clarity with respect to these laws and their implementation, our reporting actions could be subject to the
penalty provisions of the pertinent state and federal authorities.

Further, we may be subject to data privacy and security regulation by both the federal government and the states in which we
conduct our business. HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, or HITECH,
and their respective implementing regulations, including the Final Omnibus Rule published on January 25, 2013, imposes specified
requirements relating to the privacy, security, and transmission of individually identififf able health information on certain types offf
individuals and organizations. HITECH also created new tiers of civil monetary penalties, amended HIPAA to make civil and criminal
penalties directly applicable ta o business associates, and gave state attorneys general new authority to file civil actions for damages or
injunctions in feff deral courts to enforce the federal HIPAA laws and seek attff orneys’ fees and costs associated with pursuing federal civil
actions. In addition, there may be other federal, state and non-U.S. laws which govern the privacy and security of health and other
personal information in certain circumstances, many of which diffeff r from each other and from HIPAA in significant ways and may not
have the same effect, thus complicating compliance efforts.

The failure to comply with regulatory requirements subjects us to possible legal or regulatory action. Depending on theff
circumstances, failure to meet applicabla e regulatory requirements can result in significant criminal, civil and/or administrative penalties,
damages, fines, disgorgement, exclusion frff om participation in federal healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, injunctions,
recall or seizure of products, total or partial suspension of production, denial or withdrawal of product approvals, refusal to allow us to
enter into supply contracts, including government contracts, contractual damages, reputational harm, administrative burdens, diminished
profits and future earnings, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to
operate our business and our results of operations.
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We plan to develop a comprehensive compliance program that establishes internal controls to facilitate adherence to the law and
program requirements to which we will or may become subject because we intend to commercialize products that could be reimbursed
under a feff deral healthcare program and other governmental healthcare programs.

Changes in law or the interprr etation of existing law could impact our business in the future by requiring, for example: (i) changes
to our manufaff cturing arrangements; (ii) additions or modifications to product labeling; (iii) the recall or discontinuation of our products;
or (iv) additional record-keeping requirements. If any such changes were to be imposed, they could adversely affect the operation of our
business.

HeHH althll care Legislative Refe orff mrr

In both the United States and certain forff eign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes to the
health care system that could impact our ability to sell our products profitably. In particular, in 2010, the Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, or collectively, the ACA, was enacted,
which, among other things, subjected biologic products to potential competition by lower-cost biosimilars; increased the minimum
Medicaid rebates owed by most manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program; extended the Medicaid Drug Rebate program
to utilization of prescriptions of individuals enrolled in Medicaid managed care organizations; subjected manufacturers to new annual
fees and taxes for certain branded prescription drugs; created a new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program, in which
manufacturers must agree to offer 70% point-of-sale discounts off negotiated prices of applicable brand drugs to eligible beneficiaries
during their coverage gap period, as a condition for the manufacturer’s outpatient drugs to be covered under Medicare Part D; and
provided incentives to programs that increase the federal government’s comparative effectiveness research.

Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the ACA was enacted.

• The Budget Control Act of 2011, which, among other things, created measures for spending reductions by Congress. This
includes aggregate reductions of Medicare payments to providers of 2% per fiscal year. Subsequent legislation extended the
2% reduction which remains in effect through 2031. Due to the Statutory Pay-As-You-Go Act of 2010, estimated budget
defiff cit increases resulting from the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, and subsequent legislation, Medicare payments to
providers will be further reduced starting in 2025 absent further legislation.

• The American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, among other things, reduced Medicare payments to several providers and
increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years.

• On April 13, 2017, CMS published a final rule that gives states greater flexibility in setting benchmarks for insurers in the
individual and small group marketplaces, which may have the effeff ct of relaxing the essential health benefits required under
the ACA for plans sold through such marketplaces.

• On May 30, 2018, the Right to Try Act, was signed into law. The law, among other things, provides a federal framework
for certain patients to access certain investigational new drug products that have completed a Phase 1 clinical tr rial and that
are undergoing investigation for FDA approval. Under certain circumstances, eligible patients can seek treatment without
enrolling in clinical trials and without obtaining FDA permission under the FDA expanded access program. There is no
obligation for a pharmacff eutical manufaff cturer to make its drug products available to eligible patients as a rt esult of the Right
to Try Act.

• OnMay 23, 2019, CMS published a final rule to allow Medicare Advantage Plans the option of using step therapy for Part
B drugs beginning January 1, 2020.r

There has been increasing legislative and enforcement interest in the United States with respect to specialty drug pricing practices.
Specifically, there have been several recent U.S. Congressional inquiries and proposed federal and state legislation designed to, among
other things, bring more transparency to drug pricing, reduce the cost of prescription drugs under Medicare, review the relationship
between pricing and manufacturer patient programs, and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for drugs.

President Biden has issued multiple executive orders that have sought to reduce prescription drug costs. Although a number of
these and other proposed measures may require authorization through additional legislation to become effective, and the Biden
administration may reverse or otherwise change these measures, both the Biden administration and Congress have indicated that they
will continue to seek new legislative measures to control drug costs.

The Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, or IRARR , includes several provisions that will impact our business to varying degrees,
including provisions that create a $2,000 out-of-ff pocket cap for Medicare Part D beneficiaries to $2,000 starting in 2025, impose new
manufaff cturer financial liability on all drugs in Medicare Part D, allow the U.S. government to negotiate Medicare Part B and Part D
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pricing for certain high-cost drugs and biologics without generic or biosimilar competition, require companies to pay rebates tff o Medicare
for drug prices that increase faster than inflation, and delay the rebate rulr e that would require pass through of pharmacy benefit manager
rebates to beneficiaries. Further, under the IRARR , orphan drugs are exempted from the Medicare drug price negotiation program, but only
if they have one rare disease designation and for which the only approved indication is for that disease or condition. If a product receives
multiple rare disease designations or has multiple approved indications, it may not qualify for the orphar n drug exemption. The effect ofr
IRA on our business and the healthcare industry in general is not yet known.

In addition, there have been several changes to the 340B drug pricing program, which imposes ceilings on prices that drug
manufacturers can charge for medicaff tions sold to certain health care facilities. On December 27, 2018, the District Court for the District
of Columbia invalidated a reimbursement formula change under the 340B drug pricing program, and CMS subsequently altered the FYs
2019 and 2018 reimbursement forff mula on specified covered outpatient drugs, or SCODs. The court ruled this change was not an
“adjustment” which was within the Secretary’s discretion to make but was instead a fundamental change in the reimbursementff
calculation. However, most recently, on July 31, 2020, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit overturned the
district court’s decision and found that the changes were within the Secretary’s authority. On September 14, 2020, the plaintiffs-appellees
fiff led a Petition for Rehearing En Banc (i.e., before the full court), but was denied on October 16, 2020. Plaintiffs-appellees filed a
petition for a writ of certiorari at the Supreme Court on February 10, 2021, and the petition was granted on July 2, 2021. On June 15,
2022, the Supreme Court unanimously reversed the Court of Appeals' decision, holding that HHS's 2018 and 2019 reimbursement rates
for 340B hospitals were contrary to the statute and unlawful. Although a number of these, and other proposed measures will require
authorization through additional legislation to become effective, Congress has indicated that it may continue to seek new legislative
and/or administrative measures to control drug costs.

At the state level, legislatures have increasingly passed legislation and implemented regulations designed to control
pharmaceutical and biological product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain
product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some cases, designed to encourage importation from
other countries and bulk purchasing.

We expect that the healthcare reform measures that have been adopted and may be adopted in the future, may result in more
rigorous coverage criteria and in additional downward pressure on the price that we receive for any approved product and could seriously
harm our future revenues. Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result in a similar
reduction in payments from private third-party payors.

There have been, and likely will continue to be, legislative and regulatory proposals at the foreign, feff deral, and state levels directed
at broadening the availability of healthcare and containing or lowering the cost of healthcare. The implementation of cost containment
measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent us from being able to generate revenue, attain profitability, or commercialize our
product. Such reforms could have an adverse effff eff ct on anticipated revenue from product candidates that we may successfully develop
and for which we may obtain regulatory approval and may affect our overall financial condition and ability to develop product
candidates.

European Union Drug Review and ApprovalUU

Clinical Trial ATT pprA oval

In the EU, an applicant for authorization of a clinical trial must obtain prior approval from the national competent authority of thea
EU Member States in which the clinical trial is to be conducted. Furthermore, the applicant may only start a clinical trial at a specific
study site after the relevant independent ethics committee has issued a favorable opinion. In April 2014, the EU adopted the new Clinical
Trials Regulation (EU) No 536/2014, which replaced the Clinical Trials Directive 2001/20/EC on January 31, 2022. It overhauls the
system of approvals for clinical trials in the EU. Specifically, the new legislation, which is directly applicable in all EU Member States
(meaning that no national implementing legislation in each EU Member State is required), aims at simplifyiff ng and streamlining the
approval of clinical trials in the EU. For instance, the new Clinical Trials Regulation provides for a streamlined application procedure
via a single-entry point (instead of submitting applications separately to each national competent authority and ethics committee in the
Member States in which the trial will be conducted) and strictly defined deadlines for the assessment of clinical trial applications. The
Clinical Trials Regulation also makes it more efficient for EU Member States to evaluate and authorize applications together, via the
Clinical Trials Information System. The transitory provisions of the new Clinical Trials Regulation offer sponsors the possibility to
choose between the requirements of the previous Clinical Trials Directive and the Clinical Trials Regulation if the request for
authorization of a clinical trial is submitted in the year after the new Clinical Trials Regulation became applicable. If the sponsor chooses
to submit under the Clinical Trials Directive, the clinical trial continues to be governed by the Directive until three years after the new
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Clinical Trials Regulation became applicable. If a clinical trial continues for more than three years after the Clinical Trials Regulation
became applicable, the Clinical Trials Regulation will at that time begin to apply to the clinical trial.

MarMM krr etikk ng Authorization

In the European Union, medicinal products can only be commercialized after obtaining a marketing authorization. There are two
types of marketing authorizations: (1) the centralized authorization, which is issued by the European Commission through the centralized
procedure based on the opinion of the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use, or CHMP, a body of the EMA, and which is
valid throughout the entire territory of the European Economic Area, or EEA (comprising the EU Member States plus Norway, Iceland
and Liechtenstein); and (2) national marketing authorizations, which is issued by the competent authorities of the Member States of the
EU and only authorize marketing in that Member State’s national territory and not the EEA as a whole.

The centralized procedure is mandatory for certain types of products, such as biotechnology medicinal products, orphan medicinal
products, advanced therapy medicinal products (i.e., gene-therapy, somatic cela l-therapy, and tissue-engineered medicines) and medicinal
products containing a new active substance indicated for the treatment of HIV/AIDS, cancer, neurodegenerative disorders, diabetes,
auto-immune diseases and other immune dysfunctions and viral diseases. The centralized procedure is optional for products containing
a new active substance not yet authorized in the EU, or for products that constitute a significant therapeutic, scientific, or technical
innovation or which are in the interest of public health. Gene therapy products are a type of advanced therapy medicinal product, or
ATMP, in the EU. The scientific evaluation of marketing authorization applications for ATMPs is primarily performed by a specialized
scientific committee called the Committee for Advanced Therapies, or CAT. The CAT prepares a draft opinion on the quality, safety,
and efficacy of the ATMP which is the subject of the marketing authorization application, which is sent for final approval to the CHMP.
The CHMP recommendation is then sent to the European Commission, which adopts a decision binding in all EEA Member States. The
maximum timeframe for the evaluation of a marketing authorization application for an ATMP is 210 days from receipt of a valid
application, excluding clock stops when additional information or written or oral explanation is to be provided by the applicant in
response to questions of the CAT and/or CHMP. Clock stops may extend the timeframe of evaluation of an application consff iderably
beyond 210 days. Where the CHMP gives a positive opinion, the EMA provides the opinion together with supporting documentation to
the European Commission, who make the final decision to grant a marketing authorization, which is issued within 67 days of receipt of
the EMA’s recommendation. Accelerated assessment may be granted by the CHMP in exceptional cases, when a medicinal product is
of major interest from the point of view of public health and, in particular, from the viewpoint of therapeutic innovation. If the CHMP
accepts such a request, the timeframe of 210 days for assessment will be reduced to 150 days (excluding clock stops), but it is possible
that the CHMP may revert to the standard time limit for the centralized procedure if it determines that the appla ication is no longer
appropriate to conduct an accelerated assessment. The development and evaluation of a gene therapy medicinal product must be
considered in the context of the relevant EU guidelines, and the EMA may issue new guidelines concerning the development and
marketing authorization for gene therapy medicinal products and require that we comply with these new guidelines.

National marketing authorizations are for products not falling within the mandatory scope of the centralized procedure. Where a
product has already been authorized for marketing in a Member State of the EU, this marketing authorization can be recognized in
another Member States through the mutual recognition procedure. If the product has not received a national marketing authorization in
any Member State at the time of application, it can be approved simultaneously in various Member States through the decentralized
procedure. Under the decentralized procedure an identical dossier is submitted to the competent authorities of each of the Member States
in which an authorization is sought, one of which is selected by the applicant as the Refeff rence Member State, or RMS. If the RMS
proposes to authorize the product, and the other Member States do not raise objections, the product is granted a national marketing
authorization in all the Member States where the authorization was sought.

Under the above-described procedures, before granting the MAA, the EMA or the competent authorities of the Member States of
the EU make an assessment of the risk-benefit balance of the product on the basis of scientific criteria concerning its quality, safety, and
efficacy.

Now that the UK (which comprises Great Britain and Northern Ireland) has left the EU, Great Britain will no longer be covered
by centralized marketing authorizations (under the Northern Ireland Protocol, centralized marketing authorizations will continue to be
recognized in Northern Ireland). All medicinal products with a current centralized marketing authorization were automatically converted
to Great Britain marketing authorizations on January 1, 2021. For a period of two years from January 1, 2021, the Medicines and
Healthcare products Regulatory Agency, or MHRA, the UK medicines regulator, may rely on a decision taken by the European
Commission on the appra oval of a new marketing authorization in the centralized procedure, in order to more quickly grant a new Great
Britain marketing authorization. A separate appla ication will, however, still be required.

Regulatory exclusivity
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In the EU, innovative products authorized for marketing (i.e., reference products) may qualify for eight years of data exclusivity
and an additional two years of market exclusivity upon marketing authorization. The data exclusivity period prevents generic or
biosimilar appla icants from relying on the preclinical and clinical trial data contained in the dossier of the reference product when applying
for a generic or biosimilar marketing authorization in the EU during a period of eight years from the date on which the reference product
was first authorized in the EU. The market exclusivity period prevents a successful generic or biosimilar applicant from commercializing
its product in the EU until ten years have elapsed from the initial authorization of the reference product. The ten-year market exclusivity
period can be extended to a maximum of eleven years if, during the first eight years of those ten years, the marketing authorization
holder obtains an authorization for one or more new therapeutic indications which, during the scientific evaluation prior tff o their
authorization, are held to bring a significant clinical benefiff t in comparison with existing therapies. Even if an innovative medicinal
product gains the prescribed period of data exclusivity, however, another company may market another version of the product if such
company obtained marketing authorization based on a marketing authorization application with a completely independent data package
of pharmaceutical tests, preclinical tests, and clinical trials.

Orphan designation and exclusiee vitytt

The criteria for designating an orphan medicinal product in the EU, are similar in principle to those in the U.S. Under Article 3 of
Regulation, or Regulation EC, 141/2000, a medicinal product may be designated as orphan if the following criteria are fulfilled: (i) it is
intended for the diagnosis, prevention or treatment of a life-threatening or chronically debilitating condition; (ii) either (a) such condition
affects no more than five in 10,000 persons in the EU when the application is made, or (b) the product, without the beneff fits derived from
orphan status, would not generate sufficient return in the EU to justify the necessary investment in its development; and (iii) there exists
no satisfactory method of diagnosis, prevention or treatment of such condition authorized for marketing in the EU, or if such a methodrr
exists, the product will be of significant benefit to those affected by the condition, as defined in Regulation EC 847/2000. Orphar n
medicinal products are eligible for financial incentives such as reduction of fees or feff e waivers and are, upon grant of a marketing
authorization, entitled to ten years of market exclusivity for the approved therapeutic indication. The application for orphar n designation
must be submitted beforff e the application for marketing authorization. The applicant will receive a fee reduction for the marketing
authorization application if the orphan designation has been granted, but not if the designation is still pending at the time the marketing
authorization is submitted. Orphan designation does not convey any advantage in, or shorten the duration of, the regulff atory review and
approval process.

The ten-year market exclusivity may be reduced to six years if, at the end of the fifth year, it is established that the product no
longer meets the criteria for orphan derr signation, for example, if the product is sufficiently profitable not to justify maintenance of market
exclusivity. Otherwise, orphar n medicine marketing exclusivity may be revoked only in very select cases, such as if:

• a second appla icant can establish that its product, although similar to the authorized product, is safer, more effective, orff
otherwise clinically superior;

• the marketing authorization holder for the aff uthorized product consents to a second orphan medicinal product application;
or

• the marketing authorization holder for the authorized product cannot supply enough orphan medicinal product.

The aforff ementioned EU rules are generally applicable in the EEA.

PRPP IMII E designationMM

In March 2016, the EMA launched an initiative to facilitate development of product candidates in indications, often rare, for which
few or no therapies currently exist. The PRIority MEdicines, or PRIME, scheme is intended to encourage drug development in areas of
unmet medical need and provides accelerated assessment of products representing substantial innovation, where the marketing
authorization applicaa tion will be made through the centralized procedure. Eligible products must target conditions for which where is
an unmet medical need, i.e., there is no satisfactory method of diagnosis, prevention or treatment in the EU or, if there is, the new
medicine will bring a major therapeutic advantage) and they must show potential to benefit patients with unmet medical needs based on
early clinical data. Products frff om small- and medium-sized enterprises may qualify for earlier entry into the PRIME scheme than larger
companies. Many benefits accrue to sponsors of product candidates with PRIME designation, including but not limited to, early and
proactive regulatory dialogue with the EMA, frequent discussions on clinical trial designs and other development program elements,
and accelerated marketing authorization application assessment once a dossier has been submitted. Importantly, a dedicated contact and
rapporteur from the EMA’s CHMP or Committee for Advanced Therapies are appointed early in PRIME scheme facilitating increased
understanding of the product at the EMA’s committee level. A kick-off meeting initiates these relationships and includes a team of
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multidisciplinary err xperts at the EMA to provide guidance on the overall development and regulatory strategies. Where, during the course
of development, a medicine no longer meets the eligibility criteria, support under the PRIME scheme may be withdrawn.

Brexit and thtt e Regue latory Fll rameFF work in the United Kingdom

In June 2016, the electorate in the UK voted in favor of leaving the EU, or commonly referred to as Brexit, and the UK formallff y
left tff he EU on January 31, 2020. There was a transition period during which EU pharmaceutical laws continued to apply to the UK,
which expired on December 31, 2020. However, the EU and the UK have concluded a trade and cooperation agreement, or TCA, which
was provisionally applicable since January 1, 2021 and has been fora mally applicable since May 1, 2021. The TCA includes specific
provisions concerning pharmaceuticals, which include the mutuat l recognition of GMP, inspections of manufacturing facilities for
medicinal products and GMP documents issued but does not foresee wholesale mutual recognition of UK and EU pharmaceutical
regulations. At present, Great Britain has implemented EU legislation on the marketing, promotion and sale of medicinal products
through the Human Medicines Regulations 2012 (as amended) (under the Northern Ireland Protocol, the EU regulatory framework will
continue to apply in Northern Ireland). The regulatory regime in Great Britain therefore largely aligns with current EU regulations,
however it is possible that these regimes will diverge in future now that Great Britain’s regulatory system is independent from the EU
and the TCA does not provide for mutual recognition of UK and EU pharmaceutical legislation. For example, the UK has implemented
the now repealed Clinical Trials Directive 2001/20/EC into national law through the Medicines for Human Use (Clinical Trials)
Regulations 2004 (as amended). The extent to which the regulation of clinical trials in the UK will mirror the new Clinical Trials
Regulation now that has come into effect is not yet known, however the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency, or
MHRA, the UK medicines regulator, opened a consultation on a set of proposals designed to improve and strengthen the UK clinical
trials legislation. Such consultation was open until March 14, 2022.

ThTT e ForFF eign Ci orCC rupt Practices Act

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or the FCPA, prohibits any U.S. individual or business from paying, offering, or authorizing
payment or offering of anything of value, directly or indirectly, to any foreign official, political party or candidate for the purpose offf
influencing any act or decision of the foreign entity in order to assist the individual or business in obtaining or retaining business. The
FCPA also obligates companies whose securities are listed in the United States to comply with accounting provisions requiring us to
maintain books and records that accurately and fairly reflect all transactions of the corporation, including iff nternational subsidiaries, and
to devise and maintain an adequate system of internal accounting controls for internatiff onal operations.

Additional Regulation

In addition to the foregoing, state and federal laws regarding environmental protection and hazardous substances, including the
Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Resource Conservancy and Recovery Act and the Toxic Substances Control Act, affect our
business. These and other laws govern our use, handling and disposal of various biological, chemical and radioactive substances used
in, and wastes generated by, our operations. If our operations result in contamination of the environment or expose individuals to
hazardous substances, we could be liable for damaa ges and governmental fines. We believe that we are in material compliance with
applicable environmental laws and that continued compliance therewith will not have a material adverse effect on our business. We
cannot predict, however, how changes in these laws may affect our future operations.

Other Regulationse

We are also subject to numerous feff deral, state and local laws relating to such matters as safe working conditions, manufacturing
practices, environmental protection, fire hazard control, and disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardous substances. We may incur
significant costs to comply with such laws and regulations now or in the future.

Human Capital

As of February 28, 2023, we had 137 full-time employees and 1 part-time employee, 39 of whom have Ph.D. or M.D. degrees. Of
these full-time employees, 105 employees are engaged in research and development activities and 32 are engaged in finance, business
development and other general and administrative functions. None of our employees are represented by labor unions or covered by
collective bargaining agreements, and we have not experienced any work stoppages. We consider our relations with our employees to
be good.

We recognize that attracting, motivating and retaining talent at all levels is vital to our continued success. Our employees are a
significff ant asset, and we aim to create an equitable, inclusive and empowering environment in which our employees can grow and
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advance their careers, with the overall goal of developing, expanding and retaining our workforce to support our currff ent pipeline and
future business goals. By focff using on employee retention and engagement, we also improve our ability to support our clinical trials, our
pipeline, our platforff m technologies, business and operations, and also protect the long-term interests of our securityholders.

Our success also depends on our ability to attract, engage and retain a diverse group of employees. Our efforts to recruit and retain
a diverse and passionate workforce include providing competitive compensation and benefits packages and ensuring we listen to our
employees.

We value innovation, passion, data-driven decision making, persistence and honesty, and are building a diverse environment
where our employees can thrive and be inspired to make exceptional contributions to bring novel and more effeff ctive therapies to cancer
patients.

Our human capital resources objectives include, as applicable, identifying, recruiting, retaining, motivating and integrating our
existing and future employees. The principal purposes of our equity incentive plans are to attract, retain and motivate selected employees,
consultants and directors through grants of stock-based compensation awards and payments of cash-based performance bonus awards,ff
in order to increase stockholder value and the success of our company by motivating our employees to perform to the best of their
abilities and achieve our objectives.We are committed to providing a competitive and comprehensive benefiff ts package to our employees.
Our benefits package provides a balance of protection along with the flff exibility to meet the individual health and wellness needs of our
employees. We plan to continue to refine our efforts related to optimizing our use of human capital as we grow, including improvements
in the way we hire, develop, motivate and retain employees.

Facilities

Our corporate headquarters is located at 830 Winter Street in Waltham, Massachusetts. The facility at 830 Winter Street is 25,472
square feet of laboratory space, with a lease expiration of September 2024. We also lease a facility at 880Winter Street which is 113,487
square feff et of office and laboratory space with a lease termination date of December 2032.

We believe that these facilities are adequate to meet our needs for the immediate future, and that, should it be needed, suitablea
additional space will be available to accommodate any such expansion of our operations.

Legal Proceedings

We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings. From time to time, we may become involved in legal proceedings
arising in the ordinary course of our business. Regardless of outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us due to defense and
settlement costs, diversion of management resources, negative publicity, reputational harm and other factors.

Available Information

Our website address is https://www.tscan.com/. The information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not
incorporated by refeff rence into this Annual Report on Form 10-K or in any other report or document we have filed or may file with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, and any reference to our website address is intended to be an inactive textual reference
only. We will make available on our website, free of chaff rge, our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current
Reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those reports filed or furnisff hed pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act,
as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically fiff le such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. The SEC maintains an Internet
site, http://www.sec.gov, containing reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file
electronically with the SEC.

In addition, we routinely post on the “Investors and Media” page of our website investor and scientific presentations, SEC filings,
press releases, public conference calls and webcasts and other statements about our business and results of operations, some of which
may contain information that may be deemed material to investors. Accordingly, investors should monitor these portions of our website,
in addition to following our press releases, SEC filings, public conference calls and webcasts, as well as our social media channels (our
Twitter and LinkedIn). This list of channels may be updated from time to time on our investor relations website and may include other
social media channels than the ones described above. The contents of our website or these channels, or any other website that may be
accessed from our website or these channels, shall not be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended.



54

A copy of our Corporate Governance Guidelines, and Code of Conduct are posted on our website, https://www.tscan.com and are
available in print to any person who requests copies by contacting us by calling (857) 399-9500 or by writing to TScan Therapeutics,
Inc., 830 Winter Street, Waltham, Massachusetts 02451, Attention: Zoran Zdraveski.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Our business involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the material and other risks and uncertainties described and
summarized below, as ww ell as the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our consolidated fiff nancial statements
and related notes and the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations’ ”
and “Special NotNN e Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,” as well as our other fiff lings with the SEC, before you make an investment
decision. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of factors that
are described below and elsll ewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The risks desii cribed below are not the only risks that we face.
The occurrence of any of the events or developments described below could materially and adversely affect our business, fff inancialff
condition, results of operations and prospects. As a result, the market prict e of our common stock could decline, and you may lose all or
part of your investment in our common stock.

RISK FACTORS

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We have inWW curred significant losses since inception, and we expect to incur losses over the next sll everal years and may not be
able to achieve or sustain revenues or profiff tability in the fii uture.ff

Investment in biopharmaceutical product development is a highly speculative undertaking and entails substantial upfront capitala
expenditures and significant risk that any potential product candidate will fail to demonstrate adequate efficacy or an acceptable safety
profile, gain regulatory appra oval and become commercially viable. We are still in the early stages of development of our product
candidates and have only recently initiated clinical studies for TSC-100 and TSC-101. We have no products licensed for commercial
sale and have not generated any revenue from product sales to date, and we continue to incur significant research and development and
other expenses related to our ongoing operations. We have financed our operations primarily through private placements of our preferred
stock, our initial public offff eff ring in 2021 and borrowings under a secured loan agreement in September 2022.

We have incurred significant net losses in each period since our inception in April 2018. For the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2021, we reported net losses of $26.1 million, and $48.6 million, respectively, and $18.7 million and $66.2 million for the three and
twelve months ended December 31, 2022, respectively. As of December 31, 2022, we had an accumulated deficit of $158.4 million. We
expect to continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future, and we expect these losses to increase substantially if and as we:

• continue our research and development efforts to identify and develop lead product candidates and submit additional
investigational new drug ar pplications, or INDs, for such lead produca t candidates;

• conduct preclinical studies and commence clinical trials for our current and future product candidates based on our
proprietary platform;

• develop processes suitable for manufacturing and clinical development

• continue to develop and expand our manufacturing capabilities;

• seek marketing approvals for any of our product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials;

• build commercial infrastructure to support sales and marketing for our product candidates;

• expand, maintain and protect our intellectual property portfolio;t

• hire additional clinical, regulatory and scientific personnel; and

• continue to operate as a public company.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with biopharmaceutical product research and development, we are
unable to accurately predict the timing or amount of the increased expenses we will incur or when, if ever, we will be able to achieve
profitability. Even if we succeed in commercializing one or more of our product candidates, we will continue to incur substantial research
and development expenses and other expenditures to develop, seek regulatory approval for, and mff arket additional product candidates.
We may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other unknown factors that may adversely affect our
business. The size of our future net losses will depend, in part, on the rate of future growth of our expenses and our ability to generate
revenue. Our prior losses and expected future losses have had and will continue to have an adverse effect on our stockholders’ eff quity
and working capital.
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Our business depends upon the success of our proprietary platform.

Our success depends on our ability to use our proprietary platform (i) to discover the natural targets of clinically relevant TCRs
through our TargetScan technology, (ii) to discover highly active TCRs for known targets through our ReceptorScan technology, (iii)
to genetically engineer patient- or donor-derived T cells safely and reproducibly through our T-Integrate technology, (iv) to obtain
regulatory approval for product candidates derived from our proprietary platform and related technologies, and (v) to then commercialize
our product candidates that address one or more indications. All of our product candidates will require significant additional clinical and
non-clinical development, review and approval by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, or other regulatory authorities in
one or more jurisdictions, substantial investment, access to sufficient commercial manufacturing capacity and significant marketing
effff orff ts beforff e they can be successfulff ly commercialized. Our proprietary platform and our product candidates have not yet been evaluated
in humans and may never become commercialized. Moreover, all of our current product candidates are being developed using our
proprietary platform and leveraging the same or similar technology, manufacturing process and development program. As a result, an
issue with one product candidate or failure of any one program to obtain regulatory approval could adversely impact our ability to
successfully develop and commercialize all of our other product candidates.

In addition, the success of our proprietary platrr form in discovering novel targets for TCR-T therapy is dependent on us obtaining
tumor samples from cancer patients who actively respond to cancer immunotherapies. If our ability to obtain a significant amount of
such tumor samples in a timely manner is compromised due to unforesff een circumstances, we may not be successful in discovering novel
targets and creating new product candidates based on such targets.

Our limited operating history may make it difficult to evaluate the success of our businii ess to date and to assess our future
viabiliii tii ytt .yy

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company with a limited operating history. We commenced operations in April 2018,
and our operations to date have been limited to organizing and staffing our company, business planning, raising capital, conducting
discovery and research activities, filing patent applications, identifying potential product candidates, undertaking preclinical studies,
entering into licenses and collaborations, establishing manufacturing for initial quantities of our product candidates, and establishing
arrangements for component materials for such manufacturing. Although we have initiated clinical trials for certain of our product
candidates, we have not yet demonstrated our ability to successfully conduct or complete any clinical trials, obtain marketing approvals,
manufacturt e clinical or commercial-scale product or arrange for a third party to do so on our behalf, or conduct sales, marketing and
distribution activities necessary for successful product commercialization. Consequently, any predictions about our futurff e success or
viability may not be as accurate as they could be if we had a longer operating history.

In addition, as a young business, we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other known and
unknown factors. We eventually may need to transition at some point from a cff ompany with a research and development focus to a
company capabla e of supporting commercial activities. We may not be successful in such a transition.

We expect our financial condition and operating results to continue to fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and year to
year due to a variety of factors, many of which are beyond our control. Accordingly, the results of any quarterly or annual periods should
not be relied upon as indications of future operating performance.

We have never generated any revenue frff om salell s of cell-therapy products and our ability to generate revenue from cell-therapy
product sales and become profitable depends signififf cantltt y on our succesll s in a number of areas.

Our ability to become profitable depends upon our ability to generate revenue. To date, we have not generated any revenue from
sales of any of our product candidates. We do not expect to generate significant revenue unless or until we successfully complete clinical
development and obtain regulatory approval of, and then successfully commercialize, at least one of our product candidates. Although
we have initiated clinical trials for certain of our product candidates, we have not yet demonstrated an ability to successfully complete
clinical trials of our product candidates, obtain marketing approvals, manufacture a commercial-scale medicine, or arrange for a third
party to do so on our behalf, or conduct sales and marketing activities necessary for successful commercialization to enable us to generate
any revenue from product sales. Our other product candidates are in early preclinical stages. We have not yet administered any of our
product candidates in humans and, as such, we face significant translational risk as our product candidates advance to the clinical stage.
Our ability to generate revenue depends on a number of factors, including, but not limited to:

• our abila ity to develop processes suitable for clinical manufacturing and to obtain related chemistry, manufacturing, and
controls, or CMC, regulatory arr pprovals;a

• timely completion of our preclinical studies and clinical trials, which may be significantly slower or cost more than we
currently anticipate and will depend substantially upon the performance of third party contractors;
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• our abia lity to continue to complete IND-enabling studies and to continue to successfully submit INDs or comparable
applications;

• whether we are required by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) or similar foreign regulatory authorities to
conduct additional clinical trials or other studies beyond those planned to support the approval and commerciat lization of
our product candidates or any future product candidates;

• our ability to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA and similar foreign regulatory authorities the safety, potency, purityff
and acceptable risk to benefit profile of our product candidates or any futff ure product candidates;t

• the prevalence, duration and severity of potential side effeff cts or other safety issues, including adverse events, experienced
with our product candidates or future product candidates, if any;

• the timely receipt of necessary marketing approvals from the FDA and similar foreign regulatory authorities;

• the willingness of physicians, operators of clinics and patients to utilize or adopt any of product candidates or future product
candidates to treat hematologic malignancies or solid tumors;

• our abia lity and the ability of our third parties contractors to manufacture adequate clinical and commercial supplies of our
product candidates or any future product candidates, remain in good standing with regulatory authorities and develop,
validate and maintain commercially viable manufacturing processes that are compliant with current good manufacturing
practices, or cGMP;

• our ability to successfulff ly develop a commercial strategy and thereafter commercialize our product candidates or any future
product candidates in the United States and internationally, if licensed for marketing, reimbursement, sale and distribution
in such countries and territories, whether alone or in collaboration with others;

• patient demand for our product candidates and any future product candidates, if licensed; and

• our ability to establish, obtain, maintain, protect and enforce intellectual property and proprietary rights in and to our product
candidates or any future product candidates.

Many of the factors listed above are beyond our control, and could cause us to experience signififf cant delays or prevent us from
obtaining regulatory approvals or commercializing our product candidates. Even if we are able to commercialize our product candidates,
we may not achieve profitability soon after generating product sales, if ever. If we are unable to generate sufficient revenue through the
sale of our product candidates or any futff urt e product candidates, we may be unable to continue operations without continued funding.ff

We wWW ilii l neell d to obtain substantial additional funding to complete the development and any commercialization of our product
candidates, if approved. If we are unable to raise this necessary capital when needed, we would be forced to delay, reduce or
elill miii nate our product development programs, commercialization efforii ts or other operations.

Since our inception, we have financed our operations through private placements of preferred stock; through our initial public
offering; and through our debt financing facility. The development of biopharmaceutical product candidates is capital intensive and we
expect our expenses to increase substantially during the next few years. As our product candidates enter and advance through preclinical
studit es and clinical trials, we will need substantial additional funds to expand our clinical, regulatff ory, quality and manufacturing
capabilities. In addition, if we obtain marketing approval for any of our product candidates, we expect to incur significant
commercialization expenses related to marketing, sales, manufacturing and distribution. Furthermore, we expect to incur additional
costs associated with operating as a public company.

As of December 31, 2022, we had $120.0 million in cash and cash equivalents. Based on our current operating plan, we believe
that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be suffiff cient to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements into
the second quarter of 2024. Accordingly, our existing cash and cash equivalents will not be sufficient for us to fund any of our product
candidates through regulatory approval, and we will need to raise substantial additional capital to complete the development and
commercialization of our product candidates through equity offerings, debt financings, marketing and distribution arrangements and
other collaborations, strategic alliances and licensing arrangements or other sources. We may also need to raise additional funds sooner
if we choose to pursue additional indications for our product candidates or otherwise expand more rapidly than we presently anticipate.
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We have based these estimates on assumptions that may prove to be incorrect or require adjustment as a result of business
decisions, and we could utilize our available capital resources sooner than we currently expect. Our future capital requirements will
depend on many factors, including:

• the scope, rate of progress, costs and results of our drug discovery, preclinical development activities, laboratory testing and
clinical trials for our product candidates;

• the number and scope of clinical programs we decide to pursue;

• the scope and costs of manufacturing development and commercial manufacturing activities and our ability to scale them
up or out;

• the extent to which we acquire or in-license other product candidates and technologies;

• the cost, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates, including the potential for regulatoryrr
authorities to require that we conduct more studies and trials than those that we currently expect to conduct and the costs of
post-marketing studies or risk evaluation and mitigation strategies that could be required by regulatory authorities;

• potential changes in the regulatory environment and enforcement rules;

• the cost and timing of establishing sales and marketing capabilities, if any of our product candidates receive marketing
approval;

• the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining, obtaining, protecting and enforcing ourff
intellectual property and proprietary rights and defending intellectual property-related claims;

• our ability to establish and maintain collaborations on faff vorable terms, if at all;

• the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic or other external disruptrr ions on our business, results of operations and financial
position;

• our efforts to enhance operational systems and our ability to attract, hire and retain qualified personnel, including personnel
to support the development of our product candidates;

• potential changes in pharmaceutical pricing and reimbursement infrastructure;

• the costs associated with being a public company; and

• the cost associated with commercializing our product candidates, if they receive marketing approval.

Identifying potential product candidates and conducting preclinical studit es and clinical trials is a time consuming, expensive and
uncertain process that takes years to complete, and we may never generate the necessary data or results required to obtain marketing
approval. In addition, our product candidates, if approved, may not achieve product sales or commercial success. We do not expect to
have any products commercially available for sale for many years, if at all. Accordingly, we will need to obtain substantial additional
funding in connection with our continuing operations. Adequate additional financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or
at all, and may be impacted by the economic climate and market conditions. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on attractive
terms, we would be forced to delay, limit, reduce or eliminate our research and development programs or future commercialization
efforts or grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves. In
addition, attempting to secure additional financing may divert the time and attention of management from day-to-day activities and
distract from our research and development efforts. We may also seek additional capital due to favorable market conditions or strategic
considerations, even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current or future operating plans.

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquishs
rights to our intett llll ectual property or product candidates on unfavorable terms to us.ll

Wemay seek additional capital through a variety of means, including through collaboration arrangements, public or private equity
or debt fiff nancings, third party (including government) funding and marketing and distribution arrangements, as well as other strategic
alliances and licensing arrangements or any combination of these approaches. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able
to raise capital on commercially reasonable terms or at all. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or
convertible debt securities, our stockholder ownership interest will be diluted, and the terms may include liquidation preferences or other
rights, powers or preferences that may adversely affff ect rights of our stockholders. To the extent that deff bt financing is available and we
choose to raise additional capital in the form of debt, such debt financing may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or
restricting our ability to take certain actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. If
we raise additional capia tal pursuant to collaborations, licensing arrangements or other strategic partnerships, such agreements may
require us to relinquish rights to our technologies or product candidates.
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If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financing or through collaborations, licensing arrangements or
strategic partnerships when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or
commercialization efforts.

GlGG obal ell conomic uncertainty and financial market volatility caused by political instability, changes in international tradett
relatll itt onships and conflicts, such as the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine, could make it more difficult for us ton
access financinii g and could advll ersrr ely affecll t our business and operations.

Our ability to raise capital is suba jb ect to the risk of adverse changes in the market value of our stock. Periods of macroeconomic
weakness or recession and heightened market volatility caused by adverse geopolitical developments could increase these risks,
potentially resulting in adverse impacts on our ability to raise further capital on favorable terms. The impact of geopolitical tension, such
as a deterioration in the bilateral relationship between the US and China or in the ongoing conflict between Rusff sia and Ukraine, including
resulting sanctions, export controls or other restrictive actions that may be imposed by the US and/or other countries against
governmental or other entities in, for example, Russia, also could lead to disruption, instability and volatility in global trade patterns,
which may in turn impact our ability to source necessary reagents, raw materials and other inputs for our research and development
operations. Any of the abovementioned factors could affect our business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results. The extent
and duration of any political instability and resulting market disruptions are impossible to predict, but could be substantial. Any such
disruptions may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks and uncertainties described elsewhere in this “Risk Factors”
section.

Recent volatility in capital markets and lower market prices for many securities may affect our ability to access new cff apital
thtt rough sales of shares of our common stock or issuance of indebtedness, which may harm our liquidity, limit our ability toii
grow our business, pursue acquisitionii s or improve our operating infrastructure and restrict our ability to compete in ourii
markets.

Our operations consume substantial amounts of cash, and we intend to continue to make significant investments to support our
business growth, respond to business challenges or opportunities, develop new products, retain or expand our current levels of personnel,
support our programs, enhance our operating infrastructure, and potentially acquire complementary businesses and technologies. Our
future capital requirements may be significantly different from our current estimates and will depend on many factors, including the
need to:

• finance unanticipated working capital requirements, including clinical manufacturing capacity;

• support our discovery and preclinical development activities, and clinical trials for our product candidates;

• pursue acquisitions or other strategic relationships; and

• respond to competitive pressures.

Accordingly, we may need to pursue equity or debt financings to meet our capital needs. With uncertainty in the capital markets
and other factors, such fiff nancing may not be available on terms favorable to us or at all. If we raise additional funds through further
issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity
securities we issue could have rights, prefeff rences, and privileges superior to those of holders of our common stock. Any debt financing
secured by us in the future could involve additional restrictive covenants relating to our capital-raising activities and other financial and
operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including
potential acquisitions. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, we could face significant
limitations on our ability to invest in our operations and otherwise suffer harm to our business.

The terms of our loan agreement place restrictions on our operating and financial flexibility. If we raise additional capital
through deu bt financinii g, thtt e tett rmrr s of any nn ew debt could further restrict our operating and financial flexibility.

On September 9, 2022, we entered into a Loan and Security Agreement with K2HV (the Loan Agreement) pursuant to which
K2HV may provide us with convertible term loans in an aggregate principal amount of up to $60 million, of which $30 million was
fully funded at the closing date in September 2022, $10 million will be funded in the second tranche upon the achievement of certain
financial and clinical milestones and $20 million may be funded in the third tranche at K2HV’s discretion. Our obligations under the
Loan Agreement are secured by a security interest in substantially all of our assets (other than intellectual property), subject to certain
exceptions, and will be guaranteed by each of the Company’s future direct or indirect subsidiaries, subject to certain exceptions. In
addition, during the term of the Loan Agreement, we must maintain minimum unrestricted cash and cash equivalents equal to 5.0 times
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the average cash burn measured over the trailing three-month period. The Loan Agreement contains customary representations and
warranties, and also includes customary events of default, including payment default, breach of covenants, change of control, and
material adverse effff ects. The Loan Agreement restricts cff ertain activities, such as disposing of the Company’s business or certain assets,
incurring additional debt or liens or making payments on other debt, making certain investments and declaring dividends, acquiring or
merging with another entity, engaging in transactions with affiliates or encumbering intellectual property, among others. Upon the
occurrence of an event of default, a default interest rate of an additional 5% per annum may be applied to the outstanding loan balances,
and K2HV may declare all outstanding obligations immediately due and payable and exercise all of its rights and remedies as set forth
in the Loan Agreement and under applicable law. Any declaration by K2HV of an event of default could significantly harm our business
and prospects and could cause the price of our common stock to decline. We may not have enough available cash or be able to raise
additional funds tff hrough equity or debt financings to repay these outstanding obligations at the time any event of defaff ult occurs. Further,
if we raise any additional capital through debt financing, the terms of such additional debt could further restrict our operating and
financial flexibility.

Risks Related to the Development of Our Product Candidates

Our approach to the discovery and development of product candidates based on our proprietary plr atll fortt m representrr s a noveltt
approach to cancer treatment, which creates signi ificant challenges for us.i

Our futff ure success depends on the successful development of our product candidates, which target hematologic malignancies andt
solid tumors utilizing T cell receptor therapies, or TCR-T therapies. Advancing our product candidates creates significant challenges for
us, including:

• educating medical personnel about the administration of TCR-T therapies on a stand-alone basis or in combination with
built-in immune and tumor modulators;

• while no such side effects have been observed to date in any of our preclinical or clinical studies, educating medical
personnel regarding the potential side effect profile of our product candidates, such as the potential adverse side effectsff
related to cytokine release syndrome (CRS), graft vs. host disease, neurotoxicity or autoimmune or rheumatologic disorders,
which are the most common adverse side effects associated with engineered T cell therapies;

• administering chemotherapy to patients in advance of administering our product candidates, which may increase the risk of
adverse side effects;

• sourcing clinical and, if licensed, commercial, supplies for the materials used to manufaff cture and process our product
candidates;

• manufacturing TCR-Ts efficiently and consistently without the use of viral vectors using our T-Integrate technology;

• developing a complete shipment lifeff cycle and supply chain, including efficiently managing the shipment of patient cells
from and to clinical sites, minimizing potential contamination to the cell product and effectively scaling manufacturing
capacity to meet demand;

• developing processes suitable for clinical manufaff cturing and obtaining related CMC regulatory approvals;t

• managing costs of inputs and other supplies while scaling production;

• using medicines to manage adverse side effects of our product candidates, which may not adequately control the side effects
and/or may have a detrimental impact on the potency of the treatment;

• obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval from the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authority for our product
candidates; and

• establa ishing sales and marketing capabila ities upon obtaining any regulatory approval to gain market acceptance of a novel
therapy.
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In developing our product candidates, we have not exhaustively explored different options in the design of the TCR construct and
in the method for manufacturing TCR-T therapies. We may find that our existing TCR-T therapy candidates and manufacturing process
may be substantially improved with futurff e design or process changes, necessitating development of new or additional TCR constructs
and further clinical testing, which may delay the commercial launch of our first products. For example:

• We have made several TCR constructs and used preclinical studies to select product candidates to advance into clinical
trials. The preclinical studies are limited in their ability to predict behavior in patients. As we gain experience working with
TCR constructs, we may decide to select other TCR constructs for clinical development.

• The process by which patient cells are converted into a TCR-T product has many steps that can influence quality and activity.

We have explored a subset of variables and expect to continue to improve and optimize the manufacturing process. Depending
upon the nature of the process changes, we may be compelled to perform bridging studies and/or to re-start clinical development, causing
delays in time to market and potentially introducing a risk of failure if new processes do not perform as expected.

We are very early in our development efforts. If we are unable to advll ance our product candidates through clinical development,
obtain regulatory approval and ultimately commercialize our product candidates, or experience significant delays in doing so,
our business will be materially hll armrr ed.

We are very early in our development efforts. We have only recently cleared the INDs for TSC-100 and TSC-101, our most
advanced product candidates as well as for T-Plex, TSC-204-A0201 and TSC-204-C0702. Our other product candidates are still in
preclinical development. Our ability to generate product revenues, which we do not expect will occur for many years, if ever, will depend
significantly on the successful development and eventual commercialization of one or more of our product candidates. The success of
our product candidates will depend on several factors, including the following:

• successful development of a process suitable for clinical manufacturing;

• successful completion of preclinical studies;

• successful initiation of clinical trials;

• successful patient enrollment in and completion of clinical trials;

• receipt and related terms of marketing approvals and licensures from applicable regulatory authorities;

• obtaining and maintaining patent and trade secret protection and regulatory exclusivity for our product candidates;

• making arrangements with third party manufacturers, or expanding our manufacturing capabilities, for both clinical and
commercial supplies of our product candidates;

• establa ishing sales, marketing and distribution capabilities and launching commercial sales of our product candidates, if and
when approved, whether alone or in collaboration with others;

• acceptance of our product candidates, if and when approved, by patients, the medical community and third party payors;

• effectively competing with other cancer therapies;

• obtaining and maintaining third party coverage and adequate reimbursement;

• maintaining a continued acceptable safety profile of our product candidates following licensure; and

• effectively competing with other therapies.

If we do not achieve one or more of these factors in a timely manner or at all, we could experience significant delays or be unable
to successfully commercialize our product candidates, which would materially harm our business.

Although many of our personnel have extee ett nsive experience in clill nii ical development anll d manufacff turing at other companies,
we have limited expeee rience as a company in conducting clinical trtt ials anll d little direct experience managing a mani ufacturing
facility for our product candidatett s.

Although many of our personnel have extensive experience in clinical development and manufacturing at other companies, wet
have limited experience as a company in conducting clinical trials at the Company. In part because of this lack of experience, we cannot
be certain that our ongoing preclinical studies will be completed on time or if the planned preclinical and clinical trials studies and
clinical trials will begin or be completed on time, if at all. Large-scale clinical trials would require significant additional financial and
management resources and reliance on third party clinical investigators, contract research organizations (CROs) and consultants. Relying
on third party clinical investigators, CROs and consultants may force us to encounter delays that are outside of our control.
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Although we have recently expanded our existing cell manufacturing facility for Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials, we have
limited direct experience as a company in expanding or managing a manufacturing facility. In part because of this lack of experience,
we cannot be certain that any further expansion of our existing manufacturing facility will be completed on time, if at all, or if the
planned clinical trials will begin or be completed on time, if at all. In part because of our inexperience, we may have unacceptable or
inconsistent product quality success rates and yields, and we may be unable to maintain adequate quality control, quality assurance and
qualified personnel. In addition, if we switch frommanufaff cturing in our own ft aff cility to manufacturing in a different facility (for example,
at an external contract manufacturing organization, or CMO) for one or more of our product candidates in the future or make changes
to our manufacturing process, we may need to conduct additional preclinical studies to bridge our modified product candidates to earlier
versions. Failure to successfully further expand our existing manufacturing facility could adversely affect our process and clinical
development timelines, regulatory approvals, and the commercial viability of our product candidates.

Our business is highi ly dependent on our current product candidates and wll e must complete INII DNN -enabling studies and clinii ical
testing before we can seek regulatll ortt y apprr oval and begin commercializatitt on of any of our product candidates.tt

There is no guarantee that any of our product candidates will proceed through preclinical or clinical development or achieve
regulatory appra oval. The process for obtaining marketing approval for any product candidate is very long and risky and there will be
significant challenges for us to address in order to obtain marketing approval as planned or, if at all.

There is no guarantee that the results obtained in current preclinical studies or our planned IND-enabling studies of our current or
future product candidates will be sufficient to obtain regulatory approval or marketing authorization for such product candidates.
Negative results in the development of our lead product candidates may also impact our ability to obtain regulatory approval for our
other product candidates, either at all or within anticipated timeframes because, although other product candidates may target different
indications, the underlying proprietary platform, manufacturing process and development process is the same for all of our prff oduct
candidates. Accordingly, a failure in any one of our programs may affect the ability to obtain regulatory approval to continue or conduct
clinical programs for other product candidates.

In addition, because we have limited financial and personnel resources and are placing significant focus on the development of
our lead product candidates, we may forff go or delay pursuit of opportunities with other futff ure product candidates that latet r prove to have
greater commercial potential. Our resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial products or
profitable market opportunities. Our spending on current and future research and development programs and other future product
candidates for specific indicatff ions may not yield any commercially viable future product candidates. If we do not accurately evaluate
the commercial potential or target market for a particular future product candidate, we may relinquish valuable rights to those future
product candidates through collaborations, licensing or other royalty arrangements in cases in which it would have been more
advantageous for us to retain sole development and commercialization rights to such future product candidates.

Our preclinical studies and clinical trials may fail to demonstrate adequately the safety, potency and purity of any of our
product candidatett s, ws hich would prll event or delay development, regulatory approval and commercialill zation.ii

Before obtaining regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of our product candidates, we must demonstrate through lengthy,
complex and expensive preclinical studies and clinical trials that our product candidates are both safe and effective for use in each target
indication. Preclinical and clinical testing is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its outcome is inherently uncertain.
Failure can occur at any time during the preclinical study and clinical trial processes, and, because our product candidates are in an early
stage of development, there is a high risk of failure and we may never succeed in developing markeff table products.

The results of preclinical studies and early clinical trials of our product candidates may not be predictive of the results of later-
stage clinical trials. There is typically an extremely high rate of attrition from the failure of product candidates proceeding through
preclinical studies and clinical trials. Product candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to show the desired safety, potency and
purity profile despite having progressed through preclinical studies and initial clinical trials. A number of companies in the
biopharmaceutical industry have suffered significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials due to lack of potency or efficacy, insufficientff
durability of potency or efficacy or unacceptable safety issues, notwithstanding promising results in earlier trials. Most product
candidates that commence preclinical studies and clinical trials are never approved as products.

Any preclinical studies or clinical trials that we may conduct may not demonstrate the safeff ty, potency and purity necessary to
obtain regulatory approval to market our product candidates. If the results of our ongoing or future preclinical studies and clinical trials
are inconclusive with respect to the safety, potency and purity of our product candidates, if we do not meet the clinical endpoints with
statistical and clinically meaningful significance, or if there are safety concerns associated with our product candidates, we may be
prevented or delayed in obtaining marketing approval for such product candidates. Iff n some instances, there can be significant variability
in safety, potency or purity results between diffff eff rent preclinical studies and clinical trt ials of the same product candidate due to numerous
factors, including changes in trial procedures set forth in protocols, differences in the size and type of the patient populations, changes
in and adherence to the clinical trial protocols and the rate of dropout among clinical trial participants.
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ClCC inical development involves a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome, and results of earll lier studies and
trials may not be predictive of future clinical trial results. If our preclinical studies and clinical trials are not sufficient to
support regulatory approval of any of our product candidates, we may incur additional costs or experience delays in completing,
or ultimately be unable to complete, the development of such product candidate.

We cannot be certain that our ongoing and future preclinical study and clinical trial results will be sufficient to support regulatory
approval of our product candidates. Clinical testing is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its outcome is inherently
uncertain. Human clinical trials are expensive and difficult to design and implement, in part because they are subject to rigorous
regulatory requirements. Failure or delay can occur at any time during the clinical trial process.

We may experience delays in obtaining the FDA’s authorization to initiate clinical trials under future INDs, completing ongoing
preclinical studies of our other product candidates, and initiating our planned preclinical studies and clinical trials. Additionally, we
cannot be certain that preclinical studies or ct linical trials for our product candidates will begin on time, not require redesign, enroll an
adequate number of subjects on time, or be completed on schedule, if at all. Clinical trials can be delayed or terminated for a variety of
reasons, including delays or failures related to:

• the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities disagreeing as to the design or implementation of our clinical trials;

• delays in obtaining regulatory approval to commence a clinical trial;

• reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective CROs and clinical trial sites, the terms of which can be subject to
extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and clinical trial sites;

• obtaining institutional review board, or IRB, approval at each clinical trial site;

• recruiting or retaining an adequate number of suitable patients to participate in a clinical trial, including as a result of actions
taken by governments and individuals in response to the COVID-19 pandemic;

• having subjects complete a clinical trial or return for post-treatment folff low-up;

• clinical trial sites deviating from the approved clinical trial protocol or dropping out of a clinical trial;

• addressing subject safety concerns that arise during the course of a clinical trial;

• adding a sufficient number of clinical trial sites; or

• obtaining sufficient product supply of product candidate for use in preclinical studies or clinical trials from third partyff
suppliers.

We may experience numerous adverse or unforeseen events during, or as a result of, preclinical studies and clinical trials that
could delay or prevent our ability to receive marketing approval or commercialize our product candidates, including:

• we may receive feedback from regulatory authorities that requires us to modify the design of our clinical trials;

• clinical trials of our product candidates may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or regulators may
require us, to conduct additional clinical trials or abandon our research efforts for our other product candidates;

• the number of patients required for clinical trials of our product candidates may be larger than we anticipate, enrollment in
these clinical trials may be slower than we anticipate or participants may drop out of our clinical trials at a higher rate than
we anticipate;

• our third party contractors may faff il to comply with regulatory requirements, fail to maintain adequate quality controls or be
unable to provide us with sufficient product supply to conduct and complete preclinical studies or clinical trials of our
product candidates in a timely manner, or at all;

• we or our investigators might have to suspend or terminate clinical trials of our product candidates for various reasons,
including non-compliance with regulatory requirements, a finding that our product candidates have undesirable side effectsff
or other unexpected characteristics or a finding that the participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks;

• the cost of clinical trials of our product candidates may be greater than we anticipate;

• the effects of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic;

• the quality of our product candidates or other materials necessary to conduct preclinical studies or clinical trials of our
product candidates may be insufficient or inadequate;
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• regulators may revise the requirements for approving our product candidates, or such requirements may not be as we
anticipate; and

• our current or future collaborators may conduct clinical trials in ways they view as advantageous to them but that are
suboptimal for us.

If we are required to conduct additional clinical trials or other testing of our product candidates beyond those that we currently
contemplate, if we are unable to successfully complete clinical trials of our product candidates or other testing, if the results of these
trials or tests are not positive or are only moderately positive or if there are safety concerns, our business and results of operations may
be adversely affected and we may incur significant additional costs. Accordingly, our clinical trial costs are likely to be significantly
higher than those for more conventional therapeutic technologies or drug product candidates.

We could also encounter delays if a clinical trial is suspended or terminated by us, by the IRBs of the institutions in which such
clinical trials are being conducted, by the data safety monitoring board for such clinical trial or by the FDA or other regulatory authorities.
Such authorities may suspend or terminate a clinical trial due to a number of factors, including failure to conduct the clinical trial in
accordance with regulatory requirements or our clinical trial protocols, inspection of the clinical trial operations or trial site by the FDA
or other regulatory authorities resulting in the imposition of a clinical hold, unforeseen safety issues or adverse side effects, failure to
demonstrate a benefit from the product candidates, changes in governmental regulations or administrative actions or lack of adequate
funding to continue the clinical trial.

If we experience delays in the completion, or termination, of any preclinical study or clinical trial of our product candidates, the
commercial prospects of our product candidates may be harmed, and our ability to generate revenues from any of these product
candidates will be delayed or not realized at all. In addition, any delays in completing our preclinical studies or clinical trials may
increase our costs, slow down our product candidate development and approval process and jeopardize our ability to commence product
sales and generate revenues. Any of these occurrences may significantly harm our business, financial condition and prospects. In
addition, many of the faff ctors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately
lead to the denial of regulatory approval of our product candidates.

Our business could be adversely affectett d by thtt e effects of health epidemics, including the evolving effects of the COVID-19
pandemic, in regions where we, our partners or other third parties on which we rely have significant manufacturing facilities,
concentrations of potential clinical trial sites or other business operations.

Public health crises such as pandemics or similar outbreaks could adversely impact our business. In late 2019, a novel strt ain of a
virus named SARS-CoV-2 (severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2), or coronavirus, which causes COVID-19, emerged in
Wuhan, China and has reached most countries across the world, including all 50 states within the U.S., and including Waltham,
Massachusetts, where our primary office and laboratory space is located. The coronavirus pandemic continues to evolve, with new
variants of the SARS-CoV-2 virus identified, and has led to the implementation of various responses, including government-imposed
quarantines, travel restrictions, mask and vaccine mandates and other public health safety mff easures. The extent to which COVID-19
impacts our operations or those of our third party partners, including our preclinical studies or clinical trial operations, will depend on
future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, including the duration of the outbreak, new
information that will emerge concerning the variants of the coronavirus and the actions to contain the coronavirus or treat its impact,
among others. The continued spread of COVID-19 globally and the continued identification of new variants of the SARS-CoV-2 virus
could adversely impact our preclinical or clinical trial operations in the U.S., including our ability to recruit and retain patients and
principal investigators and site staff who, as heff althcare providers, may have heightened exposure to COVID-19 if an outbreak occurs in
their geography. For example, similar to other biopharmaceutical companies, we may experience delays in initiating IND-enabling
studies, protocol deviations, enrolling our clinical trials, or dosing of patients in our clinical trials as well as in activating new trial sites.
COVID-19 may also affect employees of third-party CROs located in affeff cted geographies that we rely upon to carry out our clinical
trials. In addition, as a result of medical complications associated with microsatellite stable colorectal cancer, or MSS CRC, the patient
populations that our most advanced and other product candidates target may be particularly susceptible to COVID-19, which may make
it more difficult for us to identify patients able to enroll in our current and future clinical trials and may impact the ability of enrolled
patients to complete any such trials. Any negative impact COVID-19 has to patient enrollment or treatment or the execution of our
product candidates could cause costly delays to our clinical trial activities, which could adversely affect our ability to obtain regulatoryrr
appra oval for and to commercialize our product candidates, increase our operating expenses, and have a material adverse effeff ct on our
financial results.

The adverse impact of public health crises such as pandemics or similar outbreaks in the countries and regions where we have
concentrations of potential clinical trial sites or other business operations and where several of our third party suppliers and contractors
are located could adversely affect our business, including by causing significant disruption in the operations of third parties upon whom
we rely. The COVID-19 pandemic has presented and continues to present a substantial public health and economic challenge around
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the world and is affecting employees, patients, communities and business operations, as well as the U.S. economy and financial markets.
While the Company has implemented what it believes to be a reasonable protocol to ensure the safety and wellbeing of employees
returning to the office, these measures may not be sufff ficient to mitigate the risks posed by the virus or otherwise be satisfactory toff
government authorities. The effects of our policies may negatively impact productivity, disrupt our business and delay our clinical
programs and timelines, the magnitude of which will depend, in part, on the length and severity of any current or futff ure restrictions andt
other limitations on our ability to conduct our business in the ordinary course. In connection with these measures, we may be subject to
claims based upon, arising out of or related to COVID-19 and our actions and responses thereto, including any determinations that we
may make to continue to operate or to re-open our facilities where permitted by applicable law. These and similar, and perhaps more
severe, disruptions in our operations could negatively impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth
prospects.

The COVID-19 pandemic might also affff eff ct our planned clinical trials. Site initiation and patient enrollment may be delayed due
to prioritization of hospital resources toward the COVID-19 pandemic. Some patients may not be able to comply with clinical trial
protocols if quarantines impede patient movement or interrupt healthcare services. Similarly, our ability to recruit and retain patients
and principal investigators and site staff wff ho, as healthcare providers, may have heightened exposure to COVID-19 and adversely
impact our planned clinical trial operations. In addition, since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, several vaccines for COVID-
19 have received Emergency Use Authorization by the FDA and a number of those later received marketing approval. Additional
vaccines may be authorized or approved in the future. The resultant demand for vaccines and potential fff or manufacturing facilities andff
materials to be commandeered under the Defense Production Act of 1950, or equivalent foreign legislation, may make it more difficultff
to obtain materials or manufacturt ing slots for tff he products needed for our clinical trials, which could lead to delays in these trials and/or
issues with our commercial supply.

The potential economic impact brought by, and the duration of, the COVID-19 pandemic may be difficult tff o assess or predict, the
pandemic could result in significff ant and prolonged disruption of global fiff nancial markets, reducing our ability to access capital, which
could in the future negatively affff eff ct our liquidity. In addition, a recession or market correction resulting from the spread of COVID-19
could materially affect our business and the value of our common stock.

While the COVID-19 pandemic may continue to adversely affeff ct our business operations, the extent of the impact on our
development and regulatory efforts and the future value of and market for our common stock will depend on future developments that
are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confiff dence at this time, such as the ultimate duration of the pandemic, travel
restrictions, quarantines, social distancing and business closure requirements in the U.S. and in other countries, and the effectiveness of
actions taken globally to contain and treat COVID-19. In addition, to the extent the evolving effeff cts of the COVID-19 pandemic
adversely affects our business and results of operations, it may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks and
uncertainties described elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section.

We may rely on third parties to manufacture our clinical product supplies, and we may rely on third parties to produce and
process our product candidates, if licensed.

We have established facilities to manufacture our clinical scale product candidates for our Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials offf
our current product candidates. However, we rely on outside vendors to manufacture supplies for our manufacturing process, and we
expect to rely on outside vendors to manufacture our product candidates for registration-enabling additional clinical trials as well as
commercial sales. We have not yet caused any product candidates to be manufactured or processed on a commercial scale and may not
be able to do so for any of our product candidates. We plan to make changes as we work to optimize the manufacturing process. For
example, we may switch or be required to switch from research-grade materials to commercial-grade materials in order to get regulatoryrr
approval of our product candidates, which could delay receipt of regulatory approval, if any. We cannot be sure that even minor changes
in the process will result in therapies that are safe and effective and licensed for commercial sale. In addition, changes in the
manufacturing process may result in the need to conduct additional bridging clinical trials to demonstrate product comparability.

The facilities used by us or any third party contract manufacturers to manufacture our product candidates must be approved by
the FDA or other foreign regulatory arr uthorities folff lowing inspections that will be conducted after we submit an application to the FDA
or other foreign regulatory authorities. If we engage third party contract manufacturers, we may not control the manufacturing process
of, and may be completely dependent on, such third party contract manufacturing partners for compliance with cGMPs and any other
regulatory requirements of the FDA or other regulatory authorities for the manufacture of our product candidates. We have limited
control over the ability of any third party contract manufacturers we engage to maintain adequate quality control, quality assurance and
qualified personnel. Even with oversight, the third party may not be able to meet proper quality standard or its contractual obligations.
If the FDA or a comparabla e forff eign regulatory authority does not approve these facilities for the manufacture of our product candidates
or if it withdraws any approval in the future, we may need to find alternative manufacturing facilities, which would significantly impactff
our ability to develop, obtain regulatory approval for or market our product candidates, if licensed.
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We, and any third party contract manufacturers we engage for registration-enabling clinical trials, may experience manufacturing
diffff iff culties due to limited manufacturing experience, resource constraints or as a result of labor disputes, the ongoing COVID-19
pandemic, the U.S.-China trade war or unstable political environments. If we or any third party contract manufacturers we engage were
to encounter any of these difficulties, our ability to manufacture sufficient product supply for our preclinical studit es and clinical trials,
or to provide products for patients once approved, would be jeopardized.

Many of the materials and regents we expect to use in our processes are single or sole source, and/or have limited stability and as
such supply disruptions could materially impact our ability to develop or manufacture products. For example, the type of cell culture
media and cryoprrr eservation buffer that we currently use in our manufacturing process for TSC-100 and TSC-101 are each only available
from a limited number of suppliers. In addition, the cell processing equipment and tubing that we use in our current manufacturing
process is currently sourced from a single supplier. Any interruption in the supply by those single source suppliers could impact our
ability to continue development of any and all of our product candidates on the anticipated timelines or at all.

We cannot guarantee that our product candidates will show any functionalitii y itt n tii htt e solid tumor microenvironment.

There are no appra oved TCR-T immunotherapies for solid tumors. While we plan to develop product candidates for use in solid
tumors, including the TSC-200 series, we cannot guarantee that our product candidates will show any functionality in the solid tumor
microenvironment. The cellular environment in which solid tumor cells thrive is generally hostile to T cells due to factors such as the
presence of immunosuppressive cells, humoral factors and limited access to nutrients. Our TCR-T-based product candidates may not be
able to access the solid tumor, and even if they do, they may not be able to exert anti-tumt or effects in a hostile solid tumor
microenvironment. As a result, our product candidates may not demonstrate potency in solid tumors. If we are unable to make our
product candidates function in solid tumors, our development plans and business may be significantly harmed.

Since the number of patients that we plan to dose in our initial clinical trials may be small, the results from such clinical trial,
once completed, may be less reliable than results achieved in larger clinical trials, which may hll inii der our efforts to obtaiff nii
regue latll ortt y apprr oval for ouff r product candidatestt .

The preliminary results of clinical trials with smaller sample sizes can be disproportionately influenced by various biases
associated with the conduct of small clinical trials, such as the potential failure of the smaller sample size to accurately depict the feff atures
of the broader patient population, which limits the ability to generalize the results across a broader community, thus making the clinical
trial results less reliable than clinical trials with a larger number of patients. As a result, there may be less certainty that such product
candidates would achieve a statistically significant effect in any future clinical trials. If we conduct any future clinical trials, we may not
achieve a statistically significant result or the same level of statistical significance, if any, that we might have anticipated based on the
results observed in our initial clinical trials. In addition, patients who are undergoing allogeneic HCT are very sick and may pass away
from complications of their standard clinical transplantation and treatments thus making it difficult to ascertain the beneficiff al effects of
the added T cell therapy. Further, toxicities of the T cell therapy would be difficult to distinguish from the toxicity of the transplantation
itself.

Allll ogell neic HCT is a high-risk prii ocedure that may result in complications or adverse events for patients in our clinii ical trials
including those unrelated to the use of our products or for patients that use any of our product candidatett s, if approved.

Stem cell transplantation can cure patients across multiple diseases, but its use carries with it risks of toxicity, serious adverse
events and death. Because many of our therapies are used to prepare or treat patients undergoing allogeneic HCT, patients in our clinical
trials or patients that use any of our product candidates may be subject to many of the risks that are currently inherent to this procedure.
In particular, stem cell transplant involves certain known potential post-procedure complications that may manifest several weeks or
months after a transplant and which may be more common in certain patient populations. For example, autoimmune cytopenia is a
known and severe frequent complication of the transplant procedure in certain patients, that can result in death. If these or other serious
adverse events, undesirable side effects, or unexpected characteristics are identified during the development of any of our productff
candidates, we may need to limit, delay or abandon our further clinical development of those product candidates, even if such events,
effff eff cts or characteristics were the result of stem cell transplant or related procedures generally, and not directly or specifically caused
or exacerbated by our product candidates. All serious adverse events or unexpected side effects are continually monitored per the clinical
trial’s approved protocol. If serious adverse events are determined to be directly or specifically caused or exacerbated by our product
candidates, we would follow the clinical trial protocol’s requirements, which call for our data safety monitoring committee to review all
available clinical data in making a recommendation regarding the trial’s continuation.

We may not be able to file INDs or IND amendments to commence additional clinical trials on the timelines we expeee ct, and
even if we are able to, the FDA may not permit us to proceed.i

We are currently advancing multiple TCRs for six solid tumor targets: HPV16 E7 (TSC-200), PRAME (TSC-203), MAGE-A1
(TSC-204), and the undisclosed targets of TSC-201, TSC-202 and TSC-205. TSC-204-C0702 is an HLA-C*07:02-restricted TCR for
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MAGE-A1 entering Phase 1 development; TSC-204-A0201 is an HLA-A*02:01-restricted TCR for MAGE-A1 entering Phase 1
development; TSC-200-A0201 is an HLA-A*02:01-restricted TCR for HPV16 E7 in IND-enabling activities; and TSC-203-A0201 is
an HLA-A*02:01-restricted TCR for PRAME in IND-enabling activities. TCRs for the TSC-201 and TSC-202 programs are in lead
optimization and discovery, respectively. We expect to submit IND applications for additional TCRs in our solid tumor program
throughout 2023. However, we may not be able to file such INDs on the timelines we expect. For example, we may experience
manufacturing delays or other delays with IND-enabling studies. Moreover, we cannot be sure that submission of an IND will result in
the FDA allowing clinical trials to begin, or that, once begun, issues will not arise that suspend or terminate clinical trials. Additionally,
even if such regulatory authorities agree with the design and implementation of the clinical trials set forth in an IND, we cannot guarantee
that such regulatory authorities will not change their requirements in the future. These considerations also apply to new clinical trials
we may submit as amendments to existing INDs.

In addition, one of our key goals is to develop treatments consisting of a combination of TCR-T therapies, which we refer to as
multiplexed TCR-T therapy. Our plan is to assess the safety and preliminary efficacy of multiplexed TCR-T therapy early in the clinical
development of our product candidates (e.g., Phase 1). While the FDA has cleared our T-Plex IND, which allows us to combine our
product candidates with each other in a multiplexed TCR-T therapy, we must still provide safeff ty data for each individual product
candidate or each variation or combination of a multiplexed TCR-T therapy. Any such requirements could result in material delays in
the development timelines of our multiplexed TCR-T therapy candidates.

Our product candidates may cause undesirii able side efll fects or have other properties that could halt their clinff ical development,
prevent thtt eir rii egue latll ortt y approval, require expansr ion of thtt e trial size, limit ttt htt eir commerii cial potett ntial, or result in significanttt
negative consequences.

Undesirable side effects caused by our product candidates could cause us or regulatory authorities, including IRBs, to interrupt,
delay, or halt clinical trials and could result in a more restrictive label or the delay or denial of regulatory approval by the FDA or other
comparable forff eign regulatory authorities. Further, clinical trials by their nature utilize a sample of the potential patient population. With
a limited number of subjects and limited duration of exposure, rare and severe side effects of our product candidates may only be
uncovered with a significantly larger number of patients exposed to the drug. Because of the design of the dose escalation of our planned
Phase 1 clinical trials, undesirable side effects could also result in an expansion in the size of our clinical trials, increasing the expected
costs and timeline of our clinical trials. Additionally, results of our clinical trials could reveal a high and unacceptable severity and
prevalence of side effects or unexpected characteristics, which may stem from our therapies specifically or may be due to an illness
from which the clinical trial subject is suffering.

For example, there could be an increased risk of graft-versus-host disease (GvHD) with our TCR-T therapy in the post-HCT
setting. GvHD is a common toxicity in patients undergoing allogeneic HCT, the focus of our hematologic malignancies program. GvHD
occurs because donor T cells, which are part of the standard stem cell product, misrecognize antigens in the patient as foreign and attack
tissues and organs that express those antigens. GvHD may be worsened by our TCR-T therapy candidates because they are derived from
donor T cells. While the engineered T cells express a new T cell receptor that is specific for the intended target antigen and is not
expected to cause GvHD, those T cells may have low levels of endogenous T cell receptors that have the potential to misrecognize
patient antigens as foreign and worsen GvHD.

In solid tumt or patients, autoimmunity may occur after TCR-T treatment. TCR-T therapies are generated from a patient’s own T
cells isolated from their peripheral blood. There is a risk that this process will expand a patient’s own T cell that has autoreactivity, or
that may recognize healthy cells, and upon re-infusion may trigger an autoimmune reaction resulting in damage to normal tissues and
potentially even death.

Autoimmune reaction triggered by an interaction between a patient’s naturally occurring antibodies and engineered T cells is a
theoretical safety risk of product candidates we deveff lop using our proprietary platform. If a patient’s self-generated antibodies were
directed to a target expressed on the surface of cells in normal tissue (autoantibodies), engineered T cells would be directed to attack
these same tissues, potentially resulting in off-tumor effects. These autoantibodies may be present whether or not the patient has an
active autoimmune disease. In our clinical testing, we plan to take steps to minimize the likelihood that this occurs, for example by
excluding patients with a history of severe autoimmune disease from our trials. There is no guarantee, however, that we will not observe
autoimmune reactions in the future and no guarantee that if we do, that we will be able to implement interventions to address the risk.

In addition, immunogenicity, which is the reaction between a patient’s immune system and a foreign protein outside of the
autoimmune context, is an additional theoretical safety risk of product candidates we develop using our proprietary platform. Patients’
immune systems may recognize the TCR construct on the TCR-T product as a foreign protein and fight against it, potentially rendering
it ineffective, or even provoking an allergic/anaphylactoid response or other adverse side effects. The immunogenic potential of novel
therapeutics like TCR-T therapia es is difficult to predict. There is no guarantee that we will not observe immunogenic reactions in the
future and no guarantee that if we do, that we will be abla e to implement interventions to address the risk.
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If unacceptable toxicities arise in the development of our product candidates, we could suspend or terminate our clinical trials or
the FDA or comparable forff eign regulatory authorities, or locarr l regulatory authorities such as IRBs, could order us to cease clinical trials.
Competent national health authorities, such as the FDA, could also deny approval of our product candidates fa or any or all targetff ed
indications. Treatment-related side effeff cts could also affect patient recruitment or the ability of enrolled patients to complete the clinical
trial or result in potential product liability claims. In addition, these side effects may not be appropriately recognized or mff anaged by the
treating medical staff, as toxicities resulting from T cell therapy are not normally encountered in the general patient population and by
medical personnel. We expect to have to train medical personnel using our product candidates to understand the side effeff ct profile of
our product candidates for both our planned clinical trials and upon any commercialization of any product candidates, if licensed.
Inadequate training in recognizing or managing the potential side effects of our product candidates could result in patient deaths. Any
of these occurrences may significantly harm our reputation as well as business, financial condition and prospects.

CeCC rtaitt n patients may lack sufficient T cells for our autologous product candidates to be effective.ii

For autologous TCR-T therapy, our TCR-T therapy candidates are manufactured by using a vector to insert genetic information
encoding the TCR construct into the patient’s own T cells. This manufacturing process is dependent on a collecting a sufficient number
of T cells frff om the patient. We may not be able to effectively treat some patients if they have an insuffiff cient number of T cells to enable
our manufacturing process, which could adversely impact our ability to progress the clinical development of such product candidates
and could also adversely impact the commercial viability of such product candidates.

Our product candidates may target healthy cells expressing target antigens leading to potentially fatal adverse effects.ff

Our product candidates target specific antigens that are also potentially expressed on healthy cells. Our product candidates may
target healthy cells, leading to serious and potentially fatal adverse effects. In our planned clinical trials of our product candidates, we
plan to use a dose escalation model to closely monitor the effect of our product candidates on vital organs and other potential side effects.
Even though we intend to closely monitor the side effects of our product candidates in both preclinical studies and clinical trials, we
cannot guarantee that products will not target and kill healthy cells.

Our product candidates may have serious and potett ntitt ally fatal cross-reactivity to other peptides or protein sequences within
thtt e body.

Our product candidates may recognize and bind to a peptide unrelated to the target antigen to which it is designed to bind. If this
peptide is expressed within normal tissues, our product candidates may target and kill the normal tissue in a patient, leading to serious
and potentially fatal adverse effff eff cts. Detection of any cross-reactivity may halt or delay any ongoing clinical trials for any of our TCR-
T therapy ca andidate and prevent or delay regulatory approval. Unknown cross-reactivity of the TCR-T binding domain to related proteins
could also occur. We have also developed a preclinical screening process to identify cross-reactivity of T cell binders. Any cross-
reactivity that impacts patient safety could materially impact our ability to advance our product candidates into clinical trials or to
proceed to marketing approval and commercialization.

The vectors used to manufacture our TCR-T therapies may incorrectly modify the genetic material of a patient’s T cells,
potentially triggering the development of a new cancer or other adverse events.

Our TCR-T therapy candidates are manufactured by using a vector to insert genetic information encoding the TCR construct into
the patient’s T cells. The TCR construct is then integrated into the natural TCR complex and transported to the surface of the patient’s
T cells. Because the vector modifies the genetic information of the T cell, there is a risk that modification will occur in the wrong place
in the T cell’s genetic code, leading to vector-related insertional oncogenesis, and causing the T cell to become cancerous. If the
cancerous T cell is then administered to the patient with the TCR-T therapy candidates, the cancerous T cell could trigger the
development of a new cancer in the patient. We use non-viral transposon / transposase to insert genetic information into T cells. The
risk of insertional oncogenesis remains a concern for gene therapy and we cannot assure that it will not occur in any of our ongoing or
planned preclinical studies or clinical trials. There is also the potential risk of delayed adverse events following exposure to gene therapy
products due to persistent biological activity of the genetic material or other components of vectors used to carry the genetic material.
The FDA has stated that vectors possess characteristics that may pose high risks of delayed adverse events. Non-viral
transposon/transposase systems have limited clinical history and such their safety profile is still to be determined. If any such adverse
events occur, further advancement of our preclinical studies or clinical trials could be halted or delayed, which would have a material
adverse effect on our business and operations.ff
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If we enII counter diffff iff cultill es enrolling patitt ents in our clinical trials, our clinical development activitiell s could be delayed or
othett rwise adversely affected.

Wemay experience difficulties in patient enrollment in our clinical trials for a variety of reasons. The timely completion of clinical
trials in accordance with their approved protocols depends on, among other things, our ability to enroll a sufficient number of patients
who remain in the clinical trial until its conclusion. The enrollment of patients depends on many factors, including:

• the patient eligibility criteria defined in the clinical trial protocol, particularly those who meet the requisite genetic criteria.
For example, for our hematologic malignancies program, patients would have to be HLA-A*02:01 positive and positive for
the minor antigen HA-1 or HA-2 to be eligible for treatment with TSC-100 or TSC-101, respectively;

• for our hematologic malignancies program, the ability to find a donor who has to be mismatched with the paff tient either for
the HLA type or the minor antigen type to ensure that the engineered T cell therapy does not recognize donor-derived blood
cells;

• the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on clinical trial initiation and enrollment;

• the size of the patient population required for analysis of the clinical trial’s primary endpoints;

• the proximity of patients to clinical trial sites;

• the design of the clinical trial;

• our ability to recruit clinical trial investigators with the appropriate competencies and experience;

• our ability to obtain and maintain patient consents;

• reporting of the preliminary results of any of our clinical trials;

• risk that patients enrolled in clinical trials will drop out of the clinical or pass away from disease-related complications or
complications from their standard clinical therapy before they can experience benefits of the engineered T cell therapy ; and

• for patients in our solid tff umor program, the patients need for sufficient T cells in order for the engineered T cell product to
be manufactured from their autologous T cells.

In addition, our clinical trials will compete with other clinical trials for product candidates that are in the same therapeutic areas
as our product candidates, and this competition will reduce the number and types of patients available to us because some patients who
might have opted to enroll in our clinical trials may instead opt to enroll in a clinical trial being conducted by one of our competitors.
Since the number of qualififf ed clinical investigators is limited, we expect to conduct some of our clinical trials at the same clinical trial
sites that some of our competitors use, which will reduce the number of patients who are available for our clinical trials at such clinical
trial sites. Moreover, because our product candidates represent a departure from mff ore commonly used methods for cancer treatment,
potential patients and their doctors may be inclined to use conventional therapies, such as chemotherapy and HCT, rather than enroll
patients in any future clinical trial. Additionally, because some of our clinical trials are expected to be in patients with relapsed/refractorff yrr
cancer, the patients are typically in the late stages of their disease and may experience disease progression independent from our product
candidates, making them unevaluable for purposr es of the clinical trial and requiring additional patient enrollment.

Delays in completing patient enrollment may result in increased costs or may affect the timing or outcome of our ongoing and
planned clinical trials, which could prevent completion or commencement of these clinical trials and adversely affect our ability to
advance the development of our product candidates.

Research and development of biopharmaceutical products is inherently risky. We may not be successful is n our efforts to useii
and enhance our TScan technology discovery platform and TCR technologies to create a pipeline of product candidates and
develop commercially successful productstt , or we may es xpeee nd our limited resources on programs that do not yield a successful
product candidate and fail to capitalize on product candidates or diseases that may be more profiff tii abltt e or for which therll e is a
greatett r likelll ill hii ood of success. If we fail to develop additional product candidates, our commercial opportunity will be limited.

A key element of our strategy is to use our TScan technology discovery platform to discover the targets of T cells in oncology,
autoimmune and infeff ctious disease applications to build a pipeline of novel product candidates. We and our collaborators are
simultaneously pursuing clinical development of multiple product candidates developed employing our TCR technologies.

We are at an early stage of development and our TScan technology discovery platform has not yet led, and may never lead, to
approved or commercially successful products. All of our current product candidates are being developed by leveraging the same or
similar underlying proprietary platform, manufacturing process and development program. As a result, an issue with one product
candidate or failure of any one program to obtain regulatory approval could lead to a failure of our entire pipeline of product candidates.
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Even if we are successful in continuing to build our pipeline, obtaining regulatory approvals and commercializing additional
product candidates may require substantial additional funding and are prone to the risks of failure inherent in medical product
development.

Investment in biopharmaceutical product development involves significant risk that any potential product candidate will fail to
demonstrate adequate efficacy or an acceptabla e safety profile, gain regulatory approval, and bea come commercially viable. We cannot
provide any assurance that we will be able to successfulff ly advance any of these additional product candidates through the development
process. Our research programs may initially show promise in identifying potential product candidates, yet faff il to yield product
candidates for clinical development or commercialization for many reasons, including the following:ff

• our research methodology, including our screening technology, may not successfully iff dentify additional product candidates;

• our pursuit of difficult-to-drug targets may make it challenging to design potential product candidates;

• results of clinical trials conducted by others on similar indications or on compounds with similar mechanisms of action
could result in our having to conduct additional or cost prohibitive clinical trials, which could delay development and
possibly make commercialization prohibitively expensive;

• we may encounter product manufacturing difficulties that limit yield, produce undesirable characteristics, that increase the
cost of goods, cause delays, or make the product candidates unmarketable;

• our product candidates may cause adverse effects in patients or subjects, even after successful initial toxicology studies,
which may make the product candidates unmarketable;

• our product candidates may not demonstrate a meaningful benefit to patients or subjects; and

• our collaboration partners may change their development profiles or plans for potential product candidates or abandon a
therapeutic area or the development of a partnered product.

If any of these events occur, we may be forff ced to abandon our development efforts for a program or programs, which would haveff
a material adverse effff ect on our busff iness, operating results and prospects and could potentially cause us to cease operations. Research
programs to identify new product candidates require substantial technical, financial and human resources. We may focus our effff orts andff
resources on potential programs or product candidates that ultimately prove to be unsuccessful.

If we are unable to identify suitable compounds for preclinical and clinical development, we will not be able to obtain revenues
from sale of drugs in future periods, which likely would result in significant harm to our business prospects and financial position.

ThTT e market opportunities for our product candidates may be relatively sll mall as they will be limited to those patll ients who arett
ineligible for or have failed prior treatments and our estimates of the prevalence of our targer t patient populations may be
inii accuratett .ee

Cancer therapies are sometimes characterized as first line, second line, or third line, and the FDA often approves new therapiesa
initially only for a particular line of use. When cancer is detected early enough, first line therapy is sometimes adequate to cure the
cancer or prolong life without a cure. Whenever first line therapy, usually chemotherapy, antibody drugs, tumor-targeted small
molecules, hormone therapy, radiation therapy, surgery, or a combination of these, proves unsuccessful, second line therapy may be
administered. Second line therapies often consist of more chemotherapy, radiation, antibody drugs, tumor-targeted small molecules, or
a combination of these. Third line therapies can include HCT in certain cancers, chemotherapy, antibody drugs and small molecule
tumor-targeted therapies, more invasive forms of surgery and new technologies. We expect to initially seek approval of our product
candidates in most instances at least as a second or third line therapy, for use in patients to prevent relapse in patients undergoing HCT.
Subsequently, for tff hose product candidates that prove to be sufficiently safe and beneficial, if any, we would expect to seek approval as
a second line therapy and potentially as a first line therapy, but there is no guarantee that our product candidates, even if licensed as a
second or third or subsequent line of therapy, would be licensed for an earlier line of therapy, and, prior to any such approvals, we may
have to conduct additional clinical trials. Consequently, the potentially addressable patient population for our product candidates may
be extremely limited or may not be amenable to treatment with our product candidates.

Our projections of both the number of people who have the cancers we are targeting, as well as the subset of people with these
cancers in a position to receive a particular line of therapy and who have the potential to benefit from treatment with our product
candidates, are based on our beliefs and estimates. These estimates have been derived from a variety of sources, including scientific
literature, surveys of clinics, patient foundations or market research, and may prove to be incorrect. Further, new therapies may change
the estimated incidence or prevalence of the cancers that we are targeting. Consequently, even if our product candidates are approved
for a second or third line of therapy, the number of patients that may be eligible for treatment with our product candidates may turn out
to be much lower than expected.
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Our product candidates rely on the use of protein binding domains, or binii ders, to target specififf c cancers, which we may develop
or which may be developed by third parties. We are limited in our ability to apply our product candidatett s to a wider range of
potential target cancers by our ability to develop, partner for or acquire these binii ders on commercially reasonable terms.

TCR-T therapies require the use of antigen-specific protein binding domains, or binders, which guide the TCR-Ts and bind to the
antigens on the surface of a tumor to target specific types of cancers. Our ability to develop and commercialize our product candidates
will depend on our ability to develop these binders or partner for such binders on commercially reasonable terms for use in clinical trials
as well as the availability of such binders for use in commercialized products, if licensed. We cannot ensure that we will have a steady
supply of binders that we can utilize in combination with the TCR construct to develop future product candidates. If we are unable to
enter into such collaborations on commercially reasonable terms or fail to realize the benefits of any such collaboration, we may bea
limited to using antibody fragments that we are able to independently develop which may limit the ability of our product candidates to
target and kill cancer cells.

The failure to enter into a successful collaboration or to develop our own binders may delay our development timelines, increase
our costs and jeopardize our abia lity to develop future product candidates as a commercially viable drug, which could result in delays in
product development and harm our business.

We currently have no marketing and sales organizatitt on and have no experience as a company in marketing products. If we
are unable to establtt ill sii h markerr titt nii g and salell s capabilities or enter into agreements with tii htt ird parties to markeii t and sell our
product candidates, if licensed, we may not be able tll o gett nerate product revenue.

We currently have no sales, marketing or distribution capaa bia lities and have no experience as a company in marketing products.
We intend to develop an in-house marketing organization and sales force, which will require significant capital expenditures,
management resources and time. We will have to compete with other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to recruit, hire, trainr
and retain marketing and sales personnel.

If we are unable or decide not to establish internal sales, marketing and distribution capabia lities, we will pursue collaborative
arrangements regarding the sales and marketing of our product candidates, if licensed. However, there can be no assurance that we will
be able to establish or maintain such collaborative arrangements, or if we are able to do so, that they will have effective sales forces.
Any revenue we receive will depend upon the efforts of such third parties, which may not be successful. We may have little or no control
over the marketing and sales efforts of such third parties and our revenue from product sales may be lower than if we had commercialized
our product candidates ourselves. We also face competition in our search for third parties to assist us with the sales and marketing efforts
of our product candidates.

There can be no assurance that we will be abla e to develop in-house sales and distribution capabilities or establish or maintain
relationships with third party collaborators to commercialize any product in the United States or overseas.

Even if we obtain regulatory approval of our product candidates, the products may not gain market acceptance amonge
physicians, patients, hospitals, cancer treatment centers and others in the medical community.

The use of engineered T cells as a potential cancer treatment is a recent development and may not become broadly accepted by
physicians, patients, hospitals, cancer treatment centers and others in the medical community. Various factors will influence whether
our product candidates are accepted in the market, including:

• the clinical indications for which our product candidates are licensed;

• physicians, hospitals, cancer treatment centers and patients considering our product candidates as a safe and effective
treatment;

• the potential and perceived advantages of our product candidates over alternative treatments;

• our ability to demonstrate the advantages of our product candidates over other TCR-T therapies;

• the prevalence and severity of any side effects;

• the prevalence and severity of any side effeff cts for other adoptive cell therapies, TCR-T therapies and public perception of
other adoptive cell therapies, TCR-T therapies;

• product labeling or product insert requirements of the FDA or other regulatory authorities;

• limitations or warnings contained in the labeling approved by the FDA;

• the timing of market introduction of our product candidates as well as competitive products;
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• the cost of treatment in relation to alternative treatments;

• the availability of adequate coverage, reimbursement and pricing by third party payors and government authorities;

• willingness of patients to pay out-of-pocket in the absence of coverage by third party payors and government authorities;

• relative convenience and ease of administration, including as compared to alternative treatments and competitive therapies;
and

• the effectiveness of our sales and marketing efforts.

In addition, although we are not utilizing embryonic stem cells or replication competent vectors, adverse publicity due to the
ethical and social controversies surrounding the therapeutic use of such technologies, and reported side effects from any clinical trials
using these technologies or the failure of such clinical trials to demonstrate that these therapies are safe and effective may limit market
acceptance of our product candidates. If our product candidates are licensed but faff il to achieve market acceptance among physicians,
patients, hospitals, cancer treatment centers or others in the medical community, we will not be able to generate significant revenue.

In addition, although our product candidates differ in certain ways from other TCR-T therapy approaches, serious adverse events
or deaths in other clinical trials involving engineered TCR, or other T cell products or with our use of licensed TCR-T therapy candidates,
even if not ultimately attributable to our product candidates, could result in increased government regulation, unfavorable public
perception and publicity, potential regulatory delays in the testing or licensing of our product candidates, stricter labeling requirements
for those product candidates that are licensed, and a decrease in demand for any such product candidates.

Even if our product candidates achieve market acceptance, we may not be able to maintain that market acceptance over time if
new products or technologies are introduced that are more favorably received than our product candidates, are more cost effective or
render our product candidates obsolete.

A variety of risii ks associated with marketing our product candidates internationally could materially adversely affect our
business.

We plan to seek regulatory approval of our product candidates outside of the United States and, accordingly, we expect that we
will be subject to additional risks related to operating in foreign countries if we obtain the necessary approvals, including:

• diffff ering regulatory requirements in foreign countries;ff

• unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers, price and exchange controls and other regulatory requirements;

• economic weakness, including inflation, or political instability in particular foreign economies and markets;

• compliance with tax, employment, immigration and labor laws for employees living or traveling abroad;a

• forff eign taxes, including withholding of payroll taxes;

• foreign currency fluctuations, which could result in increased operff ating expenses and reduced revenue, and other obligations
incident to doing business in another country;

• diffff iff culties staffiff ng and managing forff eign operations;

• workforce uncertainty in countries where labor unrest is more common than in the United States;

• potential liabila ity under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 or comparable foreign regulations;

• challenges enforcing our contractual and intellectual property rights, especially in those foreign countries that do not respect
and protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the United States;

• production shortages resulting from any events affecting raw material supply or manufacturing capabilities abroad; anda

• business interruptions resulting from geo-political actions, including war and terrorism.

These and other risks associated with international operations may materially adversely affect our ability to attain or maintain
profitable operations.

We face signWW ificant competition, and our operating resi ultll s will suffer if we fail to compete effectively.tt

The biopharmaceutical industry is characterized by intense competition and rapid innovation. Our competitors may be able to
develop other products or drugs that are able to achieve similar or better results. Our potential competitors include larger biotechnology
and pharmaceutical companies with greater resources than us, academic institutions, governmental agencies, public and private research
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institutions and early stage or smaller companies. Many of our competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and other
resources, such as larger research and development staff, experienced marketing and manufacturing organizations and well-established
sales forces. Further, our competitors may have more fiff nancial resources, greater access to capital and diversified product offerings and
revenue sources which may give our competitors an advantage over us in weathering the effects of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.
In addition, many of these competitors are active in seeking patent protection and licensing arrangements in anticipation of collecting
royalties for use of technology that they have developed. Mergers and acquisitions in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries
may result in even more resources being concentrated in our competitors. Competition may increase further as a result of advances in
the commercial applicability of technologies and greater availability of capital for investment in these industries. Our competitors, either
alone or with collaborative partners, may succeed in developing, acquiring or licensing on an exclusive basis drug or biologic products
that are more effective, safer, more easily commercialized or less costly than our product candidates or may develop proprietary
technologies or secure patent protection that we may need for the development of our technologies and products. We believe the key
competitive factorff s that will affff eff ct the development and commercial success of our product candidates are safety, potency, purity,
tolerability, reliability, convenience of use, price and reimbursement.

Specifically, by genetically engineering T-cell therapies, we face significant competition in the TCR space from many companies.
For additional information regarding our competition, see “Item 1. Business – Competition” in this Annual Report. Even if we obtain
regulatory approval of our product candidates, the availability and price of our competitors’ products could limit the demand and the
price we are able to charge for our product candidates. We may not be able to implement our business plan if the acceptance of our
product candidates is inhibited by price competition or the reluctance of physicians to switch from existing methods of treatment to our
product candidates, or if physicians switch to other new drug or biologic products or choose to reserve our product candidates for use in
limited circumstances. Moreover, the development and manufaff cturing costs associated with engineered T-cell therapies may make itt
diffff iff cult to compete with alternative products that may be simpler and cheaper to develop and manufacture.

Our inteii rnal computer systems, or those used by our third party CROs or other contractors or consultants, may fail or suffertt
security breaches or other unauthorized or improper access, which could result in a material disruption of thtt e development
programs of our product candidates.

Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems and those of our current and future CROs and
other contractors and consultants are vulnerable to a variety of disruptions and data privacy and information security incidents, including
data breaches, attacks by hackers and other malicious third parties (including the deployment of computer viruses, malware, ransomware,
denial-of-service attacks, social engineering, and other events that affect service reliability and threaten the confidentiality, integrity,
and availability of information), unauthorized access, natural disasters, fires, terrorism, war, telecommunications or electrical
interruptir ons or faiff lures, employee error or malfeff asance or other malicious or inadvertent disruptions. For example, the ongoing conflict
between Russia and Ukraine has led to an increase in cyberattacks on the Ukraine, including its government, companies, institutions
and people, as well on the fiff nancial and communications infrastructure of other countries, companies and individuals therein.
Additionally, the increased usage of computers operated on home networks due to shelter-in-place, stay-at-home advisories or similar
restrictions related to the COVID-19 pandemic may make our or our partners’ systems more susceptible to security breaches. While we
have not experienced any such material system failure or security breach to date, if such an event were to occur and cause interruptions
in our operations, it could result in a material disruption of our development programs and our business operations. For example, the
loss of data from completed or future preclinical studies and clinical trials could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and
significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. Likewise, to the extent we rely on third parties for the manufacture of
our product candidates and to conduct clinical trials, similar events relating to their computer systems could also have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Unauthorized disclosure of sensitive or confidential data, including personally identifiable information, whether through a breach
of computer systems, systems failure, employee negligence, fraud or misappropriation, or otheff rwise, or unauthorized access to or
through our information systems and networks, whether by our employees or third parties, could result in negative publicity, legal
liability and damage to our reputation. Unauthorized disclosure of personally identifiable information could also expose us to sanctions
for violations of data privacy laws and regulations around the world.

As we become more dependent on information technologies to conduct our operations, cyber incidents, including deliberate
attacks and attempts to gain unauthorized access to computer systems and networks, may increase in frequency and sophistication. These
threats pose a risk to the security of our systems and networks and to the confidentiality, availability and integrity of our data, and these
risks apply both to us and to third parties on whose systems we rely for the conduct of our business. Because the techniques used to
obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service or sabotage sa ystems change frequently and oftff en are not recognized until launched
against a target, we and our partners or collaborators may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventative
measures. Further, we do not have any control over the operations of the facilities or technology of our cloud and service providers,
including any third party vendors that collect, process and store personal data on our behalf. Our systems, servers and platforms and
those of our service providers may be vulnerable to computer viruses or physical or electronic break-ins that our or their security
measures may not detect. Individuals able to circumvent such security measures may misappropriate our confidential or proprietarya
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inforff mation, disrupt our operations, damage our computers or otherwise impair our reputation and business. We may need tr o expend
significant resources and make significant capital investments to protect against security breaches or to mitigate the impact of any such
breaches. There can be no assurance that we or our third party providers will be successful in preventing cyber-attacks or successfully
mitigating their effects. To the extent that any disruption or security breach were to result in a loss of, or damage to, our data or
applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary infa ormation, we could incur liability and the further developmff ent
and commercialization of our product candidates could be delayed.

SeSS curitii y itt ncii idents, losll s of data or modification of information, and other disruptions could cff ompromise information related tom
our business or prevent us from accessing critical information, result in a significant disruption of our activities and exposett
us to liability, which could adversely affect our business and our reputation.

In the ordinary course of our business, we collect and store information, including personal information, intellectual property and
proprietary business information that we own or control or have an obligation to protect. For example, we collect and store research and
development information, employee data, commercial information, customer information and business and financial information. We
and our service providers, including security and infrastructure vendors, manage and maintain our data using a combination of on-site
systems and cloud-based data centers. We face a number of riff sks related to protecting critical information, including inappropriate use
or disclosure, unauthorized access or acquisition, or inappropriate modification of, critical information. We also face the risk of being
unable to access our critical inforff mation or technology systems due to actual or threats of ransomware, unauthorized encryption, or other
malicious activity. We face the risk of being unabla e to adequately monitor, audit and modify our controls over our critical information.
These risks extend to third party service providers and subcontractors we use to assist us in managing our information or otherwise
process it on our behalf. The secure processing, storage, maintenance and transmission of our critical information is vital to our
operations and business strategy, and we devote significant resources to protecting such information.

Although we take reasonable measures to protect critical information and other data from unauthorized accesff s, acquisition, use or
disclosure, our information technology and infrastructure and that of our service providers handling and storing information on our
behalf may be vulnerable to a variety of disruptions, including data breaches, attacks by hackers and other malicious third parties
(including the deployment of computer viruses, malware, ransomware, denial-of-service attacks, social engineering, and other events
that affff eff ct service reliability and threaten the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of infa ormation), unauthorized accessff , natural
disasters, fires, terrorism, war, telecommunications or electrical interruptions or failures, employee error or malfeff asance or other
malicious or inadvertent disruptr ions. In particular, the risk of a security breach or disruption, particularly through cyber-attacks or cyber
intrusion, has generally increased as the number, intensity, and sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions from around the world
have increased. We may not be able to anticipate all types of security threats, and we may not be able to implement preventive measures
that are effective against all such security threats. Because the techniques used by cyber criminals change frequently, may not be
recognized until launched, and can originate from a wide variety of sources, including outside groups such as external service providers,
organized crime affiliates or terrorist organizations, we and our services providers and other partners may be unable to anticipate these
techniques or implement adequate preventative measures. Further, we do not have any control over the operations of the facilities or
technology of third parties that collect, process and store sensitive information on our behalf. Any unauthorized access or acquisition,
breach, or other loss, of information could result in legal claims or proceedings, and liability under federal, state or foreign laws regarding
the privacy and protection of information, including personal information, and could disrupt our operations and harm our reputation. In
addition, notice of breaches may be required to affected individuals, regulators, credit reporting agencies or the media. Any such
publication or notice could harm our reputation and our ability to compete. The financial exposure from the events referenced above
could either not be insured against or not be fully covered through any insurance that we may maintain, and there can be no assurance
that the limitations of liability in any of our contracts would be enforceable or adequate or would otherwise protect us from liabilities or
damages as a result of the events referenced above. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

Risks Related to Manufacturingff

ManMM ufacff turing and administering our product candidates is complex and we may encounter difficulties iff n productii ion,tt
particularll ly with respect to process development or scaling up of our mll anufacturu inii g capabilii ill tiesii . If we encounter such
difficulties, our ability to provide supply of our TCR-T therapy candidates for clinical trials or for commercial purposes couldrr
be delayed or stopped.

The process of manufacturing and administering our product candidates is complex and highly regulated. The manufacture of our
product candidates involves complex processes, including the manufacture of a transposon containing the genetic information for ourff
TCR construct, a transposase used to insert the transposon genetic information into the T cell genome, and manufacturing operations to
ensure the safety, integrity, strength, purity, and quality of the final product. More specifically, the manufacture of our product candidates
includes harvesting white blood cells from the patient, isolating certain T celff ls from the white blood cells, combining patient T cells
with our delivery vector through a process known as transduction, selection of modififf ed T cells from the population, expanding the
selected transduced T cells to obtain the desired dose, aseptically filling product into vessels suitable for storage, distribution, and clinical
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dosing, and ultimately infusing the modified T cells back into the patient’s body. As a result of the complexities entailed in this process,
our manufacturing and supply costs will be higher than those at more traditional manufacturing processes and the manufacturing process
is less reliable and more difficult to reproduce. Additionally, the number of facilities that are capable of harvesting patients’ cells for the
manufacture of our product candidates and other autologous cell therapy products and product candidates is limited. As the number of
autologous cell therapy products and product candidates increases, the limited number of facilities capable of harvesting patients’ cells
could result in delays in the manufacture and administration of our product candidates.

We currently rely on our internal manufacturing facility for clinical manufacturing, and any disruption to this facility could impactff
our ability to advance our clinical trials. We currently rely on third parties for the manufacture of our vector and other components of
our manufacturing process. These third party manufacturers may incorporate their own proprietary processes into our components. We
have limited control and oversight of a third party’s proprietary process, and a third party may elect to modify its process without our
consent or knowledge. These modifications could negatively impact our manufacturing, including product loss or failure that requires
additional manufacturing runs or a change in manufacturt er, both of which could significantly increase the cost of and significantly delay
the manufacture of our product candidates. In addition, we are currently reliant on a single manufaff cturer for our transt poson and
transposase, and many of the critical raw materials and reagents used in the process are single or sole source. These third party providers
may not be able to provide adequate resources, capacity to meet our needs, timely delivery of material, or may change internal processes
or specifications that adversely affect our process or product candidates.

Our manufacturing process is and will be susceptible to product loss or failure due to logistical issues, manufaff cturing issues
associated with the differences in patients’ white blood cells, interruptions in the manufacturing process or supply chain, contamination,
equipment or reagent failure, process design flaws, operator error, power failures, supplier error and variability in patient characteristics.
Even minor deviations from normal manufacturt ing processes could result in reduced production yields, product defects, product
reje ection, or other supply disruptions. If for any reason we lose a patient’s white blood cells, such material gets contaminated or
processing steps fail at any point, the manufacturing process of the TCR-T therapy ca andidate for that patient will need to be restarted, if
possible, and the resulting delay may adversely affect that patient’s outcome. If microbial, viral, or other contaminations are discovered
in our product candidates or in the manufacturing facilities in which our product candidates or critical raw materials or reagents are
made or administered, such manufacturing facilities may need to be closed for an extended period of time to investigate and remedy the
contamination.

As our product candidates progress through preclinical studies and clinical trials towards licensure and commercialization, it is
expected that various aspects of the manufacturing and administration process will be altered in an effort to optimize processes and
results. We have already identififf ed some improvements to our manufacturing and administration processes, but these changes may not
achieve the intended objectives, and could cause our product candidates to perform inadequately affecting the results of ongoing or
future clinical trials. In addition, such changes may require amendments to be made to regulatory applications or necessitate development
of new or additional TCR constructs and further clinical testing, which may further delay the timeframes under which modified
manufacturing processes can be used for any of our product candff idates.

Developing a commercially viable process is a difficult and uncertain task, and there are risks associated with scaling to the level
required for advanced clinical trials or commercialization, including, among others, increased costs, potential problems with process
scale-out or scale-up, process reproducibility, stability issues, lot consistency, facility suitability or capacity, staffing, and availability of
reagents or raw materials. Competitors have had difficulty reliably producing T cell therapies in the commercial setting. If we experience
similar challenges manufacturing product candidates to approved specifications, this may limit our product candidates’ utilization and
our ability to receive payment for these product candidates once approved. We may ultimately be unable to reduce the expenses
associated with our product candidates to levels that will allow us to achieve a profitable return on investment.
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Although we have expanded our existing manufacturing facility and infrastructure in lieu of relying solely on third parties fll orff
the manufacture of our product candidates for certain clinical purposes and many of our persff onnel have experience in clinicalee
manufacturing at other companies, we have no direct experience as a company managing manufacturing for our product
candidatett s, ws hich will be costly, tiyy mii e-consuminii g, and which may not be successfuff l.ll

We have expanded our existing manufacturing capacity to support our Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinicaa l trials of our product candidates.
We have no prior experience as a company in setting up, building or managing a manufacturing facility or manufaff cturing suitt e, and may
never be successful in developing our own manufacturing suite, manufacturing facilitff y or manufacturing capability. We will need to
hire additional personnel to manage our operations and facilities and develop the necessary infrr rasff tructure to continue the research and
development, and eventual commercialization, if licensed, of our product candidates. If we fail to recruit the required personnel, manage
our growth effectively, have inadequate facility design or construction, or fail to select the correct location, the development and
production of our product candidates could be curtailed or delayed. Although we have established a manufacturing facility, our
manufaff cturing capabilities could be affected by cost-overruns, unexpected delays, equipment failures, design or construction flaws,
labor shora tages, supply disruptions, natural disasters, power failures and numerous other factors that could prevent us from realizing the
intended benefits of our manufacturing strategy and have a material adverse effect on our business.

In addition, the FDA, the European Medicines Agency (EMA), and other foreign regulatory authorities may reff quire us to submit
samples of any lot of any licensed product together with the protocols showing the results of applicable tests at any time. Under some
circumstances, the FDA, the EMA or other foreign regulatory authorities may require that we not distribute a lot until the relevant
agency authorizes its release. Slight deviations in the manufacturing process, including those affeff cting quality attributes and stability,
may result in unacceptable changes in the product that could result in lot failures or product recalls, or inability to manufaff cture product
in the future. Lot failures or product recalls could cause us to delay or forgo product launches or clinical trials, which could be costly to
us and otherwise harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Problems in our manufacturing process
could restrict our ability to meet market demand for our product candidates.

We also may encounter problems hiring and retaining the experienced scientific, quality-control and manufacturing personnel
needed to operate our manufacturing processes and facility, which could result in delays in production or difficulties in maintaining
compliance with applicable regulatory requirements.

Any problems in our manufacturing process or facilities could make us a less attractive collaborator for potential partners,
including larger pharmaceutical companies and academic research institutions, which could limit our access to additional attractive
development programs.

We mWW ay have difficulty validating our manufacturing process as we manufacture TCR-T therapy candidates from an
inii creasinii gly diverse patient popull latll itt on for our clinical trialsff .

As we develop our clinical products, we may encounter unforeseen difficulties due to quality, quantity, supply timing, or
variability issues with donor starting materials and may not be able to develop a robust process or incur additional costs or delays in
developing a robust process due to starting material variation or supply.

Although we believe our current manufacturing process is scalable for commercialization, we may encounter challenges in
validating our process due to the heterogeneity of the product starting material. While we anticipate that during the early phases of our
clinical trials we will be abla e to adapt our process to account for these diffff eff rences resulting in a more robust process, we cannot guarantee
that issues relating to the heterogeneity of the starting material will not impact our ability to manufacture our product candidates for
clinical or commercial distribution.

Risks Related to Government Regulation

The FDA rFF egulatory approval process is lii ell ngthtt y and tih mii e-consuming, and we may experience significant delays in the clinical
development and regulatory approval of our product candidates.

We have not previously submitted a Biologics License Application (BLA) to the FDA or similar licensure applications to
comparable foreign regulatory arr uthorities. A BLA must include extensive preclinical and clinical data and supporting information to
establa ish the product candidate’s safety, purity, and potency for each desired indication. The BLA must also include signifff icantff
information regarding the manufacturing controls for the product. We expect the novel nature of our product candidates to create further
challenges in obtaining regulatory approval. Accordingly, the regulatory approval pathway for our product caa ndidates may be uncertain,
complex, expensive and lengthy, and licensure may not be obtained.
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We may also experience delays in completing planned clinical trials for a variety of reasons, including delays related to:

• the availabia lity of financial resources to commence and complete the planned trials;

• reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective CROs and clinical trial sites, the terms of which can be subject to
extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among diffeff rent CROs and clinical trial sites;

• obtaining approval at each clinical trial site by an IRB or ethics committee;

• recruiting suitable patients to participate in a clinical trial;

• having patients complete a clinical trial or return for post-treatment folff low-up;

• clinical trial sites deviating from trial protocol or dropping out of a trial;

• adding new clinical trial sites; or

• manufacturing sufficient quantities of qualified materff ials under cGMPs, including current Good Tissue Practices (cGTPs),
and applying them on a subject by subject basis for use in clinical trials.

We could also experience delays if physicians encounter unresolved ethical issues associated with enrolling patients in clinical
trials of our product candidates in lieu of prescribing existing treatments that have established safety, efficacy, potency and purity
profiles. Further, a clinical trial may be suspended or terminated by us, the IRBs for the institutions in which such trials are being
conducted, the data monitoring committee for such trial, or by the FDA or other regulatory authorities due to a number of factors,
including failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or our clinical protocols, inspection of the
clinical trial operations or trial site by the FDA or other regulatory authorities resulting in the imposition of a clinical hold, unforeseen
safety issues or adverse side effects, failure to demonstrate a benefit from using a product candidate, changes in governmental regulations
or administrative actions or lack of adequate fundiff ng to continue the clinical trial. If we experience termination of, or delays in the
completion of, any clinical trial of our product candidates, the commercial prospects for our product candidates will be harmed, and our
ability to generate product revenue will be delayed. In addition, any delays in completing our clinical trials will increase our costs, slow
down our product development and approval process and jeopardize our ability to commence product sales and generate revenue.

Securing regulatory approval also requires the submission of information about the biologic manufacturing process and inspectionff
of manufacturing facilities by the relevant regulatory authority. The FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may fail to
approve our manufacturing processes or facilities, whether run by us or our third-r party CMOs. In addition, if we make manufacturing
changes to our product candidates in the futff urt e, we may need to conduct additional preclinical or clinical studit es to bridge our modified
product candidates to earlier versions.

Many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may ultimately lead to the
denial of regulatory approval of our product candidates.

We may be unable to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates under applicable regulatory requirements. The
denial or delay of any sull ch approval would dell lay cll ommercialization of our product candidates and adversely impact our
potential to generate revenue, our business and our results of operations.

The research, testing, manufacturing, labeling, licensure, sale, marketing and distribution of biologic products are subject to
extensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory authorities in the United States and other countries, and such regulations differff
from country to country. We are not permitted to market our product candidates in the United States or in any foreign countries until
they receive the requisite licensure from the applicable ra egulatory authorities of such jurisdictions.

The FDA or any foreign regulatory authorities can delay, limit or deny licensure of our product candidates for many reasons,
including:

• our inability to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA or the applicable foreign regulatory authority that any of our
product candidates are safe, potent and pure;

• the FDA’s or the appla icable foreign regulatory agency’s disagreement with our trial protocol or the interpretation of data
frff om preclinical studies or clinical trials;

• our inability to demonstrate that the clinical and other benefits of any of our product candidates outweigh any safety or other
perceived risks;

• the FDA’s or the applicable foreign regulatory agency’s requirement for additional preclinical studies or clinical trials;

• the results of clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical significance required by the FDA or comparable foreign
regulatory authorities for licensure;
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• the FDA’s or the applicabla e foreign regulatory agency’s failure to approve our manufacturing processes or facilities or those
of third party manufacturers upon which we rely;

• the potential for approval poliff cies or regulations of the FDA or the applicable foreign regulatory authorities to significantly
change in a manner rendering our clinical data insufficient for licensure;

• the data collected from clinical trials of our product candidates may not be sufficient to the satisfaction of the FDA orff
comparable foreign regulatory authorities to support the submission of a BLA or other comparable submission in foreign
jurisdictions or to obtain licensure of our product candidates in the United States or elsewhere; or

• the approval policies or regulations of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may significantly change in a
manner rendering our clinical data insufficient for approval.

Any of these factors, many of which are beyond our control, may result in our failing to obtain regulatory approval to market any
of our product candidates, which would significantly harm our business, results of operations, and prospects. Of the large number of
biological products in development, only a small percentage successfully complete the FDA or other regulatory approval processes and
are commercialized. Even if we eventually complete clinical testing and receive licensure from the FDA or applicable foreign regulatory
authorities for any of our product candidates, the FDA or the applicable foreign regulatory agency may grant licensure contingent on
the performance of costly additional clinical trials which may be required aftff er licensure. The FDA or the appla icable foreign regulatory
agency also may license our product candidates for a more limited indication or a narrower patient population than we originally
requested, and the FDA, or applicable foreign regulatory agency, may not license our product candidates with the labeling that we
believe is necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of such product candidates.

In addition, even if the trials are successfully completed, preclinical and clinical data are oftff en susceptible to varying
interpretations and analyses, and we cannot guarantee that the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities will interpret the results
as we do, and more clinical trials could be required before we submit our product candidates for approval. To the extent that the results
of the clinical trials are not satisfactory to the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities for support of a marketing application,
approval of our product candidates may be significantly delayed, or we may be required to expend significant additional resources,
which may not be available to us, to conduct additional clinical trials in support of potential approval of our product candidates.

Any delay in obtaining, or inabia lity to obtain, applicable regulatory approval would delay or prevent commercialization of our
product candidates and would materially adversely impact our business and prospects.

We may seek orphan drug status for some of our current or future product candidates, but we may be unable to obtain such
designations or to maintain the benefits associated witt tii h orphan drug status, including market exclusivity, which may causett
our revenue, if anyn , tyy o be rtt educed.

Under the Orphan Drug Act, thrr e FDA may grant orphan designation to a drug or biologic intended to treat a rare disease or
condition, defined as a disease or condition with a patient population of fewer than 200,000 in the United States, or a patient population
greater than 200,000 in the United States when there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing and making available the
drug or biologic in the United States will be recovered from sales in the United States for that drug or biologic. Orphar n drug designationrr
must be requested before submitting a BLA. In the United States, orphan drug designation entitles a party to financial incentives such
as opportunit ties for grant fff undiff ng towards clinical trial costs, tax advantages and user-fee waivers. After the FDA grants orphan drugr
designation, the generic identity of the drug and its potential orphan use are disclosed publicly by the FDA. Orphan drug designation
does not convey any advantage in, or shorten the duration of, the regulatory review and approval process.

If a product that has orphan drug designation subsequently receives the first FDA approval for a particular active ingredient for
the disease for which it has such designation, the product is entitled to orphan product exclusivity, which means that the FDA may not
approve any other applications, including a BLA, to market the same biologic for the same indication for seven years, except in limited
circumstances such as a showing of clinical superiority to the product with orphan drug exclusivity or if FDA finds that the holder of
the orphan drug exclusivity has not shown that it can assure the availability of sufficient quantities of the orphan drug to meet the needs
of patients with the disease or condition for which the drug was designated. As a result, even if one of our product candidates receives
orphan exclusivity, the FDA can still approve other drugs that have a different active ingredient for use in trff eating the same indication
or disease. Furthermore, the FDA can waive orphan exclusivity if we are unable to manufacture sufficient supply of our product.

We may seek orphan drug designation for some or all of our current or future product candidates in additional orphan indications
in which there is a medically plausible basis for the use of these products. Even when we obtain orphan drug designation, exclusive
marketing rights in the United States may be limited if we seek licensure for an indication broader than the orphan designated indication
and may be lost if the FDA later determines that the request for designation was materially defeff ctive or if the manufacturer is unable to
assure sufficient quantities of the product to meet the needs of patients with the rare disease or condition. In addition, although we intend
to seek orphan drug designation for other product candidates, we may never receive such designations.
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On August 3, 2017, the Congress passed the FDA Reauthorization Act of 2017 (FDARA). FDARA, among other things, codifiedff
the FDA’s pre-existing regulatory interpretation, to require that a drug sponsor demonstrate the clinical superiority of an orphan drug
that is otherwise the same as a previously approved drug for tff he same rare disease in order to receive orphan drug exclusivity. The new
legislation reverses prior precedent holding that the Orphan Drug Act unambiguously requires that the FDA recognize the orphan
exclusivity period regardless of a showing of clinical superiority. Moreover, in the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2021, Congress
did not further change this interpretation when it clarified that the interpretation codified in FDARA would apply in cases where FDA
issued an orphan designation before the enactment of FDARA but where product approval came after the enactment of FDARA. The
FDA may further reevaluate the Orphan Drug Act and its regulations and policies. We do not know if, when, or how the FDA may
change the orphan drug regulations and policies in the future, and it is uncertain how any changes might affect our business. Dependingff
on what changes the FDA may make to its orphan drug regulations and policies, our business could be adversely impacted.

A Breakthrough Therapy designation by the FDA, even if granted for any of our product candidates, may not lead to a fastt ter
development or regulatory review or approval process and it does not increase the likelihood that our product candidates will
receive marketing approval.

We plan to seek a Breakthrough Therapy dea signation for our current product candidates and may seek Breakthrough Therapyff
designation for some or all of our future product candidates. A breakthrough therapy is defined as a drug or biologic that is intended,
alone or in combination with one or more other drugs or biologics, to treat a serious or life-threatening disease or condition and
preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the drug, or biologicr , may demonstrate substantial improvement over existing therapies on
one or more clinically significant endpoints, such as substantial treatment effects observed early in clinical development. For product
candidates that have been designated as breakthrough therapies, interaction and communication between the FDA and the sponsor of
the trial can help to identify the most efficient path for clinical development while minimizing the number of patients placed in ineffective
control regimens. Biologics designated as breakthrough therapia es by the FDA may also be eligible for other expedited approval
programs, including Accelerated Approval.

Designation as a breakthrough therapy is within the discretion of the FDA. Accordingly, even if we believe one of our product
candidates meets the criteria for designation as a breakthrough therapy, the FDA may disagree and instead determine not to make such
designation. In any event, the receipt of a Breakthrough Therapy designation for a product candidate may not result in a faster
development process, review or licensure compared to candidate products considered for licensure under non-expedited FDA review
procedures and does not assure ultimate approval by the FDA. In addition, even if one or more of our product candidates qualify as
breakthrough therapies, the FDA may later decide that the product no longer meets the conditions for qualification. Thus, even though
we intend to seek Breakthrough Therapy designation for TSC-100 and some or all of our future product candidates for the treatment of
various cancers, there can be no assurance that we will receive breakthrough therapy designation.

A FasFF t TrTT ack designation by the FDA, even if granted for any of our current or future product candidates, may not lell ad to a
faster development or regulatory review or approval process, and does not increase the likelihood that our product candidates
will receive marketing approval.

If a drug is intended for the treatment of a serious or life-threatening condition and the drug demonstrates the potential to address
unmet medical needs for this condition, the drug sponsor may apply for FDA Fast Track designation for a particular indication. We plan
to seek Fast Track designation for our current product candidates and may seek Fast Track designation for certain of our future product
candidates, but there is no assurance that the FDAwill grant this status to any of our proposed product candidates. Marketing applications
filed by sponsors of products in Fast Track development may qualify for prff iority review under the policies and procedures offered by
the FDA, but the Fast Track designation does not assure any such qualification or ultimate marketing approval by the FDA. The FDA
has broad discretion whether or not to grant Fast Track designation, so even if we believe a particular product candidate is eligible for
this designation, there can be no assurance that the FDA would decide to grant it. Even if we do receive Fast Track designation, we may
not experience a fastff er development process, review or licensure compared to conventional FDA procedures, and receiving a Fast Track
designation does not provide assurance of ultimate FDA approval. In addition, the FDA may withdraw Fast Track designation if it
believes that the designation is no longer supported by data from our clinical development program. In addition, the FDA may withdrawff
any Fast Track designation at any time.

We may seek acceleratWW ed apprtt oval frff om thtt e FDFF A fDD or any of our current or future product candidates. Accelerated approval,ff
even if granted, for any of our current or future product candidates, may not lead to a faster developmell nt, or regulatory review
or approval process and it does not increase the likelihood that our product candidates will receive marketing approval.

We plan to seek approval of our current product candidates, and may seek approval of future product candidates using FDA’s
accelerated approval pathway. A product may be eligible for accelerated approval if it treats a serious or life-threatening condition anda
generally provides a meaningful advantage over available therff apia es. In addition, it must demonstrate an effeff ct on a surrogate endpoint
that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit or on a clinical endpoint that can be measured earlier than irreversible morbidity or
mortality (IMM) that is reasonably likely to predict an effect on IMM or other clinical benefit. As a condition of approval, the FDA maya
require that a sponsor of a drug or biologic receiving accelerated approval perform adequate and well-controlled post-marketing clinical



80

trials. These confirmatory trials must be completed with due diligence. In addition, the FDA currently requires, unless otherwise
informed by the agency, pre-appra oval of promotional materials for products receiving accelerated approval, which could adversely
impact the timing of the commercial launch of the product. Even if we do receive accelerated approval, we may not experience a faster
development, regulatory review or approval process for that product. In addition, receiving accelerated approval does not provide
assurance of ultimate FDA approval.a

We mWW ay seek designatitt on for our TarTT ger tScan platform as a designated platform technology, but we might not receive such
designation, and even if we do, such designation may not lead to a faster regue latory review or approval processll .

Wemay seek designation for our TargetScan platform as a designated platform technology. Under FDORA, a platform technology
incorporated within or utilized by a biological product is eligible for designation as a designated platform technology if (ff 1) the platform
technology is incorporated in, or utilized by, a biological product approved under an BLA; (2) preliminary evidence submitted by the
sponsor of the licensed biological product, or a sponsor that has been granted a right of reference to data submitted in the application for
such biological product, demonstrates that the platform technology has the potential to be incorporated in, or utilized by, more than one
biological product without an adverse effect on quality, manufacturing, or safety; and (3) data or information submitted by the applicable
person indicates that incorporation or utilization of the platform technology has a reasonable likelihood to bring significant efficienciesff
to the biological product development or manufacturing process and to the review process. A sponsor may request the FDA to designate
a platform technology as a designated platform technology concurrently with, or at any time after, submission of an IND application for
a biological product that incorporates or utilizes the platform technology that is the subject of the request. If so designated, the FDA
may expedite the development and review of any subsequent original BLA for a biological product that uses or incorporates the platform
technology. Even if we believe our TargetScan platform technology meets the criteria for such designation, the FDA may disagree and
instead determine not to grant such designation. In addition, the receipt of such designation for a platform technology does not ensure
that a biological product will be developed more quickly or receive FDA approval. Moreover, the FDA may revoke a designation if the
FDA determines that a designated platforff m technology no longer meets the criteria for such designation.

Obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval of our product candidates in one jurisdiction does not mean that we wilii l bell
successful in obtii aitt nii ing regulatory approval of ouii r product candidates in other jurisdictions.

Obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval of our product candidates in one jurisdiction does not guarantee that we will be
able to obtain or maintain regulatory approval in any other jurisdiction, while a failure or delay in obtaining rrr egulatory approval in one
jurisdiction may have a negative effect on the regulatory approval prrr ocess in others. For example, even if the FDA grants marketing
appra oval of a product candidate, comparable regulatory authorities in foreign jurisdictions must also approve the manufacturing,a
marketing and promotion of the product candidate in those countries. Approval and licensure procedures vary among jurisdictions and
can involve requirements and administrative review periods different from, and greater than, those in the United States, including
additional preclinical studies or clinical trials as clinical trials conducted in one jurisdiction may not be accepted by regulatory authorities
in other jurisdictions. In many jurisdictions outside the United States, a product candidate must be approved for reimbursement before
it can be approved for sale in that jurisdiction. In some cases, the price that we intend to charge for any of our product candidates for
which we receive marketing approval is also subject to approval.

We may also submit marketing applications in other countries. Regulatory authorities in jurisdictions outside of the United States
have requirements for approval of product candidates with which we must comply prior to marketing in those jurisdictions. Obtaining
foreign regulatory approvals and compliance with foreign regulatory requirements could result in significant delays, difficulties and
costs for us and could delay or prevent the introduction of our product candidates in certain countries. If we fail to comply with the
regulatory requirements in international markets and/or receive applicable marketing approvals, our target market will be reduced and
our ability to realize the full market potential of our product candidates will be harmed.

In addition, we could face heightened risks with respect to seeking marketing approval in the United Kingdom as a result of the
withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union, commonly referred to as Brexit. The United Kingdom is no longer part
of the European Single Market and European Union Customs Union. As of January 1, 2021, the Medicines and Healthcare products
Regulatory Agency, or the MHRA, became responsible for supervising medicines and medical devices in Great Britain, comprising
England, Scotland and Wales under domestic law, whereas Northern Ireland will continue to be subject to European Union rules under
the Northern Ireland Protocol. The MHRA will rely on the Human Medicines Regulations 2012 (SI 2012/1916) (as amended), or the
HMR, as the basis for regulating medicines. The HMR has incorporated into the domestic law of the body of European Union law
instrumr ents governing medicinal products that pre-existed prior to the United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the European Union. Any
delay in obtaining, or an inability to obtain, any marketing approvals, as a result of Brexit or otherwise, may force us to restff rict or delay
efforts to seek regulatory approval in the United Kingdom for our product candidates, which could significantly and materially harm
our business.

Furthermore, following the Brexit vote, the European Union moved the European Medicines Agency’s headquarters from the
United Kingdom to the Netherlands. This transition may cause disruption in the administrative and medical scientific links between the
European Medicines Agency and the UK Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency, including delays in granting clirr nical
trial authorization or marketing authorization, disruption of import and export of active substance and other components of new drug
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forff mulations and disruption of the supply chain for clinical trial product and final authorized formulations. The cumulative effeff cts of
the disruption to the regulatory framework may add considerably to the development lead time to marketing authorization and
commercialization of products in the European Union and/or the United Kingdom.

Even if wi e receive regulatll ortt y apprr oval of our product candidates, we will be subject to ontt goinii g regulatory obligations and
contitt nued rii egulatll ortt y revir ew, which mw ay result in sll igni ificant additional ei xpeee nse and we may be subject to penalties if we fail
to comply with regulatory requirements or experience unanticipated problems with our product candidates.

Any regulatory approvals that we receive for our product candidates will require surveillance to monitor the safety, potency and
purity of the product candidate. The FDA may also require a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy in order to license our product
candidates, which could entail requirements for a medication guide, physician communication plans or additional elements to ensure
safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk minimization tools. In addition, if the FDA or a
comparable foreign regulatory authority approves our product candidates, the manufacturing processes, labeling, packaging,
distribution, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion, import, export and recordkeeping for our product candidates will
be subject to extensive and ongoing regulatory requirements. These requirements include submissions of safety and other post-marketing
information and reports, registration, as well as continued compliance with cGMPs, cGTPs and good clinical practices (GCPs) for any
clinical trials that we conduct post-licensure. Manufacturers and manufacturers’ facilities are required to comply with extensive FDA,
and comparable foreign regulatory authority requirements, including ensuring that quality control and manufacturing procedures
conform to cGMP regulations and applicable product tracking and tracing requirements. Later discovery of previously unknown
problems with our product candidates, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with our manufacturing
processes (or those of third parties we engage), or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in, among other things:

• restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of our product candidates, withdrawal of the product from the market or
voluntary or mandatory product recalls;

• under FDORA, sponsors of approved drugs and biologics must provide 6 months’ notice to the FDA of any changes in
marketing statust , such as the withdrawal of a product, and failure to do so could result in the FDA placing the product on a
list of discontinued products, which would revoke the product’s ability to be marketed;

• revisions to the labeling, including limitation on approved uses or the addition of additional warnings, contraindications or
other safety information, including boxed warnings;

• imposition of a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (REMS), which may include distribution or use restrictions;

• requirements to conduct additional post-market clinical trials to assess the safety of the product;

• fiff nes, warning letters or holds on clinical trials;

• refusff al by the FDA to approve pending applications or supplements to approved appla ications filed by us or suspension or
revocation of license approvals;

• product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of our product candidates; and

• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

The FDA’s and other regulatory authorities’ policies may change and additional government regulations may be enacted that
could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of
government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action, either in the United States or abroad. If we are
slow or unabla e to adapt to changes in existing requira ements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we are not able to
maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we may have obtained and we may not achieve or sustain
profitability.

ThTT e inii surance coverage and reimbursement status of newly-approved products is uncertain. Our product candidates mayll
become subject to unfavorable pricing regulations, third party coverage and reimbursement practices, or healthcare reform
initiatitt ves, which would harm our businii ess. Failure to obtain or maintain adequate coverage and reimbursement for new orii
current products could limit our abiliii tii y ttt o mtt arket thtt ose products and decrease our ability to generate revenue.

The regulations that govern marketing approvals, pricing, coverage and reimbursement for new drugs varr y wrr idely from country
to country. In the United States, recently enacted legislation may significantly change the approval requirements in ways that could
involve additional costs and cause delays in obtaining approvals. Some countries require approval of the sale price of a drug bea fore it
can be marketed. In many countries, the pricing review period begins after marketing or product licensing approval is granted. In some
foreign markets, prescription pharmaceutical pricing remains subject to continuing governmental control even after initial approval is
granted. As a result, we might obtain marketing approval for a product in a particular country, but then be subject to price regulations
that delay our commercial launch of the product, possibly for lengthy time periods, and negatively impact the revenue we are able to
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generate from the sale of the product in that country. Adverse pricing limitations may hinder our ability to recoup our investment in one
or more product candidates, even if any product candidates we may develop obtain marketing approval.

In the United States and markets in other countries, patients generally rely on third party payors to reimburse all or part of the
costs associated with their treatment. Adequate coverage and reimbursement from governmental healthcare programs, such as Medicare
and Medicaid, and commercial payors is critical to new product acceptance. Our ability to successfully commercialize our product
candidates will depend in part on the extent to which coverage and adequate reimbursement for these products aff nd related treatments
will be available from government health administration authorities, private health insurers and other organizations. Government
authorities and other third party payors, such as private health insurers and health maintenance organizations, decide which medications
they will pay for and establa ish reimbursement levels. The availability of coverage and extent of reimbursement by governmental and
private payors is essential for most patients to be able to afford treatments such as cell therapy products. Sales of these or other product
candidates that we may identify will depend substantially, both domestically and abroad, on the extent to which the costs of our product
candidates will be paid by health maintenance, managed care, pharmacy benefit and similar healthcare management organizations, or
reimbursed by government health administration authorities, private health coverage insurers and other third party payors. If coverage
and adequate reimbursement is not available, or is available only to limited levels, we may not be able to successfully commercialize
our product candidates. Even if coverage is provided, the approved reimbursement amount may not be high enough to allow us to
establa ish or maintain pricing sufficient to realize a sufficient return on our investment.

Reimbursement by a third party payor may depend upon a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the third party payor’s
determination that use of a product is:

• a covered benefit under its health plan;

• safe, effective and medically necessary;

• appropriate for the specific patient;

• cost-effective; and

• neither experimental nor investigational.

A primary trend in the U.S. healthcare industry and elsewhere is cost containment. Government authorities and third party payors
have attempted to control costs by limiting coverage and the amount of reimbursement for particular medications. In many countrff ies,
the prices of medical products are subject to varying price control mechanisms as part of national health systems. In general, the prices
of medicines under such systems are substantially lower than in the United States. Other countries allow companies to fix their own
prices for medicines, but monitor and control company profits. Additional foreign price controls or other changes in pricing regulation
could restrict the amount that we are able to charge for our product candidates. Accordingly, in markets outside the United States, the
reimbursement for products may be reduced compared with the United States and may be insufficient to generate commercially
reasonable revenues and profits.

There is also significant uncertainty related to the insurance coverage and reimbursement of newly approved products and
coverage may be more limited than the purposes for which the medicine is approved by the FDA or comparable forff eign regulatory
authorities. In the United States, the principal decisions about reimbursement for new medicines are typically made by Centers for
Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS, an agency within the HHS. CMS decides whether and to what extent a new medicine will be
covered and reimbursed under Medicare and private payors tend to follow CMS to a substantial degree. No uniform policy of coverage
and reimbursement for products exists among third party payors and coverage and reimbursement levels for products can differ
significantly from payor to payor. As a result, the coverage determination process is often a time consuming and costly process that may
require us to provide scientific and clinical support for the use of our product candidates to each payor separately, with no assurance
that coverage and adequate reimbursement will be applied consistently or obtained in the first instance. It is difficult to predict what
CMS will decide with respect to reimbursement for fundamentally novel products such as ours. Reimbursement agencies in Europe may
be more conservative than CMS. For example, a number of cancer drugs have been approved for reimbursement in the United States
and have not been approved for reimbursement in certain European countries. Moreover, eligibility for reimbursement does not imply
that any drug will be paid for in all cases or at a rate that covers our costs, including research, development, manufacture, sale, and
distribution. Interim reimbursement levels for new drugs, if applicable, may also not be sufficient to cover our costs and may not be
made permanent. Reimbursement rates may vary according to the use of the drug and the clinical setting in which it is used, may be
based on reimbursement levels already set for lower cost drugs and may be incorporated into existing payments for other services. Our
inability to promptly obtain coverage and profitable payment rates from both government-funded and private payors for any approvedff
products we may develop could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, our ability to raise capital needed to
commercialize product candidates, and our overall financial condition.
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Net prices for drugs may be reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates required by government healthcare programs or private
payors and by any future relaxation of laws that presently restrict imports of drugs from countries where they may be sold at lower prices
than in the United States. Our inability to promptly obtain coverage and profitable reimbursement rates third party payors for any
approved products that we develop could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, our ability to raise capital needed to
commercialize products and our overall financial condition.

Increasingly, third party payors are requiring that drug companies provide them with predetermined discounts from list prices and
are challenging the prices charged for medical products. We cannot be sure that reimbursement will be available for any product
candidate that we commercialize and, if reimbursement is available, the level of reimbursement. Reimbursement may impact the demand
for, or the price of, any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval. In order to obtain reimbursement, physicians may
need to show that patients have superior treatment outcomes with our product candidates compared to standard of care drugs, including
lower-priced biosimilar versions of standard of care drugs. We expect to experience pricing pressures in connection with the sale of any
of our product candidates due to the trend toward managed healthcare, the increasing influence of health maintenance organizations and
additional legislative changes. The downward pressure on healthcare costs in general, particularly prescription drugs and surgical
procedures and other treatments, has become very intense. As a result, increasingly high barriers are being erected to the entry of new
products.

ThTT e impact of recent healthcare reform legislation and other changes in the healthcare industry and in healthcare spending
on us is currently unknown, and may adversely affect our business model.

Our revenue prospects could be affected by changes in healthcare spending and policy in the United States and abroad. We operate
in a highly regulated industry and new laws, regulations or judicial decisions, or new interpretations of existing laws, regulations or
decisions, related to healthcare availability, the method of delivery or payment for healthcare products and services could negativelyff
impact our business, operations and financial condition. For more information, please see “Business – Government Regulation –
Healthcare Legislative Reform.”

There have been, and likely will continue to be, legislative and regulatory proposals at the foreign, federal and state levels directed
at broadening the availability of healthcare and containing or lowering the cost of healthcare. We cannot predict the initiatives that may
be adopted in the future, including repeal, replacement or significant revisions to the Affordable Care Act. The continuing efforts of theff
government, insurance companies, managed care organizations and other payors of healthcare services to contain or reduce costs of
healthcare and/or impose price controls may adversely affect:

• the demand for our product candidates, if we obtain regulatory approval;

• our ability to set a price that we believe is fair for our product candidates;

• our ability to obtain coverage and reimbursement approval for a product candidate;

• our ability to generate revenue and achieve or maintain profitability;

• the level of taxes that we are required to pay; and

• the availability of capital.

Any reduction in reimbursement frff omMedicare or other government programs may result in a similar reduction in payments from
private payors, which may adversely affect our future profitability.

Regulatll ortt y rr equirii ements in thtt e United States and abroad governing cell therapy products have changed frequently and may
continii ue to chtt ange in the future, wtt hich could negatively impact our ability to complete clinical trials and ctt ommercialize our
product candidates in a timely manner, if at all.

Regulatory requirements in the United States and abroad governing cell therapy products have changed frequently and may
continue to change in the future. The FDA has established an office, now called the Office of Therapeutic Products within its Center for
Biologics Evaluation and Research to meet its growing cell and gene therapy workload. The FDA also established the Cellular, Tissue
and Gene Therapies Advisory Committee to advise its review.
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InII adequate funding for the FDA, the SEC and other government agencies could hinder their ability to hire and retain key
leadership and other personnel, prevent new products and services from being developed or commercialized in a timely manner
or otherwise prevent those agencies from performing normal business functiff ons on which the operation of our business may
relyll , wyy hich could nll egatively impact our busine ess.

The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget
and fundiff ng levels, ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user fees, and statutory, regulatory, and policy
changes. Average review times at the agency have fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition, government funding of the SEC and
other government agencies on which our operations may rely, including those that fund research and development activiff ties is subject
to the political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictable.

Disruptr ions at the FDA and other agencies may also slow the time necessary for new drugs to be reviewed and/or approved by
necessary government agencies, which would adversely affect our business. For example, over the last several years the U.S. government
has shut down several times and certain regulatory agencies, such as the FDA and the SEC, have had to furlough critical FDA, SEC and
other government employees and stop critical activities. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, it could significantly impact the
ability of the FDA to timely review and process our regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Further, in our operations as a public company, futurff e government shutdowns could impact our ability to access the public markets and
obtain necessary crr apital in order to properly capitalize and continue our operations.

Since March 2020 when foreign and domestic inspections of facilities were largely placed on hold, the FDA has been working to
resume pre-pandemic levels of inspection activities, including routine surveillance, bioresearch monitoring and pre-approval
inspections. Should FDA determine that an inspection is necessary for approval and an inspection cannot be completed during the review
cycle due to restrictions on travel, and the FDA does not determine a remote interactive evaluation to be adequate, the agency has stated
that it generally intends to issue, depending on the circumstances, a complete response letter or defer action on the application until an
inspection can be completed. During the COVID-19 public health emergency, a number of companies announced receipt of complete
response letters due to the FDA’s inability to complete required inspections for their applications. Regulatory authorities outside the
U.S. may adopt similar restrictions or other policy measures in response to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and may experience delays
in their regulatory activities.

Our employees, is ndeii peee ndent contractors, consultants, commercial partners and vendors may engage in misconduct or otherii
improper activities, including noncompliance with regulatory standarll ds and requirements.

We are exposed to the risk of employee fraud or other illegal activity by our employees, independent contractors, consultants,
commercial partners and vendors. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional, reckless and/or negligent conduct that fails to:ff
comply with the regulations of the FDA and other similar foreign regulatory authorities, provide true, complete and accurate information
to the FDA and other similar foreign regulatory authorities, comply with manufacturing standards we have established, comply with
healthcare fraud and abuse laws in the United States and similar foreign fraudulent misconduct laws or report financial information orff
data accurately or to disclose unauthorized activities to us. If we obtain FDA approval of any of our product candidates and begin
commercializing those products in the United States, our potential exposure under such laws and regulations will increase significantly,
and our costs associated with compliance with such laws and regulations are also likely to increase. These laws may impact, among
other things, our current activities with principal investigators and research patients, as well as proposed and future sales, marketing and
education programs. In particular, the promotion, sales and marketing of healthcare items and services, as well as certain business
arrangements in the healthcare industry, are subject to extensive laws designed to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing and other
abusive practices. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion,
structuring and commission(s), certain customer incentive programs and other business arrangements generally. Activities subject to
these laws also involve the improper use of information obtained in the course of patient recruitment for clinical trials. For more
information, please see “Business – Government Regulation – Anti-Kickback and False Claims Laws and Other Regulatory Matters.”

Additionally, we are subject to state and forff eign equivalents of each of the healthcare laws described above, among others, some
of which may be broader in scope and may apply regardless of the payor.

We have adopted a code of business conduct and ethics, but it is not always possible to identify and deter employee misconduct,
and the precautions we take to detect and prevent inappropriate conduct may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged
risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in
compliance with such laws or regulations.

Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third parties will comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations
will involve substantial costs. Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of the statutory exceptions and safe harbors
available, it is possible that some of our business activities could be subject to challenge under one or more of such laws. It is possible
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that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or
case law involving applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are found to be in violation of
any of these laws or any other governmental regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to significant criminal, civil and
administrative sanctions including monetary penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, individual imprisonment, and exclusion from
participation in government funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, additional reporting requirements and
oversight if we become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or similar agreement to resolve allegations of non-compliance with
these laws, reputational harm, and we may be required to curtail or restructure our operations, any of which could adversely affect our
ability to operate our business and our results of operations.

The risk of our being found in violation of these laws is increased by the faff ct that many of them have not been fully interpreted
by the regulatory authorities or the courts, and their prrr ovisions are open to a variety of interpretations. Any action against us for violation
of these laws, even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divert our management’s
attention from the operation of our business. The shifting compliance environment and the need to build and maintain robust and
expandable systems to comply with multiple jurisdictions with different compliance and/or reporting requirements increases the
possibility that a healthcare company may run afoul of one or more of the requirements.

The provision of benefits or advantages to physicians to induce or encourage the prescription, recommendation, endorsement,
purchase, supply, order or use of medicinal products is also prohibited in the EU. The provision of benefiff ts or advantages to physicians
is governed by the national anti-bribery laws of EUMember States, such as the U.K. Bribery Act 2010, or the Bribery Act. Infringement
of these laws could result in substantial fines and imprisonment. Payments made to physicians in certain EU Member States must be
publicly disclosed. Moreover, agreements with physicians often must be the subject of prior notification and approval by the physician’s
employer, his or her competent professional organization and/or the regulatory authorities of the individual EU Member States.

These requirements are provided in the national laws, industry codes or professional codes of conduct, applicable in the EU
Member States. Failure to comply with these requirements could result in reputational risk, public reprimands, administrative penalties,
fines or imprisonment.

We arWW e currently subject to, antt d may in tii htt e fuff ture become subject to additional, federal, state and foreign laws and regulations,i
industry guidelines, and contractual requirements, imposing obligations on how we collect, store, use and process personale
information. Our actual or perceived faiff lii ure to comply with such obligations could harm our business. Ensuring compliance
with such laws could alll sll o imii pair our efforts to maintain and expand our customer basm e, ane d thtt ereby decrease our revenue.

We are, and may increasingly become, subject to various laws and regulations, as well as contractual obligations and mandatory
industry standards relating to privacy and security in the jurisdictions in which we operate. The regulatory environment related to data
privacy and security is increasingly rigorous, with new and constantly changing requirements applicable to our business, and
enforcement practices are likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future. These laws and regulations may be interpreted and
appla ied differently over time and from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, and iff t is possible that they will be interpreted and applied in ways that
may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

In the United States, various federal and state regulators, including governmental agencies like the Federal Trade Commission,
have adopted, or are considering adopting, laws and regulations concerning personal information and data security. Certain state laws
may be more stringent or broader in scope, or offer greater individual rights, with respect to personal information than federal,
international or other state laws, and such laws may differ from each other, all of which may complicate compliance efforts. For example,ff
the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018, or CCPA, which increases privacy rights for California residents and imposes obligations
on companies that process their personal information and meet certain revenue or volume processing thresholds, came into effect on
January 1, 2020, and was further amended by the California Privacy Rights Act (CPRA), which became effective on January, 1, 2023.ff
Among other things, the CCPA requires covered companies to provide new disclosures to California residents and provide such residents
new data protection and privacy rights, including the ability to opt-out of certain sales of personal information. The amendments
introduced by the CPRA significantly modifies the CCPA by expanding residents’ rights with respect to certain personal information
and creates a new state agency to oversee implementation and enforcement efforts, among other changes. The CCPA provides for civil
penalties for violations, as well as a private right of action for certain data breaches. This prff ivate right of action may increase the
likelihood of, and risks associated with, data breach litigation, including class action litigation.

Similar laws have been passed in Connecticut, Colorado, Utah and Virginia and a number of other states have proposed new
privacy laws, some of which are similar to the above discussed recently passed laws. Such proposed legislation, if enacted, may add
additional complexity, variation in requirements, restrictions and potential legal risk, require additional investment of resources in
compliance programs, impact strategies and the availability of previously useful data and could result in increased compliance costs
and/or changes in business practices and policies. The existence of comprehensive privacy laws in diffeff rent states in the country would
make our compliance obligations more complex and costly and may increase the likelihood that we may be subject to enforcement
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actions or otherwise incur liability for noncff ompliance. In addition, laws in all 50 U.S. states require businesses to provide notice to
individuals if certain of their personal information has been disclosed as a result of a qualifying data breach. State laws are changing
rapidly and there is discussion in the U.S. Congress of a new comprehensive federal data privacy law to which we may likely become
subject, if enacted.

Internationally, laws, regulations and standards in many jurisdictions apply broadly to the collection, use, retention, security,
disclosure, transfer, marketing or other processing of personal data. For example, the collection, use, storage, disclosure, transfeff r, or
other processing of personal data regarding individuals in the EEA, including personal health data, is subject to the EU General Data
Protection Regulation 2016/679 (“GDPR”), which became effective on May 25, 2018. The GDPR is wide-ranging in scope and imposes
numerous requirements on companies that process personal data, including requirements relating to processing health and other sensitive
data, obtaining consent of the individuals to whom the personal data relates, providing information to individuals regarding data
processing activities, implementing safeguards to protect the security and confidentiality of personal data, providing notification of data
breaches, and taking certain measures when engaging third-party processors. The GDPR permits data protection authorities to impose
large penalties for violations of the GDPR, including potential fines of up to €20 million or 4% of annual global revenues, whichever is
greater. The GDPR also confers a private right of action on data subjects and consumer associations to lodge complaints with supervisory
authorities, seek judicial remedies, and obtain compensation for damages resulting from violations of the GDPR. The GDPR increased
our responsibility and liability in relation to personal data that we process where such processing is subject to the GDPR, and we may
be required to put in place additional mechanisms to ensure compliance with the GDPR, including as implemented by individual
countries. Compliance with the GDPR will be a rigorous and time-intensive process that may increase our cost of doing business or
require us to change our business practices, and despite those efforts, there is a risk that we may be subject to fines and penalties,
litigation, and reputational harm in connection with our European activities.

The GDPR provides that EEA Member States may make their own further laws and regulations in relation to the processing of
genetic, biometric or health data, which could result in differences between Member States, limit our ability to use and share personal
data or could cause our costs to increase, and harm our business and financial condition.

The GDPR also imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal data to countries outside the EEA, including the United States. We
are subject to evolving and strict rules on the transfer of personal data out of the EEA to third countries such as the United States. Unless
the destination country is an adequate country (as recognized by the European Commission), we will be required to incorporate a GDPR
transfer mechanism (such as the European Commission approved standard contractual clauses ("SCCs”)) into our agreements with third
parties to govern transfers of personal data outside the EEA. The new SCCs may also impact our business as companies based in the
EEA may be reluctant to utilize the new clauses to legitimize transfers of personal data to third countries given the burdensome
requirements of transfer impact assessments and the substantial obligations that the new SCCs impose upon exporters.

In addition, furff ther to the UK’s exit from the EU on January 31, 2020 the UK’s European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018
incorporated the GDPR into UK law, referred to as the UK GDPR. The UK GDPR and the UK Data Protection Act 2018 set out the
UK’s data protection regime, which is independent from but currently still aligned to the EU’s data protection regime. Non-compliance
with the UK GDPR may result in monetary penalties of up to £17.5 million or 4% of worldwide revenue, whichever is higher. Although
the UK is regarded as a third country under the EU’s GDPR, the European Commission has now issued a decision recognizing the UK
as providing adequate protection under the EU GDPR and, therefore, transfers of personal data originating in the EU to the UK remain
unrestricted. Like the EU GDPR, the UK GDPR restricts personal data transfers outside the UK to countries not regarded by the UK as
providing adequate protection. It is not subject to the new forms of SCCs but has issued its own transfer mechanism – the UK
international data transfer agreement – which, like the SCCs, requires exporters to carry out a transfer impact assessment. The UK
government has confirmed that personal data transfers from the UK to the EEA remain free flowing. The UK Government has also nowff
introduced a Data Protection and Digital Information Bill (or the UK Bill) into the UK legislative process with the intention for this bill
to reform the UK’s data protection regime following Brexit. If passed, the fiff nal version of the UK Bill may have the effeff ct of further
altering the similarities between the UK and EU data protection regime and threaten the UK Adequacy Decision from the EU
Commission. This may lead to additional compliance costs and could increase our overall risk.

All of these evolving compliance and operational requirements impose significant costs, such as costs related to organizational
changes, implementing additional protection technologies, training employees and engaging consultants and legal advisors, which are
likely to increase over time. In addition, such requirements may require us to modify our data processing practices and policies, utilize
management’s time and/or divert resources from other initiatives and projects. Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with
any applicable federal, state or foreign laws and regulations relating to data privacy and security could result in damage to our reputation,
as well as proceedings or litigation by governmental agencies or other third parties, including class action privacy litigation in certain
jurisdictions, which would subject us to significant fines, sanctions, awards, injunctions, penalties or judgments. Any of the foregoing
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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If wII e faiff l tii o ctt omplm y with environmental, health and safety laws and regulatll itt ons, we could become subject to fines or penaltiesll
or incur costs that could have a material adverse effect on the success of our business.e

We are subject to numerous environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory
procedures and the handling, use, storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. Our operations involve the use of
hazardous and flammable materials, including chemicals and biological and radioactive materials. Our operations also produce
hazardous waste products. We generally contract with third parties for the disposal of these materials and wastes. We cannot eliminate
the risk of contamination or injury from these materials. In the event of contamination or injury resulting from our use of hazardous
materials, we could be held liable for any resulting damages, and any liability could exceed our resources. We also could incur significant
costs associated with civil or criminal fines and penalties.

Although we maintain workers’ compensation insurance to cover us for cff osts and expenses we may incur due to injuries to our
employees resulting from the use of hazardous materials, this insurance may not provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities.
We do not maintain insurance for environmental liability or toxic tort claims that may be asserted against us in connection with our
storage or disposal of biological, hazardous or radioactive materials.

Even if we are able to commercialize any product candidates, the products may become subject to unfavorable pricingtt
regue latll itt ons, third party reimbursement practices or healthcare reform initiatives, which would harm our business.

The regulations that govern marketing approvals, pricing, coverage and reimbursement for new drug products vary widely from
country to crr ountry. Crr urrent and future legislation may significantly change the approval requirements in ways that could involve
additional costs and cause delays in obtaining approvals. Some countries require approval of the sale price of a drug before it can be
marketed. In many countries, the pricing review period begins aftff er marketing or product licensing approval is granted. To obtain
reimbursement or pricing approval in some countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical trial that compares the cost-effectiveness
of our product candidate to other available therapies. In some foreign markets, prescription pharmaceutical pricing remains subject to
continuing governmental control even after initial approval is granted. As a result, we might obtain marketing approval for a product
candidate in a particular country, but then be subject to price regulations that delay our commercial launch of the product, possibly for
lengthy time periods, and negatively impact the revenues, if any, we are able to generate from the sale of the product in that country.
Adverse pricing limitations may hinder our ability to recoup our investment in one or more product candidates, even if our product
candidates obtain marketing approval. For more information, pleff ase see “Business – Government Regulation – Coverage and
Reimbursrr ement.”

Our ability to commercialize any product candidates successfully also will depend in part on the extent to which coverage and
adequate reimbursement for these products and related treatments will be available from government healthcare programs, private health
insurers and other organizations. Government authorities and third party payors, such as private health insurers and health maintenance
organizations, decide which medications they will pay for and establish reimbursement levels. A primary trend in the U.S. healthcare
industry and elsewhere is cost containment. Government authorities and third party payors have attempted to control costs by limiting
coverage and the amount of reimbursement for particular medications. Increasingly, government authorities and third party payors are
requiring that drug companies provide them with predetermined discounts from list prices and are challenging the prices charged forff
medical products. Coverage and reimbursement may not be available for any product that we commercialize and, even if these are
available, the level of reimbursement may not be satisfactory. Reimbursement may affect the demand for, or the price of, any product
candidate for which we obtain marketing approval. Obtaining and maintaining adequate reimbursement for our product candidates may
be difficult. We may be required to conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic studies to justify coverage and reimbursement or the level of
reimbursement relative to other therapies. If coverage and adequate reimbursement are not available or reimbursement is available onlya
to limited levels, we may not be able to successfully commercialize any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval.

There may be significant delays in obtaining coverage and reimbursement for newly approved drugs, and coverage may be more
limited than the purposes for which the drug is approved by the FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside of the United States.
Moreover, eligibility for coverage and reimbursement does not imply that a drug will be paid for in all cases or at a rate that covers our
costs, including research, development, intellectual property, manufacture, sale and distribution expenses. Interim reimbursement levels
for new drugs, if applia cabla e, may also not be sufficient to cover our costs and may not be made permanent. Reimbursement rates may
vary according to the use of the drug arr nd the clinical setting in which it is used, may be based on reimbursement levels already set for
lower cost drugs and may be incorporated into existing payments for other services. Net prices for drugs may be reduced by mandatorr y
discounts or rebates required by government healthcare programs or private payors and by any future relaxation of laws that presently
restrict imports of drugs from countries where they may be sold at lower prices than in the United States. Third party payors often rely
upon Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own reimbursement policies. Our inability to promptly obtain
coverage and adequate reimbursement rates from both government-funded and private payors for any approved products that we develop
could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, our ability to raise capital needed to commercialize products and our
overall financial condition.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to obtain and maintain patent protection for any product candidates we develop and for our technology, or iftt
thtt e scope of the patent protection obtained is not sufficiently broad, our competitu ors could develop antt d commercialize products,
product candidates and technology similar or identical to ours, and our ability to successfully commercialize any productii
candidates we may develop, and our tett chnology may be adversely affected.ll

Our success will depend in large part on our ability and the ability of our licensors and collaborators to obtain and maintain patent
protection and other intellectual property and proprietary rights in the United States and other countries with respect to our technology
and our product candidates, their respective components, formulations, combination therapies, methods used to manufacture them and
methods of treatment and development that are important to our business, as well as, our ability to operate our business without
infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating the intellectual property rights of others.

Given the early stage of development of our product candidates, our patent portfolio is similarly at a very early stage. In particular,
we do not exclusively license any issued patents and most of the patent applications we own are provisional applications. If we do not
obtain meaningful patent coverage for our product candidates, their respective components, formulations, combination therapies,
methods used to manufacture them and methods of treatment, competitors may be able to erode or negate any competitive advantage
we may have, which would likely harm our business and abia lity to achieve profiff tabia lity. To establish our proprietary position, we have
filed provisional patent applications and corresponding Patent Cooperation Treaty (PCT), national, and regional applications related to
our novel product candidates that are important to our business, and we have exclusively licensed certain patent applications from The
Brigham and Women’s Hospital, Inc. (or BWH); we may in the future also license or purchase issued patents or pending patent
applications filed by others. U.S. provisional patent applications are not eligible to become issued patents until, among other things, we
file a non-provisional patent application within 12 months of filing of one or more of our related provisional patent applications. With
regard to such U.S. provisional patent applications, if we do not timely file any non-provisional patent applications, we may lose our
priority date with respect to our provisional patent applications and any patent protection on the inventions disclosed in our provisional
patent applia cations. While we intend to timely file non-provisional patent applications relating to our provisional patent applications,
we cannot predict whether any such patent appla ications will result in the issuance of patents that provide us with any competitive
advantage. If we are unable to secure or maintain patent protection with respect to our antibody technology and any proprietary products
and technology we develop, our business, fiff nancial condition, results of operations, and prospects could be materially harmed.

If the scope of the patent protection we or our existing and potential licensors obtain, if any, is not sufficiently broad, we may not
be able to prevent others from developing and commercializing technology and products similar or identical to ours. The degree of
patent protection we require to successfully compete in the marketplace may be unavailable or severely limited and may not adequately
protect our business or permit us to gain or keep any competitive advantage. We cannot provide any assurances that any of our owned
or exclusively licensed pending patent applications that mature into issued patents will include claims with a scope sufficiff ent to protect
our current and future product candidates or otherwise provide any competitive advantage. In addition, to the extent that we license
intellectual property now or in the future, we cannot provide any assurances that those licenses will remain in force. In addition, the
laws of foreign countries may not protect our rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Furthermore, patents have a
limited lifespan. In the United States, if all maintenance fees are timely paid, the natural expiration of a patent is generally 20 years from
its earliest U.S. non-provisional filing date. Various extensions may be available; however, the life of a patent, and the protection it
affords, is limited. Even if patents covering our product candidates are obtained, once the patent life has expired for a product candidate,
we may be open to competition. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product
candidates, any patents that wemay obtain in the future protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after commercialization
of such candidates, if any. As a result, our owned and licensed patent portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude
others from commercializing product candidates similar or identical to ours.

Even if they are unchallenged, our pending patent applications, if issued, may not provide us with any meaningful protection or
prevent competitors or other third parties from designing around our patent claims to circumvent any patents that may issue by
developing similar or alternative technologies or therapeutics in a non-infringing manner. For example, a third party may develop a
competitive therapy that provides benefits similar to one or more of our product ca andidates but that uses a formulation and/or a device
that falls outside the scope of our patent claims. If any patent protection that we may obtain in the future from the patent applications
we hold or pursue with respect to our product candidates is not sufficiently broad to impede such competition, our ability to successfully
commercialize our product candidates could be negatively affeff cted, which would harm our business. Similar risks apply to patents or
patent applications that we have in-licensed or may in the future in-license.

Patent positions of life sciences companies can be uncertain and involve complex factual and legal questions and are subject of
much litigation. No consistent policy governing the scope of claims allowable in the field of antibodies has emerged in the United States.
The scope of patent protection in jurisdictions outside of the United States is also uncertain. Changes in either the patent laws or in their
interpretation in any jurisdiction that we seek patent protection may diminish our ability to protect our inventions, obtain, maintain,
protect and enforce our intellectual property and other proprietary rights; and, more generally, may affect the value of our intellectual
property, including the narrowing of the scope of any patents that we may obtain in the future and any that we may license.
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The patent prosecution process is complex, expensive, time-consuming and inconsistent across jurisdictions. We may not be able
to file, prosecute, maintain, enforce, or license all necessary or desirable patent rights at a commercially reasonable cost or in a timely
manner. In addition, we do not intend to pursue, and may not obtain, patent protection in all potentially relevant markets. It is possible
that we will fail to identify important patentable aspects of our research and development efforts in time to obtain appropriate or any
patent protection or faff il to file patent applications covering inventions made in the course of development and commercialization
activities before a competitor or another third party files a patent applicff ation covering, or publishes information disclosing, a similar,
independently-developed invention. Such competitor’s or other third party’s patent application may pose obstacles to our ability to
obtain patent protection or limit the scope of the patent protection we may obtain. While we enter into non-disclosure and confidentiality
agreements with parties who have access to confidential or patentable aspects of our research and development efforts, including for
example, our employees, corporate collaborators, external academic scientific collaborators, CROs, contract manufacturers, consultants,
advisors and other third parties, any of these parties may breach the agreements and disclose such output before a patent application is
filed, thereby endangering our ability to seek patent protection. In addition, publications of discoveries in the scientific and scholarly
literature often lag behind the actual discoveries, and patent applications in the United States and other jurisdictions are typically not
published until 18 months after filing, or in some cases not at all. Consequently, we cannot be certain that we or our licensors were the
first to make the inventions claimed in our owned or in-licensed patent rights and patent applications or were the first to file for patent
protection on the inventions claimed in our pending patent applications.

The issuance, scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of our and our current or future licensors’ patent rights are
highly uncertain. Our and our licensors’ pending and future patent applications may not result in patents being issued that protect our
technology or product candidates, in whole or in part, or which effectively exclude others from commercializing competitive
technologies and product candidates. Further, the scope of the invention claimed in a patent application can be significantly reduced
before the patent is issued, and this scope can be reinterpreted after issuance. Even where patent applications we currently own or that
we license now or in the future issue as patents, they may not isst ue in a form that will provide us with adequate protection to prevent
competitors or other third parties frff om competing with us, or otherwise provide us with a competitive advantage. Any patents that
eventually issue mat y be challenged, narrowed or invalidated by third parties. Consequently, we do not know whether any of our product
candidates will be protectable or remain protected by valid and enforceable patent rights. Our competitors or other third parties may be
able to evade or circumvent our patent rights by developing new alternative technologies or products in a non-infringing manner.

The issuance or grant of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity or enforceability, and our patents we may
obtain in the future may be challenged, invalidated, narrowed or held to be enforceable, including in the courts or patent offices in the
United States and abroad, or circumvented. There may be prior art of which we are not aware that may affect the validity or enforceabilityff
of a patent claim. There also may be prior art of which we are aware, but which we do not believe affects the validity or enforceabilitff y
of a claim, but which may, nonetheless, ultimately be found to affect the validity or enforceability of a claim. We may become subject
to a third party pre-issuance submission of prior art or opposition, derivation, revocation, re-examination, post-grant and inter partes
review, or interference proceeding and other similar proceedings challenging any patent rights we may obtain in the future or the patent
rights of others, including based on priority of invention or other features of patentability, in the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office
(USPTO) or other foreign patent office. An unfavorable determination in any such submission, proceeding or litigation could reduce the
scope of, or invalidate, any patent rights we may obtain in the future, allow third parties to use or commercialize our technology or
product candidates and compete directly with us, without payment to us (as they can now), or extinguish our ability to manufacture or
commercialize product candidates without infringing third party patent rights. Such proceedings also may result in substantial cost and
require signififf cant time from our scientists and management, even if the eventual outcome is favorable to us. In addition, there could be
public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors
perceive these results to be negative, it could have a material adverse effect on the price of our common stock.

In addition, given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory rrr eview of new product candidates, any
patents we may obtain in the future protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after commercialization of such candidates,
if any. As a result, our intellectual property may never provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing products
similar or identical to ours. Moreover, any patents or patent applications that we may own or in-license in the future may be co-owned
with third parties. If we are unable to obtain an exclusive license to any such third party co-owners’ interest in any such patents or patent
applications, such co-owners may be able to license their rights to other third parties, including our competitors, thereby enabling our
competitors to market competing products and technology. In addition, we or our licensors may need the cooperation of any such co-
owners of any patents that we may own or in-license in the future in order to enforce such patents against third parties, and such
cooperation may not be provided to us or our licensors. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our competitive
position, business, financial conditions, results of operations and prospects.

We could be unsuccessful in obtaining meaningful patent protection on one or more components of our platform technology.

We believe that an important factor in our competitive position is our screening technology platform to identify future product
candidates and therapeutic targets. Our screening platform is based in part on technology processes that are (or will be) publicly disclosed
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in patent appla ications owned by or licensed to us and we do not currently own or in-license any issued patents that protect our screening
platform. Even if these patents issue from these patent applications and provide broad protection, it may be difficult or impossible to
detect whether a competitor is practicing the proprietary methods claimed in such patent applications in order to discover their own
product candidates and therapeutic targets. In such case, any patents that may issue from patent applications owff ned by or licensed to us
would not provide us protection to prevent such activity. Additionally, a competitor may also practice such methods in a jurisdiction
where we have no relevant patent protection. Our competitive position could be weakened by competitors or other third parties practicing
the methods claimed in these patent applications in a manner we do not detect or in jurisdictions in which we or our licensors do not
obtain any relevant patent protection.

If wII e fail to comply with any of our obligations under existing or future agreements pursuant to which we license iff nii tellectual
property rights or technology, if the licenses are terminated or if disputes regarding these licenses arise, we could losett
signifi iff cant rights or technology that are material to our business and could interfere with our ability to operate our busi iness.

We are a party to technology licenses, including in-license agreements with BWH and Provincial Health Services Authority (or
“PHSA”), and wemay enter into additional licenses in the future. Such licenses do, and may in the future, impose commercial, contingent
payment, royalty, insurance, indemnification, and other obligations on us. If we fail to comply with these obligations, our licensors may
have the right to terminate the license, in which event we could lose valuable rights under our collaboration agreements and our ability
to develop product candidates could be impaired. Additionally, should any such license agreement be terminated for any reason, therff e
may be a limited number of replacement licensors, and a significant amount of time may be required to transition to a replacement
licensor.

Our rights to develop and commercialize our product candidates are subject in part to the terms and conditions of third party
licenses, pursuant to which we have acquired rights from the applicable licensors. Our rights with respect to such intellectual property
may terminate, in whole or in part, if we fail to meet applicable requirements or milestones relating to development and
commercialization. We may also lose our rights to develop and commercialize our product candidates under such agreements if we fail
to pay required milestones or royalties. In the event of an early termination of our license agreements, all rights licensed and developed
by us under these agreements may be extinguished, which may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.

We rely on certain of our licensors to prepare, file and prosecute patent applications and maintain patents and otherwise protect
the intellectuat l property we license from them and may continue to do so in the future. We have limited or no control over these activities
or any other intellectual property that may be related to our in-licensed intellectuat l property. For example, we cannot be certain that
such activities by these licensors have been or will be conducted in compliance with applicable laws and regulations or will result in
valid and enforceable patents and other intellectual property rights. We have limited or no control over the manner in which our licensors
initiate an infringement proceeding against a third party infringer of the intellectual property rights, or defend certain of the intellectual
property that is licensed to us. It is possible that any licensors’ infringement proceeding or defense activities may be less vigorous than
had we conducted them ourselves.

These agreements may be complex, and certain provisions in such agreements may be susceptible to multiple interpretations. The
resolution of any contract interpretation disagreement that may arise could narrow what we believe to be the scope of our rights to the
relevant intellectual property or technology, or increase what we believe to be our financial or other obligations under the relevant
agreement, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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In addition, a third party may in the future bring claims that our performance under our license agreements, including ourff
sponsoring of clinical trials, interferes with such third party’s rights under its agreement with one of our licensors. If any such claim
were successful, it may adversely affect our rights and ability to advance our product candidates as clinical candidates or subject us to
liability for monetary damages, any of which would harr ve an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects.

We arWW e currently, and expect in the fii uff ture to be, party to material license or collaboration agreements, which may ie mposeii
numerous obligatitt ons and restrtt ictitt ons on us.

We are currently, and expect in the future to be, party to material license or collaboration agra eements. These agreements typically
impose numerous obligations and restrictions on us, such as various diligence, commercialization, insurance and payment obligations,
among others, in order to maintain such licenses. Any of these restrictions or obligations could delay or otherwise negatively impact a
transaction that we may wish to enter into. In addition, any termination of these licenses could result in the loss of significant rights and
could harm our ability to commercialize our product candidates.

Licensing of intellectual property is of high importance to our business and involves complex legal, business and scientific issues.
Disputes may also arise between us and our licensors regarding intellectual property subject to a license agreement, including:

• the scope of rights granted under the license agreement and other interpretation-related issues;r

• whether, and the extent to which, our product candidates, technology and processes infringe on intellectual property of the
licensor that is not subject to the licensing agreement;

• our right to sublicense patent and other intellectual property rights to third parties under collaborative development
relationships;

• the calculation and existence of certain payment obligations under the license agreement;

• our diligence obligations with respect to the use of the licensed technology in relation to our development and
commercialization of our product candidates, and what activities satisfy those diligence obligations;

• the inventorship and ownership of inventions, know-how and other intellectual property and proprietary rights resulting
from the joint creation or use of intellectual property by our licensors and us and our partners; and

• the priority of invention of patented technology.

If disputes over intellectual property that we have licensed prevent or impair our ability to maintain our current licensing
arrangements on acceptable terms, we may be unable to successfully develop and commercialize the affected product candidates.

We are generally also subject to all of the same risks with respect to protection of intellectual property that we license, as we are
for intellectual property that we own, which we describe below, and our success will depend in part on the ability of our licensors to
adequately obtain, maintain, protect and enforce patent protection for our licensed intellectual property, especially with respect to patent
rights which we exclusively in-license. If we or our licensors faff il to adequately protect this intellectuat l property, our ability to
commercialize products could suffer.

We rely on certain of our licensors to prepare, file and prosecute patent applications and maintain patents and otherwise protect
the intellectual property we license from them and may continue to do so in the future. We have limited control over these activities or
any other intellectual property that may be related to our in-licensed intellectual property. For example, we cannot be certain that such
activities by these licensors have been or will be conducted in compliance with applicable laws and regulations or will result in valid
and enforceable patents and other intellectual property rights. We have limited control over the manner in which our licensors initiate
an infringement proceeding against a third party infringer of the intellectual property rights, or defend certain of the intellectual property
that is licensed to us. It is possible that any licensors’ infringement proceeding or defense activities may be less vigorous than had we
conducted them ourselves or may not be conducted in accordance with our best interests.
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Furthermore, certain of our licenses may not provide us with exclusive rights to use the licensed intellectual property and
technology, or may not provide us with exclusive rights to use such intellectual property and technology in all relevant fields of use and
in all territories in which we may wish to develop or commercialize our technology and product candidates in the future. For example,
a portion of our intellectual property portfolio is non-exclusively licensed to us and may be used by our licensors or licensed to third
parties, and such third parties may have certain enforcement rff ights with respect to such intellectual property. Thus, patent rights licensed
to us could be put at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly in litigation filed by or against our licensors or another licensee or
in administrative proceedings brought by or against our licensors or another licensee in response to such litigation or for other reasons.
As a result, we may not be able to prevent competitors or other third parties from developing and commercializing competitive prff oducts,
including in territories covered by our licenses.

Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our busff iness, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Our proprietary position may depend upon patents that are manufacturing, formulation or method-of-use patents, which may
not prevent a competitor or other third party from using the same product candidate for another use.ff

Composition-of-matter patents are generally considered to be the strongest form of intellectual property protection for drug
products because such patents provide protection without regard to any particular method of use or manufacture or formulation of the
API used. We currently have a limited number of issued patents, but our pending owned U.S. and international patent applications
include claims that cover compositions of matter and methods of use of our product candidates. We cannot be certain that claims in any
patent that may issue from our pending owned or in-licensed patent applications will cover the composition-of-matter of any of our
current or future product candidates. If we are unsuccessful in obtaining issued patents that cover the composition of matter of any of
our current or future product candidates, competitors may be able to erode or negate any competitive advantage we may have and our
business, fiff nancial condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially harmed.

If our efforts to protect the proprietary nature of the intellectual property related to our technologies are not adequattt ett , we maye
not be able to compete effectively in our market.

Biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies generally, and we in particular, compete in a crowded competitive space
characterized by rapidly evolving technologies and aggressive defense of intellectual property. The USPTO and various foreign
governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other provisions during
the patent process. There are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application,
resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. In such an event, competitors might be able to enter the
market earlier than would otherwise have been the case.

We rely upon a combination of patent rights, confidentiality agreements, trade secret protection and license agreements to protect
the intellectual property related to our technologies. Any disclosure to or misappropriation by third parties of our confidential proprietary
information could enable competitors or other third parties to quickly duplicate or surpar ss our technological achievements, thus eroding
our competitive position in our market. We, or any partners, collaborators, licensees or licensors may fail to ia dentify patentable aspects
of inventions made in the course of development and commercialization activities before it is too late to obtain patent protection on
them. Therefore, we may miss potential opportunities to strengthen our patent position.

It is possible that defects of form in the preparation or filing of our patent applications may exist, or may arise in the future, for
example with respect to proper priority claims, inventorship, claim scope, or requests for patent term adjustments. If we or any partners,
collaborators, licensees or licensors fail to establish, maintain or protect such patent rights and other intellectual property rights, such
rights may be reduced or eliminated. If any partners, collaborators, licensees or licensors are not fully cooperative or disagree with us
as to the prosecution, maintenance or enforcement of any patent rights, such patent rights could be compromised. If there are material
defects in the form, preparation, prosecution, or enforcement of our patent applications, any patents that may issue from such patent
applications may be invalid and/or unenforceable, and such applications may never result in valid, enforceable patents. Any of these
outcomes could impair our ability to prevent competition from third parties, which may have an adverse impact on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

Currently, our patent applications are directed to our TCR-T therapy candidates and accompanying technologies. We seek or plan
to seek patent protection for our proprietary platform and product candidates by filing and prosecuting patent applications in the United
States and other countries as appropriate. Our patent portfolio also includes patent families exclusively licensed from BWH, which
include pending U.S. and foreign non-provisional patent applications. Any patents that may issue from any non-provisional patent
appla ications claiming priority to these provisional patent applications would be expected to expire on various dates from 2038 through
2043, in each case without taking into account any possible patent term adjustments or extensions.
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We anticipate additional patent applications will be filed both in the United States and in other countries, as appropriate. However,a
we cannot predict:

• whether and when any patents will issue;

• the degree and range of protection that any patents that may issue will afford us against competitors;

• whether any of our intellectual property will provide any competitive advantage;

• whether any patents that may issue may be challenged, invalidated, modified, revoked, circumvented or found to be
unenforceable;ff

• whether or not others will obtain patents claiming inventions similar to those covered by our patent applications; or

• whether we will need to initiate or defend litigation or administrative proceedings, which may be costly regardless of
whether we win or lose.

Additionally, we cannot be certain that the claims in our pending patent applications covering the composition of matter of our
product candidates will be considered patentable by the USPTO or patent offices in foreign countries.

Method-of-use patents protect the use of a product for the sff pecified method. If we obtain any of these types of patents, they would
not prevent a competitor from making and marketing a product that is identical to one of our product candidates for an indication that is
outside the scope of the patented method. Moreover, even if competitors do not actively promote their product for our tff argeted
indications, physicians may prescribe these products “off-label.” Although off-label prescriptions may induce or contribute to the
infringement of method-of-ff use patents, the practice is common, and such infringement is difficult to prevent or prosecute.

The strength of patents in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical fiff eld involves complex legal and scientific questions and can be
uncertain. The patent applications that we own or in-license may fail to result in issued patents with claims that cover our product
candidates or uses thereof in the United States or in other foreign countries. Even if the patents do successfully issue, third parties may
challenge the validity, enforceability or scope thereof, which may result in such patents being narrowed, invalidated or held
unenforceable. If the breadth or strength of protection provided by the patent applications we hold with respect to our product candidates
is threatened, it could dissuade companies from collaborating with us to develop, and threaten our ability to commercialize, our product
candidates. Further, if we encounter delays in our clinical trials, the period of time during which we could market our product candidates
under patent protection would be reduced. Since patent applications in the United States and most other countries are confidential for a
period of time after filing, we cannot be certain that we were the first to file any patent application related to our product candidates.
Various post-grant review proceedings, such as inter partes review and post-grant review, are available for any interested third party to
challenge the patentability of claims in any patents issued to us or our licensors. While these post-grant review proceedings have been
used less frequently to invalidate biotech patents, they have been successful regarding other technologies, and these relatively new
procedures are still changing, and those changes might affect futurff e results. No assurance can be given that, if challenged, any patents
that we or our licensors may obtain would be declared by a court to be valid or enforceable or that, even iff f found valid and enforceable,
a competitor’s technology or product would be found by a court to infringe any such patent. We may analyze patents or patent
applications of our competitors that we believe are relevant and conclude that our activities do not infringe any valid claims of those
patents or patent applications, but our conclusions may be erroneous or our competitors may obtain patents with issued claims, including
in patents we consider to be unrelated, that block our efforts or that our product candidates or our activities infringe. Others mayff
independently develop products that have the same effect as our product candidates without infringing any patents we may obtain or
any of our other intellectual property rights, or they may design around the claims of any patents that we may obtain.

Recent and future patent reform legislation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent
appla ications and the enforcement or defense of any patents we may obtain. In March 2013, under the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act,
or the America Invents Act, the United States moved from a “first to invent” to a “first-to-file” system. Under a “first-to-file” system,
assuming the other requirements for patentability are met, the first inventor to file a patent application generally will be entitled to a
patent on the invention regardless of whether another inventor had made the invention earlier. The America Invents Act included a
number of other significant changes to U.S. patent law, including provisions that have affected the way patent applications are
prosecuted, redefined prior art and established a new post-grant review system. The effects of these changes are still unclear as the
USPTO only recently developed new regulations and procedures in connection with the America Invents Act, and many of the
substantive changes to patent law, including the “first-to-file” provisions, only became effective in March 2013. Moreover, tff he courts
have yet to address many of these provisions. Overall, the America Invents Act and its implementation have increased the uncertainties
and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and any enforcement or defense of any patents that we may obtain,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.
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The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain because legal means afford only limited protection and may
not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep our competitive advantage. For example:

• others may be abla e to make or use compounds or cells that are similar to the biological compositions of our product
candidates but that are not covered by the claims of any patents that we may obtain;

• the active biological ingredients in our current product candidates may eventually become commercially available in
biosimilar drug prrr oducts, and no patent protection may be available with regard to formulation or mff ethod of use;

• we or our licensors, as the case may be, might not have been the first to file patent applications for these inventions;ff

• there may be prior public disclosures that could invalidate any patents that we or our licensors may obtain;

• the inventors of our owned or in-licensed patent applications may become involved with competitors, develop products or
processes that design around any patents that we may obtain, or become adverse to us or patent applications on which they
are named as inventors;

• it is possible that our owned or in-licensed patent applications omit individual(s) that should be listed as inventor(s) or
include individual(s) that should not be listed as inventor(s), which may cause any patents that may issue from these patent
applications to be held invalid or unenforceable;

• we have engaged and may continue to engage in scientififf c collaborations, and such collaborators may develop adjacent or
competing products to ours that are outside the scope of any patents that we may obtain;

• we may not develop additional proprietary technologies for which we can obtain patent protection;

• product candidates or diagnostic tests we develop may be covered by third parties’ patents or other exclusive rights; or

• the patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business.

If we are unable to protll ect the confidentialitt ti y of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position would be hartt med.rr

In addition to the protection afforded by any patent rights we may obtain, we seek to rely on trade secret protection, confidentiality
agreements, and license agreements to protect our proprietary know-how, information, technology and other proprietary informationff
that is not patentable, processes for which patents are difficult to enforce aff nd any other elements of our product discovery and
development processes that involve proprietary know-how, information, or technology that we have not sought to protect through patent
applications. For example, significant elements of our product candidates, including aspects of sample preparation, methods of
manufacturing, cell culturing conditions, computational-biological algorithms, and related processes and software, are based on
unpatented trade secrets that are not publicly disclosed. It is our policy to require our employees, consultants, outside scientific
collaborators, sponsored researchers and other advisors to execute confidentiality agreements upon the commencement of employment
or consulting relationships with us. These agreements generally provide that all confidential information concerning our business orff
financial affairs developed or made known to the indiff vidual or entity during the course of the party’s relationship with us is to be kept
confidential and not disclosed to third parties except in specific circumstances. In the case of employees, the agreements provide that all
inventions conceived by the individual, and which are related to our current or planned business or research and development or made
during normal working hours, on our premises or using our equipment or proprietary information, are our exclusive property. In addition,
we take other appropriate precautions, such as physical and technological security measures, to guard against misappropriation of our
proprietary technology by third parties. Despite these measures, we cannot be certain that our trade secrets and other confidential
proprietary information will not be disclosed or that competitors will not otherwise gain access to our trade secrets or independently
develop substantially equivalent information and techniques. Furthermore, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect proprietary
rights to the same extent or in the same manner as the laws of the United States. Courts outside the United States are sometimes less
willing to protect trade secrets. As a result, we may encounter significant problems in protecting and defending our intellectual property
both in the United States and abroad. If we choose to go to court to stop a third party from using any of our trade secrets, we may incur
substantial costs. These lawsuits may consume our time and other resources even if we are successful. If we are unable to prevent
unauthorized disclosure of our material intellectual property to third parties, we will not be able to establish or maintain a competitive
advantage in our market, which could materially adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition. For more
inforff mation, see “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property—“We have limited foreign intellectual property rights and
may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.”

Thirii d party claims of intellectual property infrll inii gement, misapproprtt iatitt on or other violations may prevent or delay our product
discovery and development efforts.

Our commercial success depends in part on our avoiding infringement, misappropriation or other violation of the patents and
proprietary rights of third parties. There is a substantial amount of litigation involving patents and other intellectuat l property rights in



95

the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries. We may be exposed to, or threatened with, future litigation by third parties having
patent or other intellectual property rights alleging that our product candidates and/or technologies infringe their intellectual property
rights. Numerous U.S. and foreign issued patents and pending patent applications, which are owned by third parties, exist in the fields
in which we are developing our product candidates or identifying potential product candidates. As the biotechnology and pharmaceutical
industries expand and more patents are issued, the risk increases that our product candidates may give rise to claims of infringement of
the patent rights of others. Moreover, it is not always clear to industry participants, including us, which patents cover various types of
drugs, products or their methods of use or manufaff cture. Because of the large number of patents and patent applications in our fields,
there is a risk that third parties may allege they have patent rights encompassing our product candidates, technologies or methods.

If a third party claims that we infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate its intellectual property rights, we may face a number
of issues, including, but not limited to:

• infringement, misappropriation and other violatff ion of intellectual property claims which, regardless of merit, may be
expensive and time-consuming to litigate and may divert our management’s attention from our core business;

• substantial damages for infringement, misappropriation or other violation which we may have to pay if a court decides that
the product candidate or technology at issue infringes on, misappropriates or otherwise violates the third party’s rights, and,
if the court finds that the infringement was willful, we could be ordered to pay treble damages and the patent owner’s
attorneys’ fees;

• a court prohibiting us from developing, manufacturing, marketing or selling our product candidates, or from using our
proprietary technologies, unless the third party licenses its product rights to us, which it is not required to do;

• if a license is available from a third party, we may have to pay substantial royalties, upfront fees and other amounts, and/or
grant cross-licenses to intellectual property rights for our product candidates or using our proprietary technologies; and

• redesigning our product candidates or processes so they do not infringe third party intellectual property rights, which may
not be possible or may require substantial monetary expenditures and time.

Some of our competitors or other third parties may be able to sustain the costs of complex patent litigation more effectively than
we can because they have substantially greater resources. In addition, any uncertainties resulting from tff he initiation and continuation of
any litigation could have a material adverse effect on our ability to raise the funds necessary to continue our operations or could otherwise
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Third parties may assert that we are employing their proprietary trr echnology without authorization. Generally, conducting
preclinical and clinical trials and other development activities in the United States is not considered an act of infringement. If any of our
product candidates is licensed by the FDA, a third party may then seek to enforce its patent by filing a patent infringement lawsuit
against us. While we do not believe that any claims that could otherwise have a materially adverse effect on the commercialization of
our product candidates, if licensed, are valid and enforceable, we may be incorrect in this belief, or we may not be able to prove it in
litigation. In this regard, patents issued in the United States by law enjoy a presumption of validity that can be rebutted only with
evidence that is “clear and convincing”, a heightened standard of proof. As a result, there is no assurance that a court of competent
jurisdiction would invalidate the claims of any such U.S. patent. If any third party patent were held by a court of competent jurisdiction
to cover the manufacturing process of our product candidates, constructs or molecules used in or formed during the manufacturing
process, or any final product itself, or aspects of our formulations, processes for manufacture or methods of use, including combination
therapy or patient selection methods, the holder of any such patent may be able to block our ability to commercialize the product
candidate unless we obtained a license under the applicabla e patent, or until such patent expires or it is finally determined to be held
invalid or unenforceable. In any case, such a license may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all. If we are unable
to obtain a necessary license to a third party patent on commercially reasonabla e terms, or at all, our ability to commercialize our product
candidates may be impaired or delayed, which could in turn significantly harm our business. Even if we obtain a license, it may be non-
exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same technologies licensed to us, and it could require us to make substantial
licensing and royalty payments. In addition, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim
proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a material adverse
effect on the price of our common stock. Any of the foregoing events could harm our business, fiff nancial condition, results of operations
and prospects.

Parties making claims against us may seek and obtain injunctive or other equitable relief, which could effectively block our ability
to further develop and commercialize our product candidates. Defeff nse of these claims, regardless of their merit, could involve substantial
litigation expense and would be a substantial diversion of employee resources from our business. In the event of a successful claim of
infringement against us, we may have to pay substantial damages, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees for willful infringement,
obtain one or more licenses from third parties, pay royalties or redesign our infringing products, wff hich may be impossible or require
substantial time and monetary expenditure. We cannot predict whether any such license would be available at all or whether it would



96

be availabla e on commercially reasonable terms. Furthermore, even in the absence of litigation, we may need or may choose to obtain
licenses from third parties to advance our research or allow commercialization of our product candidates. We may fail to obtain any of
these licenses at a reasonable cost or on reasonable terms, if at all. In that event, we would be unable to further develop and commercialize
our product candidates. Any of the forff egoing events could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We may nWW ot be successful in obtaiii nii inii g or maintaining necessary rights to product components and processes for ourr
development pipeline through acquisitions and in-licenses.

Because additional product candidates may require the use of proprietary rights held by third parties, the growth of our business
will likely depend in part on our ability to acquire, in-license or use these proprietary rights. In addition, while we have certain patent
rights directed to certain TCR constructs, we may not be able to obtain intellectual property to broad T cell or TCR-T constructs.

Our product candidates may also require specific formulations to work effectively and efficiently and rights to these formulations
may be held by others. Similarly, efficient production or delivery of our product candidates may also require specific compositions or
methods, and the rights to these may be owned by third parties. We may be unable to acquire or in-license any formulations,
compositions, methods of use, processes or other third party intellectual property rights that we identify as necessary or important to our
business operations. We may fail to obtain any of these licenses at a reasonabla e cost or on reasonable terms, if at all, which would harm
our business. We may need to cease use of the compositions or methods covered by such third party intellectual property rights, and
may need to seek to develop alternative approaches that do not infringe on such inteff llectual property rights which may entail additional
costs and development delays, even if we were able to develop such alternatives, which may not be feasible. Even if we are able to
obtain a license, it may be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same technologies licensed to us. In that event,
we may be required to expend significant time and resources to develop or license replacement technology. Moreover, the specific
antibodies that will be used with our product candidates may be covered by the intellectual property rights of others.

Additionally, we may collaborate with academic institutions to accelerate our preclinical research or development under written
agreements with these institutions. In certain cases, these institutions provide us with an option to negotiate a license to any of the
institution’s rights in technology resulting from the collaboration. Regardless of such option, we may be unable to negotiate a license
within the specified timeframe or under terms that are acceptable to us. If we are unable to do so, the institution may offer the intellectual
property rights to others, potentially blocking our ability to pursue our program. If we are unable to successfully obtain rights to required
third party intellectual property or to maintain the existing intellectual property rights we have, we may have to abandon development
of such program and our business and financial condition could suffer.

The licensing and acquisition of third party intellectual property rights is a competitive area, and companies that may be more
established or have greater resources than we do may also be pursuing strategies to license or acquire third party intellectual property
rights that we may consider necessary or attractive irr n order to commercialize our product candidates. More established companies may
have a competitive advantage over us due to their size, cash resources and greater clinical development and commercialization
capabilities.

We mWW ay eventually become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our intellectual property and proprietary rights, includingr
any patents that we or our licensors may obtain in the future, which could be expensive, time-consuming and unsuccessful.ll

In the future, competitors or other third parties may infringe any patents that we or our licensors may obtain. To counter any such
future infringement or unauthorized use, we may eventually be required to file infringement claims, which can be expensive and time-
consuming. Any claims we assert against perceived infringers could provoke these parties to assert counterclaims against us alleging
that we infringe their patents or that our licensors’ patents are invalid or unenforceable. In addition, in a patent infringement proceeding,
a court may decide that one or more patents that we may obtain in the future is not valid or is unenforceable, in whole or in part, construe
the patent’s claims narrowly or may refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that such patents,
if any, do not cover the technology in question. An adverse result in any litigation or defense proceedings could put one or more of such
patents, if any, at risk of being invalidated, held unenforceable, or interpreted narrowly and could put our patent applications at risk ofa
not issuing. Asserting any patent rights we may obtain in the futff ure, and defending challenget s to our rights, regardless of their merit,
would involve substantial litigation expense and would be a substantial diversion of employee resources from our business and we may
find it impractical or undesirable to enforce our intellectual property against some third parties.
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Post-grant, interference or derivation proceedings provoked by third parties or brought by us or declared by the USPTO may be
necessary to deterrr mine the validity or priority of inventions with respect to our or our licensors’ patent applications or any patents that
may issue therefrom. An unfavorable outcome could result in a loss of any patent rights we may have. Furthermore, because of the
substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential
information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation or proceeding. In addition, there could be public
announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors
perceive these results to be negative, it could have a material adverse effeff ct on the price of our common stock. Any of the foregoing
events could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Obtaininii g and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedures, document submission, fee
payments and other requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection coutt ld be reduced or
elill miii nii ated for ntt on-compliance with these requirements.

Some of our patent applications may be allowed in the future. We cannot be certain that an allowed patent application will become
an issued patent. There may be events that cause withdrawal of the allowance of a patent application. For example, after a patent
application has been allowed, but prior to being issued, material that could be relevant to patentability may be identified. In such
circumstances, the applicant may pull the application from allowance in order for the USPTO or foreign patent agency to review the
application in view of the new material. In that circumstance, the USPTO or the other agency may not re-allow an application in view
of the newmaterial. Further, periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees and various other governmental fees on patents and/or
patent applications will be due to be paid to the USPTO and foreign patent agencies at several stages over the lifetime of the patentsff
and/or patent applications. The USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies also require compliance with a number of
procedural, documentary and other similar provisions during the patent application process and following the issuance of a patent. We
also may be dependent on our licensors to take the necessary action to comply with these requirements with respect to our licensed
intellectuat l property. While an inadvertent lapse can in many cases be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance
with the applicable rules, there are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent
application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. Noncompliance events that could result in
abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application include, but are not limited to, failure to respond to official actions within
prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees and failure to properly legalize and submit formal documents. In such an event, our
competitors and other third parties might be able to enter the market without infringing our or our licensors’ patents and patent
applications, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

If we obtain any patents covering our product candidates, they could nonetheless be found invalid or unenforceable if
challenll ged in couii rt or the USPTO.

The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity or enforceability. Our owned or in-licensed patents,ff
and any of our owned or in-licensed patent applications that may issue in the future, may be challenged at the USPTO or foreign patent
offices in re-examination, inter partes review, post-grant review and equivalent proceedings in foreign jurisdictions (such as opposition
proceedings). Such proceedings could result in the revocation of or amendment to such patents in such a way that they no longer cover
our product candidates or technologies. If we or one of our licensing partners initiates legal proceedings against a third party to enforce
a patent that we may obtain in the future covering one of our product candidates, the defeff ndant could counterclaim that such patent is
invalid and/or unenforceable. In patent litigation in the United States, counterclaims alleging invalidity and/or unenforceability are
commonplace, and there are numerous grounds upon which a third party can assert invalidity or unenforceability of a patent. Grounds
for a validity challenge could be an alleged failff ure to meet any of several statutory requirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness
or non-enabla ement. Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that someone connected with prosecution of the
patent withheld relevant information from the USPTO, or made a misleading statement, during prosecution. Third parties may also raise
similar claims before administrative bodies in the United States or abroad, even outside the context of litigation. Such mechanisms
include re-examination, inter partes review, post-grant review and equivalent proceedings in foreign jurisdictions (such as opposition
proceedings). Such proceedings could result in revocation or amendment to any patents we may obtain in the future in such a way that
they would no longer cover our product candidates. The outcome following legal assertions of invalidity and unenforceabiliff ty is
unpredictable. With respect to the validity question, for example, we cannot be certain that there is no invalidating prior art, of which
we, our patent counsel and the patent examiner were unaware during prosecution. If a defendant were to prevail on a legal assertion of
invalidity and/or unenforceability, or if we are otherwise unable to adequately protect our rights, we would lose at least part, and perhaps
all, of any patent protection we may eventuat lly obtain on our product candidates and technologies. Such a loss of patent protection could
have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects and our ability to commercialize
or license our technology and product candidates.
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Changes to patent law and its interpretation in the United States and in foreign jurisdictions could diminish the value of patentsCC
in general and mii ay impact the valill dity, scope or enforceability of our patent rff ighi ts, ttt htt ereby impairing our abiliti y to protect ourtt
product candidatett s and tett chnologiell s.

As is the case with other biopharmaceutical companies, our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, particularly any
patents that may issue from our pending patent applications. Changes in either the patent laws or in their interpretation in any jurisdiction
that we seek patent protection may diminish our ability to protect our inventions, obtain, maintain and enforce our intellectual propertyff
and proprietary rights and, more generally, may affect the value of our intellectual property and proprietary rights. The United States
continues to adapt to wide-ranging patent reform legislation that became effective starting in 2012. Moreover, various courts, including
the U.S. Supreme Court, have rendered decisions that have narrowed the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances
and weakened the rights of patent owners in certain situations. In addition to increasing uncertainty with regard to our ability to obtain
patents in the future, this combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the value of patents, once obtained. Depending
on decisions by the U.S. Congress, the federal courts, and the USPTO, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in
unpredictable ways that would weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce patents that we might obtain in the future. For
example, in the case Assoc. for Molecular Pathology v. Myriad Geneff tics, Inc., the U.S. Supreme Court held that certain claims to DNA
molecules are not patentable. We cannot predict how futff ure decist ions by the courts, Congress or the USPTO may impact the value of
our pending patent applications. Similarly, any adverse changes in the laws and regulations governing patents in other jurisdictions
could have an adverse effect on our ability to obtain and effeff ctively enforce our patent rights and have a material adverse effect on our
business and fiff nancial condition.

We hWW ave lill miii tii ed foreign intellectt tual property rights and may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights thrtt oughu out
the world.

Filing, prosecuting and defeff nding patents on product candidates in all countries throughout the world would be prohibitively
expensive, and our intellectual property rights in some countries outside the United States can be less extensive than those in the United
States. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws in the
United States, and we may encounter difficulties in protecting and defending such rights in foreign jurisdictions. Consequently, we may
not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in some or all countries outside the United States, or from selling or
importing products made using our inventions in and into the United States or other jurisdictions. Competitors or other third parties may
use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own products and further, may alsoff
export otherwise infringing products to territories where we have patent protection, but enforcement is not as strong as in the United
States. These products may compete with our product candidates and our patent rights or other intellectual property rights may not be
effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing. In addition, certain countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a
patent owner may be compelled to grant licenses to other parties. Furthermore, many countries limit the enforceability of patents against
other parties, including government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, the patent owner may have limited remedies,
which could materially diminish the value of any patents. Most of our patent portfolio is at the very early stage. We will need to decide
whether, and in which jurisdictions, to pursue protection for the various inventions in our portfolff io prior to applicable filing deadlines.

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign
jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents,
trade secrets and other intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to biopharmaceutical products and biotechnology,
which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement, misappropriation or other violation of our intellectual property rights,
including any infringement of any patents we may obtain in the future in such countries, or marketing of competing products in violation
of our proprietary rights generally. Proceedings to enforce aff ny patent rights we may obtain in the future in foreign jurisdictions could
result in substantial costs and divert our effff orff ts and attention from otff her aspects of our business, could put our patent applications at risk
of not issuing, any patents we obtain in the future at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and could provoke third parties to
assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may
not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to establish our intellectuat l property rights around the world may be
inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property that we develop or license.ff

We mWW ay be subject to claims challenging the inventorship or ownership of our patent rights and other intellectual property.ii

Wemay be subject to claims that former employees, collaborators or other third parties have an interest in our intellectual property
as an inventor or co-inventor. It is our policy to enter into confidentiality and intellectual property assignment agreements with our
employees, consultants, and contractors. These agreements generally provide that inventions conceived by the party in the course of
rendering services to us will be our exclusive property. However, such agreements may not be honored and may not effectively assign
intellectual property rights to us. For instance, the assignment of intellectual property rights may not be self-executing, or the assignment
agreements may be breached, and we may be forced to bring claims against current or former employees, consultants, and contractors,
or defend claims that they may bring against us, to determine the ownership of what we regard as our intellectual property. Moreover,
there may be circumstances where we are unable to negotiate for such ownership rights.
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Disputes regarding ownership or inventorship of intellectual property can also arise in other contexts, such as collaborations and
sponsored research. If we are subject to a dispute challenging our rights in or to inventions or other intellectual property, such a dispute
could be expensive and time consuming. If we are unsuccessful in defending such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages,
unless we are able to obtain a license, which might not be available on commercially reasonabla e terms or at all, we could lose valuable
rights in intellectual property, such as the exclusive ownership of, or right to use, intellectual property that we regard as our own or that
is important to our business. Even if we are successful in defending againsff t such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and
be a distraction to management and other employees, and certain customers, licensors or partners may defer engaging with us until the
particular dispute is resolved. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.

We may be subject to claims that our employees, consulWW tll antt ts or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosedtt
trade secrets or other confidential information of their formrr er emplm oyll ers or other third parties or claims asserting ownershiptt
of what we regard as our own intellectual property.

We have received, and will continue to receive, confidential and proprietary information from third parties. In addition, we have
employed and expect to continue to employ individuals who were previously employed at university or other biotechnology or
pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential competitors, in some cases until recently. Although we try to ensure
that our employees, consultants, advisors and independent contractors do not use the proprietary information or know-how of others in
their work for us, we may be subject to claims that we, our employees, advisors, consultants or independent contractors have deliberately,
inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or other proprietary information of these former
employers, competitors or other third parties, or to claims that we have improperly used or obtained such trade secrets. We may be
subject to claims that we or our employees, consultants or independent contractors have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed
confidential information of these third parties or our employees’ former employers or our consultants’ or contractors’ current or former
clients or customers. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. Even if we are successful in defending against these
claims, litigation could result in substantial cost and be a distraction to our management and employees. If we are not successful in
defending such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we could lose access or exclusive access to valuable intellectual
property rights and face increased competition to our business. Any of the foregoing could harm our business, financial condition, results
of operations and prospects.

We may be subject to ctt laill ms, and damii ages resulting from claims, that we or our employees have wrongfully used or disclff osedll
alleged trade secrets of our competitors or are in breach of non-competition or non-solicitation agreements witt th ourii
competitortt srr .

Many of our employees were previously employed at other pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential
competitors, in some cases until recently. We may be subject to claims that we or our employees have inadvertently or otherwise used
or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information of these former employers or competitors. In addition, we have been and may
in the future be subject to claims that we caused an employee to breach the terms of his or her non-competition or non-solicitation
agreement. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims,
litigation could result in substantial costs and could be a distraction to management. If our defeff nse to those claims fails, in addition to
paying monetary damages, we may lose valuabla e intellectual property rights or personnel. Any litigation or the threat thereof may
adversely affect our ability to hire employees. A loss of key personnel or their work product could hamper or prevent our ability to
commercialize product candidates or potential products, which could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations,
financial condition and prospects.

Patentt t termtt s may be inadequate to protect our competitive position on our product candidates for an adequate amount of time.
If we do not obtain patett nt term extension and data exclusivity for any of our current or future product candidatett s, our business
may be materially harmed.

Depending upon the timing, duration, conditions and specifics of any FDA marketing approval of any of our current or future
product candidates that we may receive, one or more U.S. patents that we may obtain in the future may be eligible for limited patent
term extension under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, or the Hatch-Waxman Amendments, and
one or more of our foreign patent rights may be eligible for patent term eff xtension under similar legislation, for example, in the European
Union. In the United States, the Hatch-Waxman Amendments permit a patent extension term of up to five years as compensation for
effff eff ctive patent term lost during product development and the FDA regulatory review process. A patent term extension cannot extend
the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product approval, only one patent may be extended and only
those claims covering the approved drug, a method for using it, or a method for manufacturing it may be extended. Howff ever, there are
no assurances that the FDA or any comparable foreign regulatory authority or national patent office will grant such extensions, in whole
or in part. For example, we may not be granted an extension if we fail to exercise due diligence during the testing phase or regulatory
review process, fail to apply within applicable deadlines, fail to apply prior to the expiration of relevant patents, or otherwise fail to
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satisfy other applicable requirements. Moreover, the applicable tff ime period or the scope of patent protection afforded could be less than
we request. If we are unable to obtain patent term extension or term of any such extension is less than we request, the period during
which we can enforce our patent rights for the applicable product candidate will be shortened, and our competitors or other third parties
may obtain approval to market competing products following expiration of any patents that we may obtain in the future, and our business,
financial condition, results of operations, and prospects could be materially harmed.

If our trademarks are not adequately protected, then we may not be able to build name recognition in our markets of interest
and our business may be adversely affected.

We rely on both registered and common law protection for our trademarks, and have filed applications to register various
trademarks, including “TSCAN THERAPEUTIR CS” and “TSCAN,” for use in connection with our product candidates and services in
various countries. These trademarks may not afford adequate protection. Our trademark applications may be provisionally or ultimately
refused by the USPTO or the trademark agencies of other countries, or such applications may be challenged by others. We also may not
have the financial resources to enforce the rights under these trademarks, which may enable others to use the trademarks and dilute their
value. Our trademarks may be challenged, infringed, circumvented or declared generic or determined to be infringing the trademarks of
others. In such a case, we may not be able to protect or derive any value from such trademarks, or may be requirff ed to cease using a
conflicting mark entirely. The value of our trademarks may also be diminished by our own actions, such as failing to impose appropriate
quality control when licensing our trademarks. Any of the foregoing could impair the value of, or ability to use, our trademarks, reduce
our ability to compete effectively, and have an adverse effeff ct on our business.

Certain of our in-licensed patent rights are, and our future owned and in-licensed patent rights may be, subject to a reservation
of rights by one or more thirii d parties, including government march-in rights with regards to certain patents, that may limit
our abilii ill tii y to exclude third parties from comtt mercializing product candidatett s similar or identical to outt rs.

Certain of our in-licensed patent rights may be subject to a reservation of rights by one or more third parties. Pursuant to the Bayh-
Dole Act, the U.S. government has march-in rights with regards to government-funded technology. For example, the U.S. government
has certain rights, including march-in rights, to patent rights and technology funded by the U.S. government and licensed to us from
BWH. When new technologies are developed with government funding, in order to secure ownership of such patent rights, the recipient
of such fundiff ng is required to comply with certain government regulations, including timely disclosing the inventions claimed in such
patent rights to the U.S. government and timely electing title to such inventions. Any failure to timely elect title to such inventions may
provide the U.S. government with the right to, at any time, take title to such inventions. Additionally, the U.S. government generally
obtains certain rights in any resulting patents, including a non-exclusive license authorizing the government to use the invention or to
have others use the invention on its behalf. If the government decides to exercise these rights, it is not required to engage us as its
contractor in connection with doing so. These rights may permit the U.S. government to disclose our confidential information to third
parties and to exercise march-in rights to use or allow third parties to use our licensed technology. The U.S. government can exercise its
march-in rights if it determines that action is necessary becausrr e we fail to achieve practical application of the government-funded
technology, because action is necessary to alleviate health or safety needs, to meet requirements of federal regulations, or to give
preference to U.S. industry. In addition, our rights in such inventions may be subject to certain requirements to manufacture products
embodying such inventions in the United States. Any exercise by the government of any of the foregoing rights could harm our
competitive position, business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.

Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties

We plan to rely on third parties to cll onduct our clinical trials. If these third parties do not propertt ly and successll fully carry outs
thtt eir cii ontrtt actual duties or meet expected deadlines, we may ns ot be able tll o obtain regulattt ory approval of or ctt ommercialize ourll
product candidates.

We plan to utilize and depend upon independent investigators and collaborators, such as medical institutions, CROs, CMOs and
strategic partners to conduct our preclinical studies and clinical trials under agreements with us. We expect to have to negotiate budgets
and contracts with CROs, trial sites and CMOs which may result in delays to our development timelines and increased costs. We will
rely heavily on these third parties over the course of our clinical trials, and we control only certain aspects of their activities. As a result,
we will have less direct control over the conduct, timing and completion of these clinical trials and the management of data developed
through clinical trials than would be the case if we were relying entirely upon our own staff. Nevertheless, we are rff esponsible for
ensuring that each of our studies is conducted in accordance with applicable protocol, legal and regulatory requirements and scientific
standards, and our reliance on third parties does not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities. We and these third parties are required
to comply with GCPs, which are regulations and guidelines enforced by the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities forff
product candidates in clinical development. Regulatory authorities enforce these GCPs through periodic inspections of trial sponsors,
principal investigators and trial sites. If we or any of these third parties fail to comply with applicable GCP regulations, the clinical data
generated in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may ra equire us to
perform additional clinical trials before approving our marketing applicationsa . We cannot provide assurance that, upon inspection, such
regulatory authorities will determine that any of our clinicrr al trials comply with the GCP regulations. In addition, our clinical trials must
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be conducted with biologic product produced under cGMP regulations, including cGTP regulations, and will require a large number of
test patients. Our failure or any faff ilure by these third parties to comply with these regulations or to recruir t a sufficient number of patients
may require us to repeat clinical trials, which would delay the regulatory approval process. Moreover, our business may be implicated
if any of these third parties violates federal or state fraud and abuse or false claims laws and regulff ations or healthcare privacy and
security laws.

Any third parties conducting our clinical trials are not and will not be our employees and, except for remedies available to us
under our agreements with such third parties, we cannot control whether or not they devote sufficient time and resources to our ongoing,
clinical and non-clinical product candidates. These third parties may also have relationships with other commercial entities, including
our competitors, for whom they may also be conducting clinical trials or other drug development activities, which could affeff ct their
performance on our behalf. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or obligations or meet expected
deadlines, if they need to be replaced or if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to
adhere to our clinical protocols or regulatory requirements or for other reasons, our clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated
and wemay not be able to complete development of, obtain regulatory approval of or successfully commercialize our product candidates.a
As a result, our fiff nancial results and the commercial prospects for our product candidates would be harmed, our costs could increase
and our abilia ty to generate revenue could be delayed.

Switching or adding third parties to conduct our clinical trials involves substantial cost and requires extensive management time
and focus. In addition, there is a natural transition period when a new third party commences work. As a result, delays occur, which can
materially impact our ability to meet our desired clinical development timelines.

We have in the past antt d may in the future form or seek collaborations or strategic alliances or eii ntett r into additional licensing
arrangements in the future, and we may not realize the benefits of such collaborations, alliances or licensing arrangements.

We have in the past and may in the future form or seek strategic alliances, create joint ventures or collaborations, or enter into
additional licensing arrangements with third parties that we believe will complement or augment our development and
commercialization efforts with respect to our product candidates and any future product candidates that we may develop. Any of these
relationships may require us to incur non-recurring and other charges, increase our near and long-term expenditurest , issue securities that
dilute our existing stockholders or disrupt our management and business.

In addition, we face significant competition in seeking appropriate strategic partners and the negotiation process is time-consuming
and complex. Moreover, we may not be successful in our efforts to establish a strategic partnership or other alternative arrangements
for our product candidates because they may be deemed to be at too early of a stage of development for collaborative effort and third
parties may not view our product candidates as having the requisite potential to demonstrate safety, potency and purity and obtain
marketing appra oval.

Further, collaborations involving our product candidates are subject to numerous risks, which may include the following:

• collaborators have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to a collaboration;a

• collaborators may not perform their obligations as expected;

• collaborators may not pursue development and commercialization of our product candidates or may elect not to continue or
renew development or commercialization of our product candidates based on clinical trial results, changes in their strategic
focus due to the acquisition of competitive products, availability of funding or other external factors, such as a business
combination that diverts resources or creates competing priorities;

• collaborators may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient funding for a clinical trial, stop a clinical trial, abandon a product
candidate, repeat or conduct new clinical trials or require a new formulation of a product candidate for clinical testing;

• collaborators could independently develop, or develop with third parties, products that compete directly or indirectly with
our product candidates;

• a collaborator with marketing and distribution rights to one or more products may not commit sufficient resources to their
marketing and distribution;

• collaborators may not properly maintain or defend our intellectual property or proprietary rights or may use our intellectual
property or proprietary information in a way that gives rise to actuat l or threatened litigation that could jeopardize or
invalidate our intellectual property or proprietary information or expose us to potential liability;

• disputes may arise between us and a collaborator that cause the delay or termination of the research, development or
commercialization of our product candidates, or that result in costly litigation or arbitration that diverts management
attention and resources;
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• the number and type of our collaborations could adversely affect our attractiveness to future collaborators or acquirers;

• there may be conflicts between diffff eff rent collaborators that could negatively affect those collaborations and potentially
others;

• collaborations may be terminated and, if terminated, may result in a need for additional capital to pursue further developmentff
or commercialization of the applicable product candidates; and

• collaborators may own or co-own intellectual property covering our product candidates that results from our collaborating
with them, and in such cases, we would not have the exclusive right to commercialize such intellectual property.

As a result, if we enter into additional collaboration agreements and strategic partnerships or license our product candidates, we
may not be able to realize the benefiff t of such transactions if we are unable to successfully integrate them with our existing operations
and company culture, which could delay our timelines or otherwise adversely affect our business. We also cannot be certain that,
following a strategic transaction or license, we will achieve the revenue or specific net income that justifies such transaction. Any delays
in entering into new collaborations or strategic partnership agreements related to our product candidates could delay the development
and commercialization of our product candidates in certain geographies for certain indications, which would harm our business
prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Our collaboration agreements may grant our collaborators exclusive rights under certain of our intellectual property, and may
therefore preclude us from entering into collaborations with others relating to the same or similar compounds, therapeutic targets,
indications or diseases. For example, our existing Collaboration and License Agreement with Novartis Institutes for BioMedical
Research, Inc. (Novartis) grants Novartis options to obtain exclusive, worldwide licenses to certain target antigens identified in
performance of such agreement and corresponding T cell receptors for such target antigens. In addition, our collaboration agreements
may place restrictions or additional obligations on our ability to license additional compounds in different indications, targets, diseases
or geographical locations. If we fail to comply with or breach any provision of a collaboration agreement, a collaborator may have the
right to terminate, in whole or in part, such agreement or to seek damages. Many of our collaborators also have the right to terminate
the collaboration agreement for cff onvenience. For example, Novartis may terminate its Collaboration and License Agreement with us at
any time for any or no reason upon 90 days’ notice. If a collaboration agreement is terminated, in whole or in part, we may be unable to
continue the development and commercialization of the applicable product candidates, and even if we are able to do so, such efforts
may be delayed and result in additional costs.

We may in the future determine to partner with additional pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for development and
potential commercialization of therapeutic products. We faff ce significant competition in seeking appropriate collaborators. Our ability
to reach a definitive agreement for a collaboration will depend, among other things, upon our assff essment of the collaborator’s resources
and expertise, the terms and conditions of the proposed collaboration and the proposed collaborator’s evaluation of a number of factors.
If we elect to fund and undertake development or commercialization activities on our own, we may need to obtain additional expertise
and additional capital, which may not be availabla e to us on acceptable terms or at all. If we fail to enter into collaborations and do notff
have sufficient funds or expertise to undertake the necessary development and commercialization activities, we may not be able to
further develop our product candidates or bring them to market or continue to develop our discovery platform and our business,
prospects, financial condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

In the future, we may rely on the use of manufacturu inii g suitii ett s in third party GMP facilities or third parties to manufacture ourii
product candidates. Our business could be harmed if we are unable to use third party manufacturing suites or if the third party
manufacturers fail to provide us with sufficient quantirr tii itt es of our product candidatett s or fail to do so at acceptable quality levels,tt
prices, or timing.

We have added manufacturing capacity at our facilities in Waltham, Massachusetts, but the build-out and staffing of the
manufacturing suite may be delayed and the suite may never become operational. We have not yet caused our product candidates to be
manufactured or processed on a commercial scale and may not be able to do so for any of our product candidates.

We expect to use third parties as part of our manufacturing process for registrational trials for our current pipeline, and we may
also use them for product candidates in the future. Our anticipated reliance on a limited number of third party manufacturers exposes usff
to the following risks:

• we may be unable to identify manufacturers on acceptable terms or at all because the number of potential manufacturers is
limited and the FDA must inspect any manufacturers for current cGMP and cGTP compliance as part of our marketing
application;

• a new manufaff cturer wt ould have to be educated in, or develop substantially equivalent processes for, the production of our
product candidates;
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• our manufacturers may have little or no experience with autologous cell products, which are products made from a patient’s
own cells, and therefore may require a significant amount of support from us in order to implement and maintain the
infrastructure and processes required to manufacture our product candidates;

• our third party manufaff cturt ers might be unabla e to timely manufacture our product candidates or produce the quantity and
quality required to meet our clinical and commercial needs, if any;

• our third party suppliers or collaborators from whom we receive our antibodies used in combination with our product
candidates may be unable to timely manufacture or provide the applicable antibody or produce the quantity and quality
required to meet our clinical and commercial needs;

• contract manufacturers may not be able to execute our manufacturing procedures and other logistical support requirements
appropriately;

• our futff ure contract manufacturers may not perform as agreed, may not devote sufficient resources to our product candidatest
or may not remain in the contract manufacturing business for the time required to supply our clinical trials or to successfully
produce, store, and distribute our product , if any;

• manufacturers are subject to ongoing periodic unannounced inspection by the Fff DA and corresponding state agencies to
ensure strict compliance with cGMP, cGTP and other government regulations and corresponding foreign standards. We do
not have control over third party manufacturers’ compliance with these regulations and standards;

• we may not own, or may have to share, the intellectual property rights to any improvements made by our third party
manufacturers in the manufacturing process for our product candidates;

• our third party manufaff cturers could breach or terminate their agreements with us;

• raw materials and components used in the manufacturing process, particularly those for which we have no other source or
supplier, may not be available or may not be suitable or acceptable for use due to material or component defects;

• our contract manufacturers and critical reagent suppliers may be subject to inclement weather, as well as natural or man-
made disasters;

• our contract manufacturers may have unacceptable or inconsistent product quality success rates and yields, and we have no
direct control over our contract manufacturers’ ability to maintain adequate quality control, quality assurance and qualified
personnel; and

• our contract manufacturers may be adversely affeff cted by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the ongoing U.S.-China trade
war, political unrest in countries where we or our partners operate, earthquakes and other natural or man-made disasters,
equipment failures, labor shortages, power failures, and numerous other factors.

Each of these risks could delay or prevent the completion of our clinical trials or the approval of any of our product candidates by
the FDA, result in higher costs or adversely impact commercialization of our product candidates. In addition, we will rely on third parties
to perform certain specification tests on our product candidates prior to delivery to patients. If these tests are not appropriately done and
test data are not reliable, patients could be put at risk of serious harm and the FDA could place significant restrictions on our company
until deficiencies are remedied.

The manufacture of biological drug products is complex and requires significant expertise and capital investment, including the
development of advanced manufacturing techniques and process controls. Manufacturers of biologic products often encounter
difficulties in production, particularly in scaling up or out, validating the production process and assuring high reliability of the
manufacturing process (including the absence of contamination). These problems include logistics and shipping, difficulties with
production costs and yields, quality control, including stability of the product, intermediates, or raw materials, product testing, operator
error and availabilia ty of qualififf ed personnel, as well as compliance with strictly enforced federal, state and foreign regulations.
Furthermore, if contaminants are discovered in our supply of our product candidates or in the manufacturing faff cilities, such
manufaff cturing faff cilities may need to be closed for an extended period of time to investigate and remedy the contamination. We cannot
provide assurance that any stability failures or other issues relating to the manufacture of our product candidates will not occur in the
future.

We may fail to manage the logistics of collecting and shipping patient material to our manufacturing site (or that of any third party
we engage) and shipping the product candidate back to the patient. Logistical and shipment delays and problems caused by us, our
vendors or other faff ctors not in our control, such as weather, could prevent or delay the delivery of product candidates to patients.
Additionally, we have to maintain a complex chain of identity and chain of custody with respect to patient material as it moves to the
manufacturing facility, through the manufacturing process and back to the patient. Failure to maintain chain of identity and chain of
custody could result in patient death, loss of product or regulatory action.
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Our product candidates rely on the availabilill ty of sii pes cialtll y materials, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms ortt
at all.

Our product candidates require specialty materials, some of which are manufactured by small companies with limited resources
and experience to support a commercial product. We do not have long-term contracts with many of these suppliers and may not be able
to contract with them on acceptable terms or at all. In addition, a number of our suppliers normally support blood-based hospital
businesses and generally do not have the capacity to support commercial products manufactured under cGMP by biopharmaceutical
firms or may divert their resources towards hospitals rather than us. Our suppliers may be ill-equipped to support our needs, especially
in non-routine circumstances like an FDA inspection or medical crisis, such as widespread contamination. We may experience delays
in receiving key materials to support clinical or commercial manufacturing. For example, in 2020, we experienced significant delays in
receiving shipments of materials utilized in our cell expansion process as a result of the distributor prioritizing distribution of such
products for medical use, rather than product candidate development, and, subsequently, increased demand following the easing of state
and federal workplace restrictions.

In addition, some of our raw materials are currently sourced from a single supplier, or a small number of suppliers. For example,
the type of cell culture media and cryopreservation buffer that we currently use in our manufacturing process for TSCff -100 and TSC-
101 are each only sourced from a limited number of suppliers. In addition, the cell processing equipment and tubing that we use in our
current manufacturing process is only sourced from a single supplier. We also use certain biologic materials, that are available from
multiple suppliers, but each version may perforff m differently, requiring us to characterize them and potentially modify some of our
protocols if we change suppliers. We cannot be sure that these suppliers will remain in business, or that they will not be purchased by
one of our competitors or another company that is not interested in continuing to produce these materials for our intended purpose.rr
Accordingly, if we no longer have access to these suppliers, we may experience delays in our clinical or commercial manufacturing
which could harm our business or results of operations.

Our manufacturing process needs to comply with FDA regulations relating to the quality and reliability of such processes. Any
failure to comply with relevm ant regulations could rese ult in delays in or termination of our clill nii ical programs and suspension or
withdrawal of any regulatory approvals.

In order to commercially produce our product candidates either at our own facility or at a third party’s facility, we will need to
comply with the FDA’s cGMP regulations and guidelines, including cGTPs. We may encounter difficulties in achieving quality control
and quality assurance and may experience shortages in qualified personnel. We are subject to inspections by the FDA and comparablea
foreign regulatory authorities to confirm compliance with applicable regulatory requirements. Any failure to follow cGMP, cGTP or
other regulatory requirements or delay, interruption or other issues that arise in the manufacture, fill-finish, packaging, or storage of our
TCR-T therapy candidates as a result of a failure of our facilities or the facilities or operations of third parties to comply with regulatory
requirements or pass any regulatory authority inspection could significantly impair our ability to develop and commercialize our TCR-
T programs, including leading to signififf cant delays in the availability of our TCR-T therapy candidates for our clinical trials or the
termination of or suspension of a clinical trial, or the delay or prevention of a filing or approval of marketing applications for our producta
candidates. Significant non-compliance could also result in the imposition of sanctions, including warning or untitled letters, fines,
injunctions, civil penalties, faff ilure of regulatory authorities to grant marketing approvals for our product candidates, delays, suspension
or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, seizures or recalls of products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions, any of
which could damage our reputation and our business.

If our tII hird party manufacturers use hazardous and biological materials in a manner that causes injury or violates applicablett
law, we may be liable for damages.ff

Our research and development activities involve the controlled use of potentially hazardous substances, including chemical and
biological materials, by our third party manufacturers. Our manufacturing is (and any third party manufacturers we engage are) subject
to federal, state and local laws and regulations in the United States governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of
medical and hazardous materials. Although we believe that our manufacturers’ procedures for using, handling, storing and disposing of
these materials comply with legally prescribed standards, we cannot completely eliminate the risk of contamination or injury resultingrr
frommedical or hazardous materials. As a result of any such contamination or injury, we may incur liability or local, city, state or federal
authorities may curtail the use of these materials and interrupt our business operations. In the event of an accident, we could be held
liable for damages or penalized with fiff nes, and the liability could exceed our resources. We do not have any insurance for liabilities
arising from medical or hazardous materials. Compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations is expensive, and current
or future environmental regulations may impair our research, development and production efforts, which cff ould harm our business,
prospects, financial condition or results of operations.
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Risks Related to Employee Matters and Managing Growth

We arWW e highly dependent on our key personnel, and if we are not successful in attracting and retaining highly qualifiedll
personnel, we may not be able to successfully implement our business strategy.

Our ability to compete in the highly competitive biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries depends upon our ability to attract
and retain highly qualified managerial, scientific and medical personnel. We are highly dependent on our management, scientific and
medical personnel. The loss of the services of any of our executive officers, other key employees and other scientific and medical
advisors, and an inability to find suitable replacements could result in delays in product development and harm our business.

We conduct our operations at our faff cility inWaltham,Massachusetts. This region is headquarters to many other biopharmaceutical
companies and many academic and research institutt ions. Competition for skilled personnel in our market is intense and may limit our
abia lity to hire and retain highly qualififf ed personnel on acceptable terms or at all. Changes to U.S. immigration and work authorization
laws and regulations, including those that restrain the flow of scientific and professional talent, can be significantly affected by political
forces and levels of economic activity. Our business may be materially adversely affected if legislative or administrative changes to
immigration or visa laws and regulations impair our hiring processes and goals or projects involving personnel who are not U.S. citizens.

To encourage valuable employees to remain at our company, in addition to salary and cash incentives, we have provided stock
options that vest over time. The value to employees of stock options that vest over time may be significantly affected by movements in
our stock price that are beyond our control, and may at any time be insufficient to counteract more lucrative offers from other companies.ff
Despite our efforts to retain valuable employees, members of our management, scientific and development teams may terminate their
employment with us on short notice. Although we have employment agreements with our key employees, these employment agreements
provide for at-will employment, which means that any of our employees could leave our employment at any time, with or without notice.
Our success also depends on our ability to continue to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled junior, mid-level and senior managers
as well as junior, mid-level and senior scientififf c and medical personnel.

We will need to grow thtt e sizii e of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing this growth.

As of February 28, 2023, we had 137 full-time employees and 1 part-time employee. As our developmerr nt and commercialization
plans and strategies develop, and as we continue operating as a public company, we expect to need additional managerial, operational,
sales, marketing, financial and other personnel, as well as additional faff cilities to expand our operations. Future growth would impose
signififf cant added responsibilities on members of management, including:

• identifying, recruiting, integrating, maintaining and motivating additional employees;

• managing our internal development efforts effeff ctively, including the clinical and FDA review process for our product
candidates, while complying with our contractual obligations to contractors and other third parties; and

• improving our operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures.

Our future financial performance and our ability to commercialize our product candidates will depend, in part, on our ability to
effectively manage any futff urt e growth, and our management may also have to divert a disproportionate amount of its attention away
from day-to-day activities in order to devote a substantial amount of time to managing these growth activities.

We currently rely, and for the foreseeable future will continue to rely, in substantial part on certain independent organizations,
advisors and consultants to provide certain services, including substantially all aspects of regulatory approval, and clinical trial
management. There can be no assurance that the services of independent organizations, advisors and consultants will continue to be
available to us on a timely basis when needed, or that we can find qualified replacements. In addition, if we are unable to effectivelyff
manage our outsourced activities or if the quality or accuracy of the services provided by consultants is compromised for any reason,
our clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated, and wemay not be able to obtain regulatory approval of our product candidates
or otherwise advance our business. There can be no assurance that we will be able to manage our existing consultants or find other
competent outside contractors and consultants on economically reasonable terms, or at all.

If we are not able to effectively expand our organization by hiring new employees and expanding our groups of consultants and
contractors, or we are not able to effectively build out new facilities to accommodate this expansion, we may not be able to successfully
implement the tasks necessary to further develop and commercialize our product candidates and, accordingly, may not achieve our
research, development and commercialization goals.
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If prII oduct liabilii ill ty lawsuits are brought againsii t us, we may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limitll
commercialization of our product candidates.

We face an inherent risk of product liability as a result of the planned clinical testing of our product candidates and will face an
even greater risk if we commercialize any products. For example, we may be sued if our product candidates cause or are perceived to
cause injury or are found to be otherwise unsuitabla e during clinical testing, manufaff cturing, marketing or sale. Any such prt oduct liability
claims may include allegations of defeff cts in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of dangers inherent in the product,
negligence, strict liability or a breach of warranties. Claims could also be asserted under state consumer protection acts. If we cannot
successfulff ly defend ourselves against product liability claims, we may incur substantial liabilities or be required to limit
commercialization of our product candidates. Even successful defense would require significant fiff nancial and management resources.
Regardless of the merits or eventual outcome, liabia lity claims may result in:

• decreased demand for our product candidates or products that we may develop;

• injury trr o our reputation;

• withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

• initiation of investigations by regulators;

• costs to defeff nd the related litigation;

• a diversion of management’s time and our resources;

• substantial monetary arr wards to trial participants or patients;

• product recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketing or promotional restrictions;

• loss of revenue;

• exhaustion of any available insurance and our capia tal resources;

• the inability to commercialize any product candidate; and

• a decline in our share price.

Failure to obtain or retain sufficient product liability insurance at an acceptable cost to protect against potential product liability
claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of products we develop, alone or with corporate collaborators. Although we have
clinical trial insurance, our insurance policies also have various exclusions, and we may be subject to a product liability claim for which
we have no coverage. We may have to pay any amounts awarded by a court or negotiated in a settlement that exceed our coverage
limitations or that are not covered by our insurance, and we may not have, or be able to obtain, sufficient capital to pay such amounts.
Even if our agreements with any future corporate collaborators entitle us to indemnification against losses, such indemnification mayff
not be available or adequate should any claim arise.

Our abilii ill tii y ttt o utilize our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes mtt ay be limited.

Under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change”
(generally defined as one or more shareholders or groups of shareholders who own at least 5 percent of the corporation’s equity
increasing their equity ownership in the aggregate by a greater than 50 percentage point change (by value) over a three-year period), the
corporation’s ability to use its pre-change net operating loss carryforwards and other pre-change tax attributes to offset its post-change
taxable income may be limited. As a result of our initial public offering, our most recent private placements and other transactions that
have occurred over the past three years, we may have experienced, such an “ownership change.” We may also experience ownership
changes in the future as a result of subsequent shifts in our stock ownership. As of December 31, 2022, we had U.S. federal net operating
loss carryforwards of $86.2 million and U.S. federal research and development tax credit carryforwards of $6.9 million that expire
through 2042 and which could be limited if we experience an “ownership change.” Under the current law, federal net operating loss
carryforwards generated in taxabla e years beginning after December 31, 2017 will not be subject to expiration. However, any such net
operating loss carryforwards may only offff sff et 80% of our annual taxable income in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2020.
State net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes may be similarly limited. Any such limitations may result in increased tax
liabilities that could adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial position and cash flows.
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Risks Related to Our Common Stock and Our Status as a Public Company

We do not know whether an active trtt ading markerr t will continue to develop or be sustained for our common stock and, as a
result, it may be difficult for our stockholders to sell their shares of our common stock.

Our common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Global Market in July 2021. Prior to July 2021, there was no public market for
our common stock, and we cannot assure you that an active trading market for our shares will continue to develop or be sustained. As a
result, it may be difficult for our stockholders to sell their shares without depressing the market price of our common stock, or at all.

The price of our common stock is volatile and fluctuates substantially, which could result in substantial losses for ourll
stoctt kholdersrr .

Our stock price has been, and is likely to continue to be, volatile. The stock market in general, and the market for smallerff
biopharmaceutical companies in particular, have experienced extreme price volatility and volume fluctuations that have often been
unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. As a result of this volatility, our stockholders may not be able to sell
their common stock at or above the price they paid for their shares. The market price for our common stock may be influenced by many
factors, including:

• overall performance of the equity markets;

• our operating performance and the performance of other similar companies;

• results from our ongoing clinical trials and future clinical trials with our current and futff ure product candidates or of ourt
competitors;

• delays in the commencement, enrollment and the ultimate completion of clinical trials;

• changes in our projected operating results that we provide to the public, our failure to meet these projections or changes in
recommendations by securities analysts that elect to follow our common stock;

• regulatory arr ctions with respect to our product candidates;

• regulatory or legal developments in the United States and other countries;

• the level of expenses related to future product candidates or clinical development programs;

• our failure to achieve product development or commercialization goals or regulatory approval milestones in the timeframe
we announce;

• changes in hospital or emergency care partner practices;

• announcements of acquisitions, strategic alliances or significant agreements by us or by our competitors;

• developments or disputes concerning intellectual property or proprietary rights;

• our ability to obtain, maintain, protect and enforce our intellectual properff ty and proprietary rights;

• recruitment or departure of key personnel;

• the economy as a whole andmarket conditions in our industry, including conditions resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic;
or the ongoing conflff ict between Russia and Ukraine;

• variations in our financial results or the financial results of companies that are perceived to be similar to us;

• fiff nancing or other corporate transactions, or inability to obtain additional funding;

• trading activity by a limited number of stockholders who together beneficially own a substantial amount of our outstanding
common stock;

• the expiration of market standoff or contractual lock-up agreements, as applicable;

• the size of our market float; and

• the other faff ctors described in this “Risk Factors” section.
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In addition, the stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and cff ontinue to affect
the market prices of equity securities of many biopharmaceutical companies. Stock prices of many biopharmaceutical companies have
fluctuated in a manner unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. In the past, stockholders have
fiff led securities class action litigation following periods of market volatility. If we were to become involved in securities litigation, it
could subject us to substantial costs, divert resources and the attention of management from our business and adversely affect our
business.

If seII curities or industry analysts do not publish research or publill sh inaccurate or unfavorable research about our buii siness,
our stock price and trading volume could declill nii e.ee

The trading market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish
about us or our business. If no or only very few securities analysts commence coverage of us, or if industry analysts cease coverage of
us, the trading price for our common stock would be negatively affected. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our
common stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our common stock price would likely decline. If one
or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our common stock could decrease,
which might cause our common stock price and trading volume to decline.

Substantial amounts of our outstanding shares may be sold into the market. If there are substantt tial salell s of shares of our
common stock, the price of our common stock could decline.

The price of our common stock could decline if there are substantial sales of our common stock, particularly sales by our directors,
executive officers and significant stockholders, or if there is a large number of shares of our common stock available for sale and theff
market perceives that sales will occur. Shares held by directors, executive officers and their affiliates will be subject to volume limitations
or other restrictions under Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and various vesting agreements.

Certain of our stockholders have rights, subject to some conditions above, to require us to file registration statements covering
their shares or to include their shares in registration statements that we may file for ourselves or our stockholders. In addition, the Loan
Agreement with K2HV provides the lenders with certain registration rights with respect to the Conversion Shares (as defined in the
Loan Agreement). Pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement, we are obligated to prepare and file with the SEC a registration
statement to register the Conversion Shares for resale upon request of K2HV. We also have registered shares of common stock that we
have issued and may issue under our employee equity incentive plans. Once we register these shares, they will be able to be sold freelyff
in the public market upon issuance.

The market price of the shares of our common stock could decline as a result of the sale of a substantial number of our shares of
common stock in the public market or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell their shares.

The concentration of our stock ownership will likely limit our stockholders’ ability to influence corporate matters, including
the ability to influence the outcome of director elell ctitt ons and other matters requiring stockholder approval.

As of February 28, 2023 our executive officers, directors, and entities affiliated with such persons beneficially owned, in the
aggregate, approximately 22% of our outstanding voting stock and approximately 35% of our outstanding common stock. As a result,
these stockholders, acting together, have significant influence over all matters that require approval by our stockholders, including the
election of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions. Corporate actions might be tr aken even if other stockholders,
oppose them. This concentration of ownership may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our common
stock that you or other stockholders may feel are in your or their best interest as one of our stockholders. This concentration of ownership
might also have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control of our company that other stockholders may view as beneficial.

In addition, we entered into a nominating agreement with Baker Brothers Life Sciences, L.P. and 667, L.P. (collectively, the BBA
Funds which was subsequently amended and restated on April 22, 2021), pursuant to which, among other things, we agreed to support
the nomination of, and cause our board of directors (or the nominating committee thereof) to include in the slate of nominees
recommended to our stockholders for election as directors at each annual or special meeting of our stockholders at which directors are
to be elected, one person designated from time to time by the BBA Funds, subject to the requirements of fiduciary duties under applicable
law and the terms and conditions of such nominating agreement. The agreement only applies for the tff hree years following our initial
public offering, as long as (1) the BBA Funds and their affiliates, collectively, beneficially own at least 75% of the shares of our common
stock issued upon conversion of the Series C convertible preferred stock purchased by the BBA Funds in our Series C convertible
preferred stock financing, and (2) the BBA Funds and their affiliates, collectively, beneficially own at least 2% of our then outstanding
voting common stock.
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We arWW e an “emerging growth company” and a “smaller reporting company,” and we cannot be certain if the reduced reportingtt
requirii ements applictt able to emerging growth companies and smaller reporting companies will make our common stock lessll
attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act and we intend to take advantage of some of the exemptions
from reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies, including:

• the option to present only two years of audited financial statements, in addition to any required unaudited interim financialff
statements, with correspondingly reduced “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” disclosure;

• not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes Oxley Act;r

• not being required to comply with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information
about the audit and the fiff nancial statements;

• not being required to disclose certain executive compensation-related items such as the correlation between executive
compensation and performance and comparisons of the chief executive officer’s compensation to median employee
compensation; and

• not being required to submit certain executive compensation matters to stockholder advisory votes, such as “say-on-pay,”
“say-on-frequency,” and “say-on-golden parachutes.”

The JOBS Act permits an “emerging growth company” such as us to take advantage of an extended transition period to comply
with new or revised accounting standards applicable to public companies. We have elected to take advantage of this extended transition
period.

We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions. If some
investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock
price may be more volatile. We may take advantage of these reporting exemptions until we are no longer an emerging growth company.
We will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of (1) the last day of the fiscal year (a) ending December 31, 2026, (b) in
which we have total annual gross revenue of at least $1.235 billion or (c) in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which
means the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the prior June 30th and (2) the
date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during the prior three-year period.

Even after we no longer qualify as an emerging growth company, we may still qualify as a “smaller reporting company,” which
would allow us to continue to take advantage of many of the same exemptions from disclosure requirements, including not being required
to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbar nes-Oxley Act and reduced disclosure obligations
regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements. We cannot predict if investors will find our common
stock less attractive because we may rely on these exemptions. If some investors fiff nd our common stock less attractive as a result, there
may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile.

Requirements associated with being a public company will increase our costs significantly, as well as divert significantff
company resources and management attention.

As a public company, and particularly after we are no longer an “emerging growth company,” we will incur significant legal,
accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company, including costs associated with public company reporting
requirements. We also anticipate that we will incur costs associated with relatively recently adopted corporate governance requirements,
including requirements of the SEC, and the Nasdaq Global Market. We expect these rules and regulations to increase our legal and
fiff nancial compliance costs and to make some activities more time-consuming and costly. We also expect that these rules and regulations
may make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance and we may be required to accept
reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. As a result, it may be more
difficult for us to attract and retain qualified individuals to serve on our board of directors or as executive officers.ff

If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal controls, our ability to produce accurate and timely financial statements
could be impairi ed, which could rll esult in sanctions or other penalties that would harm our business.ll

Effective internal controls over financial reporting are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and, together with
adequate disclosure controls and procedures, are designed to prevent fraud. Any failure to implement required new or improved controls,
or difficulties encountered in their implementation could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. In addition, any testing by
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us conducted in connection with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or any
subsequent testing by our independent registered public accounting firm, may reveal deficiencies in our internal controls over financial
reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses or that may require prospective or retroactive changes to our financial statements
or identify other areas for further attention or improvement. Inferior internal controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in
our reported financial information, which could have a negative effect on the trading price of our stock.

We are required to disclose changes made in our internal controls and procedures on a quarterly basis and our management will
be required to assess the effectiveness of these controls annually. However, for as long as we are an “emerging growth company” underff
the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, or the JOBS Act, enacted in April 2012, our independent registered public accounting firm
will not be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act. We could be an “emerging growth company” until December 31, 2026. An independent assessment of the effectivenesff s of
our internal controls over financial reporting could detect problems that our management’s assessment might not. Undetected material
weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting could lead to financial statement restatements and require us to incur the
expense of remediation.

We wWW ilii l have broad discretion in the use of our cash and cash equivalents anll d may not use them effectively.e

We will have broad discretion in the appla ication of our cash and cash equivalents, including working capital and other general
corporate purposes, and our stockholders may disagree with how we spend or invest these proceeds. We may spend our funds in ways
that do not improve our results of operations or enhance the value of our common stock. The failure by our management to apply these
funds effectively could adversely affect our business and financial condition. Pending their use, we may invest our cash and cashff
equivalents in a manner that does not produce income or that loses value. These investments may not yield a favorable return to our
stockholders.

We do nWW ot inii tend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.tt

We have never declared nor paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings to finance
the operation and expansion of our business, and we do not expect to declare or pay any dividends in the foreseeable future.
Consequently, stockholders must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way
to realize any future gains on their investment.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly, which makes our future operating results difficult to predict and could causei
our operating results to fall below expeee ctattt ions or our guidance.tt

Our quarterly and annual operating results may flff uctuate significantly in the future, which makes it difficult for us to predict our
future operating results. Our operating results may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control and
may be difficult to predict, including the following:

• the timing and success or failure of clinical trials for our product candidates or competing product candidates, including the
naturt e of the data obtained from such clinical trials, or any other change in the competitive landscape of our industry,
including consolidation among our competitors or partners;

• our ability to successfully recruit patients for preclinical studies and clinical trials, and any delays caused by difficulff ties in
such recruitment efforts;

• our abia lity to obtain regulatory appra oval for our product candidates, and the timing and scope of any such approvals we may
receive;

• the timing and cost of, and level of investment in, research and development activities relating to our product candidates,
which may change from time to time;

• the cost of manufacturing our product candidates, which may vary depending on the quantity of production and the terms
of our agreements with manufacturers;

• our ability to attract, hire and retain qualifieff d personnel;

• expenditures that we will or may incur to develop additional product candidates;

• the level of demand for our prff oduct candidates should they receive approval, which may vary significantly;

• the risk/benefit profile, cost and reimbursement policies with respect to our product candidates, if approved, and existing
and potential futff urt e drugs that compete with our product candidates;
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• the changing and volatile U.S., European and global economic environments, including impact of the COVID-19 pandemic;
and

• future accounting pronouncements or changes in our accounting policies.t

The cumulative effff eff cts of these factors could result in large fluctuations and unpredictability in our quarterly and annual operating
results. As a result, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. This variability and
unpredictability could also result in our faff iling to meet the expectations of industry or financial analysts or investors for any period. If
our revenue or operating results fall below the expectations of analysts or investors or below any forecasts we may provide to the market,
or if the forecasts we provide to the market are below the expectations of analysts or investors, the price of our common stock could
decline substantially. Such a stock price decline could occur even when we have met any previously publicly stated guidance we may
provide.

Delaware law and provisii ions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws couldtt
make a merger, tender offer or proxy contest difficult, thtt ereby depressing the trading price of our common stock.

Our status at s a Delaware corporation and the anti-takeover provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law may discourage,
delay or prevent a change in control by prohibiting us from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder for a
period of three years aftff er the person becomes an interested stockholder, even if a change of control would be beneficial to our existing
stockholders. In addition, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisionsr
that may make the acquisition of our company more difficult, including the follff owing:

• a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, which could delay the ability of stockholders to change the
membership of a majority of our board of directors;

• the ability of our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those
shares, including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute
the ownership of a hostile acquiror;

• the exclusive right of our board of directors to elect a director to fiff ll a vacancy created by the expansion of our board of
directors or the resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on
our board of directors;

• a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special
meeting of our stockholders;

• the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by a maja ority vote of our entire board of directors,
the chairman of our board of directors or our chief executive officer, which could delay the ability of our stockholders to
force consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors;

• the requirement for the affirmative vote of holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of all of the then-outstanding
shares of the voting stock, voting together as a single class, to amend the provisions of our amended and restated certificate
of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws, which may inhibit the ability of an acquiror to effect such amendments
to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt; and

• advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to
propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquiror from
conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquiror’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control
of us.

In addition, as a Delaware corporation, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. These provisions
may prohibit large stockholders, in particular those owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock, from merging or combining
with us for a certain period of time. A Delaware corporation may opt out of this provision by express provision in its original certificate
of incorporation or by amendment to its certificate of incorporation or bylaws approved by its stockholders. However, we have not opted
out of this provision.

These and other provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and Delaware
law could make it more difficult for stockholders or potential acquirors to obtain control of our board of directors or initiate actions that
are opposed by our then-current board of directors, including delay or impede a merger, tender offer or proxy contest iff nvolving our
company. The existence of these provisions could negatively affect the price of our common stock and limit opportunities for
stockholders to realize value in a corporate transaction.
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Our amended and restatett d certiftt iff cate of intt corporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the
feff deral district courts of the United States is the exclusive forum for substantiallll y all disputes between us and oull r stockholders,
which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officerff srr
or employees.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive
forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, any aff ction asserting a breach of fiduciary duty, any action asserting
a claim against us arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Lr aw, our certificate of incorporation or our bylaws or any action
asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. This provision does not apply to claims brought to enforce
a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. Our amended
and restated certificate of incorporation provides further that the federal district cff ourts of the United States is the exclusive forum for
resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. These choices of forum provisions may limit a
stockholder’s ability ta o bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other
employees and may discourage these types of lawsuits. Furthermore, the enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in otff her
companies’ certificates of incorporation has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that a court could find these types
of provisions to be inapplicable or unenforceable. While the Delaware courts have determined that such choice of forum provir sions are
facially valid, a stockholder may nevertheless seek to bring a claim in a venue other than those designated in the exclusive-forum
provisions, and there can be no assurance that such provisions will be enforced by a court in those other jurisdictions. If a court were to
find the exclusive-forum provision contained in our amended and restated cff ertififf cate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable
in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm our business.

General Risk Factors

Changes in tax legislation could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

The rules dealing with U.S. federal, state, and local income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the
legislative process and by the Internal Revenue Service and the U.S. Treasury Department. Changes to tax laws (which changes may
have retroactive application) could adversely affect us or holders of our common stock. In recent years, many such changes have been
made and changes are likely to continue to occur in the future. It cannot be predicted whether, when, in what fff orm, or with what effectiveff
dates, new tax laws may be enacted, or regulations and rulings may be promulgated or issued under existing or new tax laws, which
could result in an increase in our or our shareholders’ tax liability or require changes in the manner in which we operate in order to
minimize or mitigate any adverse effects of changes in tax law or in the interpretation thereof.

Risinii g inii fn lff atll ion rates may rtt esult in increased operating costs and reduced liquiditytt , anyy d affect our ability to access credit.

Increased inflation may result in increased operating costs (including our labor costs), reduced liquidity, and limitations on our
ability to access credit or otherwise raise debt and equity capital. In addition, the United States Federal Reserve System has repeatedly
raised, and may continue to raise, interest rates in response to concerns about inflation. Increases in interest rates, especially if coupled
with reduced government spending and volatility in financial markets, may have the effect of further increasing economic uncertainty
and heightening these risks.

We could be subject to securities class action litigation.WW

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following a decline in the market price of
its securities. This risk is especially relevant for us because biopharmaceutical companies have experienced significant stock price
volatility in recent years. If we face such litigation, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and
resources, which could harm our business.

Business disruptions could seriously harm our future revenue and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses.tt

Our operations, and those of our CROs, CMOs and other contractors and consultants, could be subject to earthquakes, power
shortages, telecommunications failures, water shortages, floods, hurricanes, typhoons, fires, extreme weather conditions, medical
epidemics and other natural or man-made disasters or business interruptions, for which wff e are predominantly self-insured. The
occurrence of any of these business disruptions could seriously harm our operations and financial condition and increase our costs and
expenses. Our ability to obtain clinical supplies of our product candidates could be disrupted if the operations of these suppliers are
affected by a man-made or natural disaster or other business interruption.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not Applicable

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters is located at 830 Winter Street in Waltham, Massachusetts. The facility at 830 Winter Street is 25,472
square feet of laboratory space, with a lease expiration of September 2024. We also lease a facility at 880Winter Street which is 113,487
square feet of offf fff iff ce and laboratory space with a lease termination date of December 2032. We believe our faff cilities are sufficient to
meet our current needs for the foreseeabla e future.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings. From time to time, we may become involved in legal proceedings
arising in the ordinary course of our business. Regardless of outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us due to defense and
settlement costs, diversion of management resources, negative publicity, reputational harm and other factors.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not appla icable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information

Our common stock has been publicly traded on The Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “TCRX” since July 16, 2021. Prior
to that time, there was no public market for our common stock.

Holders

As of February 28, 2023, there were over 100 holders of record of our common stock. This number does not include beneficial
owners whose shares are held by nominees in street name.

Dividends

We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock since our inception. We intend to retain future earnings, if
any, to finance the operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends to holders of common stock
in the foreseeable future.

Securities authorized for iff ssuance under equity compensation plans

Information about our equity compensation plans is incorporated herein by refeff rence to Item 12, Security Ownership of Certainrr
Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Recent Sale of Unregistered Equity Securities

Not Applicablea

Use of Proceeds

In July 2021, our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-225491) was declared effective by the SEC pursuant to which we
issued and sold an aggregate of 6,666,667 shares of voting common stock at a public offering price of $15.00 per share for aggregate
net cash proceeds of $89.6 million, after deducting $7.0 million underwriting discounts and commissions, and $3.4 million in offering
costs borne by us. No payments for such expenses were made directly or indirectly to (i) any of our officers or directors or their
associates, (ii) any persons owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securities or (iii) any of our affiliates. The sale and issuance
of 6,666,667 shares closed on July 20, 2021. Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, Jefferies LLC, Cowen and Company LLC and Barclays
Capital Inc. acted as joint book-running mr anagers for the offf fering. There has been no material change in the planned use of prff oceeds
from our initial public offff eff ring as described in our fiff nal prospectus filed pursuant to RulRR e 424(b)(4) under the Securities Act with the
SEC.

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The folTT lowing discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing at the end of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Some of the information
contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewl here in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including information with respect
to our plans and strategy for our business, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. As a result of many
factors, including those factors set forff th in the “Risk Factors” section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our actual results could
differ materially from the results described in, or implied by, the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and
analyll syy isii .

Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on developing a robust pipeline of T cell receptor-engineered T cell,
or TCR-T, therapies for the treatment of patients with cancer. Our approach is based on the central premise that we can learn from
patients who are winning their fight against cancer in order to treat those who are not. We are continuing to build our ImmunoBank, a
repository of therapeutic T cell receptors, or TCRs, that recognize diverse targets and are associated with multiple human leukocyte
antigen, or HLA, types to provide customized multiplexed TCR-T therapy candidates for patients with a varff iety of solid tumors. We are
building our ImmunoBank using our proprietary platform technologies. Using TargetScan, we analyze the T cells of cancer patients
with exceptional responses to immunotherapy to discover how the immune system naturally recognizes and eliminates tumor cells in
these patients. This allows us to precisely identify the targets of TCRs that are driving these exceptional responses. We aim to use these
anti-cancer TCRs to treat patients with cancer by genetically engineering their own T cells to recognize and eliminate their cancer. In
addition to discovering TCR-T therapies against novel targets, we are using our ReceptorScan technology to further diversify our
portfolio of therapeutic TCRs with TCR-T therapies against known targets. We reduce the risk and enhance the safety profile of these
therapeutic TCRs by screening them using SafetyScan to identify potff ential off-targets of a TCR and eliminate those TCR candidates
that cross-react with proteins expressed at high levels in critical organs.

We are advancing a robust pipeline of TCR-T therapy candidates for the treatment of patients with hematologic malignancies and
solid tumors. Our lead product candidates, TSC-100 and TSC-101, are in development for the treatment of patients with hematologic
malignancies to eliminate residual leukemia and prevent relapse following hematopoietic cell transplantation, or HCT. TSC-100 and
TSC-101 target HA-1 and HA-2 antigens, respectively, which are well-recognized TCR targets that were identified in patients with
exceptional responses to HCT-associated immunotherapy. We have initiated a multi-arm Phase 1 clinical study of TSC-100 and TSC-
101 with several clinical sites activated, with planned additional sites to be added in 2023.

In addition, we are developing multiple TCR-T therapy candidates for the treatment of solid tumors. One of the key goaff ls for our
solid tumor program is to develop what we refer to as multiplexed TCR-T therapy. We are designing these multiplexed therapies to beff
a combination of up to three highly active TCRs that are customized for each patient and selected from our bank of therapeutic TCRs,
which we refer to as the ImmunoBank. We plan to populate the ImmunoBank with TCRs for mff ultiple targets as well as multiple HLA
types for each target, thus helping us to overcome key solid tumor resistance mechanisms of target loss and HLA loss. We are currently
advancing six solid tumor programs: TSC-204, entering Phase 1 development; TSC-200 and TSC-203, in IND-enabling activities; TSC-
201, in lead optimization; and TSC-202 and TSC-205, in discovery. In December 2022, we submitted a primary investigational new
drug, or IND, application for T-Plex, enabling customized mixtures of TCR-Ts to be administered to patients based on cancer-targets
and associated common HLA types expressed in their tumors, as well as secondary IND applications for two initial TCR-T product
candidates: TSC-204-A0201 and TSC-204-C0702. The FDA has cleared our IND applications for T-Plex, TSC-204-A0201, and TSC-
204-C0702, allowing us to initiate study start-up activities. We plan to further expand the ImmunoBank by filing INDs for additional
TCRs throughout 2023.

Since our inception in 2018, we have devoted our efforts to raising capital, obtaining financing, filing, prosecuting and maintaining
intellectual property rights, organizing and staffff iff ng our company and incurring research and development costs related to the
identification of novel targets for TCRs and development of TCR-T therapies to target and eliminate cancer cells. We do not have any
therapiea s approved for sale and have not generated any revenue from product sales. To date, we have funded our operations primara ily
with proceeds from sales of convertible preferred stock, proceeds from the initial public offering ("IPO") completed in July 2021 and
revenue received under our collaboration agreement with Novartis Institutes for BioMedical Research, Inc., or Novartis. Through
December 31, 2022, we have received net proceeds of $159.4 million from sales of our convertible preferred stock. We received $89.6
million in net proceeds (after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and offering costs), from our IPO. Under the terms of our
Collabora ation and License Agreement with Novartis, we received a $20.0 million upfront payment and agreed to invest an estimated
$10.0 million in research costs that will be reimbursed by Novartis over the research period of the agreement, which is anticipated to
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conclude in March 2023. Finally, we received $30.0 million in gross proceeds through the issuance of a debt facility to K2HV under the
Loan Agreement.

Impact of COVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic. The ongoing COVID-19 global and
national health emergency has caused significant disruption in the international and United States economies and financial markets. The
spread of COVID-19 has caused illness, quarantines, cancellation of events and travel, business and school shutdowns, reduction in
business activity and financial transactions, labor shortages, supply chain interruptions and overall economic and financial market
instability and business disruptions for us and many of our vendors.

In response to public health directives and orders and to help minimize the risk of the virus to employees, we have taken a series
of actions aimed at safeguarding our employees and business associates, including implementing a flexible work-at-home policy. These
disruptions could result in increased costs of execution of development plans or may negatively impact the quality, quantity, timing and
regulatory usability of data that we would otherwise be abla e to collect. While these disruptions are currently expected to be temporary,
there is considerable uncertainty around the duration of these disruptions. Therefore, the related financial impact and duration cannot be
reasonably estimated at this time.

Initial Public Offering

On July 16, 2021, we completed our IPO in which we issued and sold 6,666,667 shares of our voting common stock at an initial
public offering price of $15.00 per share, for aggregate gross proceeds of $100 million. Our shares are traded on The Nasdaq Global
Market under the ticker symbol “TCRX.”We received $89.6 million in net proceeds from the IPO after deducting underwriting discounts
and commissions, and offering costs borne by us. Upon closing of the IPO, all of our outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock
automatically converted into 15,616,272 shares of common stock (of which 5,143,134 shares are non-voting common stock).

Components of Results of Operations

Revenue

To date, our revenue has been derived from our one collaboration and two licensing agreements. We have not generated any
revenue from the sale of therapies to date, nor do we expect to generate revenues therefrom in the near future, if at all. If our development
efforts for our product candidates are successful and result in regulatory approval or if we enter into additional license or collaboration
agreements with third parties, we may generate additional revenue in the future from sales of our therapies, payments from license or
collaboration agreements that we may enter into with third parties, or any combination thereof. However, there can be no assurance as
to when we will generate such revenue, if at all. We expect that our revenue for at least the next several years will be derived primarily
frff om collaborations and licenses that we may enter into in the future, if any.

Collaboration Revenue

In March 2020, we entered into a Collaboration and License Agreement, or the Novartis Agreement, with Novartis Institutes for
BioMedical Research, Inc., or Novartis, to collaborate on their research efforts to discover and develop novel TCR-T tff herapies. Under
the Novartis Agreement, we will identify and characterize TCRs in accordance with a research plan, and transfer data arising from the
research plan. We are free to develop TCRs against targets not licensed by Novartis.

The collaboration included an upfront feff e and research funding together totaling $30.0 million. The Novartis Agreement is within
the scope of ASC 606 under which we have identified a single performance obligation consisting of the research services, data reporting
and participation in a joint steering committee. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we recognized $13.5 million of revenue
associated with the Novartis Agreement, which includes recognition of the upfront payment and research funding. We expect to
recognize the remaining arrangement consideration over the expected research term, which is anticipated to conclude in March 2023.
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See Note 8, Collaboration and License Agreements, to our audit financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Operating Expenses

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred in connection with our research activities, including our
therapeutic discovery efforts, preclinical and clinical trials, and the development of our proprietary platform trr echnologies and product
candidates. We expense research and development costs as incurred, which include:

• employee-related expenses, including salaries, bonuses, benefits, stock-based compensation, and other related costs for
those employees involved in research and development efforts;

• expenses incurred in connection with our research programs, including under agreements with third parties, such as
consultants and contract research organizations, or CROs;

• the cost of raw materials, developing and scaling our manufacturing process, and manufaff cturing our product candidates fort
use in our research and preclinical studit es, including under agreements with third parties, such as consultants, contractors,
and contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs;

• laboratory supplies and research materials;a

• faff cilities, depreciation, and other expenses, which include direct and allocated expenses for rent andmaintenance of facilities
and insurance; and

• payments made under third party licensing agreements.

We expense research and development costs as incurred. Non-refundable advance payments that we make for goods or services
to be received in the future for use in research and development activities are recorded as prepaid expenses. The prepaid amounts are
expensed as the related goods are delivered or the services are performed, or when it is no longer expected that the goods will be
delivered or the services rendered. Upfront payments under license agreements are expensed upon receipt of the license, and annual
maintenance fees under license agreements are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Milestone payments under license
agreements are accrued, with a corresponding expense being recognized, in the period in which the milestone is determined to be
probable of achievement and the related amount is reasonably estimable.

Our direct external research and development expenses consist of costs that include fees, reimbursed materials, direct material
costs, and other costs paid to consultants, contractors, CMOs and CROs in connection with our development and manufacturing
activities. We do not allocate employee costs, general laboratory supplies, and facilities expenses, including depreciation or other indirect
costs, to specific product development programs because these costs are deployed across multiple programs and our platform tecff hnology
and, as such, are not separately classified. When our TCR-T therapy candidates enter clinical development, we will begin to segregate
related research and development expenses by product candidate.

Product candidates in later stages of clinical development generally have higher development costs than those in preclinical and
earlier stages of clinical development, primarily due increased size and duration of later stage clinical trials. We expect that our research
and development expenses will increase substantially in connection with our planned preclinical and clinical development activities in
the near term and in the future. At this time, we cannot accurately estimate or know the nature, timing and costs of the efforts that willff
be necessary to complete the preclinical and clinical development of any of our product candidates. The successful development and
commercialization of our product candidates is highly uncertain. This is due to the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with
therapeutic development and commercialization, including the following:

• the number and scope of preclinical and clinical programs we decide to pursue;

• the timing and progress of preclinical and clinical development activities for each program;

• our ability to raise additional funds necessary to complete preclinical and clinical development of and commercialize our
product candidates;

• the progress of the development efforts of parties with whom we may enter into collaboration arrangements;

• our ability to maintain our current research and development programs and to establish new ones;

• our ability to establa ish new licensing or collaboration arrangements;

• the successful initiation and completion of clinical trials with safety, tolerability and efficacy profiles that are satisfaff ctory
to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or the FDA, or any comparable foreign regulatory authority;
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• the receipt and related terms of regulatory approvals from applicable regulatory authorities;

• the availabia lity of raw materials for use in the manufacture of our product candidates;

• our ability to consistently manufacture our product candidates for use in clinical trials;

• our ability to establa ish and operate a manufacturing facility, or secure manufacturing supply through relationships with third
parties;

• our abia lity to obtain and maintain patents, trade secret protection and regulatory exclusivity, both in the United States and
internationally;

• our abia lity to protect our rights in our intellectual property portfolio;

• the commercialization of our product candidates, if and when approved;

• obtaining and maintaining third party insurance coverage and adequate reimbursement;

• the acceptance of our product candidates, if approved, by patients, the medical community and third party payors;

• competition with other products and therapies; and

• a continued acceptable safety profile of our therapies following approval.

A change in the outcome of any of these variables with respect to the development of any of our product candidates could
significantly change the costs and timing associated with the development of these product candidates. We may never succeed in
obtaining regulatory approval for any of our product candidates or in establishing market acceptance for any product candidates that
may be approved.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and personnel expenses, including stock-based compensation,
for our peff rsonnel in executive, legal, finance and accounting, human resources, and other administrative functions. General and
administrative expenses also include legal fees relating to corporate matters; professional fees paid for accounting, auditing, consulting,
and tax services; insurance costs; travel expenses; and facility costs not otherwise included in research and development expenses.

We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses will increase in the future as we increase our headcount to support ourff
continued research activities and development of our product candidates. We have incurred significantly increased accounting, audit,
legal, regulatory, complrr iance and director and officer insurance costs as well as investor and public relations expenses associated with
operating as a public company and anticipate these expenses to increase in 2023 as we continue to expand the business. In addition, if
we obtain regulatory approval for a product candidate and do not enter into a third-party commercialization collaboration, we expect to
incur significant expenses related to building a sales and marketing team to support sales, marketing and distribution activities.

As of December 31, 2022, the unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding options, inclusive of research and
development and general and administrative, was $13.0 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
2.76 years.

Othtt er IncomII e

Other income consists primarily of interest earned on our cash and cash equivalents balances held in financial institutions.

InII tett rest ExpenEE se

Interest expense consists of interest associated with our outstanding debt obligation, including the amortization of debt issuance
costs.

InII come Taxes

Since our inception, we have not recorded any U.S. feff deral or state income tax benefits for the net losses we have incurred in any
year or for our earned research and development tax credits, due to the uncertainty of realizing a benefit from those items. As of
December 31, 2022, we had federaff l and state net operating loss carryforwards of $86.2 million and $83.5 million, resff pectively, which
may be used to offff sff et future taxable income, if any. The state amounts expire at various dates through 2042. The federal net operating
losses generated in and after 2018 can be carried forward indefinitely. As of December 31, 2022, we had federal and state tax credit
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carryfrr orwards of $6.9 million and $4.2 million, which expire at various dates through 2042 and 2037, rff espectively. Due to the degree
of uncertainty related to the ultimate use of the deferred tax assets, we have fully reserved these tax benefits, as the determination of the
realization of the deferred tax benefits was not determined to be more likely than not.

Results of Operations

YeYY ars err nded December 31, 2022 and 2021

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021 Change
Revenue
Collabora ation and license revenue $ 13,535 $ 10,141 $ 3,394

Operating expenses:
Research and development 59,819 44,954 14,865
General and administrative 20,352 13,828 6,524
Total operating expenses 80,171 58,782 21,389

Loss frff om operations (66,636) (48,641) (17,995)
Other income:
Interest and other income, net 1,591 16 1,575
Interest expense (1,176) - (1,176)
Total other income 415 16 399

Net loss $ (66,221) $ (48,625) $ (17,596)

Revenue

We had $13.5 million revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022 and $10.1 million of revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2021. The revenue generated from the Novartis Agreement has increased for year ended December 31, 2022 as compared
to December 31, 2021 as a result of the timing of research activities, which includes the identification and characterization of TCRs in
accordance with a research plan and transfer of data arising from the research plan. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had curff rent
deferred revenue of $3.9 million, which is expected to be recognized within the first quarter of 2023, prior to the conclusion of the
agreement which is anticipated in March 2023.

Research and Development Expenses

The follff owing table summarizes our research and development expenses for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (in
thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021 Change
Labora atory supplies, rrr esearch materials and studies $ 24,582 $ 23,606 $ 976
Personnel 19,485 12,481 7,004
Facility-related and other 11,506 7,150 4,356
Clinical studit es 2,492 630 1,862
Legal and professional fees 1,754 1,087 667

Total research and development expenses $ 59,819 $ 44,954 $ 14,865

The increase in research and development expenses was primarily attributable to a $7.0 million increase in personnel expenses,
including an increase of $0.7 million related to stock-based compensation expense. This is driven by expansion of the in-house
chemistry, manufacturing, and controls (“CMC”), clinical, and preclinical departments. There was a $4.4 million increase in facility-ff
related expenses due to the expansion of leased facilities, including commencement of a new lease in 2022, as well as the increased
depreciation related to purchases of laboratory equipment. These expansionary activities are driven by the expansion of facilities and
equipment for in-house CMC as clinical and preclinical activities ramp up. There was a $1.9 million increase in clinical studies expense
related to Phase 1 study start-up activities for TSC-100 and TSC-101. Finally, there was a $1.0 million increasff e in expense related to
laboratory srr upplies, research material, and preclinical studies in order to support pipeline development and solid tumor IND-enablinga
activities.
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General and Administrative Expenses

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes our general and administrative expenses for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (in
thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021 Change
Personnel expenses (including stock-based compensation) $ 11,224 $ 6,681 $ 4,543
Legal and professional fees 4,175 4,042 133
Facility-related and other 4,953 3,105 1,848

Total general and administrative expenses 20,352 13,828 6,524

The increase in general and administrative expenses was primarily due to a $4.5 million increase in personnel expenses, which
includes an increase of $1.3 million related to stock-based compensation expense. In addition, there was an increase of $2.0 million
primarily related to increased costs for insurance and other administrative expenses, depreciation expense, and facilities-related costs.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

SouSS rces of Liquiditii ytt

We have not generated any revenue from product sales and have incurred net losses and negative cash flows from our operations.
Our primary usrr e of cash is to fund operaff ting expenses, which consist primarily of research and development expenditures, and to a lesser
extent, general and administrative expenditures. Under the terms of the Novartis Agreement, we received an upfront payment of $20
million. Additionally, Novartis is obligated to reimburse us for costs incurred to perform the research and development activities of up
to $10 million. To date, we have funded our operations primarily with proceeds from sff ales of equity securities, proceeds from the sale
of common stock in our IPO in July 2021, and through the issuance of a debt security in September 2022. As of December 31, 2022, we
had $29.3 million of outstanding debt under the Loan Agreement, which is subject to interest only payments until September 2024,
which can be extended to September 2025 upon achievement of certain financial and clinical milestones, following which the term loans
will amortize in equal monthly installments until the September 1, 2026 maturity. See “—Loan Agreement.” As of December 31, 2022,
we had cash and cash equivalents of $120.0 million. This agreement requires the company to maintain unrestricted cash and cash
equivalents in an amount equal to or greater 120% of the outstanding borrowings. In addition, we must maintain liquidity greater than
the average monthly consolidated change in cash and cash equivalents for the consecutive three-month period ended as of any date of
determination, multiplied by 5.0.

Funding requirements

We expect our expenses to increase substantially in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we advance our research
programs into preclinical and clinical development. The timing and amount of our operating expenditures will depend largely on:

• the identification of additional research programs and product candidates;

• the scope, progress, results and costs of research and development for our current and future product candidates, including
our current and planned clinical trials, and ongoing preclinical development for our current and future product candidates;

• the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of any product candidates we may develop;

• our decision to initiate a clinical trial, not to initiate a clinical trial or to terminate a clinical trial;

• our decision to develop and expand our manufaff cturing capabilities;t

• our decision to invest in facilities to enable growth;

• investing in next-generation T cell engineering capabilities;

• changes in laws or regulations applicable to any product candidates we may develop, including but not limited to clinical
trial requirements for approvals;

• the cost and timing of obtaining materials to produce adequate supply for any preclinical or clinical development of any
product candidate we may develop;

• the costs and timing of futff urt e commercialization activities, including manufacturing, marketing, sales and distribution, for
any product candidate we may develop for which we obtain marketing approval;

• the legal costs involved in prosecuting patent applications and enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property claims;
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• additions or departures of key scientific or management personnel;

• our ability to establish and maintain collaborations on favorabla e terms, if at all, as well as the costs and timing of any
collaboration, license or other arrangement, including the terms and timing of any milestone payments thereunder; and

• the costs of continuing to operate as a public company.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents will enable us to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure
requirements into the second quarter of 2024. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could
utilize our available capital resources sooner than we expect.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenue, we expect to finance our operations through a combination
of equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations, strategic alliances and marketing, distribution or licensing arrangements. To the
extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership interest will be diluted,
and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect your rights as a common stockholder.
Debt fiff nancing and preferred equity financing, if available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our
ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making acquisitions or capital expenditures or declaring dividends. If
we raise additional funds through additional collaborations, strategic alliances or marketing, distribution or licensing arrangements with
third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product
candidates, or grant licenses on terms that may not be faff vorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt
financings or other arrangements when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our research, product
development or future commercialization efforts, or grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we would otherwise
prefer to develop and market ourselves.

We have not yet received regulatory approval for or commercialized any of our product candidates and do not expect to generate
revenue from product sales for several years, if at all. We do not expect to generate any product revenue unless and until we (1) complete
development of any of our product candidates; (2) obtain applicable regulatory approvals; and (3) successfully commercialize or enter
into collabora ative agreements for our product candidates. We do not know with certainty when, or if, any of these items will ultimately
occur. We expect to incur continuing significant losses for the foreseeable future and our losses to increase as we ramp up our preclinical
and clinical development programs. We may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other currently
unknown factors that could adversely affect our business.

Moreover, as a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we were not required to incur as a
private company. We furnished the first report by our management on our internal control over financial reporting for this year ending
December 31, 2022 in this Annual Report, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or Section 404. However,
while we remain an emerging growth company and a smaller reporting company, we are not be required to include an attestation report
on internal control over financial reporting issued by our independent registered public accounting firm. These rulr es and regulations
have increased and will continue to increase our legal and financial compliance costs and will make some activities more time-consuming
and costly and our business continues to evolve.

We will require additional capital to develop our product candidates and fund our operations into the foreseeable future. We
anticipate that we will eventually need to raise substantial additional capital, the requirements for which will depend on many factors,ff
including:

• the scope, timing, rate of progress and costs of our drug discovery efforts, preclinical development activities, laboratoryrr
testing and clinical trials for our product candidates;ff

• the number and scope of clinical programs we decide to pursue;

• the cost, timing and outcome of preparing for and undergoing regulatory review of our product candidates;

• the scope and costs of development and manufaff cturing activities;

• the cost and timing associated with commercializing our product candidates, if they receive marketing approval;

• the amount of revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our product candidates, should any of our product
candidates receive marketing approval;

• the achievement of milestones or occurrence of other developments that trigger payments under any collaboration
agreements we might have at such time;

• the extent to which we acquire or in-license other product candidates and technologies;
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• the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights
and defending intellectual property-related claims;

• our abia lity to establish and maintain collaborations on favorable terms, if at all;

• our efforts to enhance operational systems and our ability to attract, hire and retain qualified personnel, including personnel
to support the development of our product candidates and, ultimately, the sale of our products, following FDA approval;a

• our implementation of various computerized information systeff ms;

• impact of COVID-19 on our clinical development or operations; and

• the costs associated with being a public company.

A change in the outcome of any of these or other variables with respect to the development of any of our product candidates could
significantly change the costs and timing associated with the development of that product candidate. Furthermore, our operating plans
may change in the future, and we will continue to require additional capital to meet operational needs and capital requirements associated
with such operating plans. If we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, our stockholders may experience dilution. Any future
debt financing into which we enter may impose upon us additional covenants that restrict our operations, including limitations on our
ability to incur liens or additional debt, pay dividends, repurchase our common stock, make certain investments or engage in certain
merger, consolidation or asset sale transactions, in addition to those contained in our Loan Agreement. Any debt financing or additional
equity that we raise may contain terms that are not favorable to us or our stockholders.

Adequate funding may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. Our potential inability to raise capital when needed
could have a negative impact on our financial condition and our ability to pursue our business strategies. If we are unable to raise
additional funds aff s required, we may need to delay, reduce, or terminate some or all development programs and clinical trials. We may
also be required to sell or license our rights to product candidates in certain territories or indications that we would otherwise prefer to
develop and commercialize ourselves. If we are required to enter into collaborations and other arrangements to address our liquidity
needs, we may have to give up certain rights that limit our ability to develop and commercialize our product candidates. See Part 2, Item
1A. “Risk Factors” of this Annual Report for additional risks associated with our substantial capital requirements.

Cash Flows

The folff lowing table summarizes our sources and uses of cash for each of the perff iods presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 Change

Net cash used in operating activities $ (66,503) $ (48,677) $ (17,826)
Net cash used in investing activities (4,225) (9,941) 5,716
Net cash provided by financing activities 29,356 189,668 (160,312)

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ (41,372) $ 131,050 $ (172,422)

OpeOO rating Activitiestt

During the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash used in operating activities of $66.5 million was primarily driven by:

• our net loss of $66.2 million;

• a decrease in deferred revenue of $9.0 million, due to recognition of revenue rff elated to the Novartis collaboration, and;

• an increase in right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, net of $2.0 million, due to the recognition of the new lease upon
commencement, offset by scheduled lease expense.

These were partially offset by:

• non-cash charges of $9.9 million related to depreciation expense, stock-based compensation, and non-cash interest expense
related to note payable;

• an increase in accrued expenses of $0.7 million, and;

• an increase in accounts payable of $0.5 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, net cash used in operating activities of $48.7 million was primarily driven by:
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• our net loss of $48.6 million, and;

• an increase in prepaid and other current assets of $2.6 million, and;

• a decrease in deferred revenue of $6.5 million, due to recognition of revenue related to the Novartis collaboration.

These were partially offset by:

• non-cash charges of $5.8 million related to depreciation expense and stock-based compensation, and;

• an increase in accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $3.2 million.

InII vesting Activitiestt

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, net cash used in investing activities was $4.2 million and $9.9 million,
respectively, primarily related to the purchases of laboratory equipment, leasehold improvements, and construction in progress.

Financing Activitii itt es

During the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash provided by financing activities was $29.4 million, consisting primarily of
net proceeds from the issuance of convertible debt of $29.4 million under the Loan Agreement with K2HV.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, net cash provided by financing activities was $189.7 million, consisting primarily of
net proceeds of $99.7 million from our issuance of convertible preferred stock, $89.6 million from our IPO, and $0.3 million in net
proceeds from the exercise of common stock options.

Contractual Obligations

See Note 10, Loan and Security Agreement, to our audited financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for aff
discussion of obligations in relation to the Loan Agreement with K2HV.

See Note 9, Commitments and Contingencies, to our audited financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for a
discussion of obligations in relation to our leases.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States, or GAAP. The preparation of our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures requires us to make estimates and
judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, costs and expenses. We base our estimates on historical experience,
known trends and events and various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. We
evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our actual results may differ from these estimates under differentff
assumptions or conditions.

While our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements, we
believe that the following accounting policies are those most critical to the judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our
fiff nancial statements.

Revenue recognition

To date, our revenues have primarily consisted of consideration related to the Novartis Agreement. We adopted the provisions of
Accounting Standards Update 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), or ASC 606, on January 1, 2018. In
accordance with ASC 606, we recognize revenue when our customers obtain control of promised goods or services, in an amount that
reflects the consideration which we expect to receive in exchange for those goods or services.

To determine the appropriate amount of revenue to be recognized for arrangements determined to be within the scope of ASC
606, we perform the following five steps: (iff ) identification of the promised goods or services in the contract; (ii) determination of whether
the promised goods or services are performff ance obligations including whether they are distinct in the context of the contract; (iii)
measurement of the transaction price, including the assessment of the constraint on variable consideration; (iv) allocation of the
transaction price to the performance obligations; and (v) recognition of revenue when, or as we satisfy each performance obligation.
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As part of the accounting for arrangements under ASC 606, we must use significant judgment to determine the performance
obligations based on the determination under step (ii) above. We also use judgment to determine whether milestones or other variable
consideration, except for royalties and sales-based milestones, should be included in the transaction price as described below. We
recognize revenue based on those amounts when, or as, the performance obligations under the contract are satisfied.ff

We utilize judgment to assess the nature of the performance obligation to determine whether the performance obligation is satisfiedff
over time or at a point in time and, if over time, the appropriate method of ma easuring progress. We evaluate the measure of progress
each reporting period and, if necessary, adjust the measure of performance and related revenue recognition. The measure of progress,
and the resulting periods over which revenue should be recognized, are subject to estimates by management and may change over the
course of the arrangement, which are subject to review by the joint steering committee, or JSC. Such a change could have a material
impact on the amount of revenue we record in future periods. We concluded that the transfer of control to the customer for theff
performance obligation occurs over the time period that the research and development services are provided by us. We recognize revenue
for the performance obligation as those services are provided using an input method, based on the cumulative costs incurred compared
to the total estimated costs expected to be incurred to satisfy the performance obligation. The cost-to-cost method isff , in management’s
judgment, the best measure of progress towards satisfying the performance condition.

At the inception of each arrangement that includes research, development or regulatory milestone payments, we evaluate whether
the milestones are considered likely to be met and estimate the amount to be considered for inclusion in the transaction price using the
most-likely-amount method. If it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized would not occur,
the associated milestone value is included in the transaction price. For milestone payments due upon events that are not within our
control, such as regulatory approvals, we are not able to assert that it is likely that the regulatory approval will be granted and that it is
probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur until those approvals are received. In
making this assessment, we evaluate factors such as the scientific, clinical, regulatory, commercial, and other risks that must be overcome
to achieve the particular milestone. There is considerabla e judgment involved in determining whether it is probable that a significant
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized would not occur.

We reevaluate the transaction price and our total estimated costs expected to be incurred at the end of each reporting period and
as uncertain events, such as changes to the expected timing and cost of certain research, development and manufacturing activities that
we are responsible for, are rff esolved or other changes in circumstances occur. If necessary, we will adjust our estimate of the transaction
price or our estimates of the total costs expected to be incurred. To date, we have not had any signififf cant changes in our estimates.

Accrued research and development expenses

As part of the process of preparing our financial statements, we are required to estimate our accrued research and development
expenses. This process involves estimating the level of service performed and the associated cost incurred for the service when we have
not yet been invoiced or otherwise notified of actual costs. The majority of our service providers invoice us in arrears for services
performed, on a pre-determined schedule or when contractual milestones are met; however, some require advance payments. We make
estimates of our accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date in the financial statements based on facts and circumstances known to
us at that time. At each period end, we corroborate the accuracy of these estimates with the service providers and make adjustments, if
necessary. Examples of estimated accrued research and development expenses include those related to fees paid to:

• Vendors in connection with discovery and preclinical development activities;

• CROs in connection with preclinical and clinical studies and testing; and

• CMOs in connection with the process development and scale up activities and the production of materials.

We record the expense and accrual related to contract research and manufacturing based on our estimates of the services received
and efforts expended considering a number of factors, including our knowledge of the progress towards completion of the research,
development, and manufacturing activities; invoicing to date under contracts; communication from the contract research organizations,
contract manufacturing organizations and other companies of any actual costs incurred during the period that have not yet been invoiced;
and the costs included in the contracts and purchase orders. The financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation, vary fromrr
contract to contract, and may result in uneven payment flows. There may be instances in which payments made to our vendors will
exceed the level of services provided and result in a prepayment of the expense. In accruing service fees, we estimate the time period
over which services will be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each period. If the actual timing of the performance of
services or the level of effff ort varies from the estimate, we adjust the accrual or the amount of prepaid expense accordingly. Althoughff
we do not expect our estimates to be materially different from amounts actually incurred, our understanding of the status and timing of
services performed relative to the actual status and timing of services performed may vary and may result in reporting amounts that are
too high or too low in any particular period. To date, there have not been any material adjustments to our prior estimates of accrued
research and development expenses.



125

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

A description of recently issued accounting pronouncements that may potentially impact our financial position and results of
operations is disclosed in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Emerging Growth Company and Smaller Reporting Company Status

The Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 permits an “emerging growth company” such as us to take advantage of an
extended transition period to comply with new or revised accounting standards applicable to public companies until those standards
would otherwise apply to private companies. We have elected not to “opt out” of such extended transition period, which means that
when a standard is issued or revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, we will adopt the new or
revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard and will do so until such time that we either (i)
irrevocably elect to “opt out” of such extended transition period or (ii) no longer qualify as an emerging growth company. We may
choose to early adopt any new or revised accounting standards whenever such early adoption is permitted for private companies.

We are also a “smaller reporting company”, meaning that the market value of our stock held by non-affiliates plus the aggregate
amount of gross proceeds to us as a result of the IPO is less than $700 million and our annual revenue was less than $100 million during
the most recently completed fiscal year. We may continue to be a smaller reporting company if either (i) the market value of our stock
held by non-affiliates is less than $250 million or (ii) our annual revenue was less than $100 million during the most recently completed
fiff scal year and the market value of our stock held by non-affiliates is less than $700 million. If we are a smaller reporting company at
the time we cease to be an emerging growth company, we may continue to rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that
are available to smaller reporting companies. Specififf cally, as a smaller reporting company we may choose to present only the two most
recent fiff scal years of audited financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and, similar to emerging growth companies,
smaller reporting companies have reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are a smaller reporting company, as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and are not
required to provide the information required under this item.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements required to be filed pursuant to this Item 8 are appended to this Annual Report on Form 10-K. An index
of those financial statements is found in Item 15, ExEE hibits and Financial Statement Schedules, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure ConCC trols and Procedurestt

Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Principal Executive Officer (our Chief Executive
Officer) and Principal Financial and Accounting Officer (our Chief Financial Officer), has evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of period end. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a
company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.
Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required
to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the
company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives, and management necessarily applies its judgment in
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of December 31, 2022, our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date,
our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

ManMM agement's R' eport on Internal Control over Financial Reportingee

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-ff 15(f) under the Exchange Act) to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial
reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles or “GAAP”. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our
Chief Executive Offiff cer and Chief Financial Officer, and effected by our Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of fiff nancial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:

• Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions
of the assets of our company;

• Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and

• Provide reasonable assurances regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of
our assets that could have a material adverse effect on our financial statements.

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, the end of our
fiscal year. Management based its assessment on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework). Management’s assessment included evaluation of
elements such as the design and operating effff eff ctiveness of key financial reporting controls, process documentation, accounting policies,
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and our overall control environment.

Based on this assessment, management has concluded that our internal controls over financial reporting were effective as of
December 31, 2022 and provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP. We reviewed the results of management’s assessment with the
Audit Committee of our Board of Directors.

Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accountitt nii g Firm

This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal
control over financial reporting. Our report was not subject to attestation by our independent registered public accounting firm pursuant
to the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission for “emerging growth companies” that permit us to provide only management’s
report in this report.

ChCC anges in Internal Control over Finanii cial Reporee ting

No change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act)
occurred during the three months ended December 31, 2022 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

InII herent Limitations on Effectiveness of Internal Controls

In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management does not expect that our internal control over
financial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control systems are met. Further, the design of a control
system must reflect the faff ct that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs.
The design of any disclosure controls and procedures also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events,ff
and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, believes that our disclosure controls and procedures
and internal control over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and are effective
at the reasonabla e assurance level. However, our management does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal
control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud.

Item 9B. Other Information.ff

None

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not Applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The inforff mation required by this Item 10 will be included in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, or SEC, with respect to our 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated by reference.

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for all of our directors, officers and employees as required by Nasdaq
governance rulr es and as defiff ned by applicable SEC rules. Stockholders may locate a copy of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
on our website at www.tscan.com.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this Item 11 will be included in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC, with respect
to our 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this Item 12 will be included in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC, with respect
to our 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this Item 13 will be included in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC, with respect
to our 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item 14 will be included in our defiff nitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC, with respect
to our 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

• For a list of the fiff nancial statements included herein, see Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page F-1 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, incorporated into this Item by refeff rence.

• Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are either not required or not applicable or the information
is included in the consolidated finaff ncial statements or the notes thereto.

• Exhibits:

Exhibit
Number Description
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of TScan Therapeutics, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1

to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 20, 2021).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of TScan Therapeutics, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 20, 2021).

4.1 Fourth Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated January 15, 2021, by and among the Registrant and the
other parties thereto (incorporr ated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on S-1 filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 23, 2021).

4.2 Registration Rights Agreement made as of January 15, 2021 by and between the Registrant and the other parties thereto
(incorporated by reference tff o Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on S-1 filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on April 23, 2021).

4.3 Amended and Restated Nominating Agreement, dated April 22, 2021, by and among the Registrant, Baker Brothers Life
Sciences, L.P. and 667, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on S-1
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 23, 2021).

4.4 Description of the Registrant’s securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 9, 2022).

10.1 Lease, by and between TScan Therapeutics, Inc. and BXP Waltham Woods LLC, dated November 29, 2021 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on December 2, 2021).

10.2# 2018 Stock Option Plan, as amended and forms of agreements thereunder (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 23, 2021).

10.3# 2021 Equity Incentive Plan and forff m of agreements thereunder (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on S-1/A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 5, 2021).

10.4# 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement
on S-1/A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 30, 2021).

10.5† Amended and Restated Exclusive Patent License Agreement by and between the Registrant and The Brigham and
Women’s Hospital, Inc. dated April 20, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 23, 2021).

10.6 Lease by and between PPF OFF 828-830 Winter Street LLC and the Registrant, dated August 13, 2019 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 23, 2021).

10.7† Collabora ation and License Agreement by and between the Registrant and Novartis Institutes for Biomedical Research,
dated as of March 27, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on S-1
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 23, 2021).

10.8† Non-Exclusive License Agreement by and between the Registrant and Provincial Health Services Authority, dated as of
October 15, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on S-1 filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 23, 2021).

10.9 Amended and Restated Royalty Agreement, dated as of June 12, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 23, 2021).
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10.10# Employment Agreement, dated April 23, 2021, by and between the Registrant and David Southwell (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 23, 2021).

10.11# Employment Agreement, dated April 23, 2021, by and between the Registrant and Gavin MacBeath, Ph.D. incorporated
by refeff rence to Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 23, 2021).

10.12# Employment Agreement, dated April 23, 2021, by and between the Registrant and William Desmarais (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 23, 2021).

10.13# Form of Management Cash Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 23, 2021).

10.14# Employment Agreement, dated May 4, 2021, by and between the Registrant and Brian Silver (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.19 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on S-1/A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on May 5, 2021).

10.15# Employment Agreement, dated July 28, 2021, by and between the Registrant and Zoran Zdraveski (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on November 10, 2021).

10.16# Employment Agreement, dated June 8, 2022, by and between the Registrant and Debora Barton (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on August 10, 2022).

10.17# Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and each of its directors and executive officers (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on April 23, 2021).

10.18 Loan and Security Agreement, dated September 9, 2022, by and among TScan Therapeutics, Inc., K2 HealthVentures
LLC and Ankura Trust Company, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 12, 2022).

23.1* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

31.1* Certificff ation of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2* Certificff ation of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to RulRR es 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1** Certificff ation of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.r

32.2** Certificff ation of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags
are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Lff inkbase Document

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Documenta

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith
# Indicates a management contract or any compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.
† Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted because they are not material and would likely cause competitive harm to the
registrant if disclosed.
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly

caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

TScan Therapeutics, Inc.

Date: March 8, 2023 By: /s/ David Southwell
David Southwell
President and Chief Executive Officer

Each person whose individual signature appears below hereby authorizes and appoints David Southwell and Brian Silver, and
each of them, with fulff l power of substitution and resubstitution and full power to act without the other, as his or her true and lawful
attorney-in-fact and agent to act in his or her name, place and stead and to execute in the name and on behalf of each person,
individually and in each capacity stated below, and to file any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file the
same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting
unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing,
ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them or their or his substitute or substitutes may lawfully
do or cause to be done by virtue thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been
signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on March 8, 2023.

Signature Title Date

/s/ David Southwell
March 8, 2023

David Southwell
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Brian Silver Chief Financial Officer
March 8, 2023

Brian Silver, J.D. (Principal Financial and Accounting Offiff cer)

/s/ Stephen Biggar Director
March 8, 2023

Stephen Biggar, M.D., Ph.D.

/s/ Ittai Harel Director
March 8, 2023

Ittai Harel

/s/ Timothy Barber rich Director
March 8, 2023

Timothy Barberich

/s/ Gabra iela Gruia Director
March 8, 2023

Gabriela Gruia, M.D.

/s/ Katina Dorton Director
March 8, 2023

Katina Dorton, J.D., M.B.A.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and Board of Directors of TScan Therapeutics, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of TScan Therapeutics, Inc. and subsidiary (the "Company") as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of operations, convertible preferred stock and stockholders' equity
(defiff cit), and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "fiff nancial statements"). In our
opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022
and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flff ows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting fiff rm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.
feff deral securities laws and the applicable rules and regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.
The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part
of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the fiff nancial statements, whether due to error
or fraud, and perforff ming procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 8, 2023

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020.
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TScan Therapeutics, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31,
2022

December 31,
2021

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 120,027 $ 161,405
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,100 4,249
Total current assets 124,127 165,654

Property and equipment, net 10,100 11,765
Right-of-use assets 59,102 5,491
Restricted cash 5,037 5,031
Long-term deposit and other assets 725 166
Total assets $ 199,091 $ 188,107

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabia lities:
Accounts payable $ 2,912 $ 1,765
Accruerr d expenses and other current liabilities 6,838 6,517
Operating lease liability, current portion 3,681 1,651
Defeff rred revenue, current portion 3,874 11,410
Total current liabilities 17,305 21,343

Defeff rred revenue, net of current portion - 1,497
Operating lease liability, net of cura rent portion 53,013 4,392
Long-term debt and accrued interest 29,290 -
Other long term liabilitiesa 49 97
Total liabia lities 99,657 27,329

Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)
Stockholders' equity:
Voting common stock, $0.0001 par value; 300,000,000 shares authorized; 19,082,820 and
18,881,333 shares issued; and 19,082,820 and 18,764,463 shares outstanding at December
31, 2022 and 2021, respectively 2 2
Non-voting common stock, $0.0001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; 5,143,134
shares issued and outstanding 1 1
Additional paid-in capital 257,810 252,933
Accumulated defiff cit (158,379) (92,158)
Total stockholders' equity 99,434 160,778
Total liabia lities and stockholders' equity $ 199,091 $ 188,107

The acTT companying notes are an integral part of these conse olidated financial statements
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TScan Therapeutics, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021
Revenue
Collabora ation and license revenue $ 13,535 $ 10,141
Operating expenses:
Research and development 59,819 44,954
General and administrative 20,352 13,828
Total operating expenses 80,171 58,782

Loss frff om operations (66,636) (48,641)
Other (expense) income:
Interest and other income, net 1,591 16
Interest expense (1,176) -
Total other income 415 16

Net loss $ (66,221) $ (48,625)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (2.75) $ (4.17)
Weighted average common shares outstanding—basic and diluted 24,048,267 11,662,672

The acTT companying notes are an integral part of these conse olidated financial statements
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TScan Therapeutics, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities:ff
Net loss $ (66,221) $ (48,625)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation expense 5,137 3,328
Non-cash interest expense related to note payable 260 -
Stock-based compensation 4,551 2,516
Changes in current assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other assets (410) (2,595)
Right-of-ff use assets and lease liabilities, net (2,047) (9)
Accounts payable 528 10
Accrued expense and other liabilities 732 3,234
Deferred revenue (9,033) (6,536)

Net cash used in operating activities (66,503) (48,677)
Cash flows from investing activities:ff
Purchases of property and equipment (4,225) (9,941)
Net cash used in investing activities (4,225) (9,941)

Cash flows from financing activities:ff
Proceeds from issuance of convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs - 99,730
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 133 291
Issuance of common stock under ESPP plan 193
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of issuance costs - 89,647
Proceeds from issuance of term loan, net of issuance costs paid to lender 29,354 -
Payments of debt issuance costs (324) -
Net cash provided by financing activities 29,356 189,668

Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (41,372) 131,050
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash - beginning of period 166,436 35,386
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash - end of period $ 125,064 $ 166,436
Summary of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the
consolidated balance sheets:
Cash and cash equivalents 120,027 161,405
Restricted cash 5,037 5,031
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 125,064 $ 166,436
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for iff nterest $ 660 $ -

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Lease liability arising from obtaining right-of-use asset 53,541 -
Purchase of property and equipment in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 444 828
Conversion of convertible prefeff rred stock to common stock upon closing of initial public
offff eringff - 159,411

The acTT companying notes are an integral part of these conse olidated financial statements
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TSCAN THERAPEUTICS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Nature of Business and Basis of Presentation

NatNN ure of Business

TScan Therapeutics, Inc. (the Company) is a biotechnology company that was incorporated in Delaware on April 17, 2018, andr
has a principal place of business in Waltham, Massachusetts. The Company is a biopharmaceutical company focused on developing a
pipeline of T cell receptor-engineered T cell (TCR-T) therapies for the treatment of patients with cancer.

Initial Public OfferingII

In July 2021, the Company completed an IPO in which the Company issued and sold 6,666,667 shares of its voting common stock
at a public offering price of $15.00 per share, for aggregate gross proceeds of $100 million and its shares started trading on the Nasdaq
Global Market under the ticker symbol “TCRX.” The Company received $89.6 million in net proceeds after deducting $7.0 million in
underwriting discounts and commissions, and $3.4 million in offering costs borne by the Company. Upon closing of the IPO, all of the
Company's outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock automatically converted into 15,616,272 shares of common stock (of which
5,143,134 shares are non-voting common stock).

In connection with the closing of IPO, the Company amended and restated in its entirety its certificate of incorporation to, among
other things: (i) authorize 300,000,000 shares of voting common stock; (ii) authorize 10,000,000 shares of non-voting common stock;
(iii) eliminate all references to the previously existing series of preferred stock; and (iv) authorize 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock
that may be issued from time to time by the Board in one or more series.

Risks, Uncertainii titt es and GoiG ng Concernii

The Company is subject to risks common to companies in the biotechnology industry, including, but not limited to, successful
development of technology, obtaining additional funding, protection of proprietary technology, compliance with government
regulations, risks of failure of preclinical studies, clinical studies and clinical trials, the need to obtain marketing approval for its product
candidates and the ability to successfully market its therapies any products that receive approval, fluctuations in operating results,
economic pressure impacting therapeutic pricing, dependence on key personnel, risks associated with changes in technologies,
development by competitors of technological innovations and the ability to scale manufacturing to large scale production. Product
candidates currently under development will require significant additional research and development efforts, including preclinical and
clinical testing and regulatory approval prior to commercialization. These efforts require significant amounts of additional capital,
adequate personnel and infrastructure and extensive compliance-reporting capabilities. Even if the Company’s development efforts arer
successful, it is uncertain when, if ever, the Company will realize significant revenue from therapy sales.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of continuity of operations, realization of
assets and the satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the ordinary course of business. The Company has primarily funded its
operations with proceeds from sales of convertible preferred stock, the IPO completed in July 2021, issuance of convertible debt in
September 2022 and with payments received under its license and collaboration agreements. Since its inception, the Company has
incurred recurring losses, including net losses of $66.2 million and $48.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $158.4 million. The Company expects to continue
to generate operating losses in the foreseeable future. The Company expects that its cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2022
will be sufficient to fund the Company’s operations for aff t least the next twelve months from the date of the issuance of the financial
statements.

The Company will need to obtain substantial additional funding through equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations, strategic
alliances and/or licensing arrangements in order to fund its research and development and ongoing operating expenses. The Company
may not be able to obtain financing on acceptable terms, when needed or at all, and the Company may not be able to enter into
collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing arrangements. The terms of any fiff nancing may adversely affect tff he holdings or the rights
of the Company’s stockholders. Any collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing arrangements may require the Company to relinquish
rights to certain of its technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may
not be favorable to the Company. If the Company is unable to obtain funding, the Company could be forced to delay, limit, reduce or
eliminate some or all of its research and development programs, pipeline expansion or future commercialization efforts or grant rights
to develop and market product candidates, which could adversely affeff ct its business prospects. Although management will continue to
pursue these plans, there is no assurance that the Company will be successful in obtaining sufficient funding on terms acceptable to the
Company to fund continuing operations wheff n needed or at all.
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2. Summary of Significff ant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect the operations of the Company and the Company’s wholly owned
subsidiary, TScan Securities Corporation. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity withff
US GAAP. Any reference in these notes to applicable guidance is meant to refer to the authoritative US GAAP as found in the
Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, and Accounting Standards Update, or ASU, of the Financial Accounting Standards Board,
or FASB.

PrPP inii ciples of Cii onsolidatCC itt on

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary. All
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimatestt

The preparation of the consolidated fiff nancial statements in accordance with US GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. The Company bases its estimates
on historical experience, known trends and other market-specific or relevant factors that it believes to be reasonable under the
circumstances. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates as there are changes in circumstances, facts and experience.
Actual results may differ from those estimates or assumptions.

CasCC h and Cash Equivalents

Cash includes cash in readily available checking and money market accounts. Cash equivalents include all highly liquid
investments maturing within 90 days from the date of purchase. The cash equivalents consisted of money market funds.

Restricted Cash

In connection with the Company’s facility lease agreements, the Company is required to provide letters of credit totaling of $5.0
million for the benefit of the lff andlords to serve as security deposits. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the cash securing the letter of
credit was classified as restricted cash (non-current) on the consolidated balance sheets.

Concentrations of CrCC edit Rii isii k

Financial instruments that subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash
equivalents. The Company’s cash deposits on hand at any one financial institution often exceed federally insured limits. The Company
places its cash in financial institutions that management believes to be of high credit quality. The Company does not believe that it is
subject to unusual credit risk beyond the normal credit risk associated with commercial banking relationships.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lff ives of the
respective assets as follows:

Estimated usefuff l lifeff
Labora atory err quipment 3 - 5 years
Furniturt e and fixtures 3 - 5 years
Offff iff ce and computer equipment 3 - 5 years
Softff ware 3 - 5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of the asset's estimated useful life or the remaiff ning lease term

Major additions and betterments are capitalized; expenditures for repairs and maintenance, which do not improve or extend thet
life of the respective assets, are charged to operating expense as incurred. Upon retirement or sale, the cost of assets disposed of and the
related accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in loss from
operations.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assetstt

Long-lived assets to be held and used, including property and equipment, are tested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be fully recoverable. Evaluation of the recoverability of the asset
or asset group is based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset or asset group and its eventual
disposition. In the event that such cash flows are not expected to be sufficient to recover the carrying amount of the asset or asset group,
an impairment loss would be based on the excess of the carrying value of the impaired asset over its faff ir value. The Company did not
record any impairment losses on long-lived assets during the periods presented.

FaiFF r Value Meii asurementstt

Certain assets and liabilities are carried at fair value under US GAAP. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be
received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must
maximize the user of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservabla e inputs. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value
are to be classified and disclosed in one of the following three levels of the fair value hierarchy, of which the first two are considered
observabla e and the last is considered unobservable:

• Level 1—Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible to the reporting entity at the measurement date for
identical assets and liabilities.

• Level 2—Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities that are observable either
directly or indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. Level 2 inputs include the following:

• quoted prices for similar assets and liabia lities in active markets

• quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active

• observabla e inputs other than quoted prices that are used in the valuation of the asset or liabia lities (e.g., interest rate
and yield curve quotes at commonly quoted intervals)

• inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means

• Level 3—Unobservable inputs for the assets or liability (i.e., supported by little or no market activity). Level 3 inputs include
management’s own assumptions about the assumptions that maa rket participants would use in pricing the asset or liability
(including assumptions about risk).

Lease Agreementstt

The Company records leases under ASU No. 2016-02 Leases (Topic 842) whereby the Company determines if an arrangement is
or contains a lease at inception. For leases with a term of 12 months or less, the Company has elected to not recognize a right-of-use
asset or lease liabia lity. The Company’s operating leases are recognized on the consolidated balance sheets as other noncurrent assets,
other current liabilities, and other noncurrent liabilities. The Company does not have any fiff nance leases.

Right-of-use assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the
Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As the rate implicit on
the Company’s leases are not readily determination, the Company uses an estimate of its incremental borrowing rate for securedff
borrowings with terms similar to the lease term based on the information available at the lease commencement date in determining the
present value of lease payments. Operating lease right-of-use assets also include the effect of any lease payments made, including lease
payments made in advance of lease commencement and excludes lease incentives. The lease terms may include options to extend or
terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option. Lease expense is recognized on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs that are paid in advance of
performance (if any) are capitalized as a prepaid expense and amortized over the service period as the services are provided.
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Accrued Research and Manufacturing Contract Costs

The Company has entered into various research and development and manufacturing contracts. These agreements are generally
cancelable, and related payments are recorded as the corresponding expenses are incurred. When evaluating the adequacy of the accrued
liabilities, the Company analyzes progress of the research studies or clinical trials and manufacturing activities, including the phase or
completion of events, invoices received and contracted costs. Significant judgments and estimates are made in determining the accrued
balances at the end of any reporting period. Actual results could differ from the Company’s estimates. The Company’s historical accruar l
estimates have not been materially diffff eff rent from the actual costs.

PatPP ett nt Costs

All patent-related costs incurred in connection with filing and prosecuting patent applications are expensed as incurred due to the
uncertainty about the recovery of the expenditurt e. Amounts incurred are classified as general and administrative expenses.

Revenue Recognition

The Company accounts for revenue under ASU No. 2014-19, Revenue from Contracts with Customerstt (ASC 606). ASC 606
applies to all contracts with customers, except for contracts that are within the scope of other standards, such as leases, insurance, certain
collaboration arrangements and financial instruments. ASC 606 provides a five-step framework whereby revenue is recognized when
control of promised goods or services is transfeff rred to a customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. To determine revenue recognition for arrangements that the Company determines
are within the scope of ASC 606, the Company performs the following five steps:ff

(i) identify the contract(s) with a customer;

(ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract;

(iii) determine the transaction price;

(iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

(v) recognize revenue when (or as) the performance obligations are satisfied.

The Company only applies the fiff ve-step model to contracts when it is probable that the Company will collect the consideration
that it is entitled to in exchange for the goods or services the Company transfers to the customer. At contract inception, once the contract
is determined to be within the scope of ASC 606, the Company assesses whether the goods or services promised within each contract
are distinct and, therefore, represent a separate performance obligation. Goods and services that are determined not to be distinct are
combined with other promised goods and services until a distinct combined performance obligation is identified.

The Company then allocates the transaction price (that is, the amount of consideration the Company expects to be entitled to from
a customer in exchange for the promised goods or services) tff o each performance obligation and recognizes the associated revenue when
(or as) each performance obligation is satisfied. The allocation is based upon standalone selling price. The standalone selling price is
the price at which an entity would sell a promised good or service separately to a customer. Because the Company have not sold the
same goods or services in our contracts separately to any customers on a standalone basis, the Company estimated the standalone selling
price of each combined performance obligation by taking into consideration internal estimates of research and development personnel
needed to perform the research and development services, estimates of expected cash outflows to third parties for services and supplies
and typical gross profit margins.

The Company enters into collaboration and licensing arrangements that are within the scope of ASC 606, under which the
Company may exclusively license to third parties’ rights to develop, manufacture and commercialize its product candidates as well as
options to acquire additional rights. The terms of these arrangements typically include payment to the Company of one or more of the
following: nonrefundable, upfront license fees; development, regulatory and sales milestone payments; and royalties on net sales of
licensed products.

Revenue is typically recognized using a cost-to-cost input model as the measure of progress. Significant management judgment
is required in determining the level of effort required under an arrangement and the period over which the Company is expected to
complete the Company’s performance obligations under an arrangement. The Company evaluates the measure of progress each reporting
period and, if necessary, adjusts the measure of performance and related revenue recognition. The measurff e of progress, and thereby
periods over which revenue should be recognized, are subject to estimates by management and may change over the course of the
research and development and licensing agreement. Such a change could have a material impact on the amount of revenue the Company
records in future periods.
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Amounts received prior to revenue recognition are recorded as deferred revenue in the balance sheets. Amounts expected to be
recognized as revenue within the 12 months following the balance sheet date are classified as the current portion of deferred revenue in
the balance sheets. Amounts not expected to be recognized as revenue within the 12 months following the balance sheet date are
classified as deferred revenue, net of current portion in the balance sheets.

Customer Options

If an arrangement is determined to contain customer options that allow the customer to acquire additional goods or services, the
goods and services underlying the customer options that are not determined to be material rights are not considered to be performance
obligations at the outset of the arrangement, as they are contingent upon option exercise. The Company evaluates the customer options
for material rights, or options to acquire additional goods or services for free or at a discount. If the customer options are determined to
represent a material right, the material right is recognized as a separate performance obligation at the outset of the arrangement. To date,ff
none of our arrangements have included any material rights. The transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation on a
relative standalone selling price basis. The observable price of a good or service sold separately provides the best evidence of standalone
selling price. However, when standalone selling prices are not readily availabla e, the Company is required to estimate the standalone
selling price of each performance obligation. Key assumptions to determine the standalone selling price. Amounts allocated to a material
right are not recognized as revenue until the option is exercised or terminates.

MiMM lii ell stone Ptt aymentsPP

For each arrangement that includes milestone payments upon the achievement of performance-based milestones, such as
development and regulatory milestones, the Company evaluates whether the milesrr tones are considered probable of being reached and
estimates the amount to be included in the transaction price using the most likely amount method. If it is probable that a significant
reversal of revenue would not occur, the associated milestone value is included in the transaction price. Milestone payments that are not
within the Company’s control, such as regulatory approvals, are not considered probable of being achieved until those approvals are
received. Upfront and ongoing development milestones per the Company’s collaboration and license agreement are not subject to refund
if the development activities are not successful. The Company reevaluates the probability of achievement of such milestones and any
related constraint at each reporting period, and any adjustments are recorded on a cumulative catch-up basis, which would affect revenuesff
and earnings in the period of adjustment. To date, the Company has not recognized any milestone revenues.

Royalties

For arrangements that include sales-based royalties, including milestone payments based on the level of sales, and the license to
the Company’s intellectual property is deemed to be the predominant item to which the royalties relate as it is the primary driver of
value, the Company recognizes revenue when the related sales occur in accordance with the sales-based royalty exception under ASC
606-10-55-65. To date, the Company has not recognized any royalty revenue resulting from the Company’s collaboration and licensing
agreements.

The estimate of deferred revenue also reflects management’s estimate of the periods of the Company’s involvement in its
collaboration and license agreements. The Company’s performance obligations generally consist of the performance of research andff
development services and sharing know-how through participation on steering committees. If these estimates and judgments change
over the course of these agreements, it may affect the timing and amount of revenue that the Company recognizes and records in future
periods.

InII come Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the
consolidated financial statements or tax returns. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the
diffff eff rence between the consolidated fiff nancial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enactea d tax rates in effect for the
year in which the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is provided to reduce the deferred tax asset to an amount,
which, more likely than not, will be realized.

The Company recognizes the tax benefiff t from any uncertain tax positions only if it is more likely than not that the tax position
will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in
the consolidated financial statements from such a position are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percentff
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. Interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions are recorded as a
component of income tax expense. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company has not identified any uncertain tax positions for
which reserves would be required.
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Segme ent Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which discrete information is available for evaluation by the chiefff
operating decision maker, who is the CEO, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The Company manages
its operations as a single segment for the purposes of assessing performance and making operating decisions. All of the Company’s
assets are held in the United States.

ConvCC ertitt ble Pri efe eff rred StSS octt k

The Company’s convertible preferred stock was classified outside of stockholders’ deficit because the holders of such shares had
liquidation rights in the event of a deemed liquidation that, in certain situations, are not solely within the control of the Company.

Stock-Based ComCC pensm ationtt

The Company accounts for stock option awards at fair value, which is measured using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
The measurement date is generally the date of grant.

The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting
period of the respective award. For awards that include performance-based vesting conditions, stock-based compensation expense is
recognized using the accelerated attribution method when the performance condition is deemed to be probable. The Company accounts
for forfeitures as they occur. The Company determines the fair value of restricted stock awards in reference to the fair value of its
common stock less any appla icable purchase price

The Company classifies stock-based compensation expense in its consolidated statements of operations in the same manner in
which the award recipient’s salary and related costs are classified or in which the award recipient’s service payments are classified.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss includes net loss as well as other changes in stockholders’ equity (deficit) that result from trff ansactions and
economic events other than those with stockholders. There was no difference between net loss and comprehensive loss in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss by the weighted average common shares outstanding during the period.
During periods of income, the Company allocates to participating securities a proportional share of income (the two class method). The
Company’s convertible preferred stock participates in any dividends declared by the Company and are therefore considered to be
participating securities. Participating securities have the effect of diff luting both basic and diluted earnings per share during periods of
income. During periods of loss, the Company allocates no loss to participating securities because they have no contractual obligation to
share in the losses of the Company.

Diluted net loss per share is calculated by adjusting weighted average common shares outstanding for the dilutive effeff ct of
common stock equivalents outstanding for tff he period, determined using the treasury-stock and if-converted methods. For purposes of
the diluted net income (loss) per share calculation, convertible debt and stock options are considered to be common stock equivalents.
All common stock equivalents have been excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share as their effect would be anti-dilutive
for all periods presented. Thereforff e, basic and diluted net loss per share were the same for all periods presented.ff

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326) Measurement of CreditII
Losses on Financial InsII trumentstt , or ASU 2016-13. The provisions of ASU 2016-13 modify the impairment model to utilize an expected
loss methodology in place of the currently used incurred loss methodology and require a consideration of a broader range of reasonablea
and supportable information to inform credit loss estimates. Credit losses relating to available-for-sale debt securities will be recorded
through an allowance for credit losses rather than as a direct write-down to the security. ASU 2016-13 requires a cumulative effeff ct
adjustment to the consolidated balance sheet as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective. ASU
2016-13 will be effective for the Cff ompany beginning January 1, 2023. The Company does not expect that adoption of this standard will
have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
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Recently Adopttt ett d Accountitt nii g PrPP onouncement

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, Debt-Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and
Derivatives and Hedging-Contracts itt n Entity’s O’ wn Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and ContractsCC
in an Entity’s Own Equity, or ASU 2020-06, which simplified the accounting for certain financial instruments with characteristics of
liabilities and equity, including certain convertible instruments and cr ontracts on an entity’s own equity. Specifically, the new standard
removed the separation models required for convertible debt with cash conversion features and convertible instruments with beneficial
conversion features. It also removed certain settlement conditions that are currently required for equity contracts to qualify for the
derivative scope exception and simplified the diluted earnings per share calculation for convertible instruments. The Company adopted
this new standard effective September 1, 2022. The adoption of ASU 2020-06 did not have a material impact on the Company’s
condensed financial statements but was applied to the convertible debt agreement discussed in Note 10.

3. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2022 2021

Labora atory err quipment $ 13,747 $ 11,359
Leasehold improvements 3,447 3,433
Offff iff ce and computer equipment 1,483 381
Furniturt e and fixtures 1,638 412
Construcr tion-in-progress 5 1,263
Property and equipment $ 20,320 $ 16,848
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (10,220) (5,083)
Property and equipment, net $ 10,100 $ 11,765

Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $5.1 million and $3.3 million,
respectively.

4. Fair Value Measurements

The following tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the assets carried at fair value (in thousands):

Fair value measurements at December 31, 2022 using:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assetstt
Cash equivalents – money market fundsff $ 116,946 $ - $ - $ 116,946

Total fiff nancial assets $ 116,946 $ - $ - $ 116,946

Fair value measurements at December 31, 2021 using:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assetstt
Cash equivalents – money market fundsff $ 159,668 $ - $ - $ 159,668

Total fiff nancial assets $ 159,668 $ - $ - $ 159,668

The cash equivalents are comprised of funds held in an exchange traded money market fund and the fair value of the cash
equivalents is determined based upon quoted market price for that fund. There were no transfers among Level 1, Level 2, or Level 3
categories in the periods presented.

The carryirr ng value of accounts payable and accruer d expenses that are reported on the consolidated balance sheets approximate
their faff ir value due to the short-term nature of these liabilities. The Company entered into new convertible long-term debt in September
2022; given the recent issuance of that debt, the carrying value approximates fair value.
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5. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2022 2021

Accruer d employee compensation and benefits $ 4,357 $ 2,600
Accruer d research and development 1,322 1,902
Accruer d consulting and professional services 636 949
Accruer d legal services and license fee 92 54
Other 431 1,012

Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 6,838 $ 6,517

6. Stock-Based Compensation

2018 Equity Incentitt ve Plan

On April 20, 2018, the Company adopted the 2018 Stock Plan (the 2018 Plan). The 2018 Plan, as amended, provided for the
issuance of up to 2,902,738 shares of common stock to employees, officers, directors, consultants, and advisors in the form of
nonqualified and incentive stock options, unvested stock awards, and other stock-based awards.

2021 Equity Incentive Plan

The 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2021 Plan) was approved by the Company’s Board on April 22, 2021 and became effective
immediately, although no awards were permitted to be granted under the 2021 Plan until July 15, 2021. The 2021 Plan replaced the
2018 Plan, however, awards outstanding under the 2018 Plan continue to be governed by their existing terms. In addition, shares of
common stock subject to awards granted under the 2018 Plan that cease to be subject to such awards by forfeiture or otherwise after the
termination of the 2018 Plan will be available for issuance under the 2021 Plan.

There were 3,278,048 shares of common stock initially reserved for issuance under the 2021 Plan and as of Decembeff r 31, 2022,
there were 1,539,040 shares of common stock available for issuance. The number of shares reserved for issuance under the 2021 Plan
will be increased automatically on the first business day of each fiscal year, commencing in 2022 and ending in 2031. The aggregate
number of common shares that may be issued under the 2021 Plan shall automatically increase by a number equal to the lesser of (a)
4% of the total number of shares of common stock actually issued and outstanding on the last day of the preceding fiscal year or (b) a
number of shares common stock determined by the Company’s Board.

2021 EmEE plm oyee Stock Purchase Planll

The 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "2021 ESPP") was approved by the Company’s Board on April 22, 2021 and became
effective immediately, although no awards were permitted to be granted under the 2021 Plan until July 15, 2021. A total of 254,390
shares of common stock were initially reserved for issuance under the 2021 ESPP. As of December 31, 2022, there were 146,380 shares
issued and 347,085 shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2021 ESPP. The number of shares reserved for issuance
will automatically be increased on the first business day of each fiscal year, commencing on January 1, 2022 and ending on January 1,
2041. The aggregate number of shares of common stock that may be issued under the 2021 ESPP shall automatically increase by a
number equal to the least of (i) one percent (1%) of the total number of shares of common stock actually issued and outstanding on the
last day of the preceding fiscal year, or (ii) a number of shares of common stock determined by the Company’s Board.

Stock Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense related to stock options and the stock purchase plan for the years ended December 31, 2022
and 2021 was classified in the consolidated statement of operations as follows (ff in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021
Research and development $ 1,626 $ 878
General and administrative 2,925 1,638

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 4,551 $ 2,516
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StSS octt k OptOO itt ons

The Company typically grants stock options at exercise prices deemed by the Board to be equal to the fair value of the common
stock at the time of grant. In the periods prior to the IPO, the fair value of the common stock was determined by the Board at each
measurement date based on a variety of different factors, including the results obtained from independent third-party appraisals, the
Company’s financial position and historical financial performance, the sff tatus of development of the Company’s programt s, the current
climate in the marketplace, the illiquid nature of the common stock, the effect of the rights and preferences of the preferred stockholders,
and the prospects of a liquidity event, among others. In the periods following the IPO, the fair value is determined based upon the quoted
price of the Company’s common stock.

The fair value of stock option grants is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Company historically has
been a private company and lacks company-specific historical and implied volatility information. Tff herefore, it estimates its expected
stock volatility based on the historical volatility of a publicly traded set of peer companies and expects to continue to do so until such
time as it has adequate historical data regarding the volatility of its own traded stock price. For options with service-based vesting
conditions, the expected term of the Company’s stock options has been determined utilizing the “simplified” method for awards that
qualify as “plain-vanilla” options. The risk-free interest rate is determined by reference to the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the
time of grant of the award for time periods approximately equal to the expected term of the award. Expected dividend yield is based on
the fact that the Company has never paid cash dividends and does not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

The weighted-average for each of the assumptions the Company used to determine the grant-date fair value of options granted
were as folff lows:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Risk frff ee interest rate 2.40% 0.79%
Expected term (in years) 6.24 6.05
Expected dividend yield 0% 0%
Expected volatility of underlying common stock 81% 75%

The following table summarizes the stock option activity:

Stock
Options

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Lifeff

(in Years)

Intrinsic
Value
(in

thousands)
Outstanding January 1, 2022 3,019,476 $ 6.55 8.61 $ 2,120
Granted 2,593,585 3.94
Exercised (55,107) 2.42
Canceled (327,417) 5.72

Outstanding December 31, 2022 5,230,537 $ 5.35 8.49 $ —
Options vested or expected to vest as of December 31, 2022 5,230,537 $ 5.35 8.49 $ —
Stock options exercisable as of December 31, 2022 1,550,423 $ 5.56 7.39 $ —

Other information related to the option activity for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021:
Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021
Weighted-average fair value of options granted $ 2.80 $ 5.74
Intrinsic value of options exercised (in thousands) $ 62 $ 1,174

As of December 31, 2022, the unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding options was $13.0 million, which is expected
to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.76 years.
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Restrictt ted Common Stock

The Company has granted restricted common stock with service based vesting conditions. Unvested shares of restricted common
stock may not be sold or transferred by the holder, except for transfers for estate planning purposes in which the transfeff ree agrees to
remain bound by all restrictions set forth in the original common stock purchase agreement. They are legally issued and outstanding but
only accounted for as outstanding when vested. These restrictions lapse over the four year vesting term of each award. The purchase
price of each share of restricted common stock was $0.001 per share. There were 116,870 shares unvested as of January 1, 2022, all of
which vested in 2022, leaving no unvested shares remaining at December 31, 2022.

The aggregate fair value of restricted stock awards that vested during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was nominal.

7. Income Taxes

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company did not record an income tax provision due to the losses
incurred and a full valuation allowance provided on the net deferred tax assets.

A reconciliation of the federal statutory income tax rate to the effective tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Taxes at U.S. statutory rate 21.0% 21.0%
Changes from statutory rate:
State taxes, net of federal benefitff 8.3% 8.3%
Tax credits 5.1% 4.1%
Share-based compensation -0.9% -1.0%
Change in valuation allowance -33.8% -32.4%
Other 0.3% 0.0%
Effective income tax rate 0.0% 0.0%

Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the net tax effects of net operating loss carryovers and temporary differences between
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant
components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities were as folff lows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Defeff rred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 23,391 $ 18,742
Tax credits 10,191 5,319
Defeff rred revenue 1,332 3,526
Depreciation and amortization 824 411
Amortization 525 571
Stock-based compensation 707 99
Leasehold liabilitya 15,489 1,651
Capia talized R&D costs 14,380 -
Other 1,441 688
Total defeff rred tax assets 68,280 31,007
Defeff rred tax liabilities:
Right of use Asset (16,411) (1,500)
Valuation allowance (51,869) (29,507)
Net deferred tax assets and liabilities $ - $ -

In determining the need for a valuation allowance, the Company has given consideration to its cumulative book income and loss
positions. The Company has assessed the availabla e means of recovering deferred tax assets, including the ability to carryback net
operating losses, the existence of reversing taxable temporary differences, the availability of tax planning strategies and forecasted future
taxable income. As of December 31, 2022, the Company maintains a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets. The
valuation allowance increased by $22.4 and $15.8 million during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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As of December 31, 2022, the Company had U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $86.2 million. The
U.S. federal net operating losses have an indefinite life carryforward. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had Massachusetts net
operating loss carryforwards of approximately $83.5 million that expire at various dates through 2042. As of December 31, 2022, the
Company had U.S. R&D federaff l credit carryforwards of approximately $6.9 million that expire at various dates through 2042. As of
December 31, 2022, the Company had U.S. state R&D tax credit carryforwards of approximately $4.2 million that expire at various
dates through 2037.

Under Sections 382 and 383 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code, if a corporation undergoes an ownership change, the corporation's
ability to use its pre-change net operating loss carryforwards and other pre-change attributes, such as net operating losses and research
tax credits, to offset its post-change income and taxes may be limited. In general, an ownership change generally occurs if there is a
cumulative change in ownership by 5% stockholders that exceeds 50 percentage points over a rolling three-year period. Similar rules
may apply under U.S. state tax laws. The Company may have experienced an ownership change in the past and may experience
ownership changes in the future as a result of future transactions in its share capital, some of which may be outside the control of the
Company. As a result, if the Company earns net taxable income, its ability to use its pre-change net operating loss carryforwards, or
other pre-change tax attributes, to offset U.S. federal and state taxable income and taxes may be subject to significant limitations.

The Company accounted for uncertain tax positions using a more likely than not threshold for recognizing and resolving uncertain
tax positions. The evaluation of uncertain tax positions is based on faff ctors that include, but are not limited to, changes in tax law, the
measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in tax returnst , the effective settlement of matters subject to audit, new audit
activity and changes in faff cts or circumstances related to a tax position. The Company evaluates uncertain tax positions on an annual
basis and adjusts the level of the liability to reflect any subsequent changes in the relevant facts surrounding the uncertain positions. The
Company accounts for interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as part of its provision for income taxes. For the years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, there were no accrued interest or penalties in the consolidated statements of operations.

The Company is subject to taxation for federal and Massachusetts purposes. As of December 31, 2022, the Company is subject tor
examination by these taxing authorities for all years since inception.

8. Collaboration and License Agreements

Novartis

In March 2020, the Company entered into a Collaboration and License Agreement (the Novartis Agreement) with Novartis
Institutes For BioMedical Research, Inc. (Novartis) to collaborate on their research efforts to discover and develop novel TCR-T
therapies. At the inception date of the Novartis Agreement, Novartis or its affiliates held an ownership interest of more than 10% in the
Company, and at December 31, 2022, Novartis held less than 10% of the common shares outstanding. Under the Novartis Agreement,
the Company will identify and characterize TCRs in accordance with a research plan, transfer data arising from the research plan.
Novartis will have the option to license and develop TCRs for up to three novel targets identififf ed in performance of the collaboration
during the collaboration period of the Novartis Agreement. Novartis will also have rights of first negotiation for certain additional targets
and TCRs identified in performance of the collaboration during a defined collaboration period of the Novartis Agreement and for 180ff
days after such collaboration period ends (which collaboration period is anticipated to end in March 2023). If during such 180-day right
of first negotiation period, the Company notifies Novartis of the Company’s intent to grant a third party a license to a target or TCR
identified in the collaboration, then Novartis may obtain the exclusive right to negotiate a license to such target or TCR for an additional
270 days by providing the Company with a term sheet to license such target or TCR within 90 days of the Company’s notice of such
intent. The Novartis Agreement provides for payments of an upfront fee of $20.0 million, research funding totaling $10.0 million and
potential milestone payments contingent on clinical, regulatory and sales success. In addition to payments upon achievement of certain
clinical and regulatory milestones, Novartis will pay the Company mid-single to low double-digit royalties on net sales for each product
directed to a target licensed by Novartis. After the end of the collaboration period and the expiration of Novartis’ first right of negotiation,
the Company is free to develop TCRs against targets not licensed by Novartis.

The Company concluded that Novartis meets the definition of a customer, as the Company is delivering research and development
activities and know-how rights. The Company identified performance obligations for research and development activities, data reporting
and participation in joint steering and research committees. The Company determined there is a single performance obligation due to
the services being highly interrelated and are therefore not distinct in the context of the contract. The Company combined the pre-option
research services and data reporting into a single performance obligation Novartis has an exclusive option to obtain a commercial license
for up to three Targets (as defined in the Novartis Agreement) to pursue further development and commercialization of tff he respective
Target. Pursuant to the Novartis Agreement, the option for Nff ovartis to license, develop, and commercialize Targets is not a performance
obligation at the outset of the Novartis Agreement as it is a customer option that does not represent a material right.
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The Company looked to the promises in the arrangement to determine the method of recognition that best coincides with the
pattern of delivery. The Company concluded that the performance of the research services over the expected research term was the
predominant promise within the performance obligation. The Company is recognizing the revenue associated with the performance
obligation using the input method, according to the actual costs incurred as a percentage of total expected costs to complete the research
services. As costs are incurred, the Company will recognize revenue over time. Any change in the estimated percentage complete due
to a revised cost forecast will be adjusted in the period in which the change in estimate occurs and the revenue recognition will be
updated accordingly. The Company expects the research term to last approximately three years, which is inclusive of the option to
extend the arrangement.

The Company determined that the $20.0 million upfront payment, together with the $10.0 million of esff timated research costs to
be reimbursed by Novartis to be the entirety of the consideration to be included in the transaction price as of the outset of the arrangement.
The potential milestone payments that the Company is eligible to receive were excluded from the transaction priceff , as all milestone
amounts were fully constrained based on the assessed probability of achievement. The Company will re-evaluate the transaction price
at the end of each reporting period and as uncertain events are resolved or other changes in circumstances occur, and, if necessary, adjust
the estimate of the transaction price.

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company recognized $13.5 million and $9.8 million, respectively of
revenue associated with the Novartis Agreement based on performance completed during that period. Additionally, during the years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company incurred $4.5 million and $3.3 million, respectively of costs associated with the
Novartis Agreement that were recorded within research and development expenses in the statements of operations. The research term is
anticipated to end duringMarch 2023 and the balance of deferred revenue, which was $3.9 million as of December 31, 2022, is classified
as current. As of December 31, 2021, the Company had current and long-term deferred revenue of $11.4 million and $1.5 million,
respectively, from the Novartis Agreement.

9. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

In August 2019, the Company entered a lease for laboratory and office space located at 830Winter Street Waltham, Massachusetts
with a term that expires on September 30, 2024, subject to certain renewal options, which are not deemed highly probable of renewal.
The Company provided a letter of credit in the amount of $0.6 million as security for the lease which expires January 31, 2025. The
cash securing the letter of credit of $0.6 million is classified as restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheet.

In April 2020, laboratory and offrr icff e space also located at 830 Winter Street was secured through a sublease that commenced in
June 2020. The expected term of the lease upon commencement was through March 2026, however, in October 2022 the lease was
terminated.

On November 1, 2021, the Company entered a lease for laboratory and office space located at 880 Winter Street Waltham,
Massachusetts with a term that expires on December 31, 2032. This lease commenced when the Company obtained possession of the
underlying asset on October 28, 2022 at which time the Company recorded a right-of-usff e asset of $57.7 million and a corresponding
lease liability of $53.5 million, which represents the present value of future payments under the lease. The discount rate used to calculate
the net present value of futff urt e payments was the Company’s incremental borrowing rate at the Lease Commencement Date, which was
9.9%. At the time of lease commencement, prepaid rent of $4.2 million was reclassed to the right-of-use asset. The Company provided
a letter of credit in the amount of $4.4 million as a security for the lease, which renews each calendar year up to but not beyond April 1,
2033. The cash securing the letter of credit of $4.4 million is classified as restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheet. Annual fixed
rent payments of $7.6 million will commence on January 1, 2023 through the original term of the lease, subject to annual increases of
3%.
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Summary of lease cost

The following table summarizes the presentation in the Company's consolidated balance sheets of its operating leases (in
thousands):

As of December 31,
2022 2021

Assetstt :
Operating lease assets $ 59,102 $ 5,491

Liabilities:
Operating lease liabilities, current 3,681 1,651
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion 53,013 4,392
Total operating lease liabilities $ 56,694 $ 6,043

The following table summarizes the effect of lease costs in the Company's consolidated statement of operations (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Operating lease costs $ 3,264 $ 1,939
Short-term lease costs 332 -
Variabla e lease costs 1,551 1,224
Total lease costs $ 5,147 $ 3,163

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company made cash payments for operating leases of $2.0 million and
$1.9 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2022, future payments of operating lease liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2022
2023 $ 9,034
2024 8,928
2025 8,067
2026 8,309
2027 and thereafter 55,356
Total futff urt e payments of operating lease liabilities 89,694
Less: imputed interest (33,000)
Present value of operating lease liabilities $ 56,694

As of December 31, 2022, the weighted average remaining lease term was 9.7 years and the weighted average incremental
borrowing rate used to determine the operating lease liability was 9.8%. As of December 31, 2021 the weighted average remaining lease
term was 3.4 years and the weighted average incremental borrowing rate used to determine the operating lease liability was 8.0%.

Brigham and Women’s License Agreement

The Company obtained the worldwide exclusive license to its foundaff tional technology from The Brigham andWomen’s Hospital,
Inc. (or BWH). The license, as amended, grants worldwide exclusive use to the patent underlying the TargetScan technology in exchange
for fees including development milestones and various royalties on product sales should they occur in the future.
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Royalty Agreementll

In June 2018, the Company amended and restated an existing royalty agreement with one of its founders. Under the amended and
restated royalty agreement, the Company agreed to pay the founder an aggregate royalty of 1% of net sales of any product sold by the
Company or by any of its direct or indirect licensees for use in the treatment of any disease or disorder covered by a pending patent
application or issued patent held or controlled by the Company as of the last date that the founder was providing services to the Company
as a director or consultant under a written agreement in perpetuity. Royalties are payabla e with respect to each applicable product for a
defined period of time set forth in the royalty agreement. The founder assigned his rights and obligations under the royalty agreement
to one of his affiliated entities in January 2021.

10. Loan and Security Agreement

On September 9, 2022 (the Closing Date), the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the Loan Agreement) with
K2 HealthVentures LLC (K2HV), pursuant to which convertible term loans in an aggregate principal amount of up to $60 million is
availabla e to the Company in three tranches, subject to certain terms and conditions. The Company drew the first tranche of $30 million
frff om K2HV on the Closing Date. The Company has the option to draw the second tranche of $10 million upon the achievement of
certain financial and clinical milestones and an uncommitted third tranche of $20 million may be funded by joint agreement of the
Company and K2HV. On the Closing Date, the Company paid a faff cility fee of $0.4 million to K2HV and is subject to an additional 1%
of the principal amount of any amount drawn on third tranche.

The term loans mature on September 1, 2026 (the Maturity Date), and will be subject to interest only payments for 24 months,
which can be extended to 36 months upon achievement of certain financial and clinical milestones, following which the term loans will
amortize in equal monthly installments until maturity. The Company has the ability to repay the loan at any time either in cash or in
shares, subject to applicable premiums as specified in the Loan Agreement. The term loans will accrue interest at a per annum rate equal
to the greater of (i) 8.75% and (ii) the sum of (A) the prime rate (as last quoted in The Wall Street Journal) and (B) 4.75%, subject to a
cap of 9.90%. At December 31, 2022 the applicable interest rate is 9.90%.

The lenders may elect at any time following the closing prior to the payment in full of the term loans to convert any portion of the
principal amount of the term loans then outstanding into shares of the Company's common stock. The first tranche of the loan is
convertible at the option of K2HV at a conversion price of $4.785 per share and future tranches will be convertible as specified in the
agreement, provided that, such price shall be subject to the applicable conversion price floor and other adjustments in accordance with
the Loan Agreement. The embedded conversion option meets the derivative accounting scope exception since the embedded conversion
option is indexed to the Company’s own common stock and qualifies for classification within stockholders’ equity.

The Company has the option to prepay all, but not less than all, of the outstanding principal balance of the term loans under the
Loan Agreement subject to a prepayment fee ranging from 4% to 1% depending upon when the prepayment occurs. The Company is
obligated to pay a final fee equal to 6.00% of the aggregate amount of the term loans funded (the Exit Fee), to occur upon the earliest of
(i) the maturity date, (ii) the acceleration of the term loans, and (iii) the prepayment of the term loans. If, upon equity conversion, K2HV
receives gross proceeds in an amount equal to at least 1.5 multiplied by the principal amount converted from the sale or other disposition
of such Conversion Shares (as defined in the Loan Agreement), then as to such principal amount, the Exit Fee will be reduced to zero.

The Company’s obligations under the Loan Agreement are secured by a first priority security interest in substantially all of its
assets (other than intellectual property), subject to certain exceptions. The Loan Agreement contains customary representations and
warranties, and also includes customary events of default, including payment default, breach of covenants, change of control, and
material adverse effects. The Loan Agreement restricts certain activities, such as disposing of the Company’s business or certain assets,
incurring additional debt or liens or making payments on other debt, making certain investments and declaring dividends, acquiring or
merging with another entity, engaging in transactions with affiff liates or encumbering intellectual property, among others. During tt he
term of the Loan Agreement, the Company must maintain minimum unrestricted cash and cash equivalents equal to 5.0 times the average
monthly cash burn measured over the trailing three-month period. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, a default interest rate of
an additional 5% per annum may be appla ied to the outstanding loan balances, and the Lender may declare all outstanding obligations
immediately due and payable and exercise all of its rights and remedies as set forth in the Loan Agreement and under applicable law.

The Company recorded $0.9 million in interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2022. The effective interest rate on the
Loan Agreement, including the amortization of the debt discount and issuance costs, and accretion of the Exit Fee, was 13.13% at
December 31, 2022.
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Future principal payments as of December 31, 2022 are as follows:

2024 $ 3,427
2025 14,588
2026 11,985
Total principal payments 30,000
Plus: Final payment fee 1,800
Less: unamortized debt discount and final fee (2,510)
Long-term debt $ 29,290

11. Retirement Plan

The Company initiated a defineff d contribution plan under Section 401(k) of the IRC (the Plan) covering all qualified employees
effff eff ctive January 1, 2019. Employee contributions are voluntary and are determined on an individual basis subject to the maximum
allowable under federal tax regulations. The Company made contributions to the Plan of $0.6 million and $0.4 million for the years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

12. Net Loss Per Share

NeNN t Loss PePP r ShSS are

Basic and diluted net loss per share was calculated as follows (in thousands, except share and per share data):

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021
Numerator:
Net loss $ (66,221) $ (48,625)

Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted 24,048,267 11,662,672
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (2.75) $ (4.17)

The Company has two classes of common stock, each with identical participation rights to earnings and liquidation preferences,
and therefore the calculation of net loss per share as described above is identical to the calculation under the two-class method. The
Company excluded the following potential common shares from the computation of diluted net loss per share for the periods indicated
because including them would have had an anti-dilutive effect:

December 31,
2022 2021

Options to purchase common stock 5,230,537 3,019,476
Common stock issuable upon conversion of Loan Agreement 2,116,780 -
Unvested restricted common stock - 116,870
Total 7,347,317 3,136,346




